# A typographic analysis of newspapers and magazines in the Turkish alphabet reform (1928-1929)

Dilek Nur Polat



The thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Typography and Graphic Communication September 2017

Formatted by: Dilek Nur Polat Printed in: Mail Boxes, Reading University

**The cover image:** An announcement/reminder showing the nameplates of the newspapers of the period titled as, "Our new letters" in *Cumhuriyet* on 27 September 1928, about the official implementation day of the new alphabet (1 December 1928) in newspapers: "Until the first week of December, all the newspapers are obliged to be published using the new letters. Let's try to learn our new letters as soon as possible." (Image source: Atatürk Library, İstanbul)

# Abstract

Turkish was written in Arabic alphabet for over a thousand years until the Latin alphabet reform, which was imposed in 1928 as a result of the modernization reforms. Despite this profound change, its effects on the design and typographic choices of period's publications and the role of these publications in the reform are not known. This research investigates how the reform was treated typographically and was promoted in newspapers and magazines, which were also helping the reformers in the transition and post-reform periods from 10 August 1928 to 1 May 1929. This study is based on archival research in the libraries of Turkey.

The thesis consists of four main parts. The first part introduces the methods used to define the scope of newspaper and magazine analysis and to develop the criteria to select these publications, and describes the framework used to analyse the selected publications. The second part provides the linguistic and print-related context to the alphabet reform by tracing back the early alphabet discussions and the observations regarding the multicultural scene, starting from the 19th century in the Ottoman period. The aim of this part is to gain an insight into how the Turks ended up with the idea of this change. The third part presents the historical account of the reform and the phases of the implementation from political, social and educational perspectives. The final chapters, as the fourth part, contextualise and explore the transition through the design of five broadsheets (*İkdam*, *Cumhuriyet*, *Milliyet*, *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, Akşam), two tabloid newspapers (Karagöz, Yeni Köroğlu) and two magazines (Servet-Fünun, Resimli Ay) published in this period. This part documents the general features of these publications, including production, layout and the use of type and how these were influenced by the transition from Arabic to Latin scripts.

The analysis of publications showed that broadsheets played a key role by integrating Latin content during the transition period and publishing encouraging articles and alphabet lessons daily. Tabloids did the same, but with less participation, as they were the prominent ones in promoting the reform via cartoons. Besides publishing similar supportive content, magazines focused more on visual and content quality. Before the reform, newspapers and magazines in general had a more homogeneous look due to the few Arabic type style and size variations. After the implementation, because of new type purchases and rich variations of Latin metal types, page designs looked more refined, as the hierarchy between the sections became more visible despite some peculiar executions. Typesetters came up with creative solutions to substitute alternative letterforms for the new missing Turkish characters, due to the short period of transition (four months) and the lack of type and print resources. In this way, they showed a unique resilience to adopt this new convention owing to the multi-cultural printing scene inherited from the Ottoman Empire.

This study aims to be a starting point for further studies, by revealing the first encounter of Turkish printed media with the Latin printing convention and the initial responses, which have long-term effects on the design, typographic and printing journey of Turkey.

# Declaration

I confirm that this is my own work and the use of all material from other sources has been properly and fully acknowledged.

Dilek Nur Polat

# Contents

Abstract Acknowledgements A note about terminology, translations and transliteration

## 1. Introduction 13

1.1. Research objectives and scope 13

1.2. Archival research and institutions 25

#### 2. Method 29

- 2.1. Notes on literature 29
- 2.2. Defining the transition period 33
- 2.3. Identifying newspapers and magazines for the study 33
- 2.4. Selected newspapers and magazines 39
- 2.5. Determining the dates of analysis 45
- 2.6. Developing framework for the analysis 47

#### 3. Implementation of the alphabet reform 55

- 3.1. Reasons for the delay of alphabet/script change 55
- 3.2. Contributions on the road to reform 59
  - 3.2.1. Realisation of script and language incompability 59
  - 3.2.2. Technical foundation to print in Latin 67
  - 3.2.3. Familiarisation with Latin script 71
  - 3.2.4. Difficulties in setting Arabic type 79
  - 3.2.5. Troubles in printing 87

#### 4. Background to the alphabet reform 99

- 4.1. Aims and motives behind the reform 99
- 4.2. Preparations 101
- 4.3. Post-reform period 119

#### 5. Contextualising the analysis of newspapers and magazines 127

- 5.1. Historical role of Turkish newspapers and magazines 127
- 5.2. Effects of the reform on newspapers and magazines 139
- 5.3. Purchases of metal type and printing presses 143
- 5.4. Role of visuals in the implementation of the reform 157
  - 5.4.1. Cartoons: the tool for the condemnation of Arabic letters 161

#### 6. Broadsheet newspapers: the primary-helping devices of reformers 171

- 6.1. Visual attributes of broadsheet newspaper 179
- 6.2. Changes in format and layout 185
- 6.3. Typographic evolution 209
- 6.4. Teaching the alphabet 253

# 7. Illustrative tabloid newspapers: visual propagandists 269

7.1. Visual attributes of tabloid newspaper 275

7.2. Format and production issues 277

7.3. Typographic evolution 281

7.4. Familiarising with the alphabet 295

## 8. Magazines: late and slow adopters 299

8.1. Visual attributes of magazine 303

8.2. Decisions on format and layout 305

8.3. Typographic evolution 311

#### 9. Conclusion 333

Appendix 348 Bibliography 363

# Acknowledgements

The idea of this study came to light during a discussion with Michael Twyman. Before this enlightening conversation, I had the opportunity to attend Twyman's weekly hand-on sessions on his and the department's collection during my MA study in the department, and this intrigued me to think again about the history of Turkish graphic design, and gave me a mission in my academic life. So I am thankful to him for opening this path for me. Before starting this journey, Paul Luna also encouraged me to study this subject and helped me to clarify my thoughts with his substantial insights before writing my proposal. I will always be grateful for his presence and mentorship during my studies in the department. I am also indebted to my supervisors, Sue Walker for her infinite support, patience, guidance and being an inspiration for me, and Ruth Blacksell, for her valuable advice throughout this study. Also, I thank Martin Andrews and Keith Tam, for always being there to help and support me. I am so grateful to have such supportive fellow PhD colleagues, Matthew Lickiss, Andrew Mcilwraith, Vaibhav Singh, Helena Lekka, Josefina Bravo and Darryl Lim; your company was a pleasure during this journey. For her invaluable presence from the beginning of this study with her love and support, I should specifically thank my PhD sister, Emanuela Conidi, also for helping me to understand the discipline of Arabic typography. By being a lovely granny and supporting me both intellectually and emotionally since my arrival to England, I am also grateful to Nan Ridehalgh.

I also thank to the staff of the libraries, Atatürk Library, the National Library of Turkey and the Prime Minister's State Archives in İstanbul and Ankara for their assistance and help during my research trips. For the substantial help in the first year of this study, I also thank Irvin Cemil Schick, for his sincere effort to share his knowledge and contacts with me.

I cannot credit all the love, support and friendship I received during this toughest journey in my life so far. So whomever I forget to mention here, I ask their forgiveness. I want to specifically thank my friends, Burçin Demirbilek, Feride Sezer, Ayşe Çağlayan, İrem Gündüz-Polat, Mukaddes Kılıç-Bayraktar, Hülya Kocagül-Yüzer and Ayşe Öcal, who always there when I needed them. I am also indebted to Nihal Engel and Übeydullah Kısacık for their support and also help in the transliteration of the state documents.

My beloved grandparents, who saw me every week before I came to live in England, maybe sacrificed most during my absence. I am grateful for their patience and support. My deepest and warmest thank goes to my parents, Ünal and Emine and my brothers, Nurullah and Muhammed Said, who have given me infinite support, love and inspiration throughout my life and encourage me to pursue my dreams all the time. I would not wish another family/team besides you, I owe you a lot.

# A note about terminology, translations and transliteration

Terminology and cultural attributions are among the natural considerations of this study, as it concerns the late 19th century and the beginning of the 20th century, when the Turkish language still included Arabic and Persian rooted words. A Turkish person today cannot even fully understand the alphabet announcement by Atatürk, which took place publicly in a park on 10 August 1928 because of the use of old words which were abandoned with the language reform in 1932 and which vanished in time. For this reason, all these words were translated into English by considering their Turkish equivalents today.

Some of the technical terms related to design and production are also different from modern usage, generally because of the reason mentioned above. To provide reliable information, these terms were clarified and checked from various sources to understand their use and extent correctly.

Another issue is the choice of terms for special entities and occasions for this study. For instance, while the reform was commonly named as the 'Letter Revolution' (Harf Devrimi in Turkish) or 'Writing Revolution', (Yazı Devrimi in Turkish), it is referred to as the 'Turkish Latin alphabet reform', or as the 'alphabet reform' or in some cases only as the 'reform' in this thesis. Furthermore, to name and differentiate between the two alphabets, which are generally named in Turkish as 'the old and the new alphabet', the use of 'Ottoman-Turkish alphabet' and 'new Turkish alphabet' were preferred in this study. In addition to the alphabets, the Arabic and Latin scripts were mainly referred to in Turkish as 'old and new writings', which I preferred as it emphasises that they are simply scripts, without attributing them any Turkishness, even though the reformers did not call the new Turkish alphabet the 'Latin script'. Moreover, in this study, to avoid repetition and lengthy sentences, sometimes these scripts are simply referred to as Arabic and Latin to differentiate between them.

Apart from terminology, there is the surname issue, which needs clarification. In 1934 (after six years from the alphabet reform) the surname reform in Turkey was enacted. Thus, the adopted surnames of people mentioned in this study are indicated in brackets. Also, the names of places and cities in Turkish are given in their original forms, rather than their English use, such as *Köroğlu*, not *Koroglu*.

The transliteration of some of the news and newspaper articles written before the reform and during the transition period with the Ottoman-Turkish alphabet and also the state documents in this study were performed by me and the people to whom I consulted.<sup>1</sup> All translations from Turkish to English are mine, unless otherwise stated.

<sup>1</sup> These people are Ottoman historian and academician Nihal Engel, and archivist in the Ottoman State Archives (İstanbul) Übeydullah Kısacık.

"To be able to spread the new alphabet within the society, the first condition should be the printing of publications with the new alphabet, because of their uniqueness as the only printed materials that public will read necessarily."

Bilal Şimşir, Türk Yazı Devrimi, p.225

"[...] Today, we certainly assume that our readers will be surprised to see our newspaper in Turkish, set completely with the new letters. We can imagine the looks leant to the newspaper lines to be able to read words slowly like trying to solve a puzzle."

> Yunus Nadi, on the first day of the alphabet implementation in newspapers and magazines, 'Yeni Yazı', *Cumhuriyet*, 1.12.1928



Figure 1.1 Diagram shows the period, between the starting point of alphabet discussions during the Ottoman period and the alphabet reform year during the Republican period.



**Figure 1.2** Ottoman-Turkish alphabet (Letters in red are the additional characters for Turkish, differently from the Arabic alphabet).

#### **Chapter 1:** Introduction

#### 1.1. Research objectives and scope

The aim of this research is to examine and reveal the design and the typographic changes during the transition and the post-transition periods of the Latin alphabet reform in Turkey by examining newspapers and magazines, which were subjected to a big transformation and which served as helping tools in many ways to promote the reform. The Turkish alphabet reform, mainly known as 'Harf Devrimi' (Letter Revolution) in Turkish, could be considered as one of the stand-out alphabet shifting cases in the world due to its pace and ambitious approach to its implementation. The reform aimed to shift from the Arabic script to the Latin in order to align with a more modern nation, which was the initial agenda of the Turkish Republic, founded in 1923 (*Fig.1.1*). The alphabet reform was carried out in the latter half of 1928 as the initial step of the 'Language Reform', which was realised in 1932.<sup>1</sup>

The Turks, who used various other alphabets over a long period, <sup>2</sup> started to use the Arabic script as their alphabet when they converted to Islam in the 11th century, by creating more letters for the sounds and vowels that were specific to Turkish (Fig.1.2). The use of the Arabic script continued in the Ottoman era, while the conquests and the expansion of the Empire resulted in interaction with other cultures, such as Persian and Arabic. These relationships also influenced the Turkish vocabulary; the Turks added new loanwords to their language while using the Arabic script.<sup>3</sup> In accordance with the republican reformers' agenda, the script reform prepared the ground for the purification of the language from foreign ingredients, such as Arabic- and Persian-rooted words. Geoffrey Lewis has called the Language Reform 'a catastrophic success', and we can see that by considering its profound effect on many aspects of human life, such as social environment, education, collective memory and culture, the alphabet reform had the substantial share in this 'catastrophe'.<sup>4</sup> It radically changed not only the writing habits of public and governmental communications and all printed media, but also the reading habits and fractured the transmission of knowledge inherited from the Ottoman Empire.

<sup>1</sup> Not to confuse these two, the alphabet reform and the language reform are different reformations which happened in different times. The alphabet reform was the attempt of changing the Ottoman-Turkish alphabet based on the Arabic script into a new alphabet based on the Latin script and it took place in 1928. The language reform was the attempt of purifying the language from foreign influence, such as Persian and Arabic and inventing new pure Turkish words. This reform was implemented in 1932.

<sup>2</sup> The previous alphabets mainly used were Orhun (Köktürk) and Uygur alphabets that were derived from the Sogdian script, which was also derived from the Aramaic script. Others, such as Mani, Tibet and Brahma, were used by small communities and tribes. Yelda Saydam, "Language Use In the Ottoman Empire And Its Problems (1299-1923)" (M.Phil, University of Johannesburg, 2007), p.10-12; Hitay Yükseker, 'Turkish Language Reform: An Early Example of Language Planning.' in *Toronto Working Papers in Linguistics*, vol. 3, (1982): p.90-1.

**<sup>3</sup>** For a basic introduction to Ottoman Turkish: Fahir İz, 'Ottoman and Turkish' in *Essays on Islamic Civilization: Presented to Niyazi Berkes*, ed. Donald P. Little (Leiden, 1976), p.118-139.

**<sup>4</sup>** Geoffrey Lewis, *The Turkish Language Reform: A Catastrophic Success* (United Kingdom: Oxford University Press, 2002).

Despite being a popular research topic in the field of social sciences, the alphabet reform has not been sufficiently investigated within the typographic context before.<sup>5</sup> It is also known that this reform affected newspapers and magazines dramatically in typographic terms and there was a transition period, during which the content of newspapers and magazines were set both in Arabic and Latin scripts, side by side on the same page, for a certain period of time. However, no study has so far investigated how these publications changed typographically during the reform year and how long the transition period lasted. This study aims to fill this gap. It also offers some insight into how Turks adapted to this new alphabet/script in a typographic context and dealt with this change from their very first encounter. The newspapers and magazines were specifically chosen because of their unique role. They had a very short time to adapt to a new printing practice and print some of their content with the new letters while still they were partially printing with the old letters. This was accomplished not only because of their wish to adopt new printing technologies that would be possible with the Latin based alphabet, but also the request from the reformers that they should be at the frontier of the implementation of the new alphabet. Apart from this important mission, the availability of most issues/volumes of newspapers and magazines in Turkish libraries and archives allowed them to be used to trace the alphabet reform typographically; in comparison, other ephemeral printed materials are hard to find. Moreover, the publishing frequency of newspapers and magazines allows for a systematic analysis to trace reform-related changes over time and also a comparative approach that enriches the discussion.

This study aims to address the following questions:

- How did newspapers and magazines, also known as helping devices of reformers, help in promoting and implementing the reform?

- How did they differ from each other although there was a division in their roles?
- What was the role of satire considering illustrative satirical publications (tabloids) in the reform period?
- When did the integration of Latin content start in newspapers and magazines and to what extent did publications integrate this content and with which possible motives: familiarising readers with a new alphabet or adapting to a new printing convention?

- How did the reform affect the typographic choices, format, layout and use of images in newspapers and magazines?

- What were the typographic challenges involved in introducing the new Turkish letters?

**<sup>5</sup>** There is therefore little discussion on the design of newspapers and magazines before the reform and how they were affected by it. When I started this PhD study, there was no written discussion about newspapers and magazines in the reform period from the design and typographic point of view. But at the end of my first year, a master's dissertation under the type design programme in the department was completed by Zeynep Akay, with the title of 'The typographic transformation of Turkey's leading newspaper as a result of the Letter Reform in 1928' on the typographic changes of one newspaper, *Cumhuriyet*.

- What ways did typesetters and printers find to cope with this huge demand?

- How could the Turkish publication design be positioned within the wider design scene during the reform period?

- What are the possible further effects and implications of the reform on the design and typographic journey of Turkey?

- Related to the questions above, is there a potential in library and archive resources in Turkey for typographic research?

To answer these questions, original materials were reviewed. These materials include broadsheet and tabloid newspapers and magazines published at that time (see below) and collected digitally from various library archives in Turkey and online databases:

- *İkdam*: A broadsheet, eight-page published daily during the transition period. It is one of the oldest high-circulation Turkish newspapers of the reform period. Its foundation dates back to 1894 when various political events such as the limitation of press freedom by the Ottoman regime negatively affected the publishing environment in the country.<sup>6</sup> For this reason, it became one of the most important newspapers in the period. The word 'İkdam' is an archaic vocabulary and is no longer in use in daily Turkish. It is an Arabic-rooted word meaning 'working with effort, progress'.<sup>7</sup> *İkdam* became a kind of journalism school, helping to train many notable people in the field.<sup>8</sup> *İkdam* remained in print until 1929.<sup>9</sup> Despite the financial support from the government and its own resources, *İkdam* had to stop its activities due to financial difficulties and low circulation.
- Hakimiyet-i Milliye: A broadsheet, eight-page, high-circulation newspaper, published daily during the transition period. It was also the official newspaper of the state. To communicate the Turkish independence movement to the public, Atatürk himself initiated the foundation of this newspaper and named it *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, which means 'National Sovereignty'.<sup>10</sup> When it was founded on 10 January 1920, it was published only twice a week due to the poor quality of the old printing press and the existing metal types. Because of the haste of its foundation (within two weeks), the

**<sup>6</sup>** Müzeyyen Buttanrı, "İkdam Gazetesinin Kültür Hayatımızdaki Yeri, Şekil ve İçerik Özellikleri (1894–1900)," *Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, Osmangazi Üniversitesi, vol. 1 (2003): p.80, accessed August 3, 2014, http://sbd.ogu.edu.tr/makaleler/4\_1\_Makale\_5.pdf.

<sup>7</sup> *Nedir Ne Demek, s.v.* "İkdam", accessed on July 28, 2014, http://www.nedirnedemek.com/ ikdam-nedir-ikdam-ne-demek.

**<sup>8</sup>** M. Nuri İnuğur, *Basın ve yayın tarihi* (İstanbul: İİTİA Nihad Sayâr-Yayın ve Yardım Vakfı Yayınevi İşletmesi, 1978), p.268.

**<sup>9</sup>** There are contradictions about the exact time of the closure. In some literature the closure date is stated as 1928, the same year with the reform, but as I saw in the İstanbul archives, there were also issues dated 1929.

<sup>10</sup> İnuğur, p.331.

facility given over to it was a building in the garden of the Turkish parliament. However, after a year, on 6 February 1921, it started to be published daily and at a good quality, using the new printing presses and metal types.<sup>11</sup> The name of the newspaper was changed many times in the following years and it is still published today.

- Aksam: A broadsheet, eight-page, high-circulation newspaper, published daily during the transition period. 'Akşam' means 'Evening'. This name was given because the newspaper was published in the evening. The close friends Kazım Şinasi [Dersan], Necmeddin Sadık [Sadak] and Ali Naci [Karacan] founded the newspaper in 1918 in order to support the Turkish War of Independence along with the head commander Atatürk. After the foundation of the Republic, the newspaper continued its support for the new reforms.<sup>12</sup> In the beginning, the newspaper was published as four pages in a very large format and was printed on an old flatbed printing press. Because of the newspaper's support for the Independence movement, the public demanded more issues than the amount printed. As a result, a new rotary printing machine was bought, enabling a greater number of copies to be printed.<sup>13</sup> With some interruptions, the newspaper remains one of the more popular current newspapers today.
- *Cumhuriyet:* A broadsheet, eight-page, high-circulation newspaper published daily during the transition period. Even though it was not a state newspaper, the newspaper whose name means 'Republic'- was founded in 1924 with the aim of spreading the ideology and the reform agenda of Atatürk's Republic.<sup>14</sup> The founder and the head columnist was Yunus Nadi [Abalıoğlu], who was also an MP during the reform period. The regular contributors of the newspaper were also the prominent figures in the alphabet reform and held governmental positions, including Mehmet Şükrü [Kaya], who served as the Minister of Interior, and Yakup Kadri [Karaosmanoğlu] and Mehmet Zekeriya [Sertel], who were also MPs at that time.<sup>15</sup>After the reform, despite some short-term bans and closures in the following years, it became one of the most important newspapers in the history of Turkish printed media and remained in print until today.
- Milliyet: A broadsheet, eight-page newspaper published daily during the transition period. The newspaper was founded by the

<sup>11</sup> Fuat Süreyya Oral, *Türk basın tarihi, Cumhuriyet dönemi 1919-1965* (Ankara: Doğuş Matbaacılık ve Ticaret Ltd, 1968), p.42.

<sup>12</sup> Oral, p.75.

<sup>13</sup> Reşad Ekrem Koçu and Mehmet Ali Akbay, *İstanbul Ansiklopedisi* (Istanbul Encyclopedia), s.v. "Akşam Gazetesi." Volume I,(Tan Matbaası, İstanbul, 1958), p.546.

<sup>14</sup> Oral, p.76.

**<sup>15</sup>** Haluk Perk and İsmail Günay Paksoy, *İstanbul'un 100 Gazetesi*. (İstanbul: İstanbul Büyükşehir Belediyesi Kültür A.Ş. Yayınları, 2012), p.110-1.

MP Mahmut Nedim [Soydan] in 1926 and became a semi-official state newspaper. 'Milliyet' means 'Nationality'. It was appreciated for its content, and after a short time its circulation rose and the newspaper became one of the popular broadsheets during the reform period.<sup>16</sup>As a result of being one of the voices of the government, it supported the alphabet reform along with other modernising reforms. The seriousness and the quality of its content and design also helped the newspaper to maintain its position up to the present day.<sup>17</sup>

- Karagöz: A tabloid, illustrated, four-page, high-circulation, political/ satirical newspaper. It was published twice a week during the transition period. The newspaper, presented in a small format, differs from the others mentioned above. It was one of the newspapers that remained in operation from the time of the Ottoman Empire; it continued to be published twice a week until 1955. It was established in 1908 as an illustrated political/satirical newspaper, inspired by the two galanty-show<sup>18</sup> characters in Turkish culture, *Hacivat* and *Karagöz*, who are famous for sarcastic and wise conversations and criticism about society's problems and political issues.<sup>19</sup> The newspaper was named after the more snappy character *Karagöz* by its founder cartoonist Ali Fuad Bey. The newspaper became a supporter of the Turkish War of Independence and due to its success in reaching rural places and its high circulation, it was noticed by some prominent government figures during the first years of the Republican period. It helped to publicise the Republican ideals and reform within its readership, who were more middle-class citizens.<sup>20</sup> The newspaper was taken over by the journalist Burhan Cahit [Morkaya] after the Republican period, but he handed it over before the alphabet reform, and started to publish a new illustrated satirical newspaper, Yeni Köroğlu.
- Yeni Köroğlu: A tabloid, illustrated, four-page, political/satirical newspaper published twice a week during the transition period. This newspaper was founded at the beginning of 1928 by Burhan Cahit [Morkaya], who was previously the editor of Karagöz newspaper. As in the case of Karagöz, the newspaper's policy was to

<sup>16</sup> Perk and Paksoy, p.138-9.

<sup>17</sup> Oral, p.78-9.

<sup>18</sup> A galanty show is similar to a puppet show, but the characters, which are made of paper, are operated behind a curtain, and they are seen as shadows as a light source is put behind them.
19 For a detailed account on Karagöz newspaper and its relation with the galanty show, see Bülent Akbaba, "İnkilap tarihi Öğretimi için bir kaynak: Karagöz Dergisi." *Kastamonu Eğitim Dergisi 22*, no. 2 (2014): 731-742; Sibel Kılıç, "Contribution of Karagöz humour magazine (1908-1955) to socio-cultural transformations of the Turkish society which derives its sources from the Karagöz humour practices and its importance through the perspective of the Turkish cultural history." *Journal of International Social Research 4*, no. 16 (2011), accessed on March 19, 2017, http://www.sosyalarastirmalar.com/cilt4/sayi16\_pdf/kilic\_sibel.pdf.

<sup>20</sup> Kılıç, p.247.

use simple language that could easily be understood by the public and to publish both national and international coverage of different themes and subjects, without giving a detailed account or debate as in the broadsheets. In addition to the regular content, cartoons played an important role to spread the ideals of the Republic. The character 'Köroğlu', who was depicted in the newspaper's cartoons, was also adapted in a similar way to the characters used in *Karagöz*, and is a semi-mythical hero and poet/singer in Turkish cultural history known for his brave and wise manner. The newspaper was published until 1946.<sup>21</sup>

- Resimli Ay: An illustrated, fourty-two-page, cultural/social life magazine published monthly during the transition period. It started its journey in 1924 as a popular cultural magazine. Even though its founder, Mehmet Zekeriya [Sertel], stated that the magazine did not have a serious academic approach but was rather a popular and cultural magazine encouraging the public to read, articles on social, political and even educational issues were also published.<sup>22</sup> In addition to the aim of raising the intellectual level of the public and increasing readership, the magazine also had an aesthetic look to appeal to the public's eye, with the use of efficient and increased visuals, living up suitably to its name, 'Illustrated monthly'.<sup>23</sup> The magazine was shut down in 1925 due to the law on the maintenance of order (Takrir-i Sükun Kanunu in Turkish), and one year later it restarted, with a different name, for one year. In 1927, it started to be published again under its usual name and continued up until 1938.<sup>24</sup>
- Servet-i Fünun: Mainly text-based, sixteen-page, weekly cultural/ political, avant-garde magazine. It was published with two covers (front and back); one used the Arabic alphabet, while the other used Latin. It was one of the oldest and most popular magazines in the history of Turkish printed media. Initially, the young Ahmet İhsan [Tokgöz] founded the magazine in 1891 with the aim of publishing scientific and popular subjects and serialised novels translated from a foreign language.<sup>25</sup> The printing equipment and the lithographic plates used were imported from Europe with the financial aid of Sultan Abdülhamid II, so the quality of the magazine's printing

24 Sarıkaya, p.153.

**<sup>21</sup>** Oğuz Öcal, "Burhan Cahit Morkaya'nın 1925-1928 Yılları Arasında Neşrettiği Yedi Romanı." *Türklük Bilimi Araştırmaları*, no.20 (2006): p.166.

**<sup>22</sup>** Erol Çankaya, "Atatürk döneminde edebiyat dergilerinin genel görünümü ve Resimli Ay", *In Yıllık 1981, Ankara Üniversitesi Siyasal Bilgiler Fakültesi Basın Yayın Yüksekokulu Dergisi*, 149-176. Ankara, n.d, p.155; Makbule Sarıkaya. "Resimli Ay'da Kıyafet." *Acta Turcica* (2012): p.152.

**<sup>23</sup>** A. Holly Shissler, "If You Ask Me" Sabiha Sertel's Advice Column, Gender Equity, and Social Engineering in the Early Turkish Republic." *Journal of Middle East Women's Studies 3*, no. 2 (2007): 1-30, p.7-8.

**<sup>25</sup>** Ergun Çınar, *İstanbul'un 100 süreli yayını*. İstanbul: İstanbul Büyükşehir Belediyesi Kültür A.Ş. Yayınları, 2010, p.30.

and design was superior to others. In 1895, due to a literary debate published in it that had a great effect at the time, the magazine transformed into a literary magazine that published literary works and debates until 1924. After this date, responding to the effect of the new Republic, *Servet-i Fünun* returned to its initial roots, while still publishing some literary works. It continued to be published until 1944.<sup>26</sup>

In addition to the analysis of newspapers and magazines in the last chapters, Chapter 3 summarises the initial alphabet discussions that took place during the Ottoman years and the linguistic problems and the circumstances regarding printing and type that paved the way for the reform. Furthermore, information on the aims of this reform, how it was implemented and the social, political and educational aspects are presented as useful background in Chapter 4. Although the information related to these issues is well covered in the related literature - which is also mentioned in this study - the intention here is to contribute to the literature with some reform-related information in the reviewed newspapers and magazines and the related ephemeral and state documents collected from the archives to enrich the subject. Lastly, Chapter 5 helps to contextualise the analysis of newspapers and magazines by revealing the historical role of newspapers and magazines in Turkey, discussing the effects of the reform on the analysed newspapers and magazines, pondering on the issue of the purchase of metal types and printing machines during the reform period, and showing the role of visuals and cartoons in the implementation of the reform.

Although there is almost no literature on the typographical side of the alphabet reform, this research aims to provide an account of the alphabet reform specifically through the lens of newspaper and magazine design and to be a starting point for further typographic studies on the subject.

#### 1.2. Archival research and institutions

Online databases and library archives in Turkey were mainly used to collect the primary sources for this research.<sup>27</sup> First, the newspapers and magazines that are analysed in this study were collected from the libraries listed below. Two online archives were initially used because of their immediate availability for downloading and storing. One is the newspaper archive of Ankara University<sup>28</sup> and the other is a personal collection named

**<sup>26</sup>** *TDV İslam Ansiklopedisi. s.v.* "Servet-i Fünun.", p.573, accessed at April 2017, http://www. islamansiklopedisi.info/dia/pdf/c36/c360390.pdf

**<sup>27</sup>** The difficulty of not understanding the needs of researchers who approach the artefacts typographically was one of the issues of using these archives. As it will be also mentioned in the Conclusion part, the need for typographic researchers to access actual/physical materials in order to see and spot the details of typographic printing and arrangements is crucial. Further, the digitalisation projects that were in progress during this study negatively affected the initial field trips.

<sup>28</sup> http://gazeteler.ankara.edu.tr

*Hakkı Tarık Us*,<sup>29</sup> which includes old period magazines and newspapers from Turkey, later donated to the Beyazıt Library in İstanbul.

Apart from online databases, the following libraries that hold the printed publications of the period were used in order to complete the missing volumes. The biggest one is the National Library of Turkey, located in Ankara. The library was founded in 1946 and now consists of 3,089,517 items. The majority of this collection is books and periodicals, while other items are books in the Ottoman-Turkish alphabet, manuscripts and nontextual materials. All the old periodicals both in Arabic and Latin scripts are digitalised, and viewing the original copies is not permissible due to the policies of the library. As a result, all the copies of newspapers and magazines in this study are supplied as digital versions.<sup>30</sup>

The second library used is the Atatürk Municipal Library in İstanbul. This library was established in 1931 and contains nearly 200,000 items: 24,803 in modern Turkish, 11,903 in Ottoman Turkish, 3,614 manuscripts in Ottoman Turkish, Arabic, and Persian, 14,547 periodicals and numerous annuals, calendars and maps. Some of the publications and the ephemeral documents in Chapter 3 were sourced from this library.

The third library is Beyazıt Library in İstanbul, one of the oldest and richest libraries in the city. Its collection features over one million works, including books, periodicals, newspapers, rare works, maps, posters, and a money archive. It has 30,000 different kinds of periodicals as well as examples printed in the Ottoman period. The library's newspaper collection is one of the most important newspaper archives in Turkey. It is possible to find most of the newspapers printed during the Ottoman period and local and national papers printed after the Republic was founded.

Apart from the newspapers and magazines, a number of state and ephemeral documents mentioned in this study were collected from the following libraries and archives:

- The archive of Turkish Parliament (TBMM)

- The Ottoman Archives in İstanbul (State archives of the Prime Ministry, referred to as BOA in this study)

- The Republican Archives in Ankara (State archives of the Prime Ministry, referred to as BCA in this study)

- The Ottoman Bank Archives and Research Centre in İstanbul, online archive

- The Library of Congress in Washington, online archive

In addition to the above sources, other visuals and documents in this study are reproduced from various literary sources and taken from my personal collection, as specifically indicated in the relevant chapters.

<sup>29</sup> http://www.tufs.ac.jp/common/fs/asw/tur/htu

**<sup>30</sup>** Other than visiting the library in person, there is also an online service, allowing distant researchers an access to periodicals with a preview option and to buy the digital copies of pages by signing up online.

#### Chapter 2: Method

In this section, the methodology applied to the analysis of newspapers and magazines will be explained in detail. Initially, this section presents how the scope was defined and how the sample of newspapers and magazines was determined. It describes the approach taken considering the design and typographic features of these newspapers and magazines in order to trace their typographic transformation. The chapter begins with a brief description of the literature consulted.

#### 2.1. Notes on literature

Initially, the existing studies on different aspects, such as social, political, linguistic and educational, were reviewed in order to create a background for this research. The main sources consulted frequently were:

- Bilal Şimşir's book, *Türk yazı devrimi (Turkish writing revolution)* (2008), which is probably the broadest account on the alphabet reform with its rich references and relevant documents revealed for the first time.

- Rekin Ertem's book, Elifbeden Alfabeye: Türkiye'de Harf Ve Yazı Meselesi (From Elifba to the Alphabet: The issue of letter and writing in Turkey)(1991), is a balanced piece of literature with a more critical and judgmental perspective than Şimşir's book, which is generally positive and praising in many aspects.

- Ayla Acar's article, 'Türkiye'de Latin alfabesine geçiş süreci ve gazeteler' (The period of switching into Latin alphabet and newspapers) (2011), is one of the rare and well-focused publications that discusses only the reaction and the role of publications in general in the alphabet reform.

 The Turkish Historical Society's 'Harf Devrimi'nin 50. Yılı Sempozyumu' (The 50th year symposium of Letter Revolution) (1991) is a good collaborative work consisting of the talks of the speakers at the symposium on different aspects of the reform, such as book publishing, education, and social and linguistic issues.

- Hale Yılmaz's book, *Becoming Turkish: Nationalist Reforms and Cultural Negotiations in Early Republican Turkey, 1923–1945* (2013), only briefly mentions the alphabet reform, but from a unique perspective – the untold human experience during the reform period. It is especially good for revealing the reactions of people at the time and some of the resistance to reform.

There is no literature on specific design and typographic features of the reform-period newspapers and magazines. Some of the literature on the printing history of Turkey was consulted in order to obtain information about the print and production sides of the reform, to provide background to the decision making in relation to the graphic forms and design of newspapers and magazines. Two main sources consulted in this respect are:

- Gökhan Akçura's Cumhuriyet Döneminde Türkiye Matbaacılık Tarihi (The

*history of Turkish printing in the Republican period*) (2012) is one of the most extensive and illustrative pieces of research on the issue, with many interviews with printers from different periods, in addition to a broad review of the literature.

- Alpay Kabacalı's *Başlangıcından Günümüze Türkiye'de Matbaa*, *Basın ve Yayın* (*From past to present: printing press, media and publishing in Turkey*)(2002) is one of the primary sources in the field that also presents a good account on the subject with images.

However, the existing literature on Turkish printing history covers only the issues below, though not in a detailed/comprehensive manner, but more in a summarised and brief way:

- The account of the types of printing presses, typesetting methods, and some of the metal types in use mostly and their styles (without giving any detail about brand/model, size, stock/place and feature)
- The publishing/printing activities: important publications published (without giving any account/description about their design)
- Some interviews with printers/typesetters/publishers to give a glimpse of printing scene in certain periods considering their importance.

These sources do not mention and describe specifically the graphic and typographic features of a printed work including newspapers and magazines in the context of Turkish printing history. Only the issues mentioned above are well known in these type of resources.

Other literature related to newspaper and magazine design in Europe was used to make comparisons in the analysis of newspapers and magazines. These are:

- Allen Hutt's Newspaper Design (1961)
- Albert A. Sutton's Design and make-up of the newspaper (1948)
- Harold Evans and Edwin F. Taylor's Editing and Design: A Five-Volume Manual of English, Typography, and Layout (1973)
- Anthony Quinn's A history of British magazine design (2016)

In addition to the literature mentioned above, some state documents regarding the production and importation of metal types and printing press as well as the details about the implementation of the reform were unearthed and shared in Chapters 3,4 and 5. Lastly, in the early phases of the research, the existing articles in the analysed newspapers and magazines regarding the reform were discovered and used, as they contribute to the matter by giving more detail about the reform, the preparations, and the period that no other main literature provides.

	March 1926	•	The initial Language Commission was founded for the creation of new Turkish Latin Alphabet.
	20 May 1928	¢	The law on the adoption of the Latin numerals was enacted.
	23 May 1928	¢	Nine members appointed to the new Language Commission, in order to prepare a proposal for the new alphabet.
	1 August 1928	•	A proposal for a new alphabet was presented to Atatürk as 'Elifba Raporu' (Report on Alphabet).
	10 August 1928	ł	The new alphabet was introduced for the first time to the attendees at an evening party by the government.
THE TRANSITION PERIOD	11 August 1928	Ť	The new alphabet was introduced to the members of the Turkish parliament.
	15 August 1928	t	The new alphabet was introduced to academics and authors.
	26 August 1928	Î	The state printing house published and distributed leaflets, introducing the new alphabet, to the members of the parliament.
	During Late August & September		President Atatürk took some trips to certain high-populated cities in order to introduce the new alphabet for the first time in the public squares/areas by using a board and chalk.
	01 November 1928		The alphabet law was enacted. It was declared that all official signboards, inserts, advertisements, cinema materials/boards and all periodicals including bulletins, newspapers and magazines must start to be printed all in the Latin alphabet on the first day of December 1928.
	01 December 1928		All printed media –including magazines and newspapers except books– started to be published all in the Latin alphabet on this day.
	01 January 1929	•	Mandatory 'Nation Schools' were founded in order to teach the new alphabet to the public between the age of 16 and 40.

Figure 2.1 Timeline showing the all activities of the alphabet reform.

#### 2.2. Defining the reform period

The chart in Fig.2.1 summarises the main events in the reform period. The Language Commission was founded in March 1928 in order to prepare the new alphabet although its members were appointed in May 1928. From this date, the Commission prepared the new alphabet, and according to the literature, the new alphabet was announced in the early hours of 10 August 1928.<sup>1</sup> However, the use of Latin numerals was enacted in May 1928, a couple of months earlier than the alphabet announcement. Thus, there might have been some early unofficial attempts in publications, especially in newspapers, to introduce the new alphabet. To reveal the early attempts before the official announcement, the issues/volumes of publications back to this earlier date encompassing the adoption of Latin numerals were also examined. The analysis started with the announcement day; however, a closure date was also needed to be determined in order to end the analysis. As we can see from the timeline, a law requiring the publications to be printed using the new letters was enacted on 1 November 1928, and the full adoption of the Latin script with the new Turkish alphabet in publications occurred on 1 December, which was a definite deadline. For the purpose of the analysis, the period up to this date was defined as the transition or pre-reform period. The period after the full adoption - or the implementation day - which was analysed to understand how they managed to publish everything in the new script and alphabet, was defined as the post-reform period. It was intended to limit the scope to a couple of months from the implementation, but the post-reform analysis was extended at least six months more, in order to find out whether further developments are evident. In the end, the period that was analysed was determined as nine months, starting from the announcement of the alphabet (10 August 1928) and ending on May 1929, five months after the official implementation. The next step was the selection of publications in which the alphabet change was traced.

#### 2.3. Identifying newspapers and magazines for the study

As there is no literature that reveals a certain number or a complete list of all the newspapers and magazines published during the alphabet reform period, a new one, although not with the claim of covering them all perfectly, was formed for this study. In order to identify the newspapers and magazines for the study, the literature on the role of publications during the alphabet reform was reviewed to gather the names of some

<sup>1</sup> There is no specific reason that is known and mentioned in various sources about the chosen time, which is August, for the announcement of the reform. Therefore, there was also no relation with the timing of official or religious holidays, such as 'Ramadan' to coincide with the announcement of the reform (Because of the Islamic lunar calendar (*Hijri*), a year time is shorter than in the Gregorian calendar, which is based on the sun. So, the time of the religious holidays, as in Ramadan, always changes and coincides with different times in the Gregorian calendar). There is also no indication whether the academic year was considered when the new alphabet was announced in August, as there was a problem with producing the updated textbooks with the new alphabet within a couple of months for students and this action was decided to be postponed for the next academic year by the Ministry of Education.

Newspapers	Ankara University online archive	National Library of Turkey online catalogue	Hakkı Tarık Us online collection	Atatürk Library
Hakimiyet-i Milliye	1928 May-Nov	1928 Jan/Apr/May- Nov 1929 Jan-Dec	Before 1926	
Akşam	1929 Jan-Dec	1928 Feb-Dec 1929 Jan-Dec	1928 Jan-Sep	1932-
Cumhuriyet	1929 Jan-Dec	1928 Jan-Nov (inc. 1 Dec)	Before 1927	Dec 1928
Vakit		1928 Jan-Nov	1927 and before	1930-
Milliyet		1928 Jan-Dec	1928 Jan-Nov	1929 Jan-Mar
Yeni Köroğlu		1928 Apr-Dec		
İkdam		1928 Jan-Nov		1928 Oct - 1929 May
Resimli Gazete (weekly)		1928 Jan-Nov Nov 2 volume	Sep1339-Jan1930	
Büyük Gazete		1928 Jan-Nov	Oct1926-Dec 1928 (1 vol.)	
Halk		1928 May-Nov		
Karagöz			Jun1324-Nov 1928 Dec 1928-Jan1935	

	1 T. T.			6
Magazines	Ankara University online archive	National Library of Turkey online catalogue	Hakkı Tarık Us online collection	Beyazıt Library
Hayat		1928 Jan-Nov	May-Nov 1928	Nov1928-
Resimli Ay		1928 9 volumes	March-Nov 1928 March,April,June- Aug 1929	
Akbaba		1928 Jan-Dec		1933-
Arkadaş		1928 Jun-Nov	Jun-Nov 1928	1928-29
Servet-i Fünun	1928 Jan-Nov	1928 Jan-Nov	As 'Resimli Uyanış'	
Gürbüz Türk Çocuğu			Oct1926-Sep1928 Dec 1928-35	
Muhit			Nov 1928-May 1933	
Yeni Fikir			Jun1927-Nov1928	
İçtihad			May-Nov1928 Feb1928-Mar1931	
Ceride-i Adliye			Aug-Nov 1928	
Darülfünun Edebiyat Fakültesi Mec.			Jan-Oct 1928	

Figure 2.2 List of publications and their locations with the available issues/volumes.

publications from different sources.<sup>2</sup> Then, a search of catalogues and databases in Turkey revealed the newspapers and magazines published during the reform period (Fig.2.2).<sup>3</sup> The number of publications in the table was too high to make a reasonable analysis, so the list needed to be condensed and some publications needed to be eliminated. To this end, some criteria was developed. Before doing this, the genres of publications were clearly defined as there was a little confusion around this. There was a hybridisation in the form of newspaper and magazine at the beginning of the 20th century. For instance, it is possible to find publications referred to in different resources (Akbaba 2014 and Kılıç 2011) either as a magazine or as a newspaper in a form of tabloid. For this reason, the publication, Servet-i Fünun, was put in the category of magazine. Another issue was about the definition of tabloid newspapers, specifically the publications, Yeni Köroğlu and *Karagöz*. Considering their publishing frequency, which is twice a week (printed on Wednesdays and Saturdays) and the number of pages (4), it is better to call them 'newspapers' despite not being published daily. The small format of these publications was one of the reasons that might have led to this misconception. For this reason, the term 'tabloid' was chosen here even though the format is used differently today. Further, there were some shared features with the tabloid newspapers of the period such as front covers dominated by visuals, as in the Daily News of New York (Fig.2.3).

To select materials for close analysis, the following criteria were identified:

1) *Regular publication during the transition period:* Being published on the day of the introduction of the new alphabet and until the day of the implementation of the law (10 August-1 December).

2) Availability of the later volumes: To allow for the examination of a volume dated at least three months after the reform in order to observe whether there was a transformation in type and print.

*3) Availability in the archives and/or digital copies:* Even if there is proof about the existence of a publication during the reform period in the library and archive catalogues, there is always a possibility that copies are not all accessible or are subjected to limited access both physically and digitally. Thus, this criteria eliminates the publications that are missing or have no/ limited access.

4) *Popularity:* Popularity and high circulation were taken into account, as these factors result in being in the public eye more than other publications.

<sup>2</sup> These sources are: The publication list showing the high-circulated newspapers and magazines in İstanbul, prepared by the American Embassy in 1928, cited in Şimşir, *Türk Yazı Devrimi* (Ankara: Turkish Historical Society Publications, Ankara, 1992), p.226-228; Ayla Acar, "Türkiye'De Latin Alfabesine Geçiş Süreci Ve Gazeteler," *İstanbul Üniversitesi İletişim Fakültesi Dergisi 41* (2011), accessed at April, 2017, http://kisi.deu.edu.tr//yilmaz.ahmet/ikinci\_donem\_ makale/04\_ataturk\_donemi\_egitim\_kultur/54.pdf; Halûk Perk and İsmail Günay Paksoy, *İstanbul'un 100 Gazetesi* (İstanbul: İstanbul Büyükşehir Belediyesi Kültür A.Ş. Yayınları, 2012); Ergun Çınar, *Istanbul'un 100 Süreli Yayını* (İstanbul: İstanbul Büyükşehir Belediyesi Kültür A.Ş. Yayınları, 2010).

**<sup>3</sup>** For both physical and online libraries and archives that I used to conduct my research, see: Chapter 1, section 2 on p.25-7.



**Figure 2.3** A example of front cover dominated by one visual, *the Daily News of New York*, 5 February 1921. Image source: Wikipedia (public domain)

Broadsheet Newspapers	Magazines
Hakimiyet-i Milliye	Servet-i Fünun
Akşam	Resimli Ay
Cumhuriyet	1
Milliyet	
İkdam	
Tabloid Newspapers	
Yeni Köroğlu	
Karagöz	

**Figure 2.4** Final list of selected publications in three categories, broadsheet newspapers, tabloids and magazines.
The newspapers with the highest circulations will be subjected to examination due to their reader demand.

5) Showing a range of type and design elements including continuous text, headings, illustrations, captions, mastheads: Due to institutional seriousness and formality, some of the publications consist of plain text without illustrations and do not show a vital change in types, layout, image/ illustration, masthead, or running head resulting from the alphabet reform. Naturally, this does not provide evidence for the discussion on the design of the publications and opportunity for the observation of change during the transition period.

6) Contributing<sup>4</sup> to the reform by integrating content in the new alphabet during the transition period: Integrating a considerable content published in the new alphabet during the transition period indicates that those publications were actively participating and contributing to the reform and this situation could give a good account on the design and typographic choices of publications and the transformation that they went through.

Using these criteria, 7 newspapers and 6 magazines were abandoned because of their physical and digital unavailability in the libraries. As the following step, some other criteria were applied to the last list; the following publications were identified as suitable for analysis under three main categories: broadsheet newspapers, tabloids and magazines (*Fig.2.4*). All these publications received government subsidy, except *Servet-i Fünun*, which was one of the oldest and popular magazines at that time.<sup>5</sup>

## Clarification on the issue of opposition

As it is not possible to discern any kind of explicit resistance or opposition to the replacement of the alphabet in the newspapers and magazines of the period, the publications were selected for the analysis here specifically for their popularity and participation in the reform process. Active involvement makes the cases more interesting and worthy for the analysis. Choosing the publications that are eligible for this will give a chance to observe the transformation in the design and typographic decisions of period publications, due to the imposed sanctions by the government to print all in Latin after nearly 4 months from the announcement. If there is a desire to participate in the alphabet change movement by integrating contents in the new alphabet during the transition period, then it is possible to say that there is progress and change that would give a good account on the typographic struggles that printers/typesetters and publishers went through. Otherwise, it would not be possible to see and discuss any changes regarding design and typography and the further effects to the typographic scene of Turkey, if publications are not willing to participate in the process.

**<sup>4</sup>** Contributing, not 'supporting', because it is not possible to measure the support or the opposition.

**<sup>5</sup>** The reason why it did not receive any aid could be that it may not have needed it because of its high circulation among others and because of gaining financial benefit as a result of it.

Furthermore, the fact that some newspapers did not participate as other enthusiastic publications in the integration of Latin script does not necessarily mean that they were against the new script. The reason why they did not integrate the new script could have simply been the lack of new metal type stock at the time, which would include the new Turkish characters, or the lack of experienced typesetters, who might have known how to set and integrate the Latin text during the transition period. So it is hard to deduce that this was an opposition act, especially when it is hard to see any explicit opposition voice or content towards the reform and the reformers in the media.

# The change in the direction of magazine selection

It was planned to include four magazines to the analysis, instead of two, but then after a brief analysis on newspapers and magazines, it was seen that the magazines were not active as newspapers in helping to spread and implement the reform within the public, and also there was a slow participation in the integration of the Latin content during the transition period, in contrast to the newspapers that became pioneer in this task (Considering the publishing frequency of magazines, quarterly or monthly, this inactive approach in the integration of Latin content is understandable). For this reason, no significant changes were apparent in the design of magazines during the transition period compared to the change in newspapers. This would negatively affect a possible comparison with the later issues to reveal how their design and typography evolved after the reform. Also, as the problems that emerged because of the adaptation were similar between these magazines, there was no logic to repeat the same issues. However, despite the drawbacks, it is also important to show how the magazines contributed to the reform and how their design and typographic choices were affected in the end. As a result of all these factors, only the most popular and important magazines at that time, which are Resimli Ay and Servet-i Fünun, were included in the analysis.6

Before going further to explain the dates of the analysis and the framework, these selected publications will be introduced briefly one by one to comprehend why they were chosen for the analysis apart from the reason that they were being regularly published throughout the pre- and post-reform periods.

# 2.4. Selected newspapers and magazines



**6** Although the famous satirical/humour magazines, *Akbaba* and *Cem* were existing during the same period, due to problem of post-reform issues/volumes are not existing in the libraries and archives, they were excluded from this study.

## İkdam

*ikdam* supported the alphabet reform and shared the endeavour of teaching the new alphabet to the public with other newspapers and government when the new alphabet was introduced. The alphabet lessons formed a part of the newspaper's content. *ikdam* supported the reform as understood from the articles passionately in favour of the new alphabet. Its being one of the oldest newspapers at that time was another reason for choosing it for the analysis.



# Hakimiyet-i Milliye

Even though the issues published in December 1928 right after the implementation day cannot be found in the libraries and archives searched for this study, this newspaper was included in the list of analysed publications because it was the official newspaper/channel of the government in the reform year. Some of the members of the parliament were permanent contributors. The fact that it was published in Ankara rather than İstanbul also affected the decision to include it in the analysis.





### Akşam

The newspaper had been one of the supporters of the reformers since its foundation in 1918 although it did not publish as many alphabet lessons as the other newspapers did during the reform period. However, its high circulation, popularity, and the change made in its layout were the main reasons why it was selected for the analysis. A statement about the use of Latin typefaces in big sizes in order to help readers learn the new alphabet also affected the decision to include it in the analysis.<sup>7</sup>



### Cumhuriyet

The newspaper supported the new Republic (1923) and shared its vision to implement the modernisation reforms right from its foundation in 1924. This newspaper was included in the analysis because of its high circulation and popularity, and contribution to the reform through the publication of alphabet lessons.

<sup>7</sup> Reşad Ekrem Koçu and Mehmet Ali Akbay, İstanbul Ansiklopedisi (Encyclopedia), s.v. "Akşam Gazetesi." Volume I, (İstanbul, Tan Matbaası, 1958), p.546.





# Milliyet

This paper was one of the supporters of the reform not only by publishing content in favour of it, but also by creating many regular alphabet lessons in different forms. No other newspapers did so at that time. The quality of its printing and type distinguished it from other newspapers and was another reason to analyse this paper.



# Yeni Köroğlu and Karagöz

These were high-circulation illustrated tabloids at the time, which also supported the reform by publishing pictures showing the adoption process and creating cartoons to promote the reform. While *Karagöz* was an old magazine that had a strong style and tradition, *Yeni Köroğlu* was a brandnew magazine that was established in the same year of the reform, and unlike *Karagöz*, it was prepared in Ankara and published in İstanbul.<sup>8</sup> The difference in the way these two publications reacted or contributed to the reform was one of the reasons why they were included in the analysed publications.



**<sup>8</sup>** The political centre at the time of the reform was Ankara, as the new Republic announced it as the capital by refusing the heritage of İstanbul as the reminiscence of the Empire. However, because İstanbul was the capital of culture since the Empire, the majority of newspapers, magazines and printing houses were in İstanbul. As mentioned earlier many MPs from Ankara were frequent contributors of the publications subjected to the reform. In this case, both cities played an essential role in the implementation of the reform; for more information on the comparison of İstanbul and Ankara in the early years of the Republic, see Hakan Kaynar, *Projesiz Modernleşme: Cumhuriyet İstanbul'ndan gündelik fragmanlar*, (İstanbul: İstanbul Araştırmları Enstitüsü Yayınları, 2012), p.33-44.

<image/>	August 10, 1928 $\longrightarrow$ The announcement of the new alphabet Between August $\longrightarrow$	Examination 1 Publications are entirely in Arabic script. Examination 2
<image/> <image/> <image/>	and September September, 1928	First contents in Latin script.
<image/>	October, 1928 →	Examination 3 All issues/volumes in the transition period.
	November 1, 1928 The declaration of the law for the new alphabet	
<text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text>	December 1, 1928	Examination 4 Publications are entirely in Latin script.
<text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text>	February, 1929 →	Examination 5 Amendments
<text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text>	May, 1929	Examination 6 Further changes

**Figure 2.5** Half-page images of *İkdam* showing the integration of the Latin content throughout the reform period and the stages of the analysis with allocated dates.

### **Resimli** Ay

Even though it had a three-month break right after the implementation day, this magazine was an important and popular publication that was created to spread the new Republic's ideals and agenda within the society. Apart from this mission, the considerable change in the design of the magazine after the break was a further reason to include it in the analysis.





### Servet-i Fünun

One of the most important and oldest magazines in the history of Turkish publications, this illustrated magazine was also known for its support for the alphabet reform. The design and the printing quality of the magazine, which always distinguished it from its competitors, was also a factor when tracing the alphabet reform through its volumes.

# 2.5. Determining the dates of analysis

In order to analyse the newspapers and magazines systematically and also due to the high number of volumes/issues that needed to be examined within the scope of nearly one year, a system that allowed for this analysis at certain dates was established. These specific dates were defined in two separate periods: 1) transition and 2) post-reform. In the transition period, the typographic problems were generally related to lack of type, meaning that there were not enough type pieces/families and they lacked the new Turkish characters because the types that were suitable for French magazines published earlier were used. In the post-reform period, the problems regarding the lack of Latin type were mostly solved. However, the struggle to adapt to a new printing practice because of the new Latin-based alphabet was still evident.

Because of the large scope of publications in the reform period and the examination of certain volumes/issues, representative dates were determined for the analysis and the visualisation of the change resulting from the reform .These dates are shown in the diagram (*Fig.2.5*) below:

### Transition period:

- The 1st analysis is on 10 August 1928 - the day when the reform was introduced and publications were entirely in Arabic script.

- The 2nd analysis is on the date when the first Latin content appeared in publications during the transition period; therefore, this date will vary in each publication.

- The 3rd analysis will include the whole issues/volumes in the transition period, which starts with the first Latin content and ends with the

implementation day (around the end of August and December 1, 1928). Important design and typographic changes within the reviewed issues/ volumes between these dates will be highlighted.

### *Post-reform period:*

- The 4th analysis is on 1 December 1928 - The implementation day, when the publications were entirely in Latin script.

- The 5th analysis is on all the issues between December 1, 1928 and February 1, 1929 to trace the initial attempts to deal with the new script and the alphabet.

- The 6th analysis is on all the issues between 1 February to 1 May 1929 to show if there were any alterations in layout and typography.

Even though these specific dates for the analysis were mostly reviewed, and were chosen to represent and visualise the changes that came with the alphabet reform explored in this study, examples and cases were not limited to just one issue or volume as it is always likely that some interesting or noteworthy incidents regarding the Latin adoption could go unnoticed. As a result, the rest of the volumes of newspapers and magazines issued during the transition and post-reform periods were also scanned and some important and different cases regarding the Latin alphabet adoption were highlighted.

# 2.6. Developing framework for the analysis of newspapers and magazines

A framework helps researchers to create a descriptive analysis of graphic language and the visual attributions of text. In order to articulate the design and typographic features of graphic materials, a framework was devised to record, document and discuss the design and typographic features of newspapers and magazines in this study and the changes in these features due to the reform. Even though they are not similar studies, some framework examples were consulted for this study in order to get an idea about how to create a framework for a systematic analysis of selected publications in this thesis. These studies were Sue Walker's 'Checklist for children books' analysis,<sup>9</sup> and Keith Tam's framework for bilingual (English-Chinese) documents.<sup>10</sup> These studies were used to understand what components and design and typographic features that a printed/ graphic design work might have and how to call and analyse these parts/ features.As a result, these studies gave an initial idea about creating a framework for the analysis.

**<sup>9</sup>** Sue Walker, "Describing the design of children books: An analytical approach" in *Visible Language*, 2012.

**<sup>10</sup>** Keith C. H.Tam, "A descriptive framework for Chinese-English bilingual typography" in *Typographische Monatsblätter*, 2012.

Different volumes/issues from different appointed dates of each newspaper and magazine, as mentioned in the previous section, are subjected to analysis under the categories that include some graphic components. The changes in these components resulting from the reform will be presented within this framework in a more detailed way. To evaluate each component in newspapers and magazines shown below, some design and typographic features were developed for a systematic and consistent analysis. These features are 'number of pages', 'column width', 'type style', 'leading' etc.

Below are the graphic components and features regarding the design of newspapers and magazines under the main and sub-categories:

<u>Components</u>	<u>Features</u>
Format	Number of pages
	Page size

### Grid/Layout system

Range and position of content Textual content Pictorial content Column Features Number of columns Column width Gutter space Layout/Grid Style Grid styles Use of space Overall look

### **Typographic evolution**

Adoption of Latin content Type style and size Typographical hierarchy and variations Use/substitute of new Turkish characters Use of punctuation Masthead & nameplate/logo Type style/Lettering Typographical variations Position of information Headline & headings Type style and size Typographical hierarchy and variations Use/substitute of new Turkish characters Use of punctuation Alignment Word spacing

# <u>Components</u> <u>Features</u>

Body Text

Type style and size Typographical hierarchy and variations Use/substitute of new Turkish characters Use of punctuation Alignment Hyphenation and justification Leading Running Heads

> Typographical hierarchy and variations Use/substitute of new Turkish characters Alignment

# Advertisements

Typographical hierarchy and variations Use/substitute of new Turkish characters Overall look

### Alphabet Lessons

Type style and size Typographical hierarchy and variations Use/substitute of new Turkish characters Use of punctuation Leading

Two main aspects were considered and reflected on in the analysis by examining at the components with the features listed above:

- Individual analysis of transition-period newspapers and magazines of the specified dates (before, during and after the reform): to observe the change and the evolution of the sections above in every publication within itself.
- Conclusion summarizing the topic by comparing and highlighting the differences/unique cases among the publications.

In the analysis, the design and typographic features of newspapers and magazines were considered. In addition to this, two factors influenced the typographic attributes that form the analysis: 1) The period's printing practice that shaped the design of the transition-period publications, and 2) The differences in genres across diverse publications. As far as the first factor is concerned, the design and typographic decisions of these publications were a result of technical limitations in the convention. On some occasions, making comparisons within the analysis with the foreign press became inevitable. Comparison provided an insight into both the transition-period publications and their foreign contemporaries, and their design and typographic variations. The second factor concerns the diversity of publications. Identifying the differences and similarities between broadsheet newspaper, tabloid and magazine design helped to differentiate the features and components that needed to be determined

Newspaper	Magazine
Front page	Cover
Masthead Logo Slogan Subscriber info	Nameplate Logo Slogan Imprint
Headline	_
Subheadlines	-
Headings	Headings
Subheadings	Subheadings
Body text	Body text
Section heads Pictorial Typographical Pictorial&typographical	Section heads Pictorial Typographical Pictorial&typographical
Running head	Running head
Advertisements	Advertisements
Alphabet lessons	_
Photograph	Photograph
Illustration	Illustration
Cartoon	Cartoon

**Figure 2.6** A comparison of the components of newspaper and magazine.

for the framework. Regarding this issue, two main points clearly needed to be taken into consideration. One of them concerns the form of publications and the different genres related to it. In the initial analysis and review of newspapers, there was no need to consider different genres due to the existence of only two different types of newspaper - broadsheet and tabloid. As far as magazines are concerned, there are various genres that need to be taken into account in terms of differences in their design and typographic features, simply because the nature of each genre affects and determines these choices. Naturally, the design and typographic features of a political or philosophical magazine is different from a leisure time/ entertainment magazine. Another consideration is that because of their different natures, typography plays a more dominant role in newspapers, while magazines contain more pictorial and decorative elements. This difference inevitably affects the general analysis approach and the articulation of variants. As a result of this consideration, it is concluded that the components of newspapers and magazines show a slight difference although their format, layout and typographic features are quite different from each other (Fig.2.6). For this reason, a general framework was applied to all the newspapers and magazines analysed in this study.

The next chapter ponders on the implementation of the reform, how the Turks ended up with the idea of an alphabet reform, and what the contributions in the discussions of alphabet reform were since the half of the 19th century in the Ottoman Empire period.

# Chapter 3: Implementation of the alphabet reform

"Reading and writing in Turkish with Arabic letters is difficult. A Turkish word can be read in many ways due to the lack of vowels in this alphabet. [...] It is hard to differentiate the special names/terms from other words, as there is no majuscule in the Arabic script. There are no such difficulties in European scripts. From 6–7-year-old children to servants and workers, everybody, women and men, can learn how to write and read these scripts easily. In our case, due to the difficulty of learning our script, we cannot succeed in the public's education. Also the Arabic letters are not efficient for printing newspapers, magazines and books. Other nations print literary works using only 30–40 pieces of metal type. To be able to print books in the Arabic script, twice or three times more letters need to be used. However, books are the most powerful tools to spread education." 1

This chapter aims to trace the contributions made for the sake of the reform and the circumstances that led Turks to the idea of a script change. To this end, the late Ottoman Empire years (1860–1915) were traced back, and the multicultural scene that contributed significantly to the discussion was revealed although it is not the focus of this study.<sup>2</sup> First, however, we will briefly examine the question of why it took over half a century for script reform to be implemented.

# 3.1. Reasons for the delay of alphabet/script change

There are many social, political and cultural reasons for postponing a change or revision to a script. The main reasons behind the delay to the alphabet reform in Turkey were:

- 1) Religious concerns of Ottoman ulema<sup>3</sup>
- 2) Oppressive reign of Sultan Abdülhamid II
- 3) The war period
- 4) The struggle of establishing a new republic

After the first mention of a possible revision of the Ottoman-Turkish alphabet in 1862 by Münif Paşa, the most decisive reaction came from some intellectuals and authors who argued that revising the Arabic script

<sup>1</sup> A summarised quote from the Münif Paşa's speaking on the difficulty of using the Arabic script for Turkish in a conference in 1862; cited in Bilâl Şimşir, *Türk Yazı Devrimi* (Ankara: Turkish Historical Society Publications, Ankara, 1992), p.20. (The original text of the speech in Ottoman-Turkish could be found in a periodical called *Mecmua-i Fünun*, under the title: "Islâh-1 resm-i hatta dair bazı tasavvurat", (volume 14, 1862) in the archive of Atatürk Library).

**<sup>2</sup>** For an in-depth insight about the reasons for the postponement and the alphabet discussions in the Ottoman Empire; see: Şimşir; Rekin Ertem, *Elifbe'den Alfabe'ye Türkiye'de Harf ve Yazı Meselesi.* (Dergah Yayınları, İstanbul, Ekim 1991); Enver Ziya Karal, *Osmanlı tarihinde Türk dili sorunu, Bilim, Kültür ve Öğretim dili olarak Türkçe.* (Ankara: TTK Yayını, 1978).

**<sup>3</sup>** *Ulema:* A body of Muslim scholars who are recognised as having specialist knowledge of Islamic sacred law and theology; "ulema". In *Oxford Dictionary of English*, edited by Stevenson, Angus: Oxford University Press, 2010. http://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/acref/9780199571123.001.0001/m\_en\_gb0894280.

or adopting Latin could harm the religious life in the Empire,<sup>4</sup> including the daily religious practices and religious education, which both had an important place in the society and in reading and understanding the holy text, the Koran. This objection continued until the actual script reform.<sup>5</sup>

Another setback was the situation of Ottoman Empire, which was about to collapse. Towards the end of the Empire's fall, the oppressive reign of the Sultan Abdülhamid II overshadowed discussions about script, which were still ongoing despite the weak voice of supporters.<sup>6</sup> The Sultan ascended to the throne with the support of by a group of powerful officials called the Young Ottomans, who were the members of the liberal movement which developed the first constitutional ideology of the Ottoman Empire with the intention of being partners in state business. Also, for the first time, a constitution and parliament were founded. This period was called the First Constitutional Era. However, two years later, the Sultan began to doubt the loyalty of these officials because of the suspicious death of the previous Sultan, Abdülaziz, and he unexpectedly reversed their expectations by suspending the constitution and the parliament. He started to rule the Empire on his own by suppressing his old supporters. The level of oppression reached a point where some journalists and publishers were arrested and even sent into exile, including Ebüzziya Tevfik, who was one of the most prolific printers in the Empire.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, in order not to attract the anger of the Sultan, one of the cautious but also interesting printing actions was taken as "no use of type larger than 24 pt or [...] more than one headline. Anything else would be have been considered vulgar sensationalism".<sup>8</sup> Not only the unlimited power of the Sultan but also the significant problems of the declining Empire such as the bloody events following his overthrow by the Young Turks in 1908 and the war period<sup>9</sup>

**<sup>4</sup>** Fevziye Abdullah Tansel, "Arap Harflerinin Islahı Ve Değiştirilmesi Hakkında İlk Teşebbüsler Ve Neticeleri (1862-1884)," *Belleten* 17, no. 66 (April 1953): p.231.

**<sup>5</sup>** The opponents had less voice at the time of the early Republican alphabet discussions because of the government's implicit pressure. It is one of the reasons why the secularisation of education was actualised by the Republican reformers before introducing the script reform.

**<sup>6</sup>** This does not mean that the Sultan was against a revision of the script and even the idea of changing it. During his reign, a commission was appointed in order to discuss and create a scientific report on the issue. Various resources claim, the Sultan himself was not completely against the adoption of the Latin script. Considering the Sultan's western education and his music and literary taste, it could be the case. For the claim about Sultan Abdülhamid's views on Latin script, see: Abdülhamid 2 and Ali Vehbi, *Pensées et Souvenir de l'ex-Sultan Abdulhamit*, cited in Karal, p.65; also: Sultan Abdülhamid, *Siyasi Hatıralarım* (İstanbul: Hareket Yayınları, 1974,) p.177-178. For the full account on the issue: see Şimşir, p.29.

<sup>7</sup> Christoph K. Neumann, "Book and Newspaper Printing in Turkish, 18th-20th Centuries", in *Middle Eastern Languages and the Print Revolution: A Cross-Cultural Encounter a Catalogue and Companion to the Exhibition*, by Geoffrey Roper and Weltmuseum der Druckkunst Gutenberg-Museum (Westhofen: WVA-Verlag Skulima, 2002), p.240.

**<sup>8</sup>** J.S. Szyliowicz, "Functional Perspectives on Technology: The Case of the Printing Press in the Ottoman Empire," in *The History of the Book in the Middle East*, ed. Geoffrey Roper (United Kingdom: Ashgate Publishing, 2013), p.339.

**<sup>9</sup>** I called this period the 'war period', referring to a series of wars starting with the Balkan wars in 1912 and continuing with the First World War in 1914 and the Turkish Independence War in 1919.

1			
1()	a, ā	ص	ş
1(أ)	a, e, 1, i, u, ü	ض	ż, d
ب	b, p	ط	ţ
Ļ	р	ظ	z
۲. ۲ ټ ۴	t	ع	c
ث	s	ع غ ف	ġ
ج	c, ç		f
	ç	ق	ķ
τ	ķ	ك	k, g, (ñ)
چ ح د	ի	(ئ	ñ
	d	J	1
ć	<u>z</u> , <u>d</u>	م	m
ر	r	ن	n
ر ز ش	Z	و	v, u, ū, ü, o, ö
ۯ	j	٥	h, a, e
س	S	R	la, lā
ش	ş	ى	y, ı, i, i
		ç	>

**Figure 3.1** A comparison of Turkish and Arabic letters, showing their substitutes.

كوج	كول	مىومى	فويو
GÖÇ	GÖL	SOS	KOYU
GÜÇ	GÜL -MEK	SUS	KUYU

•mız, •miz, •muz, •mūz	<b>عی</b> -cı, ci, -cu, -cü, -çı, -çı, -çū	<b>.</b> -ce, -ca, -çe, -ça	-dır, -dir, -dur, -dür, tır, -tir, tur, -tür	-dır, -dir, -dur, -dür, tır, -tir, tur, -tür	-s12, -siz, -suz, -süz	-sınız, -siniz, -sunuz, -sünüz
<b>و</b> ہ •me, •ma	لمر ler, -lar-	<b>e</b> -se, -sa	-mış, -miş, -muş, -müş	-inca, -ince, -unca, -ūnce	لم -lı, -li, -lu, -lü	<b>می</b> -mı, -mi, -mu, -mü

Figure 3.2 Words and suffixes are shown with their multiple readings in the Arabic script. This situation caused confusion and slow pace in learning to read.

which lasted about 10 years inevitably postponed a change in the script. The struggle of establishing a new Republic in the 1920s and making many reforms in various areas in order to reshape the society also meant that it took some time to put the script reform back on the table.

# 3.2. Contributions on the road to alphabet reform

Apart from the setbacks outlined above that postponed the script change, there were also some circumstances during the Empire years that contributed to the realisation of the reform, either directly or indirectly, and that strengthened the reformers' arguments and objections about the Arabic script, besides their initial motive, which was the Westernisation of the nation. In this section, the five main contributions will be explained. Considering the complexity of the 19th century Ottoman Era in terms of transformation, it is possible to divide the origins of these contributions into two categories: the multicultural scene and internal politics. The first four contributions were mainly the consequence of interactions within the Empire's multicultural society. These could be listed as: 1) Realisation of script and language incompatibility, 2) Technical foundation to print in Latin, 3) Familiarisation with Latin script, 4) Difficulties in setting Arabic type. The final contribution, 5) Troubles in printing related to internal politics, which occurred as a result of Empire's strict restrictions on printing. This might be thought to have impeded reform, but actually contributed to the alphabet discussions by not solving the original printrelated problems. It can be said that in terms of the characteristics of the contributions, two of the contributions (realisation of script and language incompatibility and familiarisation with Latin script) were linguistic and the other three were related to printing technology.

# 3.2.1. Realisation of script and language incompatibility

The main opposition to the Arabic alphabet was the inadequacy of its structure for Turkish and its linguistically misleading nature due to the multiple readings of one letter or word because of this difference (*Fig.3.1*).<sup>10</sup> Briefly explained, a word could simply be read in more than one way and as a consequence, it could have different meanings (*Fig.3.2*). For this reason, some prominent figures of the time claimed that this situation also created illiteracy and ignorance, as Lord Kinross pointed out in his book:

With its complexity of characters and accents, its paucity of vowels and its ambiguity of sounds in different contexts, it was hard for an ordinary person to read, and even the educated Ottoman Turk would often make mistakes in its spelling. This led

**<sup>10</sup>** For more information about the difference between language and script and the first realisation that came with Divan literature and the language gap between elites and general public: Frank Tachau, "Language and Politics: Turkish Language Reform," *The Review of Politics 26*, no. 02 (January 1, 1964): p.191–92, doi:10.1017/s0034670500004733; for a more linguistic perspective: Nuran Savaşkan Akdoğan, "The Alphabet Reform and Its Implementation on the Way Towards Becoming a Modern Nation-State," *TODAİE's Review of Public Administration 4* (September 2010): p.38-39,41.

to the growth of two separate languages – that of the Ottoman mandarin class, which was written but largely unspoken, and that of the people, which was unwritten but spoken. This excluded the bulk of the population from most written literature. How could popular sovereignty thrive without an alphabet, which all the people could learn and read? <sup>11</sup>

Indeed, the literacy rate was around 2-3 per cent at the beginning of the 19th century, and was a serious concern, as the rate was low compared to between 10 and 30 per cent in Europe in the 16th century.<sup>12</sup> On the other hand, as it was pointed out in Nasr's and Robinson's studies, this situation seemed logical considering the oral transmission of knowledge in the Islamic world and religious education at that time.<sup>13</sup> But still, the question of why the apprehension of this situation emerged only in the 19th century, when education in Arabic script had existed for centuries, might occupy minds. The answer could be an important factor that created the initial questioning of the script – the multicultural environment that flourished in the late 18th century and that brought many interactions and developments as contributions.

Ottoman society had never been homogeneous. However, in the last century of the Empire (1820-1920), the reluctant but conscious efforts to meet European standards, and to rise in commerce, made the mutual interests between nations in the society more visible and beneficial.<sup>14</sup> The 19th century Ottoman Empire witnessed a more diverse cultural atmosphere within its borders and many interactions with European countries, including France, Italy, England and Germany. Also, the announcement of Tanzimat<sup>15</sup> in 1839, a significant reformation in education, trade and culture, helped to create this environment. The first

<sup>11</sup> John Balfour Kinross Baron, *Atatürk: The Rebirth of a Nation* (United Kingdom: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1964), p.441.

<sup>12</sup> This comparison, which shows the huge gap between the Empire and Europe even in different centuries, was quoted from the article by Donald Quataert, William Beik, and T. C. W. Blanning, *The Ottoman Empire*, *1700–1922*. (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2005), p.167; Joerg Baten and Jan Luiten van Zanden, "Book Production and the Onset of Modern Economic Growth." *Journal of Economic Growth 13*, no.3, (2008): p.221, as cited in Metin M. Coşgel, and Thomas J. Miceli and Jared Rubin, "Guns and Books: Legitimacy, Revolt and Technological Change in the Ottoman Empire." *Economics Working Papers*. 200912. http://digitalcommons.uconn.edu/econ\_wpapers/200912, (2009): p.17–18.

**<sup>13</sup>** Seyyed Hossein Nasr, 'Oral Transmission and the Book in Islamic Education.' In *The Book in the Islamic World*, 57–70. (United States: State University of New York Press, 2014); Francis Robinson, 'Technology and Religious Change: Islam and the Impact of Print.' *Modern Asian Studies* 27, no. 01 (1993): 229–51, cited in Metin M. Coşgel, and Thomas J. Miceli and Jared Rubin, p.17–18.

**<sup>14</sup>** Compared to the new Turkish Republic, The Ottoman Empire never fully embraced the 'Westernisation' idea. Accepting the burden of being technologically behind and having no industrial revolution in the European context forced the Empire to make such reforms.

**<sup>15</sup>** Or in Turkish, Tanzimat Fermani: A series of regulations in various areas, to modernize the Ottoman Empire. The period began in 1839 and ended in 1876, with the announcement of First Constitutional Era; see: Johann Strauss, 'Kütüp ve Resail-i Mevkute: Printing and Publishing in a Multi-ethnic Society', In *Late Ottoman Society: The Intellectual Legacy*, edited by Elisabeth Özdalga. (New York: RoutledgeCurzon, 2005), p.229.

two-way diplomatic relationship with the Western world actually started with the attempts of the Ottoman Palace in the early 16th century to build relations with France. In 1740, the decrees were also extended and enhanced for other nations.<sup>16</sup> Thus, in the 18th and 19th centuries, a considerable number of people, including diplomats, traders, engineers and artists, migrated to the territory and benefited from the privileged status and rights by becoming a part of the Ottoman society. Alongside their ideas and life styles, they brought their expertise in many areas. However, there was also a non-Turkish population before these more recent foreign settlers. Other nations (or non-Muslim minorities)<sup>17</sup> lived within the territory especially in İstanbul (Constantinople)18 and İzmir (Smyrna). They were not only present in governmental positions, but also played a big role in cultural and industrial developments. Their productivity affected the cultural content, such as art, architecture, literature and music, as well as publishing and printing. Another field they contributed was 'education', which was a substantial trigger in the realisation of the script and language incoherence.

At the beginning of the 19th century, minorities who lived within the borders of the Empire were given some rights and freedoms relating to education, and they initiated formal education in their native languages. The attendance of Turks at the schools of minorities and foreigners also led to the realisation that children in these schools learnt reading and writing faster and more easily than the Ottoman children.<sup>19</sup> This coincided with the return of Turks who were educated in Europe and their intellectual contributions to Turkish society. One of the contributions was to identify the problems and flaws in the education system and to propose solutions. These alterations might have led to the formation of a more adequate education system for Turkish citizens. This situation also put the efficiency of the script in the learning progress into question. Despite the fact that there is no mention in many publications, historian and geographer Katip Çelebi may have been the first person who pointed out the problem in the

**<sup>16</sup>** Although there was an active trade with Italy (especially with the city of Venice) dating back to the 15th century, there was no established, mutual political relationship. Thus, France was the first country to establish a solid interaction in many ways, from political to cultural. For a detailed account on the enfranchising of foreign citizens, see: James B.Angell, "The Turkish Capitulations", *The American Historical Review 6*, no. 2 (January 1901): p.254, doi:10.2307/1833581.

<sup>17</sup> It is possible to say that they were mainly Armenians, Greeks, Sephardic Jews, Kurdish and Levantines (French, Italian, German) (Johann Strauss, 'Linguistic diversity and everyday life in the Ottoman cities of the Eastern Mediterranean and the Balkans (late 19th-early 20th century)' in *The History of the Family 16*, no. 2 (2011): 126-141.

**<sup>18</sup>** The common name 'Constantinople' in the Ottoman Empire years was changed to 'Istanbul' as the official name of the city in 1930 by the new Turkish Republic. See: Caroline Finkel, *Osman's Dream: The Story of the Ottoman Empire 1300-1923* (New York: Basic Books, 2006), p.57.

**<sup>19</sup>** At that time, the majority of Ottoman Turkish schools were religious, apart from military and bureaucratic ones, but in the latter half of the 19th century, more secular schools, including the ones of minorities, started to spread widely throughout the nation. For more information about education in the late Ottoman years, see: Yılmaz Çolak, "Language Policy and Official Ideology in Early Republican Turkey,"*Middle Eastern Studies 40*, no. 6 (2004): 75, doi:10.1080/00263 20042000282883, p.68-70.

شريف ملالغي وقرق سكرسنه سي شهرربع الاولى غره سيندن ضبط ابمك اوزره باموصله سلمانيه سلطان اورخان دراز بنق مدرسي س القندى حضر تلرينك دامادي ديوا ن افتديسي امين افندى زاده مص نوری افنــدی به حلب الشیبا ملالغی وقرق سکز سند سی صفر الخ دفعد بإصبلان تقويم وقابعه د كوستزلديكي اوزره بروجه احت غره سندن ضبط اتمك اوزره دار الحديث مدرسي حسين بك زاد ه ال جابنيه امرارى اداده سنيه مقتض استدن اولوب تلطيف و بعض مجمد سعيد بك افندى يه ازمبر ملالغي وقرق سكز سندسي جادى الاخره س غره سند ن ضبط اتمك او زره دار الخلافة العايد مدرسلوندن باحركت داخل وصاياي لازمديي تفهيمها برقاج ادميلة درسعادته جلى مراد شاهانه اولان ملستره والبسي مجرد باشبا حضرتاري كجن رجب شير يفك بكرمي سكزنجي به در مسجد بحافى علا ، الدين مدرسى نالى فابنى زاده السيد مجد الاالكونى اخشام اوزارى داد السلطنة السنبة به وصوف ورجال دولت صنعالله افندىبه بلاد دوريه دن صوفيه ملالغي ومحروسة مدر سارند ن نابتدا. التمثلي نا نبة فارشد بران مدرسي شيخ روشن افتدى عليه دن قيو كخف دالرى ناشد بك افتدينك رعايت تام ايله فوناغند معمان حفيدى وعساكرمنه ورشحم يه واعظم شجع مدى افندى زاده مجد نج الدي قلنوب ادزان يوريلان رخصت همايونه مبى اشبوماه شعبان شريفك أيكمني

Figure 3.3 The newspaper 'Takvim-i Vekayi' with no punctuation, 1831. Image source: National Library of Turkey.

قروطاغ كنزاى نيقولا بركروه اشقسا الله زناصو بنك يركحيد ير نى كلوب طوتمش اولد يغى جانب سردار اكرميدن خبرآ لنمغله طاغلوارك اول موقع معتنادن دفعي ضمنده اوزرل ينه ذي الحجه نك بكرمي سكزيج چهار شنبه كوني برقوه كافية عسكريه سوق اولنمش واوج ساعت اولی نسخه نک حوادث د اخلیه سی صره سند ه ایما محاربهدن صكره اشقبانك برطاقي فرارايله قورتلغم يول اولنان دولت عليه تك مشكلات حاليه سندن برى دخى بولش وتخليص جان ايلدكارينه كوبا برفديه اولمق ق طاغ غائله سيدركه بوك ووقاره امتداد واشتدادى اوزره پدیپوزدن زیاده وفیاتی و یادکار هزیمشاری قره طاغلى ديدكارى باغدارك مستحق اولدقارى محازات اولان برجوق اسطه ومعماتي مدان محار به ده قاله رق لازمه نك دور سانقده اجراسي مرتبة وجو بي كمشيكن مقدار شقاوتکردارلری بو بله برکید باشنده دخی اول وقد مخصوص بر يولنيقه به مبني كسب تأخر المسيندن بالى اولمشدر . عهد قريده ايكى اردوى هما يونك نسية الشدر · هرنه ايسه تلافئ مافات سعادتي براشه رك صورت قطعيه ده برهجوم ايتسرى مصم عهد جديد سلطنت سينيه بمعقد راعش . يومد عانك بولند يغندن آرتق قره طاغ مسئله سنك قوه سيف ايله صحتنى اثباته بردليل علني آرانلسه برمدتد نبرو اتخاذ فيصليذ يراولمسي مأمول قويد ( · بوراش اولان تشبئات مرثره نك ثمرة حاصله سنى كوسترمك \* بو شـل ایله بولور جله دول فوز و فلا 🗲 \* كافدر

Figure 3.4 The newspaper 'Tasvir-i Efkar' with punctuation, 1862. Image source: National Library of Turkey.

AL ADVERTISER, SATURDAY, MARCH 4, 1884. maaned by 141 Marines 45; saitors. The entrench-اعلان مهم ments extending from and Fort Enryalus are flanked by a fort. These lines of entrenchments صبى وخالص قونياق فينو شاميانيا اكسترا are manned by the blacks. At a radius of 1,:00 yards from the main line is a line of twelve small redoubts, a quarter of a mile distant from each ايجد كدنصكر وآغزده اسكي فايسى لذتني براقور other. These redoubts have ditches, with deep profiles, and are thus rendered very strong against بوقونياق فرانسه دهواقع « شانونوف» شهرينك an assault. Strong crows' feet have been strewn thickly in the vicinity and placed in the ditches عتيق براملاك صاحبتكدر The redoubts are each manned by from twelve to بك اوغلنده طوغرى يولده ۳۹۹ نومرولى tifty blacks-steady troops, with plenty of ammunition. The great water fort is armed with one البرت كون نام تاجرك مفازهسنده Krupp and one mountain gun. The forts, the ceptre line, the small reboubts, and the other بالكمز بوقونياق فروخت اولنور water fort are manned by two companies. The forts cover the left front. The Sphinx flanks the

Figure 3.5 The Oriental Adviser, 1 March 1884. Image source: Atatürk Library, İstanbul.

17th century, as Şimşir claimed.<sup>20</sup> Thereafter, a prominent figure in the Ottoman intelligentsia, Ahmed Cevdet Paşa, also brought the issue to the attention in his grammar book, *Kavaid-i Osmaniye*, published in 1851. Ten years later, Münif Paşa opened up the discussion again in a conference organised by Cemiyet-i İlmiye-i Osmaniye (the Ottoman Scientific Society), but this time by initiating an unending debate with a vast number of Ottoman intellectuals. Even though he praised the Latin script, he did not directly propose its use; instead, he suggested the adoption of hareke,<sup>21</sup> 'vowel points' to read words correctly, but it was concluded that this would bring difficulty in printing, which was itself a vital tool to increase the number of literate people. He also proposed to separate letters in printing, but did not find a way to do this. In 1869, an article was published in the newspaper Hürriyet by the Young Ottoman exiles in London, again criticising the education of children in Turkish schools:

> While Armenian, Greek, or Jewish children at their parish schools learnt to read newspapers and letters within six months and to write letters within a year, Muslim children studied for many years without being able to read a newspaper, and even their teachers were usually unable to write a decent letter. The fault is not in the children, who are not lacking in natural intelligence, but in the whole system of education.<sup>22</sup>

The general tendency, including the article above, was not in favour of an alphabet change, but more of a reformation in education and modification of the script. This apparently shows that people who argued for adopting the Latin script were also present. They were often being criticised for ignoring the difficulty in different vocalisation of other languages, such as French and English, from their written version.<sup>23</sup> Furthermore, there was a huge discussion on orthographic problems. Until the 1860s, Turks did not use basic punctuation such as the full stop or comma (Fig.3.3). The journalist and author Sinasi was the first person to use punctuation in his newspaper (Fig.3.4). From this moment, some basic punctuation marks started to appear in periodicals and books. Due to the lack of an established system, typesetters generally had to adopt French punctuation when they set a page as a result of previous experience or interaction with the publications in Latin script (Fig.3.5). Thus, intellectuals urged authorities to create a standard punctuation system for Turkish and to end the confusion and misuses. They even exaggerated the issue by claiming that it was more urgent and vital than an alphabet reform.

**<sup>20</sup>** Şimşir, p.18.

<sup>21</sup> In Arabic, 'ḥarakāt'.

<sup>22</sup> Bernard Lewis, *The Emergence of Modern Turkey* (United Kingdom: Oxford University Press, 1968), p.428.

<sup>23</sup> For more information about the furious discussion between the two important figures, Namik Kemal and Melkum Han, see: Tansel, p.232. Another significant counter argument against favouring the Latin script was Avram Galanti's work, see: Avram Galanti, *Arabi Harfleri Terakkimize Mani Değildir* (İstanbul: Bedir Yayınevi, 1996).



**Figure 3.6** The Zellich Calendar in various languages and scripts, 1920. Image source: "Zaman Tünelinde Beyoğlu Kent Müzesi'ne Doğru 6. Daire-I Belediye'den Beyoğlu Belediyesi'ne 155 Yıl", Exhibition Catalogue.

Apart from the contributions stemming from social interactions, it is possible to say that another catalyst for the script question was the rise of modernism and nationalism movements within the Ottoman Empire and undoubtedly in Europe at that time as a consequence of French Revolution in 1789. Ideas for purification and simplification of the language were also put on the table, inspired by those ideologies. Therefore, the idea of script modification became a part of a growing call for change. Even though a revision or reform did not occur until 1928, the discussions paved the way for the realisation of the reform by creating a forum for public discourse. Prominent Turkish people evaluated the problem not only from linguistic and educational perspectives, but also from printing and typographic perspectives. These considerations bring us to the next contribution, which is having a technical foundation to print materials in different scripts.

# 3.2.2. Technical foundation to print in Latin

To picture the linguistic environment of the late period of the Empire, a well-known metaphor 'the Tower of Babel' could be used.<sup>24</sup> In the late 19th century of Constantinople (İstanbul) alone, Ottoman Turkish, Armenian, Greek, Hebrew and French were actively spoken alongside other foreign languages such as Italian, German and English. In Anatolia (the mainland of Turkey) and the south-eastern part, Kurdish, Arabic and Persian were also being used. Furthermore, the Balkans was a part of the Ottoman Empire, so it is possible to include various languages used in this land to this long list as well. Apart from these, some other dialects and writing systems belonging to the nations and religious communities living in the territory existed. Although not everybody was necessarily speaking all the languages and may not even have been bilingual, there was a basis for being able to print publications in all these language and script variations (Fig. 3.6).<sup>25</sup> The printing activities of the minorities -Armenians, Greeks, Jews and Christians - started to develop shortly after printing was introduced by Gutenberg in Europe, and they continued actively until the foundation of the Turkish Republic. Furthermore, foreigners who lived in the territory for a certain period were also active in printing and had mutual ties with the minority communities. These groups also had a strong relationship with the Ottoman Turkish printing circle throughout this period, and having them as a part of active cultural life was most beneficial for the Empire.

<sup>24</sup> Turkish historian Şükrü Hanioğlu uses this term in his book for two cosmopolitan cities at that time, İstanbul and Selanik (Salonika); for the use, see: *Atatürk: An Intellectual Biography* (United States: Princeton University Press, 2011), p.10. Long before him, Lady Montagu also used this term in her letter written during her stay in Constantinople; see: Mary Wortley Montagu, *Letters from the Levant during the Embassy to Constantinople, 1716-18* (New York: New York, Arno Press, 1971), p.158.

**<sup>25</sup>** To show the bigger picture, it is known that 1746 newspapers and magazines were published in 22 different languages during the Ottoman period. This explains why there was an active printing scene in the territory despite the late adoption of printing in Turkish and the slow progress in its development. Also, for the table showing the details of the publications and its languages, see: Ebüzziya 1985: 30 and Demircan 1988:45, cited in Firdevs Karahan, "Bilingualism in Turkey", in *The 4th International Symposium on Bilingualism*, by James Cohen et al. (Somerville, Ma: Cascadilla Press, 2005), p.1159.

To mention the assets of both foreign citizens and minorities briefly, the Hungarian convert İbrahim Müteferrika introduced printing with movable Arabic type for the first time in the territory (between 1726 and 1729) and sought to cut aesthetically better types than the ones produced in Europe.<sup>26</sup> His successors, Armenian typographers, including Ohannes Mühendisyan and many others, were the ones who mainly cut Arabic types with the help of their proficiency in metalwork.<sup>27</sup> Lithography started to be used for the first time in Turkey in 1831 by French immigrants Henri and Jack Cayol.<sup>28</sup> Furthermore, the Italian brothers Carlo and Giovanni Naya founded the first photography studio in İstanbul in 1845.<sup>29</sup> These people were not only pioneers in cultural production, but also influenced trade within the Empire by importing paper and printing machines from Europe. The Jewish family Burla Biraderler (or Bourla Frères in Europe), who emigrated from Spain in the 15th century, is a good example of this trade. As Strauss pointed out, if a high-standard printing practice came into existence, it was because of the collective efforts and contribution of the non-Muslim communities, who hold the majority of printing presses in İstanbul.<sup>30</sup>

As far as the existence of Latin script in print terms is concerned, it can be said that there was a settled foreign population, especially French. After the French Revolution, a new print culture emerged to spread the revolution's ideas and propaganda among the Ottoman-French citizens.<sup>31</sup> As a result, publications in French, and also in Latin, appeared in printed media, and French publications dominated the scene with the help of modernisation period as a result of the Tanzimat reforms. Other nations in the region, such as Germany and Britain, sought ways to publish newspapers or periodicals in French to maintain their existence in the press.<sup>32</sup> French dominance remained until the fall of the Ottoman Empire. During the war period between 1912 and 1923 (Balkan Wars, First World War, Turkish

30 Strauss, "Kütüp ve Resail-I Mevkute", p.228.

**31** Ali Budak, "Fransız Devrimi'nin Osmanlı'ya Armağanı", *International Periodical For the Languages, Literature and History of Turkish and Turkic 7*, no.3 (2012): p.664.

**<sup>26</sup>** Paul Lunde, "Saudi Aramco World: Arabic and the Art of Printing: A Special Section," (April 1981), https://www.saudiaramcoworld.com/issue/198102/arabic.and.the.art.of.printing-a.special.section.htm.

**<sup>27</sup>** For the contribution of Armenian printers and typographers, see: Teotig, Sirvart Malhasyan, and Arlet Incidüzen, *Baskı ve Harf: Ermeni Matbaacılık Tarihi* (İstanbul: Birzamanlar Yayıncılık, 2012).

<sup>28</sup> Selim Nüzhet Gerçek, Türk Taş Basmacılığı (Ankara: Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı, 2001), p.13.

**<sup>29</sup>** The information is derived from the exhibition news of 'Camera Ottomana', retrieved from http://www.todayszaman.com/anasayfa\_history-of-photography-in-ottoman-empire-documented-in-i stanbul-exhibition\_394433.html; for more information about the development of photography in the Ottoman Empire, see: Edhem Eldem, ed., *Camera Ottomana: Photography and Modernity in the Ottoman Empire 1840-1914* (United States: Koc University Press, 2015), p. 66–105.

**<sup>32</sup>** For more information about these newspapers, see: François Georgeon, "Aperçu sur la Presse de langue française en Turquie pendant la période kémaliste (1919-1938)." *La Turquie et la France à l'époque d'Ataturk, Collection Turcica I, Paris, Association pour le développement des études turques* (1981). For its Turkish translation with online access, see: François Georgeon. "Kemalist Dönemde Türkiye'de Fransızca Yayın Yapan Basına Toplu Bir Bakış (1919-1938)." *Atatürk Araştırma Merkezi Dergisi* (1990), accessed August 4, 2015, http://www.atam.gov.tr/dergi/sayi-17/kemalist-donem-de-turkiyede-fransizca-yayin-yapan-basina-toplu-birbakis-1919-1938.

atanda, slar, yeni türk harflerini çabuk öyreniniz bu harfleri bü tün millete, kõylüye, çobana, hamala, sandalciya õyretiniz bu nu vatan perverlik ve millietp erverlik vazifesi biliniz.»



**Figure 3.7** *İkdam* newspaper from the transition period. The typeface used was the same one to print French publications. Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 3.7a** A French-Turkish magazine 'Yadigar-1 Harb' from the early 20th century. It is possible to see same typeface used for *İkdam*. Image source: The National Library of Turkey

« Oxford » kongırâsında mesâîsıne en çok iştirakh ettığım şûbe « İslâm » ve « Türk » tetkikâtile teveggul eden sekizinci şûbe oldu. Arap lisânı ve edebiyatı sâhasında mârûf bir mütehassıs olan Oxford hocalarından profesör «Margoliouth» şübenin reîsiydi. Fransanın, Almanyanın, İngilterenın, Hollandanın ve « Mulla » atli bir râhipti; bu râhibin esâsen türk olup sonradan katoli k olduğunu İngiliz gazeteleri yazdılar. Bu râhip efendinin « Namuk kemal » in meşhür « Renan müdâfaanâmesi » atli eserînden bahs edeceği programda mündericti. Fakat her nedense « Mulla » bu muhtırasını kongrada okuyamadı.

Figure 3.8 Hayat magazine, on December 1928 after the implementation. The French punctuation was still in use. Image source: The National Library of Turkey

Independence War), publications struggled to avoid closure. Although many managed to exist during the early years of the new Republic (1920s), the support of the new regime for French editions of Turkish publications to transmit its own ideology and agenda deepened the financial crisis of French or foreigner-owned publications.<sup>33</sup> After the language reform, they gradually vanished from the scene.<sup>34</sup> Yet, the foundation that they passed on to the print community helped reformers to cope with the rapid change and adaptation in printing brought by the reform. The possession of Latin types, which were mainly used for printing French publications and documents before, was in particular a significant contribution (Fig. 3.7). There were few people in the business of typesetting, so any kind of expertise and experience of using Latin type must have helped the shift into a new script and made it easier to print Latin content alongside the Arabic one in the transition period. Retaining the habit of adopting French punctuation during the transition period also indicates the use of previous experiences (Fig.3.8). The existence of Latin script in the era not only helped the printing sector, but also contributed to making the public eyes and minds familiar with it in many contexts.

## 3.2.3. Familiarisation with Latin script

The widespread use of the Latin script in French language publications in Turkey contributed to its reputation alongside Arabic. From the latter half of the 1800s, the number of people who used the Latin script in daily life in the Ottoman Empire increased and it was used across a range of documents and situations in Turkey: 1) Publications, 2) Textbooks and leisure time books, 3) Ephemeral documents, and 4) Signage and environment.

# Publications: monolingual / bilingual newspapers and magazines

Between the early 19th and the 20th century, there were two different audiences for publications containing Latin script: the foreign citizens and the Turkish population including non-Muslim minorities – Greek, Armenian, and Sephardic Jews.<sup>35</sup> Furthermore, the script use varied depending on the content. While some publications were printed entirely in Latin (*Fig.3.9*), in others the Latin script was only used for some of the content while the rest was in Arabic script. Some publications were also bilingual, usually in French and Ottoman Turkish. In such publications, not all the content was printed in both languages. The general tendency was to publish the articles in only one script, and to use both languages for image captions and short news, announcements and mastheads (*Fig.3.10*). Setting special names and terms in Latin within the Arabic script text was also a normal practice.

During the last century of the Empire, there was huge wave of imported

<sup>33</sup> Georgeon, n.p.

**<sup>34</sup>** Ibid; in the study, there is also comprehensive research on the numbers of French publications in the late years of Ottoman Empire and the Republic.

<sup>35</sup> Ibid.

VENDREDI 2 FÉVRIER 186	6 On s'abonne	au bureau du Journal à Constantino	ple (Péra.) 17	RANAZAN 1282 de l'Hégire.
1° Année, N° 2. $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty}$	Lad	<b>I</b> IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	00000	Un numéro, 1 piastre. Hardelane, Amore, 5 piatres ligne, transmissiones, e de la constante la giune transmissione de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante ande la constante de la constan
CONTRACTIONDEL : le 9 ferrier. An against de l'enverture des Chambres regulars, tennes les feilles de l'opposition, officience de passimient de l'accession de ferrier au suje de la querrier de la Verlage, videntement le generation de la Verlage, videntement de la parceriste de la Verlage, videntement de la parceriste de la Verlage, videntement de la Verlage, videntement la parcia de la Verlage, videntement de la constanción, les anteques qui est an de Jarce et la proses d'act charghe de sec. Tablede, la sintation, su Mexique, a l'actor en verlagiant de la reaction y la verlage de ante de Jarce et la proses d'act charghe de sec. Tablede, la partici de l'actor participation de actor de la verlagiante de la verlage de la verlage en verlagiante de la reactor de la verlage de constituites, la parti de la Parlete d'estarer actor de la verlagiante de la verlagiante d'actor de la verlagiante de la verlagiante d'actor de la verlagiante de la verlagiante de la verlagiante d'actor de la verlagiante de la verlagiante d'actor de la verlagiante de	trouve gaive quo dans des feuilles belges. Cest thé, eu effet, lies mai constarte la prace que de la supposer susceptible de- river de la supposer susceptible de- est partique sur cute question de Mariques nomes ne sons par qu'il en sola sinuit. Il adfinit que le esbases, de Washington son- pore la transforme en question de diguid- mission from sen sons en question de diguid- mission fromsiere esta particular de diguid- mission frompistent toujours protes à tierréf- abalisations. Et de la supposer aux l'Indée disclosers, le suppose aux l'indée sons entre plant, mais de si à gaire aux l'auxies particular de la supposer de la supposer de la supposer de la supposer aux l'auxies particular de la supposer auxies particular de la supposer de la supposer auxies de la supposer entre plant, mais de la supposer auxi l'abales comparis l'agit de accurre sur- enter plant, mais de la supposer. Mois, en restaliste, maisger l'enchange de la for- er prest deriva question aligner la proper.	Newsdorf of assured when lifetruppled to the second	CERroyce de France a public devaluements that is the fact of the second seco	aussitôt après le retrait des troupes fra

Figure 3.9 La Turquie, 1866. Printed entirely in Latin. Image source: Atatürk Library, İstanbul.



Figure 3.10 Bilingual masthead. Malumat, 4 July 1901. Image source: Atatürk Library, İstanbul.



Figure 3.11 *Djem*, 28 September 1912. Image source: Atatürk Library, İstanbul.



**Figure 3.11a** *Le Film*, 12 October 1927. Image source: Atatürk Library, İstanbul.
European goods and international trade. The use of advertisements of these goods in Arabic-only newspapers and magazines must have contributed to familiarization with the Latin script. In these ads, the name of the foreign company or its logo mainly remained in its original form (usually in Latin) (*Fig.3.11*). Newspapers and magazines were not the only reading materials containing Latin script; these also included books for educational and recreational purposes.

# Textbooks and leisure time books

Education for Turkish people was mainly Islamic, and educational materials were scarce and written in Arabic script until 1773.<sup>36</sup> After this date, French started to be accepted as an education language in secular schools, which increased the number of textbooks in Latin script.<sup>37</sup> New military and engineering schools were the first to teach their students with textbooks imported from France.<sup>38</sup> For a while, the term 'French' was used as a synonym for 'foreign language'. Even the Sultan was impressed with the schools in France and initiated the opening of a school in İstanbul to instruct all lessons only in French. French also started to be taught in minority schools, while German, English and Italian were added in the late 19th century. The attendance of Turkish population to these schools, including children and college students, helped to establish French as the most common language in education.<sup>39</sup> As a result, young generations became familiar with Latin script.

The use of French and the Latin script tightened the relationship with France and brought about a significant integration with the French culture (as well as with Europe). In this way, a Francophone class was created,<sup>40</sup> which eventually caused a demand for books, including novels, plays and poetry books in French. Books and publications were not the only printed materials to contain Latin alphabet. Following the interaction with Europe, the expansion of bureaucracy's impact and the establishment of new governmental and cultural institutions made it possible to use French more widely in the ephemeral documents for official, cultural and communicative purposes.

# Ephemeral documents

Up until the 19th century, the only people to know a foreign language other than Turkish in the Empire were the non-Muslim minorities. After the rise

<sup>36</sup> Karahan, p.1158. This was the case for Turks, not for the minorities or foreigners.

**<sup>37</sup>** Ibid, p.1158. Karahan claims that the reason why French started to be used as education language was the lack of textbooks and instructors in Turkish.

**<sup>38</sup>** Demiryürek, p.130-131. For the influence of Europe in Education, see: Palmira Brummett, *Image and Imperialism in the Ottoman Revolutionary Press, 1908-1911* (Albany: State University of New York Press, 2000), p.198.

**<sup>39</sup>** Ertem, p. 30-33; There is also detailed information about the number of Turks who attended these schools.

**<sup>40</sup>** Brummett, p.78.



**Figure 3.12** A bilingual stamp. Date unknown. Image source: Personal Collection.

Figure 3.13 An "Ottomanist" banknote in Turkish, French, Greek, Armenian and Arabic, 15 July 1880. Image source: SALT Research, Ottoman Bank Archives, İstanbul.

UNION POSTALE UNIVERSELLE 1039 TURQUER TURQUER TURQUER Tarte Postale Monsueir le Profes four Buy Ballot à Utecht
N.B. Ce côlé-ci est réservé exclusivement à l'adresse

Figure 3.12a Bilingual postcard, 1889. Image source: Flickr/OttomanImperialArchive.





Figure 3.14 Coupons for ship trip. July 1911. Image source: Flickr/OttomanImperialArchive.

in international affairs, the Empire opened embassies across Europe and taught French as the semi-official language to its high-profile officers and diplomats.<sup>41</sup> A new translation office was founded and as it was the case in education, French became the dominant language among the other foreign languages in state offices to maintain correspondence.<sup>42</sup> In addition to that, following the foundation of the Universal Postal Union, the introduction of communication channels, such as a mail system, post offices, and the telegraph, consolidated the use of Latin in communications. The use of the telegraph required writing Turkish with Latin letters because the Arabic was not a recognized script in the worldwide telegraph network.<sup>43</sup> Also, the efficient use of mail inevitably resulted in mass production of bilingual postcards and stamps (*Fig.3.12*).

After the Tanzimat, the reforms in economy initiated the opening of the first Ottoman bank in 1856.<sup>44</sup> In this way, bilingual banknotes, chequebooks, share documents, certificates and many types of documents entered the life of every literate individual in the Empire, including foreign citizens *(Fig.3.13)*. Moreover, the developments in transportation (introduction of trams and ferries) led to the use of multi-lingual tickets and other documents related to travel *(Fig.3.14)*. Also, the use of photography and lithography must have enriched the production of these documents. In addition, the rise of a multi-cultural society caused a boost in cultural and entertainment events, which eventually led to the production of various flyers and posters for theatres, operas and concerts *(Fig.3.15)*.<sup>45</sup> It was even possible to see music sheets of publication supplements in Turkish, but written in Latin script *(Fig.3.16)*. In addition to these ephemeral documents, the same diversity also started to be observed in the streets.

# Signage and the environment

To promote cultural events across the cosmopolitan cities, mainly İzmir (Smyrna) and İstanbul, commercial brands and goods imported from Europe, bilingual advertisements and posters were crucial tools (*Fig.3.17*). In these cities in which the foreign and minority population lived, most were distinguished with multi-script interior and exterior signage as it was described in Strauss' study (*Fig.3.18*):

> In a way reminiscent of English in the contemporary world, French was almost omnipresent in the Ottoman cities of the late 19th century: street signs were (where they existed) usually

**<sup>41</sup>** Ertem, p.33.

<sup>42</sup> Demiryürek, p.131.

<sup>43</sup> Şimşir, p.33-34.

**<sup>44</sup>** Edhem Eldem, "Ottoman Financial Integration with Europe: Foreign Loans, the Ottoman Bank and the Ottoman Public Debt", *European Review 13*, no.3 (July 2005): 431-45, doi:10.1017/s1062798705000554, p.7.

**<sup>45</sup>** Johann Strauss, "Linguistic diversity and everyday life in the Ottoman cities of the Eastern Mediterranean and the Balkans (late 19th–early 20th century)." *The History of the Family 16*, no.2 (2011): 126-141, p.129.



Figure 3.15 'Şark Musiki Cemiyeti' concert brochure, 29 October 1921. Image source: Atatürk Library, İstanbul.



Figure 3.15a 'Mr. Carpenter enters the American Consulate in Constantinople'. Posters of movies and performances are on the wall. 1923. Image source: Library of Congress, African and Middle Eastern Division.



**Figure 3.15b** "This picture shows one of the leading theatres of the city". Bilboards in many languages. 1920. Image source: Library of Congress, African and Middle Eastern Division.





**Figure 3.16** From a music sheet, supplement of *Malumat*. Date unknown. Image source: Atatürk Library, İstanbul.



Figure 3.17 Some advertisement examples for multiscript use in Tünel. Early 1900s. Image source: "Zaman Tünelinde Beyoğlu Kent Müzesi'ne Doğru 6. Daire-I Belediye'den Beyoğlu Belediyesi'ne 155 Yıl", Exhibition Catalogue.



Figure 3.18 'Water five cents a glass'. Shop signs in two scripts. 1920. Image source: Library of Congress, African and Middle Eastern Division.

5	5	5	s.	ئى		•	i	1		7 .		:	:	:	;	1	1	1.	Ū.	;	:-	: :	: :	: :	:	£ .	8 1	\$ \$	è à	1 1	à șe ș	× ×	: :	:	;	=
5	1	:	5.	ş	•	e	÷	4	ې		4.	*	:	÷	;	:	?	ŀ	. J.	:	1	::	• •	: :	1	-	• •		b b	5	e : :	s .	1 :	:	4	-
į	į.	\$	£	ŧ	şł	ł	ż	2	نى		-	;	:	i	:	:	j	÷	÷			; :	: :	: :	;	-		- ن	ظظ		P = 5	5 .	; :	:	i	-
į	į	3	هج				2	-	ى	- Ne la	:	;	:	:	:	;	;		:	ė	e	;:	: :	: :	1		4 4	<b>i</b> i	- ) ) )	5 .	è i i	<i>3</i> à	; ;	:	i	:
ş	5	ى	ى	ځې	ż	ż	\$	3	\$	م	P.	z	E	z			ş	•	2	1		;:	: :	: :	2	22	à à	; i	في الم	5	e : :	5. 4.	; ;	:	i	-
ż	÷	مز	مر	\$	ż	ż.	51	ł	5	حى	1	٤	٤	٤	5		\$		2	' e	0	: :	: :	: :	1				3 3	3.	1 1 1	\$	1 :	:	:	:
ż	si.			10	ź	ż	\$	3	ż	خى	1	ż	ż	ż	3	;	3	*	ė			1 1	1 1	n	3 \$	3 54	3 3	1 4	1.1	3	, , 1	A 95	-	-	-	-
;	3	:	4	ذ	ذ	2	2	;	Ł					,	*	-			1-1 <u>1</u>	ى	ر	11	* *	5 8	لم بر	5 56	5 56	55	14	'r ;			2	-	-	-
{	1ú	vó	ه	ط	ط	Ŀ	5	i	-		:	:	2	-			-		1	او	لو	•	\$	5	3	1	1	1	3	1	1			4		4
5		ĕ		Ŀ	ظ	Ŀ	ظ	*	ż	4	;	ذ	~		4	4				وحثو	s	υ	0	U	ى	~	*	+	]	1	ę	1	6	Ł	ظ	Ŀ
ç		1	4	ĸ	ÿ	L	1	,		ىلى	لى	لى	и	ý.	1	1	,	J	J				1				1	1.	ى	ځ	مى	- :	-	•	ż	-
1	5	كل	كل		£	S	5	x	1	ĸ	К	ß	ß	٢	ىك	ય	ى	1	1	ونطو	JT	;	:	:	1	:	1	-	1	ż	1	-	j	à	3	à
ę.	5	•	*	مى	عى		2	٤			j	غ	نمى	ن		ىغ	i	j	ن			!	:			4				1 :	4	5	,	1	. 1	n
ې		À	ż	مى	غى		ż	ė	:	ż	ż	0	نمى	نى	-	ىق	i	;	U	يرمش	مريد	۵	v						-	r	r	r	•	;	ه	۵
-	:		;			:	7	. 7	L			•	•	•	•	•		•	•			1.	,	y	ى	ى	5	;	:	:	:	;		-	*	:
	-		1.1.1	1217/222				1000	-	1	1000	-					-	-	-	يرتنكو	6.4	COLUMN T		1	-	0000		1.1		1.000	-	1	1		-	S

Une casse relativement réduite de caractères arabes d'imprimerie, et qui donne une idée des difficultés que l'ancienne écriture présentait du point de vue de la lecture

A	B	С	Ç	D	E	F								
G	Ğ	Η	İ	I	J	K								
L	M	N	0	Р	R	S	10.00							
Ş	Т	U	V	Y	Z		а. Т.							
Â	E	Î	Ô	Û	Ö	Ü								
§	/	*	?	1 .								0	9	8
<b>(( ))</b>	()	[]	:	;		1	1	2	3		4	5	6	7
													-	417
j	f		-	,			Ö	•	i	ï		â		
-	b		c	d	1	e	s		g	ş	ğ	h	î	3 Punto
ç			. 91 C											2
										,		1 Punt	0 1	-
ç	1	m	and the rest of the	n		i	0		р	k	( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )		0 200	Punto 4
		m		n t	P	i 6 unto	o		p r		•	Punt	0 I	Punto

**Figure 3.19** Type case compartments, before and after the reform. Image source: Histoire de la Republique Turque, 1935, p.253-4

bilingual (Turkish and French), likewise the name boards on railway stations — or the inscriptions on tickets for the İstanbul tramway. French inscriptions could be seen on or in public and administrative buildings (e.g. post offices, banks, Régie), on theatres and cinemas, hotels, restaurants, and especially on shop signs, sometimes accompanied by their Turkish versions.<sup>46</sup>

Certain areas (Beyoğlu -including Karaköy and Pera- in İstanbul) were highly active in commerce with many foreign shops.<sup>47</sup> These instances of script use explain how the Turkish people became familiar with Latin for over a century, as they were surrounded by it. This familiarity also helped to question the efficiency of Arabic printing.

# 3.2.4. Difficulties in setting Arabic type

Even though complete freedom for printing did not exist, non-Muslim minorities and foreign citizens were able to print their books and publications, and their scripts were not an obstacle to fulfilling this aim.<sup>48</sup> They also had the opportunity to see printing in Latin script first hand, which may have helped to identify the potential obstacles to typesetting Arabic metal type including: a) a large number of letter variations and type compartments, b) lack of type styles/weights/sizes, c) lasting problem of Arabic metal type due to its letterform, and d) issues around the use of horizontal space.

#### Large number of letter variations and type compartments

Arabic type consists of many different forms, which are isolated, initial, medial and final, ranging up to 500 different forms in total.<sup>49</sup> This situation increases the number of type case compartments and affects the pace of printing negatively (*Fig.3.19*). For instance, in 1925, to be able to set a fourpage newspaper, at least 25 typesetters were needed.<sup>50</sup> Additionally, the difficulties that typesetters went through were known to people in the publishing industry in Turkey:

> The old type cases were quite wide because of the high number of compartments. The hand compositors' arms could not reach every corner when they tried to pick up a metal type (sort) for this reason. They easily became tired because of moving right to left in front of the type case. The old ones usually had an assistant, so

**<sup>46</sup>** Strauss, p.134.

**<sup>47</sup>** Brummett, p.201. While keeping in mind that this multi-cultural scene was generally seen in metropolitan areas like İstanbul and İzmir, the active teaching and the pilot areas for the alphabet reform were in the same cities. The lack of teachers and equipment for public schools to teach the new alphabet was the main reason for failure in the rural areas.

**<sup>48</sup>** Strauss, "Kütüp ve Resail-I Mevkute," in *Late Ottoman Society: The Intellectual Legacy*, ed. Elisabeth Özdalga (New York: RoutledgeCurzon, 2005), p.230.

**<sup>49</sup>** Huda Smitshuijzen AbiFares, *Arabic Typography: A Comprehensive Sourcebook* (London: Saqi Books, 2001), p.94–95.

<sup>50</sup> Gökhan Akçura, Cumhuriyet Döneminde Türkiye Matbaacılık Tarihi (İstanbul: YKY, 2012), p.171.

•								•
1729	17 <mark>46</mark>	17 <mark>82</mark>	1803	1839	1869	1875	1908	1917 1928
17 boc publis		ry publis			-	books Unknc lished	own 6827 boo publishec	11-

**Figure 3.20** Book publishing between early 18th and early 20th centuries. (The numbers of published books and periodicals stated in the table are approximate, and taken from J.Baysal's and A.Kabacalı's studies. There is an unknown period regarding the number of printed items between 1875 and 1908, due to the lack of study).

۲ دکلمی تکرینک احسانی عقل او قلب او لسان بولطنی اتمه لبدر فکر او شکر او ذکر انسان Â منساحات حق تعالى عظمت عالمنك پادشهى اة اقچه قراه کېن ايږيون در. لا مـكاندر اوله ماز دولننـك نختكمي خاصـدر ذات الَمهبســنه ملك ازلى اغلاميان چوجوغه ممه ومرم بحدود آنده اولان ڪوکيهٔ لم يزلى اذ وعرن جاندن وعرر چدة وع اثر حکمتیدر برله کوکك بنیادی طولو نوش جله بد قدرتناك ایجادی 8 عزت او شـاننی تقدیس قبلار جمله ملك اللاه مركسك قلينه اكباور سجده ايدر پيش جلالنــده فلك امریوجهاوزره برایلرکجه کوندز حرکت امانته خيانات دکېشور تازه لنور موسم فېض او برکت اناسناه باة قذن

**Figure 3.21** The first page of 'Divan-1 Şinasî' by İbrahim Şinasî (Tasvir-i Efkâr Matbaası, 1870). Image source: The archive of TBMM (Turkish Parliament)

**Figure 3.22** First page of *Durûb-i Emsal*, printed in London in 1885 with the Melkon Han's separated letters. Image source: Rekin Ertem, *Elifbe'den Alfabe'ye: Türkiye'de Harf ve Yazı Meselesi* (İstanbul: Dergah Yayınları, 1991), p.453.

when they set type, they asked them to pass the metal sort that they could not reach. $^{51}$ 

Münif Paşa raised the issue of high number of type variation as an obstacle to spreading knowledge and education, as mentioned earlier. The low quantity of printed books from the late 18th century to the early 20th century supports his claim (Fig.3.20). Some Ottoman printers were also aware of the difficulties of using Arabic type. Therefore, they mentioned the different natures and needs of naskh and ta'liq style types: 'While printing a book in naskh style necessitates type variations of around 300, in ta'liq style this number is doubled or even tripled.'52 For this reason, they proposed either to decrease the number of type variations or to create a new writing system that ensured the Arabic script could be printed effectively. As a result, a committee was appointed by the Council of Public Education in 1879 to revise the script in order to make it non-cursive for printing, but the notion was not put into practice.<sup>53</sup> One of the prominent typographers of the period, Haçik Kevorkyan, also decided to reduce the number of parts of the ta'liq metal type from 2200 to 1600 as a result of these concerns. According to his claim, this reduction made the typesetting job easier, and it gained the appreciation of newspapermen.<sup>54</sup>

Another significant attempt to simplify the letter variations and type case compartments was made by an intellectual and journalist, Şinasi,<sup>55</sup> who also saw this an obstacle. Consequently, he determined the shape of the letters (also by separating some of them), and ordered matrices to be created in order to cut the new letters. He also printed some of his books with these new types<sup>56</sup> (*Fig.3.21*). In this way, the number of type variations, which was around 500, dropped to 112. However, for those who were used to the old typesetting, the beauty and the influence of calligraphy disappeared.<sup>57</sup> It is known that Ebüzziya Tevfik, a talented printer and author, was one of the figures that did not share the ideas of Şinasi and claimed that the problem was not the Arabic script, but the execution of type production.<sup>58</sup>

<sup>51</sup> İstanbul Ansiklopedisi (1959), s.v "Arab Asıllı Türk Harfleri," by Reşat Ekrem Koçu, p.931.52 Akçura, p.114.

**<sup>53</sup>** Orlin Sabev, "Waiting for Godot: The Formation of Ottoman Print Culture," in *Historical Aspects of Printing and Publishing in Languages of the Middle East: Papers from the Symposium at the University of Leipzig*, September 2008, ed. Geoffrey Roper (United States: Brill Academic Publishers, 2013), p.116-7.

**<sup>54</sup>** This type was originally inherited from another typographer, Ohannes Mühendisyan. To learn more about it, see: *İstanbul Ansiklopedisi (1959), s.v* "Arab Asıllı Türk Harfleri," by Reşat Ekrem Koçu, p.929.

**<sup>55</sup>** *TDV İslam Ansiklopedisi (2010), s.v* "Şinasi," accessed December 10, 2015, http://www.islamansiklopedisi.info/dia/pdf/c39/c390104.pdf.

**<sup>56</sup>** These books were called 'Divan-1 Şinasi', 'Tercüme-i Manzûme' and 'Durûb-i Emsâl-i Osmaniye'.See: Ertem, p.116.

**<sup>57</sup>** Alpay Kabacalı, *Başlangıcından Günümüze Türkiye'de Matbaa, Basın ve Yayın* (Beyoğlu, İstanbul: Literatür Yayincilik, İstanbul, 2000), p.68.

<sup>58</sup> Ertem, p.117.

ident alcone al le vesterate dont -111 -1-16 Stort ideas and a 1 \* \*

( زم میس منتصل مر فال له بازی از دخت آ لیشتین اولد بندی بوش اطل کو متر یا هر جه له ن از دووله ته فتای ۱۵ تا دو مدید داده دو فد تا مدود ۱۵ تا داده ال ما دو مدی مدید فد ۲۰ ن این ۱۷ تان ۱۹ یه یکور با قابول این ۱ فد باش تا ده و با ال کار دو ن او مان احتری کار باش شاور

انسا دولة فى آخرالدهر تظهر متظهر «على التسمس لا تمستر فن كان منا او بقول بقوانسا فبشره بالدسا والاشرى بيشر الياؤيسنده مركدل

**Figure 3.22a** The proposal of İbrahim Hakkı from Milas. Image source: Rekin Ertem, *Elifbe'den Alfabe'ye: Türkiye'de Harf ve Yazı Meselesi* (İstanbul: Dergah Yayınları, 1991), p.454.

**ح.**بهتدية افخفن الالماته غذ حفذ رج حوله تقلبا بيتوس یا خود به دوشوب روینه بر نور فر صورتنه ترویند ایتوش قز نازلي قوزد اولانجه ونظور ומבריענס בימובינ ايتوس بودسيده طييفكاف جرفضتاية ايدر شو التفاتي: L'OTTCO ال ساد قوريسيا: وهايديَّت اور قاجمه او قادر שינג שיפינכינ جية سينهوه جية ده داننشيذ اول fointes ma 3137 בימינכיו ויגנס גיפיב دشد العيد اول ورامان سوا خ سار 1+ 11011

**Figure 3.22b** The proposal of Zâkir and Şâkir Remi brothers. Image source: Rekin Ertem, *Elifbe'den Alfabe'ye: Türkiye'de Harf ve Yazı Meselesi* (İstanbul: Dergah Yayınları, 1991), p.460.

اسمع وول آه ی

مثال :

ساططه بعد"جانهه مسلحه مططه دارسه سط

unsslike mesher mellime of blenge militan

حمصاله عاياد عو مسلع با داب حاطط لمقده ها

بدل به الد به به معطمة الم حاطط مردما الم

Eliter meson manhaos nu alla l'asin inuuis

**Figure 3.22c** One of the proposals of Mirza Ali Mehmet Han Üveysi. Image source: Rekin Ertem, *Elifbe'den Alfabe'ye: Türkiye'de Harf ve Yazı Meselesi* (İstanbul: Dergah Yayınları, 1991), p.453.

اب پ ت شه ج ج ج ح خ د ذ رزش س ش ص ض ط ظ ع غ و و ف ق لا و ک ک ا م ن ج ج ه پ ی قهرد حارفدمن عربارمة ولان بو مدفيه بله هم چوجوق بهم ملهم ايدا يانهوب وقوماق وكرمنه بهلهم. حادثة ببه لمساند مجنمبه نبخ بو حارفلم له يان دميش كملمه للمرمانم بهله قونوشولدوغو كمب وقوماق مقدكان ولور.

**Figure 3.22c** The proposal of Celâl Esad. Image source: Rekin Ertem, *Elifbe'den Alfabe'ye: Türkiye'de Harf ve Yazı Meselesi* (İstanbul: Dergah Yayınları, 1991), p.453.

Apart from the simplification endeavours, there were many initiatives to create a new alphabet system based on Arabic script for printing. The majority of these applications were created by the separation of joined Arabic letters (or ligatures) and the invention of additional letters for sounds in Turkish, which are different from Arabic. Unfortunately, most of these systems were not taken seriously and vanished after a while (Fig.3.22).<sup>59</sup> However, one of them was discussed and even put into practice in the late 19th century. The model was called 'Huruf-u Munhasıla' (later called Hatt-1 Cedid-New Writing) meaning 'separated letters' (Fig. 3.23).60 In order to revise the script and ease reading, letters were separated and new letters were invented to account for the vowels in Turkish that were different from those in Arabic. The inventors, who were also the publishers, announced this new writing system in their publications and showed examples of its execution.<sup>61</sup> Unfortunately, it did not find enough supporters due to the political conflicts and chaos in the late Ottoman years and was forgotten. However, during the World War I, one of the military officers and the leader of the Young Turk Revolution, Enver Pasa, brought up the discussion again by reviving the 'Huruf-u Munhasıla' in the use of military correspondence, as he was the main leader in both the Balkan Wars and World War I. However, his endeavour fizzled out under much criticism from the prominent figures and reformers in the history of the Republic, Atatürk and İsmet İnönü, regarding its ill-timed execution and potential to create misunderstandings and disasters in wartime.

# Lack of type styles/weights/sizes

The lack of type styles, weights, sizes, and uppercase and lowercase options in Arabic script were seen as serious limitations and considerable obstacles to creating typographically sophisticated text and design, as naskh was the only style in use, particularly for setting books until the second half of the 19th century. However, the progress in newspaper design necessitated all the typographic variations mentioned above. In the beginning, to meet this need, printers used lithographic plates especially for big newspaper headlines to distinguish between different types of content and create a hierarchy in the layout. Later, typographer Haçik Kevorkyan, introduced the ruq'ah and kufic style metal types for the first time (*Fig.3.24*).<sup>62</sup> According to his claim, newspapers were pleased not to cover the cost of the lithographic plates used to print headlines. Even though the problem seemed to be partially solved using these two notable inventions, newspapermen were still making negative comments about the Arabic scripts up until the alphabet reform:

<sup>59</sup> For detailed information about all the attempts, see: Ertem, p.97-172.

**<sup>60</sup>** For more information about the attempt, see: Yusuf Akçay, 'Osmanlı Dönemi Alfabe Tartışmaları Bağlamında Dr. İsmai Hakkı Bey ve Islah-I Huruf Cemiyeti'. In *Uluslararası Türk Dili ve Edebiyatı Kongresi*, (2007): p.25-27.

**<sup>61</sup>** Ibid, p.11.

**<sup>62</sup>** This information was quoted from the typographer himself in the newspaper article. Apart from that, there is no definitive information about the invention of the ruq'ah and kufic styles in related studies. For the newspaper article, see: Ahmed Rasim, "Yeni 24 Punto Kûfi Yazı," *Vakit*, August 13, 1924.



**Figure 3.23** Huruf-u Munfasıla (Separated letters). Image source: Rekin Ertem, *Elifbe'den Alfabe'ye: Türkiye'de Harf ve Yazı Meselesi* (İstanbul: Dergah Yayınları, 1991), p.454.

# sobres reves

بالكاسانلاك بحدن بابنا سديم سديم سديدى ر دىى بىرىنارى بەركە باينا سديم سديدى ر ىىق. ىىقى سرلارق. كىم سەسانلاك بىرى ئىم مىزىر بىكىدى ر خىرەرە بىرلىن دىشمانىمى خارىدى دىشاماينا سىكە يى

ىقەمادىق . الدامادىق «داطان » دىمەك نە دمىش قالىشمادىق . دىدىنمەددىك . امان تالىرىم نە مددھىش ؟!

ىەمەم ىكىمەم ، ئىلىمىڭ قالقىلى ، ئىدىد ئىنىڭ تىشىمىن ئىسى بەرەم ، ئەن ئەن ئەرلارى كەن ئىنىلادە ، جىدىش ئىنى قاۋىسەر ، كان سەر ئىد لەش خىن دەن ىڭ قالىمەش لەشىمىز ئىرىدە ئىكىن قاد ئاللاددان ئىلار دەخىل ئىش ئەيخ

نەلەر چەكدىك. نەلەر كەردىك. خەقاط سەلان مادىق بىز كەمدلىدك بالچەخا باتردىق. طاشا خاصلان مادى بىز Figure 3.23a An example of text set by Huruf-u Munfasıla. Image source: 'Yusuf Akçay, Osmanlı dönemi alfabe tartışmaları bağlamında Dr. İsmail Hakkı Bey ve Islah-ı Huruf Cemiyeti', 2007.

حقظ اجلا لطلا بدانس يدر ملاعرت جباب رب منابه پادشاه قدردانه و

**Figure 3.24** An example of the Kufic type in 16 pt and the Ruq'ah type in 18 pt by Haçik Kevorkyan. Image source: Teotig, Sirvart Malhasyan, and Arlet İncidüzen, *Baskı ve Harf: Ermeni Matbaacılık Tarihi*, (İstanbul: Birzamanlar Yayıncılık, 2012).

Unfortunately, the styles and variations in our script are not sufficient enough. The craftsmen (typographers) could not make the effort to create new styles for our 'Arabi' script. Today, there is one talented Turkish typographer in Bâb-1 Âli Street, whose name is Mehmet Efendi. However, what can only one Mehmet Efendi do? Cutting types necessitates a huge budget. However, in the nations that use Latin script, there are excessive and proficient factories for cutting types and many beautiful type styles and variations have come into existence because of it.<sup>63</sup>

This statement also reveals another problem, which is the absence of talented professionals in type production. In another of his articles, Ahmet Cevdet [Oran] touches on the issue of the execution of alphabet reform again, but in a different context:

> If they (reformers) are sincere in their conviction, they could cut the necessary Arabic types with vowel markers as was intended earlier. I do certainly not recommend doing this job in Turkey. There is no typographer here who could execute this creation properly, although it seems an easy and insignificant task. Even though the metal types of Germans are very good, I could tell you that there is still a huge difference between the types cut by Germans and the Latin types cut by the nations who use Latin script. So, neither Turkish nor Armenian typographers could succeed in this.<sup>64</sup>

This quoted passage is rather ambiguous due to its content, but it is important as it shows the need for typographers who would adapt to a great transformation like the alphabet change. Being in a situation like this prior to the implementation of the reform seems to be a big disadvantage, but in the meantime, it could also be an opportunity to establish a new practice, considering the unsettled nature of the printing industry.

# Durability problem of Arabic type

According to the claims of printers and journalists,<sup>65</sup> the cursive nature of the Arabic script made the metal type less durable than Latin type. For instance, in Europe, a Latin type might be used for up to six years, while in Turkey, Arabic type had to be replaced every two years. Naturally, this condition resulted in high costs for the production or importation of these metal types, and thus, the use of Latin type was considered to be economical in the long term.

# Horizontal space

Due to the nature of Arabic script, it is acknowledged that the space

<sup>63</sup> Ahmet Cevdet Oran, "Latin Hurufatı," İkdam, March 10, 1926.

<sup>64</sup> For the full article, see: Ahmet Cevdet Oran, "Latin Hurufu," *İkdam*, April 11, 1926.65 Ahmet Cevdet Oran, "Latin Hurufatı."

<sup>85</sup> 

between letters is wider than for Roman letters. As a consequence, a text set in Arabic script occupies a larger area than one set in Latin script. In 1926, Ahmet Cevdet [Oran] claimed that this situation increased paper consumption, leading us back to the issue of the high cost of printing with Arabic script.<sup>66</sup>

# 3.2.5. Troubles in printing

There was slow progress in the introduction of printing in Turkey due to internal politics and what can be described as the dominancy of importation on printing and the supervision and monopolisation of type.

# Dominancy of importation

Printing in Turkish was not completely embraced by the Ottomans due to a strong calligraphic tradition. This attitude partially resulted in the lack of type production and printing press manufacture and in a dominancy of imports in printing tools and equipments, including Latin types. Also, the Ottoman economic policies, which empowered foreign trade, aided to adopt this application. The capitulations for foreigners and the choice of rich tradesmen from the non-Muslim community on import -instead of investing to build a national industry- caused the expansion of this policy. By the 19th century, "The traditional view of Ottoman manufacturing is that is steadily collapsed in the wake of the influx of European manufactured goods."<sup>67</sup> Thus, one of the common economic policies of Ottoman, 'provisionism', set a barrier on industrial developments:

> [...] provisionism, that is, the maintenance of a steady supply so that all goods and services were cheap, plentiful, and of good quality. With respect to foreign trade, provisionism sought to keep the supply of goods and services to the internal market at an optimal level. Export was not encouraged, but rather curtailed by prohibitions, quotas, and taxes. Import, by contrast, were fostered and facilitated.<sup>68</sup>

As opposed to the existence of manufacturing and export in Europe, this policy was highly dominant in the Empire. Eventually, this policy caused an unsettled printing convention in the long term and did not contribute to the search for creating an advanced technology that suitably worked with Arabic-Turkish type. Moreover, they relied on imports for printing press and paper, which are the vital elements for the advance of printing technology, and in some cases, even the ink and material of metal types

<sup>66</sup> Ibid.

**<sup>67</sup>** Şevket Pamuk and Jeffrey G. Williamson, "Ottoman de-Industrialization, 1800-1913: Assessing the Magnitude, Impact, and Response," *The Economic History Review 64* (November 24, 2010), doi:10.1111/j.1468-0289.2010.00560.x, p.164.

**<sup>68</sup>** Donald Quataert, ed., *Manufacturing in the Ottoman Empire and Turkey, 1500-1950* (United States: State University of New York Press, 1994), p.60.

were imported.<sup>69</sup> There were two types of print-related imports: 1) Type and printing equipment imports, and 2) paper.

*Type and print-related imports:* The lack of production of printing presses and other equipment and tools both in the Empire and in the Republican years meant that import was essential to maintain the printing activity. According to state records and printers memoirs, there were many imports from Europe by the state and independent printers.<sup>70</sup> Before the end of the 19th century, we see imports mainly from France and England; however, this declined due to the unsuccessful wars between Russia and the Ottoman Empire, and starting with 1876, Turkey imported materials from Germany, including type, printing tools and paper.<sup>71</sup> There are many state documents showing this commerce,<sup>72</sup> and even the imported brass lines for newspapers.<sup>73</sup>

The only component of printing that was domestically produced was the metal type. The majority of the type production was in Armenian and Hebrew scripts until the 19th century. However, after Müteferrika's initiative to introduce printing in Turkish for the first time, we do not know whether the Arabic-Turkish type production became the dominant one among others.<sup>74</sup> In addition to these types, Latin was also produced in low amounts.<sup>75</sup> Despite this insignificant production, the majority of the Latin type supplement came from abroad, especially from different European countries, mainly Germany, Italy and France. Even though they were rare occasions, some Arabic type and type equipments were also bought from abroad (i.e. Paris 29 April 1899 and Chicago 15 August 1893). In summary, the imports of type, type machine and its material mentioned in the state documents can be listed as:

- Types in different scripts, such as Greek, Armenian, Bulgarian and French (Latin) for either the state printing house or other governmental institutions.

- French (Latin)<sup>76</sup> types, type material and machines/equipments by

**<sup>69</sup>** BOA, BEO., 1199/89917, 08 Cemaziyelevvel 1316: "Matbaa alat ve edevatı ile mürekkeb hurufatının ithaline ruhsat verilmesi hakkında."

**<sup>70</sup>** The memoir of a notable printer, Ahmet İhsan [Tökgöz], is a good source to keep track of Turkish printing journey from a personal point of view. For his book: Ahmet İhsan Tokgöz, *Matbuat Hatıralarım*, ed. Alpay Kabacalı (İstanbul: İletişim Yayıncılık, 1993). Also see the following state documents for the type imports from: BOA, HAT., 1425/58337, 23 Safer 1256; and BOA, C.MF., 92/4600, 21 Safer 1213.

**<sup>71</sup>** Ibid, p.32.

**<sup>72</sup>** See the state documents for printing equipments: BOA, DH.MKT., 16 Ramazan 1323; BOA, DH.MKT., 03 Safer 1324; for type and type material importation, see: BOA, İ.RSM., 31/1326, 03 Cemaziyelevvel 1326; BOA, DH.MKT., 1014/52, 08 Şaban 1323.

<sup>73</sup> See the document: BOA, DH.MKT., 560/27, 10 Cemaziyelevvel 1320.

**<sup>74</sup>** This, the production of Arabic-Turkish type after Müteferrika, is entirely a research topic itself.

**<sup>75</sup>** For the Mihran Dökmeciyan's case in İzmir, see: BOA, DH.MKT., 1211/10, 10 Şevval 1325. The importation also took place during the alphabet reform process in 1928.

**<sup>76</sup>** The term used for the Latin type written as 'French' in the state archive documents. Additionally the word 'ecnebi', 'foreign' was used when they were talking about the Latin type.

independent printers (mainly Armenian and Turkish) and owners of newspapers.

- 'Foreign' type for the state printing houses of 'vilayets'.<sup>77</sup>

- Arabic types and equipment from abroad.

Apart from these, there was another material that had the biggest share in imported goods and that shaped the printing practices dramatically: paper.

*Paper:* Even though paper importation did not directly affect the circumstances that created the need for alphabet change, it was a vital component to increase printing activity.'

However, different from the type and printing press imports, official documents show that paper was imported both from East and West in the 15th century. While the source of paper from the Eastern part of the world is not known exactly (Damascus, Samarkand, China, Iran or India were the possible places for this importation), the very first import from the West was from Italy either in the 14th or the 15th century.<sup>78</sup> Due to the rising French dominance on paper production in the 18th century of Europe, the presence of Italian paper in the Ottoman territory started to disappear. Although there were many attempts for local paper production during the 18th and 19th centuries, imported papers from various European countries (Italy, France, England and Germany) ruled the market, even in the time of the alphabet reform. Therefore, paper production by the state could not compete with the cheap imported paper. Other reasons such as lack of experts and water supplies for the production of paper meant that Turkish state facilities for paper production faced closures many times.<sup>79</sup>

Although the conditions for foreign trade were not strict in the beginning of the 19th century, and the flourishing import scene is a proof of that, the policy and the control on the custom for metal type and printing equipments became tight in the late 19th century. This points to another significant setback in the way to developments to create a better system for Arabic-Turkish type, which is the 'supervision and monopolisation of type by the state'.

#### Supervision and monopolisation on type <sup>80</sup>

Although the printing activities were taken under control by the state for

**80** There is plenty of literature about the regulations in general, especially regarding printing and book publishing, but there is not much mention about type and its production.

<sup>77</sup> In Turkey, and formerly in the Ottoman Empire, a major administrative district or province with its own governor. "vilayet." In *Australian Oxford Dictionary.* : Oxford University Press, 2004. http://www.oxfordreference.com.idpproxy.reading.ac.uk/view/10.1093/acref/9780195517965.001.0001/m-en\_au-msdict-00001-0061152.

**<sup>78</sup>** *TDV İslam Ansiklopedisi (2001), s.v.* "Kağıt", accessed March 2016, http://www.islamansiklopedisi.info/dia/pdf/c24/c240099.pdf.

**<sup>79</sup>** Ibid, p.165. For a detailed account on the local paper production in the Ottoman Empire, see İsmail Güleç, "Osmanlılarda Kağıt Ve Kağıtçılık," *Müteferrika*, no. 2, (1994): 85-94 and Osman Ersoy, *XVIII. ve XIX. yüzyıllarda Türkiye'de kâğıt* (Ankara: Ankara Üniversitesi Basımevi, 1963).

the first time in 1857, it seems that the first serious regulation regarding the issues of metal type production was in 1888.<sup>81</sup> This sets the condition for getting permission from the state to establish new printing house or type foundry, cut types and manufacture printing equipment. The state officials were also permitted to do uninformed inspections of printing houses. Also, if the 'Press Administration of State' (Matbuat Idaresi) required samples from equipments and/or type variations/styles, the owners of printing houses or type foundries were required to provide those to for inspection purposes.<sup>82</sup>

While the mentioned regulations created some restrictions, the latter sanctions, which were invoked in 1897 and 1898, were more strict. In addition to supervision, punishment was included in the span of authority. According to state documents and relevant literature, type production in Turkish was monopolised in many ways. One of them was its incorporation with the Fine Arts Academy, called 'Mekteb-i Sanayi', which is the first fine arts college founded by the state, and which contained a type foundry. We also know that the existing type foundries<sup>83</sup> were closed down by the order of the state and typographers were recruited within either the state printing facilities with their equipments or in other jobs, such as positions in customs.<sup>84</sup> A statement of a notable printer, Ahmet İhsan [Tokgöz], confirms these changes:

[...] there were only three or four type foundries in İstanbul; these were moved within the facilities of 'Sanayi Mektebi'.<sup>85</sup> After printing houses ask permission for the metal types they will use, they require these types from the directorate of the institution (Mekteb-i Sanayi). The directorate notifies the type foundries within the institution about the request and typographers cut the necessary types in this direction and we (printers) were getting them by showing our permission. This process was also valid for the types that imported from Europe. But the odd thing is that it was a binding decision only for Turkish printers. The foreign printers in the territory were left out of this regulation.<sup>86</sup>

**<sup>81</sup>** Kabacalı, p.98.

<sup>82</sup> Ibid, p.99.

**<sup>83</sup>** It is worth reminding that there were no big type foundries or factories. The production of type was in the form of individual enterprise rather than mass production.

**<sup>84</sup>** See the state document for this regulation: BOA, BEO, 1086/81398, 10 Şevval 1315: "Matbaa hurufatı yalnız Mekteb-i Sanayi'de imal ve füruht edileceğinden esamisi muharrer dökmeci ustalarının gümrüklerde yahud diğer mahallelerde istihdamı". Here, we need to distinguish between 'hurufatçı', 'typographer' and 'dökmeci ustaları', 'casting experts'. While the number of the typographers, who create a type-form, was one or two people at that time, the number of craftsman doing the hard work for casting the types was low. Yet, this does not necessarily mean that the typographer himself does not cut types. On the contrary, we commonly see typographers cutting types.

**<sup>85</sup>** For your information, 'Sanayi Mekteb-i' and 'Mekteb-i Sanayi' refer to the same institution. Flipping words in this way was a common practice in Ottoman Turkish, due to the Arabic-rooted words.

<sup>86</sup> Tokgöz, p.117-118.

In 1895 printing regulation, foreigners were also included in the scope of the bans and restrictions, to prevent them from spreading hostile propaganda towards the state. To summarise, as a new form of state intervention, type was put under the supervision in the following ways:

- Type and typesetting machines will only be produced by the state and will be distributed in case of a demand.

- Requests for type and equipment of type production which either come from abroad or the provinces, i.e. 'vilayets', will be monitored by the state. Any other action, such as exportation and production of the Turkish type apart from the state print house, was strictly prohibited and subjected to inspection and permission.<sup>87</sup>

- Every single type sale within the border of the Empire will be controlled. Permission for their use will be required.

- The state will buy the old, worn types from the state printing houses (probably for the purpose of melting and cutting the new ones in the state type foundry, Mekteb-i Sanayi).

- Even the type and printing equipments imported from Europe for the State Printing House will be inspected.<sup>88</sup>

The intervention of the state was not all negative. Evidence from the state archives suggests that some printing houses were subsidised or printers were given awards.<sup>89</sup> Even some of the typographers and printing house owners were subsidised in the case of money loss or the closure order by the state and were recruited in other jobs.<sup>90</sup> However, these attempts seem insignificant compared to the tight policy on printing and type. Concentrating the type production in one centre, which is the state, did not serve the purpose of creating a free market and a competition for type production, which would eventually bring 'progress' in practice.

# Summary

The diverse atmosphere of languages and scripts is the evidence of the rich printing tradition within the Ottoman Empire. This most likely helped

**<sup>87</sup>** For the edict, see the documents: BOA, BEO., 1038/77778, 17 Cemaziyelahir, 1315: "Memalik-i Sahane'den harice matbaa hurufati ihracatinin men'i hakkinda"; BOA, BEO., 27 Cemaziyelahir, 1315: "Türkçe hurufatın Memalik-i Şahane haricine çıkarılmasını önlemek için gerekli tedbirlerin alınması."

**<sup>88</sup>** See the documents: BOA, DH.MKT., 16 Ramazan 1323; BAO, DH.MKT., 03 Safer 1324: "Mekteb-i Sanayi-i Şahane'deki dökümhanesi için ruhsat-ı resmiyeyi haiz hurufatçı Haçik Kevorkyan'ın Avrupa'dan sipariş ettiği sarı cetvelle kurşun kal'ın, müfettiş marifetiyle muayene edildikten sonra usul ve emsaline uygun olarak kendisine teslim edilmesi gerektiği."

**<sup>89</sup>** See the documents for awarding type people: BOA, İ.TAL., 193/1317, 16 Recep 1317: "Matbaa-yı Askeriye Evrak Memurluğu'nda müstahdem Hafız Mustafa Efendi'ye dördüncü ve Ceride-i Askeriye Sermürettibi Malatyalı Mahmud ve hurufat kısmında İzmirli Ahmed Çavuşlara beşinci rütbelerden Mecidi Nişanı itası."

**<sup>90</sup>** See the document for recruiting one of the prolific typographer Haçik Kevorkyan: BOA, DH.MKT., 2173/45, 19 Şevval 1316: "Hurufat dökümcülüğü ile uğraşan Haçik Kevorkyan'ın zorda olması dolayısıyla mevcut malzemelerinin devletçe satın alınması ve kendisinin de Orman ve Maadin ve Ziraat Nezareti'nce bir memuriyete tayin edilmesi."

to prepare the psychological and technological ground for the script change. Although this cultural heritage from the time of the Empire was sometimes denied by the minds behind the Latin alphabet reform due to their emphasis on Turkish nationality, the education and the intellectual accumulation that the Republican reformers took during the Ottoman period must have shaped their vision for a necessary change. Considering the youth of the new Republic,<sup>91</sup> it would be fair to say that changing a script in use would be easier in an environment described in this chapter, rather than in a uniform society, which would only use one script. Thus, it is possible to conclude that the reform took place as a result of a long discussion and preparation process, as would happen for any other major reform of this scale. Also, relying on importation, not having a settled printing convention and an established typography practice significantly assisted in realising an immense transformation like the alphabet change. If the printing scene was as in Europe, there is no doubt that establishing such a successful reform in such a short period would be unlikely. When the difficulties of Arabic type were considered, convincing people and adapting to a new practice from scratch became easier and feasible for the reformers, because they had inherited an era that was full of unsolved printing issues, never-ending discussions on script-metal type coherence and unsuccessful simplification attempts.

In the next chapter, the questions of what the aims of the reform were other than the printing and linguistic issues, how the reform was enacted and applied in different areas and what the public reaction in the postreform period was will be answered.

**<sup>91</sup>** It was five years old at this point, so we can say that there were still traces from this diverse atmosphere.

# Chapter 4: Background to the alphabet reform

"There is no incentive for broad orthographic change or script conversion in societies in which there is no desire for profound rejuvenation. All successful cases of romanisation were preceded or accompanied either by deep social transformation, religious conversion, or secularization of the speech communities."<sup>1</sup>

Script change is a consequence of serious progress and reformation in societies, along with political representation. This chapter discusses the political, social and educational aspects of the Turkish alphabet reform. The adoption process will also be touched on with the details of the preparation and the implementation steps of the reform. Additionally, the post-reform period, including the issues, the approval of the new alphabet and the resistance to it, will be discussed in the light of some example events.

# 4.1. Aims and motives behind the reform

During the 19th century, the intention of most Turkish intellectuals was not to cut ties with the past and the East directly as the reformers intended to do, many were rather looking for a unity in language, one which would close the linguistic division between intellectuals and the general public by improving the script and levels of literacy.<sup>2</sup> As for the motives of Republican reformers, it could be said that westernisation and secularism played a significant role in triggering reform as well as other reasons. The reformers believed that some Eastern influences belonging to the Ottoman legacy prevented the nation from being a developed and civilised country and that removing such influences would result in acceptance by the West.<sup>3</sup> Atatürk's statement cited in Wortham's 'Mustafa Kemal of Turkey' also confirms this reality:

> So long as Turkish was written from right to left, it could never properly express the ideals of European civilization. The picturesque involutions and intricacies of Arabic script afforded a psychological background to the Oriental mentality, which stood as the real enemy of the Republic.<sup>4</sup>

The Arabic script represented not only a writing system to the reformers, but also a cultural object or a reminder of a past to be ashamed of.An anecdote from the period reinforced this. Falih Rıfkı [Atay], a passionate advocate of the new alphabet and the principal nominee on the Language

<sup>1</sup> İlker Aytürk, "Script Charisma in Hebrew and Turkish: A Comparative Framework for Explaining Success and Failure of Romanization," *Journal of World History* 21, no. 1, 97-130 (2010): p.120.

**<sup>2</sup>** Margaret M Wood, "Latinizing the Turkish Alphabet: A Study in the Introduction of a Cultural Change," *American Journal of Sociology 35*, (September 1929): p.195.

**<sup>3</sup>** Kaya Yılmaz, "Critical Examination of the Alphabet and Language Reforms Implemented in the Early Years of the Turkish Republic," *Journal of Social Studies Education Research 2*, (2011): p.72.

<sup>4</sup> H.E. Wortham, *Mustafa Kemal of Turkey*, (New York: William Edwin Rudge, 1930), p.188-9.

Commission, admitted that when a Canadian couple, whom he had met earlier and become close on a cruise, saw his writing in Arabic script, he felt ashamed as if he was wearing old clothes from the Ottoman Era, such as a fez or shalwar; he later embraced his embarrassment in his newspaper column.<sup>5</sup> This memoir shows that an alphabet was not merely a tool for communication for the reformers, but also an indicator of a culture and an image of a nation with its shapes, writing direction and letterforms.

# 4.2. Preparations

When the Ottoman Empire fell and the new Republic was founded, despite some enthusiastic members of the new parliament, Atatürk did not think that it was the right time for the change. He was concerned about the possibility of negative reactions and even rejection of it. The opposing voices were still strong in 1926. However, it is known that Atatürk revealed his intention long before when he met with a Bulgarian Turkologist, Ivan Monolof, in 1906: "We have to select the Latin alphabet, getting rid of the language that prevents us from entering Western civilization. We should resemble the West in all respects including our outfits".<sup>6</sup>

Despite his aspiration and admiration for the Latin alphabet, Atatürk declared that language reform (including script reform) needed to proceed in stages in order to prepare the nation. In order to achieve this, reformers believed that formal education needed to be secularised. Education at this time generally was based on religious tradition and the Arabic script was a part of this spiritual heritage.<sup>7</sup> Diana Spearman and M. Naim Turfan, in their article about Turkish language reform, noted that:

> In 1924, as a consequence of the general of secularisation, the religious schools were closed, and all education was placed under the Ministry of National Education. This made the change of script easier because, while the teachers in the old schools would be unwilling to teach it, the teachers in the state schools would be not only obliged to use it, but willingly, indeed, anxious to do so.<sup>8</sup>

This was also a time of considerable interaction between nations and the spread of new ideologies was inevitable. Three years after the Turkish Republic was founded, discussion was sparked again with the Baku Language Congress in 1926 and Azerbaijan's adoption of the Latin alphabet. As a result of this, the Language Commission<sup>9</sup> was launched in 1926 with the initiative of a member of the parliament despite its non-active position

**<sup>5</sup>** Ayla Acar, "Türkiye'de Latin Alfabesine Geçiş Süreci ve Gazeteler," *İstanbul Üniversitesi İletişim Fakültesi Dergisi 41* (2011): p.16. For the original newspaper article; see: *Milliyet*, 02.11.1928.

<sup>6</sup> Kaya Yılmaz, p.67.

<sup>7</sup> Diana Spearman and M. Naim Turfan, "The Turkish Language Reform," *History Today* (February, 1979): p.90.

<sup>8</sup> Ibid, p.90.

**<sup>9</sup>** The original name of the Commission is 'Dil Heyeti' or 'Yeni Alfabe Komisyonu'. Even though Hale Yılmaz mentioned this in her book as "Linguistic Society", I preferred to make these direct translations.

until 1928. It is known that no significant proposal on a new alphabet was made at that time. However, the work of the commission prepared the necessary ground for the change, as Valter Tauli indicated: 'authority is an essential factor in language planning, and the young Turkish government supplied this authority',<sup>10</sup> Up until the year of adoption (1928), some authors, journalists, educators and politicians also wrote and presented suggestions in booklets, newspaper columns, etc. Even though the reformers found these attempts misleading due to their taking sides unofficially, this enthusiasm still helped to convince the opponents in favour of the Latin alphabet.<sup>11</sup>

#### Activities of the Language Commission: The preparation of the new alphabet

During January 1928, many activities, including meetings and public speeches, were held in favour of the Latin alphabet adoption. However, the first serious attempt came with a draft bill by the parliament on 9 May, proposing the acceptance of Latin numeral use as a preliminary step towards the script change. The law regarding the Latin numerals was enacted on 24 May and they started to be used in various places, including newspapers.<sup>12</sup> With the support of media and political discourse, the Language Commission finally became active with the appointment of nine members to 'study the method for adoption of Latin letters in Turkish and their applicability' on 23 May 1928.<sup>13</sup> Although the commission did not consist entirely of linguists,<sup>14</sup> reformers and contributors were too politically astute to ignore this opportunity and worked with speed. The commission had its first official meeting on 26 June 1928, although some unofficial meetings and briefings by Atatürk were held before this date. Active communication and the exchange of views between Atatürk and the Language Commission continued throughout the alphabet preparation.<sup>15</sup>

The commission examined many alphabets based on Latin from Europe during their studies<sup>16</sup> and proposed different approaches that could be taken to adopt a new alphabet:

1) Adopting the French alphabet,

2) Adopting the Greek alphabet without using any other approaches from the other Latin-based alphabets,

14 There were three members of parliament additionally to three linguistics and educators along with a general secretary; see: Rekin Ertem, *Elifbeden Alfabeye Türkiye'de Harf ve Yazı Meselesi* (Çemberlitaş, İstanbul: Dergâh Yayınları, 1991).

15 Ertem, p.220.

16 Şimşir, p.89.

<sup>10</sup> Cited in Yükseker, "Turkish Language Reform," p.93-4.

**<sup>11</sup>** Bilâl Şimşir, *Türk Yazı Devrimi* (Ankara: Turkish Historical Society Publications, Ankara, 1992), p.81-83. There are clearly some cases where prominent people, including journalists and educators, changed their opponent attitude towards the adoption of Latin alphabet during this period.

<sup>12</sup> Ibid, p.85-86.

**<sup>13</sup>** İlker Aytürk, "The First Episode of Language Reform in Republican Turkey: The Language Council from 1926 to 1931," *Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society 18*, no 3 (July 2008): p.280; for detailed information on the task of the Language Commission, see: Aytürk, p.282; Akdoğan p.47.

hteretary
الفبہ راہوری
لاتين حرفلرينك لسانمز. تطبيق امكاني دوشوتمك اوزر. نشـكي ادوب 26 حزيران 1928 د.
مساعیسنه باشلامش اولان هیأتمز دوغریدن دوغری به بو کونکی مشترك و ادبی لساغزك استنادایتدیک
اینچه و متکامل استانبول قونوشمه دیلنیاساس انخاذ ایدموك و دیله نظری و عملی جهنلردن الداوینون
و الوبريشلى بر الفنه وجوده كشرمكم بالينفسندد . بو متصدله اندا لاتين حرفترينك اصلى دكرتر ى و استعمال المانتكارى اوروبا ملتارى نزدنده اوغرامت. اولدقنرى "سلارى تدقيق الدمول بو كون
و استعمال پایدان وروم منبوی تردیده او مرامن او دیری باید و و تون مذکور خرفاری تورکچه نه سورتله تطبیق ایتمه نک مناسباوله جنی اعظمی دقت واعتنا ایله دوشونمی،
الیا بیش عمدار تثبیت ایده رك بونارك ممكن اولدینی قدر اصولی بر طرزده لطبق صورتیله آلهاغد.
مَنْ الدومجكور حرفلر سيستعمنه واصل اولمشدر .
and a man an in a surface with a loss
لاین حرفلرین فیمترین ندقیه کبرید. مزدن اول دیلزده کی سلرله مغدار و کیفتلزی تعین و عرب الفیسنده کی حرفلرك بو سیساری ارائه خصوسنده کوستردیکی کمتاب ، تعمال واقعه لقاری
و حرب العبالة في طريعون بو مسترى ادام مطوطت موسروبيني طايف ، عدان ويطعبطوني
دیلزد. بسیط اولمق اوزره اورته طنت (timbre) ده دورت قالین قیصه و دورت اینجه قیصه صدالی
م ال مرق بونوده کم نونزهر : د آمنی دری د آن ، داست ، درکی د نه ،
د اصلی در دی دار ، دان دار . داری دار ، در داری دار ، . د اول ک دیگی دار ، ، د والی ک در کی دار ، ،
د اورمق ، دهکی داو ، ، د اوزمك ، ده کی داو ، ،
دايليق، دوكى وحى،، دايليك، دركى داى.
بونلر دللزك اك بويوك خصوصيتارندن برتى تشكيل ايدن صوتى آهنك موجبنجه بربرلويله مختلف
جهتلردن تام بر تقابل عرض ايدرلر.
مرکب اولمق اوزر.د. بر قیصه صدالی ایله یومشامش بر (غ، ک ) دن متشکل 8 عدد اوزون
ویا چفته سدالی حرف (diphthongue) موجوددر : • صاغ ، صاغمنی (اکن) ، (اکری )
د مناع ، مناصق (۱۱ دری) یوغ ، یوغمق اوک ، اوکر منگ
یرے ، دی طوغ توگ ، دوک
جيخ ، بيغمق جيڪ ، چيڪ ، مثالدنده اولديني کي .

**Figure 4.1** The first page of 'Elifba Raporu'- 'ABC Report', 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 4.2 The new Turkish alphabet, based on the Latin script.

3) Reviewing all Latin-based alphabets and choosing the suitable letters that would meet the needs of the Turkish language,4) Adopting the Azerbaijani alphabet.

After a careful consideration, the third option - the adoption of appropriate letters from all Latin based-alphabets - was taken as the main approach.<sup>17</sup> At the end of this lengthy task, the Anatolian News Agency, a state channel, announced on 12 July 1928 that the new alphabet was completed and was named Turkish, whilst the commission was still working on grammar and orthographic rules. After one month preparation, the proposal for a new alphabet was ready to be approved and was presented to Atatürk as 'Elifba Raporu' (ABC Report) on 1 August 1928 (Fig.4.1).<sup>18</sup> The new alphabet consisted of 29 letters, including additional *Ç*, *Ğ*, *İ*, *Ö*, *Ş*, *Ü* letters suitable for the consonants and vowels existing in Turkish different from the Arabic language (*Fig.4.2*). The council also shared their opinion about the length of the adoption process, but Atatürk disagreed with the assumption - presenting the new alphabet in a five-year period - and declared that this change should happen in three months or it should not happen at all. Atatürk also explained to a commission member why he thinks in this way: "Even if a half column in the Arabic script in newspapers still remain after five years, then everybody would read this half column."<sup>19</sup> Apparently, he feared that public could fail to learn the new alphabet if the Arabic script continue to exist.

The issue of announcing the new alphabet was important, considering the objections that had been raised in previous reforms. The time and the place were chosen carefully, and the new Turkish alphabet was announced to the public for the first time by Atatürk at the early hours of 10 August 1928 in a park called Sarayburnu in İstanbul.<sup>20</sup> Atatürk made his famous speech:

Gentlemen, our beautiful, harmonious, rich language will shine with the new Turkish letters. (...) The new alphabet must be learned. Teach it to every citizen, woman, man, porter, boatman. Take it as a duty of patriotism, nationalism. Think while fulfilling this duty that it is a shame if ten percent of a nation, a social community does know how to write and read, while ninety percent is illiterate. Those who are humans should be ashamed of this. This nation is not a nation that has been created to be ashamed. This nation has been created to be proud and it is a nation that has filled its history with pride. If ten percent of the nation does know how to write and read, this is not our fault.

<sup>17</sup> Ertem, p.217.

**<sup>18</sup>** The report was also published in the same year in the new alphabet, along with the school primers; see: Aytürk, p.281. It is possible to see the copy of this report in Atatürk Library in İstanbul.

**<sup>19</sup>** Ertem, p.219.

**<sup>20</sup>** It was announced on the day of a party held by the government's political party, Republican People's Party (CHF).

بوركه حرف انفلابى واورودا مطبوعابى صوك انقلاعز دنيانك هرطرفنده بويوك تقديرلرله قارشيلانمشدر ، برفرانسز غزيمهمي آشاغبدهكى باشلقلريمزى درت ستون اوزرينه طبع ايتمشدر TION PAR LA TURQUIE DE L'ALPHABET LE TITRE DU JOURNAL INSCRIT EN CARACTERES TURCS A LA QUATRIEME PAGE LE THRE DU JOURNAL INSCRIT EN CARACTÈRES LATINS A LA PREMIÈRE PAGE

Figure 4.3 *Cumhuriyet* news on the coverage about a French newspaper on the change of their masthead, 04 November 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 4.4** The announcement of the Calligraphy School in *Milliyet* newspaper, 16 August 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

**Figure 4.5** A seal-maker, who was making seals in the Arabic script, now learns the new alphabet. Image source: *The National Geographic Magazine*, 'Turkey goes to school', January 1929.



This is the time to totally clear the faults of the past. We will correct these faults. The whole Turkish society will learn the new alphabet within one or two years. Our nation will show that with its alphabet and mentality, it is on the side of the whole civilized world.<sup>21</sup>

The reaction of other nations following the announcement was all positive and yet puzzled at the same time. The embassies and newspapers followed the process closely and reported this event to their countries with some astonishment, as they did not expect to see a change of this scope and pace.<sup>22</sup> Newspapers especially gave coverage of developments during the transition period by publishing many details such as the new alphabet table and the new mastheads of some Turkish newspapers (Fig.4.3). Furthermore, they did not hide their astonishment when they reported that even the Calligraphy School, Hattat Mektebi, which had been active for centuries, accepted the new alphabet and had established new courses. Indeed, the announcement in newspapers regarding the course was made only one week after the introduction of the reform on 10 August (Fig.4.4). In these announcements, it was enthusiastically noted that calligraphers in schools had started to practise in Latin in order to create beautifully written signs, plates and stickers. The school offered a free public course to teach people who wished to learn to use the new alphabet.<sup>23</sup> One of the prolific calligraphers and tutors, Mustafa Halim Özyazıcı, is an important example showing the struggle of calligraphers at that time. These skilled masters in Arabic calligraphy were forced to start over again by learning a new script with a completely different nature and logic (*Fig.4.5*).<sup>24</sup> Another cause for astonishment for the foreign media was the length of the transition period. Their optimistic prediction for the adoption was at least five years, but they apparently realised after the reaction of Turkish people and the determination of Atatürk that it would not be the case:

> It is surprising to see, the efforts to learn the new alphabet are truly astonishing. [...] For the last couple of days, I've been in some of the small coffee houses where people who do not how to read go to listen to the people who read the newspapers for them. I have seen that from young people to older ones, they copy the new letters onto the corner of the newspapers or the back of cigarette boxes or the marble surface of the tables in order to learn – because Mustafa Kemal declared that he knows the new alphabet and told everybody to learn them immediately.<sup>25</sup>

<sup>21</sup> Miliyet, 'Büyük Gazinin 10 Ağustos 1928 Nutku', (August 10, 1929), p.1.

**<sup>22</sup>** Various reportings and anecdotes shared in Şimşir's book reveal this impression; see: Şimşir, p.163.

<sup>23</sup> For these pieces of news, see: *Milliyet*, 16.08.1928; *Cumhuriyet*, 19.08.1928.

**<sup>24</sup>** For a detailed account of his life and works, see: Melike Taşçıoğlu and Şinasi Acar, "Bir Hattatın Dönüşümü: Alfabe Devrimi'nin Halim Efendi'nin çalışmaları üzerinden incelenmesi," *Osmanlı Bilimi Araştırmaları 15*, no.2 (2014).

**<sup>25</sup>** J.H.Walton, "Turkey's A.B.C. Whole Population at school. Kemal's Clever Move," *The Daily Telegraph*, 28.08.1928.



113. UNE SCÈNE DES RÉUNIONS TENUES SOUS LA PRÉSIDENCE DU GAZI AU PALAIS DE DOLMABAHÇE POUR LA DISCUSSION DES PROBLEMES LINGUISTIQES.



**Figure 4.6** "A scene of the meetings held under the presidency of the Gazi [Atatürk] at Dolmabahçe Palace for the discussion of linguistic problems." Image source: Histoire de la Republique Turque, 1935, p.99

**Figure 4.7** The 'Letter march' published in newspaper *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, 18 October 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey
On 11 August, a hall on the upper floor of the Dolmabahçe Palace, which had been the summer house of Atatürk for the last two years, was prepared as a classroom with all the educational tools. In this hall, one of the commission members, İbrahim Naci [Dilmen] gave an alphabet lesson to Atatürk's close circle, including some MPs and presidential staff (*Fig.4.6*).<sup>26</sup> Atatürk inspired people about the reform by using the new alphabet effectively in his circle, from his menu list to the leaflets of the music programme in the Palace.<sup>27</sup> He even asked the presidential symphony orchestra to compose a 'letter march' (Fig.4.7).<sup>28</sup> Within a week of the announcement, many important decisions about teaching the alphabet were made such as educating all teachers, preparing new textbooks, and assigning various institutions and governmental bodies to help teach the alphabet to their staff and to the public.<sup>29</sup> Following these decisions, the ministries started alphabet lessons and sent their correspondence written in the new alphabet. Education Committees were created from the cities' administrative units to participate in helping to make the public literate. The responsibilities of the committees were 'determining the schedule of classes, finding classrooms, providing the necessary equipment, paying instructors' salaries, and ensuring regular attendance of the citizens registered in the courses'.<sup>30</sup> It was also determined that other spheres apart from schools, such as societies, coffee houses, government buildings and mosques, could be utilised to teach the new alphabet.<sup>31</sup> Even the initial conferences given in İstanbul University were broadcast in Darülfünun Park and Beyazıt Square on 21 August with the aim of reaching the public more effectively.<sup>32</sup>

In the following days, between 25 and 29 August 1928, one of the members of the Language Commission presented the new alphabet to officials, deputies and intellectuals – including writers, poets, journalists and academics – in various meetings in Dolmabahçe Palace, and discussed the existing version of the alphabet and the further plans for the method of implementation. The guests were initially asked to attend the meeting with a basic knowledge of the new alphabet. This was because, despite the enthusiastic atmosphere, there were still some members of the parliament and intellectuals who were not completely convinced and these were divided into two groups – the ones who did not comprehend the importance of the reform and those who had objections to the alphabet that the Language Commission had prepared. Two journalists and intellectuals especially

*İkdam*, 11.08.1928, cited in Ali İhsan İlhan, "1925-1928 Yılları Arasında Cumhuriyet Ve *İkdam* Gazetesinde Çıkan Harf İnkilabıyla İlgili Konular," (MA diss., Fatih University, 2010), p.196/203.
27 Şimşir, p.167.

**<sup>28</sup>** İlhan, p.314/316-8.

<sup>29</sup> Şimşir, p.168.

**<sup>30</sup>** Hale Yılmaz, *Becoming Turkish: Nationalist Reforms and Cultural Negotiations in Early Republican Turkey, 1923-1945* (United States: Syracuse University Press, 2013), p.148.

<sup>31</sup> Ibid, p.148.

**<sup>32</sup>** "Salı günü Darülfünunda verilecek hoparlörle meydanlarda dinlenecektir", *Cumhuriyet*, 21.08.1928; "Bugün Darülfünun meydanında yeni harflerimize dair verilecek konferansı dinleyeceğiz," 20.08.1928, cited in İlhan, p.314-316.

criticised the adoption of two letters with a cedilla – *ş* and *ç*.<sup>33</sup> In fact, the same criticism was made by a columnist from *Cumhuriyet* on 2 July 1928, long before the announcement of the new alphabet. He criticised the new letters with dots and marks, which considerably reduce the pace of writing, as is the case in Arabic letters. He also called the Commission to consider abandoning some of these letters, asking 'what is the fault of our old letters, if we are going to put dots above and below every Latin letter?'<sup>34</sup> Interestingly, their concern was also shared with a German professor, who wrote a letter to the Turkish government after the announcement in order to give some advice on the adopted letters:

S, which is pronounced like German *sch*, cannot be found on any typewriter or in any print shop outside of Turkey. *Est* is important for every language, that it can also be printed abroad and written with the typewriter. In addition, all appendages (cedilla and similar) affect the classically beautiful simplicity of the Latin letters, especially the large letters, in public posters and street signs. [...] The letter *ç* also has the disadvantage that a cedilla, which, apart from France, does not exist on the typewriters all over the world and in printing houses, has the disadvantage.<sup>35</sup>

According to Yılmaz, 'these meetings provided a forum for the teaching of and the debate on the new alphabet, and for building a consensus in its favor.' <sup>36</sup> This was because a law/regulation regarding the new alphabet had not been enacted yet and it was crucial to convince these people before sending them all over Turkey to introduce the alphabet.

Atatürk visited various cities in Anatolia during September and October 1928 in order to introduce the new alphabet to the public himself. He especially chose the cities that had important roles in the history of new Republic and introduced the alphabet in a very unusual way. He taught the new letters by writing on a blackboard and picking people randomly from the crowd and testing them, to show how easy learning the new alphabet was (*Fig.4.8*).<sup>37</sup> For this reason, he was named as the 'head teacher' and it was possible to encounter the title in both Turkish and foreign newspapers.<sup>38</sup> During his visits, Atatürk saw some flaws in orthographic rules while teaching the letters to the public. When he came back to Ankara, he wrote a report showing his suggestions to correct these flaws, which were later edited by the Language Commission.<sup>39</sup>

**<sup>33</sup>** Şimşir, p.177. They also criticized the lack of x, w, q letters and other characters that they found suitable for certain sounds.

**<sup>34</sup>** Abidin Daver, "Hem Nalına Hem Mıhına", *Cumhuriyet*, 02.07.1928; 02.08.1928, cited in İlhan, p.157-8/431.

<sup>35</sup> BCA. 180.9.0.0.3.16.6. Latin harflerinin kabulü ile ilgili yazışmalar. 11 August 1928.

<sup>36</sup> Hale Yılmaz, p.144.

<sup>37</sup> Ibid, p.144.

<sup>38</sup> Şimşir, p.180

**<sup>39</sup>** Ibid, p.196.



**Figure 4.8** Atatürk teaches the new alphabet on blackboard in his visits. *Servet-i Fünun*, 25 October 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

یادی رفاری مطبعه مرفاری یادی رفاری مطبعه مرفاری مهم بین در مهمن در در مرمد میم در در در در در -12lSS9 A تورك آلف به سی لو که شی Mm M m Ş Ş J A یاری حرّفاری مطبعه خرفاری یازی خرفاری مطبعه حرفاری مهمد بردمد کمیمد بردمد کمیمد بردمد کردمد بردمد Nn Pn Tt Et Aa ta Gg g g 0000 Uu 26 u Bb B & ğ ğ Öö Ö ö Üü Ü ü Cc C c Hh % k Çç Ç ç İ i J i Dd D d I 1 J i **Ρρ***P***ρνν***vvvv* Rr R · Yyyy Zz 3/3 Ee & . Jj 7 j FfFfKkRh

Figure 4.9 An alphabet table page from one of the initial primers. Image source: Personal collection.

Three months after the first announcement, the new alphabet law 'the Acceptance and Implementation of the Turkish Letters (Türk Harflerinin Kabulü ve Tatbiki Kanunu)' - declaring all official signboards, inserts, advertisements, cinema materials/boards and all periodicals including bulletins, newspapers and magazines had to be printed in Latin script by the first day of December - was enacted on the first day of November by the parliament. As declared in the law, all printed media, including magazines and newspapers, but not books, were to be published entirely in the Latin alphabet from 1 December 1928. A couple of days later, a budget of 400.000 Turkish liras was approved to help the implementation of the reform. According to the state documents, half of it was made available to buy Latin metal types from Europe and to provide financial aid to the newspapers and magazines that had been under strain.<sup>40</sup> Although the amount was generous considering the whole budget, still it was not significant enough to cover all the expenses of publications, so most people made many sacrifices in this mobilisation.

# Teaching materials

Many private printing presses were too impatient to wait for the Language Commission's ABC primer, so they published their own versions without getting any approval for their correctness. After noticing the situation, the Commission's statement warning the public about these misleading primers was published in newspapers on 17 August 1928.<sup>41</sup> It was also declared that the Commission's primer was about to be circulated and publishers were advised to wait until then. Ten days after this report, newspapers reported that the Commission's primer was sold out within a couple of hours of its release.<sup>42</sup> It is important to note that these primers aimed to teach the alphabet both to those who knew how to read in the old script and to those who were illiterate (Fig.4.9). These primers were published in both Arabic and Latin scripts and generally consisted of an alphabet table, showing vowels and consonants, lessons on suffixes and prefixes, and some reading articles for practice.43 After these announcements, all primers were first subjected to inspection before being printed by private presses and a notice was put on the covers indicating that those publications had been approved by the Commission.

**<sup>40</sup>** Ibid, p.227-8. For a full account on spending the budget, see the State document: BCA. 30.10.0.0.143.25.23. Yeni Türk harflerinin kabülü dolayısıyla bütçe'ye ilave edilen 400.000 liranın nasıl harcanacağı. 06.12.1928.

**<sup>41</sup>** "Elifba ve İmla Kağıtları yakında neşredilecek", *Cumhuriyet*, 17.08.1928, cited in İlhan, p.187.

**<sup>42</sup>** "Yeni harflerin tedrisi için muhtelif yerlerde yüzlerce kurs açıldı ve derslere başlandı", *Cumhuriyet*, 27.08.1928, cited in İlhan, p.207.

**<sup>43</sup>** For a good documentation of these primers in a four-volume article series, see: Mustafa Duman, "Türk Yazı Devrimi Tarihinden: Yeni Yazıyı Öğreten İlk Kitaplar," *Müteferrika*, no. 2 (Bahar, 1994); "Türk Yazı Devrimi Tarihinden: Yeni Yazıyı Öğreten İlk Kitaplar (II)," *Müteferrika*, no. 16 (Güz, 1999); "Türk Yazı Devrimi Tarihinden: Yeni Yazıyı Öğreten İlk Kitaplar (III)," *Müteferrika*, no. 18 (Kış, 2000); "Türk Yazı Devrimi Tarihinden: Yeni Yazıyı Öğreten İlk Kitaplar (IV)," *Müteferrika*, no. 19 (Yaz, 2001).



**Figure 4.10** An illustrated ABC primer. Hilmi Kitaphanesi, İstanbul, Devlet Matbaası, 1928. Image source: Personal collection



Ankarada açılan Millet mektepleri dersanesinde yeni harfleri öğrenen bir Hanım

**Figure 4.11** A woman reads in the classroom in Nation's Schools. *Karagöz* newspaper, 20 February 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Halk dershanelerindeki faaliyeilerin işte bir maazarası., Hiç mektebe gitmemiş olanlar bile bu dershanelere koşuyor, aşısı a yazı yazan talebeye bakınız. Bu hıç ukuma yazma bilmeyen kuşukken arap harfleri yüzünden mektepden kaçan bir delikanlıdır.

**Figure 4.11a** Men classroom in Public schools. *Milliyet* newspaper, 19 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library It is known that there were two different versions of these primers during the transition period. The first version comprised those published before Atatürk's correction of some orthographic rules after his famous visits to Anatolia mentioned earlier. It is, therefore, possible to see the initial orthographic decisions in these copies (Appendix 1). The other version was updated after the correction and shared a similar content structure. In a newspaper article, it was mentioned that a simpler ABC primer for illiterate people had been created by the Language Commission and would be printed by the State Printing House.<sup>44</sup> Even though it was said that there would be a simpler version for illiterate people printed all in Latin, as far as it is known, these primers do not seem to have been published (or circulated) until the implementation of the reform due to the lack of documentation.<sup>45</sup> Apart from the difference in versions, there were some illustrated primers (Fig.4.10) with no indication of whether they were aimed at adults or children (Appendix 1A). In addition to these primary materials, it is also possible to find some reading and writing practice books/booklets.<sup>46</sup> Some newspapers also published some primers using their own regular lessons, which were printed every day.<sup>47</sup> These primers aimed only at teaching to the public. In formal education, due to the speed of the adoption, it was concluded that only Turkish lessons would use the new alphabet for the first year, as it was not possible to prepare and print all the textbooks for all subjects in three months. The rest of the lessons would be taught in the old script until the following year, by which all the necessary textbooks would have been printed in the new script.48

#### Nation's schools

Following the initial volunteer schools 'Halk Dershaneleri' or 'Public classrooms', which were opened a short time after the announcement and enabled the teaching of educators and a part of the literate public, a new form of school or course – called 'Nation's Schools' – was launched as part of the reform agenda on 1 January 1929. The aim was to speed up the process of teaching the new alphabet to the public. According to the regulation, attendance was mandatory for all male and female citizens between the ages of 16 and 40 who could not read and write the new letters (*Fig.4.11*).<sup>49</sup> Schooling was for four months for the illiterate and two months for the literate.<sup>50</sup> Lessons were at night because mainly elementary school teachers were being called to teach these classes. If there was a greater demand,

<sup>44 &</sup>quot;Dil Encümeni'nin alfabesi", Cumhuriyet, 27.08.1928, cited in İlhan, p.208.

**<sup>45</sup>** There are some visuals of these primers in Gökhan Akçura's Turkish printing history book, but without any information or source; see: Gökhan Akçura, *Cumhuriyet Döneminde Türkiye Matbaacılık Tarihi* (İstanbul: YKY, 2012), p.88/90-1/104-5.

**<sup>46</sup>** Mustafa Duman documented some of these materials in his articles; to see some of the visuals of the booklets for writing practice, see: Akçura, p.84/86/98.

<sup>47</sup> For more information on Cumhuriyet's primer, see: İlhan, p.352-3/376.

<sup>48 &</sup>quot;Mekteplerde Tedrisat", Cumhuriyet, 06.09.1928, cited in İlhan, p.229.

<sup>49</sup> Hale Yilmaz, p.148.

<sup>50</sup> Wood, p.194.



Figure 4.12 Man sitting next to an alphabet poster. Image source: *The National Geographic Magazine*, 'Turkey goes to school', January 1929.



Figure 4.13 A street servant practices the new alphabet, *Milliyet* newspaper, 16 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Daha düne kadar İstambulda arap hrfleriyle tabélalar göze çarpıyordu, dünden itibaren hepsi de yeni türk harfleriyle taptil edildiler,



Tramvay vagonlarında-ki lavhalar da yeni harfler-le tepdil edildi

Figure 4.14 News on changing sings, including tram signs. *İkdam*, 2 December 1928. *Milliyet*, 2 September 1928, 16 December 1928. Image source: The National Library of Turkey and Atatürk Library



Şehrimizdeki bina ve dükkânların lavhalarını Türk harflerile yazdırmaları bitmeküzeredir. Dün dördüneti yakıf hanı da eski yazısmı sildir secondary school teachers and some intellectuals also helped to provide this education. Thus, Turkey literally became an open school. While the aim was simply to raise the literacy level, in this case not only would people 'be able to read and write in 5-6 years, but they would also become able to read newspapers, popular books and magazines'.<sup>51</sup> After completing the course, people were awarded with a certificate.

### The new alphabet in public spaces

In an article of The National Geographic Magazine in 1929, the changes related to daily life – people on the street who were changing their signboards or learning the new alphabet from the street posters – were described and pictured (*Fig.4.12*).<sup>52</sup> Margaret Wood also reflected on the change in the streets in her 1929 article:

The ships were among the first to paint out the old letters and in the new, trains and trams followed, and within a few days' time new signs had appeared everywhere, sometimes printed neatly and again with shaky, uneven lettering as a child just learning to write might print. News stands on Galata Bridge and the street corners of conservative old Stamboul were flooded with papercovered primers teaching the new alphabet and yet the supply could not keep up with the demand.<sup>53</sup>

It was indeed possible to come across people on the streets that even took a break from shopping and practised the new alphabet (Fig.4.13). Even porters practised the alphabet after putting their loads down. The sellers, including butchers, grocers were studying while they waited for customers.<sup>54</sup> The ABC primers/booklets - printed by various presses - were everywhere: shop windows, pavements, bridges, stations, squares and post offices. The other significant and noticeable change was on the street and shop signs that were enthusiastically reported by the Turkish newspapers throughout the adoption period (Fig.4.14). In addition, the punishment for the late changers and the mysterious people who painted signs in old script during the night<sup>55</sup> must have forced people to make the change immediately. Therefore, the demand for sign painters at that time created side jobs for the ones who could obtain brushes and had the ability to write. Even prisoners helped to create the government's building signs, as we know from newspapers (Fig.4.15). Despite complaints about some examples with poor writing, which was probably created by the same method and logic that existed in Arabic calligraphy and which was the result of previous

**<sup>51</sup>** "Lisanımızda Lüzumlu Bir Tasfiye," *Milliyet* (October 13, 1928), p.1; also for a detailed information about the Nation's Schools, see: Akdoğan, p.46-49.

**<sup>52</sup>** Maynard Oven Williams, "Turkey Goes To School," *The National Geographic Magazine 55* (January 1929): p.94-108. For more information about the alphabet posters and plates, see: Mustafa Duman, "Latin Harfli Türk Alfabe Levhaları," *Tarih ve Toplum 229* (January 2003): p.19-22.

<sup>53</sup> Wood, p.199.

<sup>54</sup> Şimşir, p.174.

<sup>55</sup> Ertem,291.



Figure 4.15 Prisoners help to make signs in new letters. *Milliyet* newspaper, 5 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 4.16** A neon sign showing the new alphabet on a roof of building in Ankara. *Cumhuriyet* newspaper, 9 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

experience, new signage was quickly embraced, so it is possible to conclude that the script change was most clearly observed in various types of signs. The reformers also knew the importance of familiarity in the streets that would help people to embrace the new alphabet quickly, so encountering a neon alphabet sign on the top of a building was not an awkward occasion at that time (*Fig.4.16*).

## 4.3. Post-reform period

It is without doubt that such a radical change, on this scale, will result in critical reflections and after-effects on society for many years, and change the nation's destiny forever. Considering the serious transformation that Turkey went through due to the reforms, it is possible to categorise the outcomes of the alphabet reform in the short and long terms.

The main goal of this change was to make people literate without delay, but despite the ambitious launch and the enthusiasm reflected in various publications, the results were not as expected. Before the reform, according to the 1927 census, only 8.16 per cent of the population (more than 13,600,000 people) was literate. With all the efforts after the implementation of the reform, this rate accelerated to 20.4 per cent by 1935.<sup>56</sup> It is possible that there were some external factors affecting the result such as poor facilities and lack of teachers due to the huge demand generated by the obligatory literacy programme. Furthermore, 'the economic reasons were crucial in limiting the reach of these schools,'57 as the budget was not sufficient to cover all the expenses. These deficiencies may also have caused the growing gap in literacy and educational levels between urban children and those in rural areas.<sup>58</sup> At the other end of the spectrum, a personal memory of Margaret Wood quoted in her article in 1929 shows that learning to read and write was an especially tough task for elderly people, most of whom did not participate in this process.<sup>59</sup> One of the reasons for not participating was that elderly people were reluctant to learn the new alphabet as an expression of resentment about abandoning the old script.<sup>60</sup> In addition, they felt it was no necessary for them to learn the new script for employment.61

Considering the lower-than-expected literacy level reached within six years, it is understandable to question whether there was resistance or even protest against this tremendous change. Even though the literature on the reform did not cover this aspect well, there are some incidents recorded

**<sup>56</sup>** Walter Weiker, *Modernization of Turkey from Ataturk to the Present Day* (United Kingdom: Holmes & Meier Publishers, 1981), p.154; for the personal experiences on learning to read and write from a more social perspective, see: Hale Yılmaz, p.147-153.

**<sup>57</sup>** Hale Yılmaz, p.153.

<sup>58</sup> Kaya Yılmaz, p.75-6.

**<sup>59</sup>** Wood, p.200.

**<sup>60</sup>** Hale Yılmaz, p.167.

**<sup>61</sup>** Ibid, p.168.

in the State Archive in Ankara. For example, a protest occurred in the first month of 1929 in a rural city, Manisa, carried out by a person who put up a poster in public space to tell people not to obey the reformers' directions and to warn people about the danger of forgetting how to read Koran if they adopted the new alphabet. As expected, as the document records show, he was sent to court for his actions.<sup>62</sup> There is another case where a wealthy old-literate<sup>63</sup> father hired a teacher to teach the new alphabet to his children privately, while he did not feel a need to learn it himself.<sup>64</sup> Even those who went to the Nation's School seemed to forget the new script, as the Minister of the Interior, Şükrü Kaya, wrote to the prime minister, İsmet İnönü, six months from the opening of these schools:

> In Kayıseri, Sivas, Şebin Karahisar, and the other district centres I visited, the civil servants have familiarised themselves with the [new] Turkish letters. Official correspondence is in Turkish letters. But it appears that it is not widely used among the people. Aside from the fact that the results of the Nation's Schools are quite weak, those who can read and write lack the practice or are about to forget the new letters. All transactions amongst the most enlightened of the people are in Arabic letters. I also found reading and spelling in Turkish in high and middle schools to be very poor. I know that proficiency and skill will not be gained in a short period of time and that a long time is needed for it to become general among the people. However, I sensed that the impact and the power of the first attack have weakened...<sup>65</sup>

There is a record in the State Archive that even fourteen years after the implementation, some senior governmental officers were still using the old script in correspondence and that this situation misled and discouraged young officers.<sup>66</sup> These incidents and failures of people to introduce the new script into their private lives do not necessarily indicate resistance or being opposed to the idea of the new script. As Hale Yılmaz also pointed out, during the mobilisation of the new alphabet, there were people who were 'more royalist than the king' in some cases, by informing on people who failed to meet the expectations of the Republic; this is interesting because it is known that "the central government policy was in fact more sensitive to individual (circumstances) and more tolerant toward noncompliance than its own rhetoric suggested, especially when noncompliance was not viewed as an act of opposition or reaction."<sup>67</sup> Despite the initial determined

**<sup>62</sup>** BCA 030.10.102.668.3. Kula'da yeni Türk harfleri aleyhine ve din lehinde bildiri astığı gerekçesi ile Süleyman Nuri'nin adliyeye sevk edildiği. 24.01.1929.

**<sup>63</sup>** I used this term to differentiate the people who know how to read in old script, but are not familiar with the new script.

<sup>64</sup> For this case, see: Hale Yılmaz, p.167.

**<sup>65</sup>** BCA 030.10.12.12.73.4, Telegram from Şükrü Kaya to Prime Minister İsmet Paşa (İnönü), 21.06.1929, cited in Hale Yılmaz, p.161-2.

**<sup>66</sup>** BCA 030.10.144.33.11. Resmi dairelerdeki memurların halen Arap harfleri kullanmakta oldukları ve bunun da gençleri zor duruma düşürdüğü.17.06.1942.

<sup>67</sup> Hale Yılmaz, p.177.

and more intolerant attitude during the reform year, reformers softened their approach on the issue in the following years probably because they had succeeded in making an official change. Still, the role of censorship in this should not be underestimated, as Aytürk states:

There was effective state control over the civil society and the press, and opposition to the regime and the Kemalist ideology was punished if it became too loud and attracted too many adherents. The nature of the political system thus facilitated the transition to a Roman based alphabet by silencing widespread opposition to it. Arguments to the contrary were allowed to be expressed and published between 1926 and 1928, but once the official decision to romanise the Turkish script was announced in 1928, the opposition evaporated almost overnight.<sup>68</sup>

Though the increased literacy rate was not high, as can be seen from the examples above, the reform could still be considered as a success, considering the conditions of the era. All the criticism from the opponents of the reform aside, the alphabet reform was robust and successful, with its convincing motives and justifications, even more so than the language reform.<sup>69</sup> This may be also because there had been a demand for an increase in literacy since the Ottoman times; 'Becoming literate implied only a gain'.<sup>70</sup> The positive and encouraging reports by Western newspapers also helped to spread the news of the change. Some reporters even came to see this transformation with their own eyes and conveyed their observations to their organisations. After the reform, the difficulties that foreigners had gone through when travelling to Turkey and trying to read signs in Arabic script were gone. The admiration of foreigners could also be seen in Wood's 1929 article: "one cannot fail to admire the willingness of the present generation of Turks to undergo the expense and the inconvenience of making such a change for the future interests of their country".<sup>71</sup> Thus, the reformers must have achieved one of their most important goals - the revision of the nation's image in the eyes of the world. Moreover, the act of publishing the reaction of the world in Turkish newspapers must have motivated people struggling to adapt to this change.

**<sup>68</sup>** İlker Aytürk, p.120. Even the journalists and some reformers -including İsmet İnönü- were against the reform and made speeches about it publicly. However, right before the reform, it can be seen that they stopped being an opposition and became a full supporter. Moreover, it is not possible to see any opposing voice from the government and the media from this point. This situation raises doubts about a possible silenced opposition; for the regulations on the press, see Nurşen Mazıcı, "1930'A Kadar Basının Durumu Ve 1931 Matbuat Kanunu," Ankara Üniversitesi Türk İnkilap Tarihi Enstitüsü Atatürk Yolu Dergisi (1996): 131-154, doi:10.1501/tite\_000000210.

**<sup>69</sup>** İlker Aytürk, "Script Charisma in Hebrew and Turkish: A Comparative Framework for Explaining Success and Failure of Romanization." *Journal of World History* 21, no.1 (2010): p.108. 97-130. doi:10.1353/jwh.0.0106.

<sup>70</sup> Hale Yılmaz, p.158-161.

**<sup>71</sup>** Wood, p.196-7.

The script reform was a precursor of the language reform; a few years after the alphabet reform, a number of government initiatives in favour of language purification were introduced.<sup>72</sup> The Language Council announced that Arabic- and Persian-rooted words were to be abandoned. In parallel, they also invented new words derived from either French or English, while claiming their Turkish authenticity and purity.<sup>73</sup> These actions, both changing the script and purifying the language, also generated long-term effects, which remain to the present day. Even though the alphabet reform seemed to be an innocuous act for laying the foundations of a more modern nation, today it has caused a cultural illiteracy in terms of collective memory and the nation's heritage. To prove this point, it is sufficient to ask an adult in Turkey today to read a book from the reform years and ask what s/he understands from the text. This experiment will certainly result in an understanding between 40 and 50 per cent. Spearman and Turhan also claim that 'an average Turk is now unable to read easily any book published before about 1940'.74 Even the original alphabet speech given by Atatürk cannot be fully understood by the present young generation.<sup>75</sup> In modern Turkey, the purification attempt also created a polarisation between people who have different ideologies, for example those preferring and using outdated or pure Turkish words in daily life.<sup>76</sup> This kind of nostalgia - using or trying to retrieve old words - can also be seen in the current revival of the Ottoman calligraphic tradition ignored since the alphabet reform.<sup>77</sup> Aytürk claims that it is possible to talk about a 'cultural identity crisis' today because of this cultural interruption.78

The following chapters contextualise the analysis of newspapers and magazines, which is the significant part of this study.

**<sup>72</sup>** Çolak, p.75

**<sup>73</sup>** Çolak, p.77.

<sup>74</sup> Spearman & Turhan, p.95.

<sup>75</sup> Aytürk, "The First Episode of Language Reform in Republican Turkey," p.275.

<sup>76</sup> Kaya Yılmaz, p.78.

<sup>77</sup> Wood, p.200.

<sup>78</sup> Aytürk, p.275.

# **Chapter 5:** Contextualising the analysis of newspapers and magazines

"The honour of implementing the new Turkish alphabet for the first time in public broadly belonged to the Turkish press."<sup>1</sup>

Although the effort made for the transition to the new script was obvious and it is known that the publications were published in two scripts for a while, it is not documented before how far this integration of Latin went and how it affected the look and the design of publications and the typographic decisions made during this transition and after the complete adoption of the new script. The following chapters (6-7-8) aim to seek answers to these questions by analysing the selected newspapers and magazines within a certain framework. However, before going through the analysis chapters, some historical context and issues regarding the analysed newspapers and magazines will be revealed first in this chapter. In the historical context, a brief history of newspapers and magazines in Turkey will be presented in order to examine further the role of publications in Turkish printing history and understand how this context aided the implementation of the reform. In the second section, how the reform affected the reform-period newspapers and magazines financially and how new metal types and printing presses and other equipments were supplied will be presented in a brief summary. In order to contextualise the analysis, the last section will deal with the common issues in reformperiod newspapers and magazines such as the use of images and cartoons to promote the reform.

# **5.1. Historical role of Turkish newspapers and magazines** <sup>2</sup> *Emergence of newspapers*

As the introduction of printing was late in the Empire, the adoption of Turkish newspaper convention came one century after Müteferrika's initiative. This progress seems normal and feasible when it is compared to the creation of newspaper in Europe nearly 165 years after Gutenberg. However, for the Ottoman case, the accelerative role of non-Muslims for the adoption should be taken into consideration. Although the Ottoman Turks were not using the printing press, minorities were doing so and they became the master of it. No matter how much the Ottomans tried to ignore the existence of the printing convention alongside them, being affected by and exposed to this innovation was inevitable in a more technologically developed world. Alongside technology, the wind of ideologies and political and religious propagandas that spread to the country from Europe during the 18th and 19th centuries played an essential role in creating a printing culture within the Ottoman society. In that period, books were deemed

**<sup>1</sup>** Aytürk, p.225.

**<sup>2</sup>** To review this section through a diagram on the publishing activities in Turkish, see Appendix 2, p.350.



**Figure 5.1** *Takvim-i Vekayi*, 27 May 1831, No.10. Image source: National Library of Turkey **Figure 5.2** *Ceride-i Havadis*, 10 August 1840, No.2. Image source: National Library of Turkey

educational tools to spread knowledge, while newspapers were ideal grounds as crowd-pullers for propagating ideas and political agendas. Thus, it is understandable that the first state newspaper came into being for this purpose.<sup>3</sup>

Apart from the cosmopolitan capital, İstanbul, one of the Ottoman provinces, Smyrna (İzmir), was a place where the other communities lived and used the printing press efficiently. Non-Turkish press (widely French) was dominant in the scene especially for missionary activities.<sup>4</sup> These printing presses were founded in order to play an active role in spreading the ideas of the French Revolution within the French community in the Empire by using newspapers as a tool.<sup>5</sup> However, in time, they started to publish content in favour of some minority riots, which provoked the crowd. This act displeased the Sultan, and it resulted in the publishing activity being suspended. In place of it, a new paper in French named as Le Courrier de Smyrne was launched and news and articles started to be published, but this time in favour of the Ottoman Empire. The Sultan, Mahmut II, was also following the paper closely and saw its effect and the disturbance that was created in other countries as a powerful political tool. As a result, in 1831, he decided to publish a weekly Turkish state newspaper, named Takvim-i Vakaiyye, in four languages (Armenian, Arabic, Persian and French)(Fig.5.1). <sup>6</sup>As its circulation and publishing frequency did not meet the expectations, it continued to be published, not on a daily basis, but periodically. Undoubtedly, it paved the way for other official newspapers and started a new era of periodicals.

While the first state newspaper was still in print but not very active, a second semi-official paper, *Ceride-i Havadis*, was started to be published in 1840 by a British man called William Churchill <sup>7</sup> (*Fig.5.2*). It was supported financially and permitted by the state, and played a more active role in spreading all kind of news and promoting education and literacy in addition to its wide-ranging editorial content.<sup>8</sup> This approach to newspaper publication emphasises its role in transmitting information, as was the case in the implementation of the Latin alphabet reform in 1928.

**<sup>3</sup>** The first government newspaper within the Ottoman territory was actually published in Egypt by Bulaq Press in 1828; it was a Turkish-Arabic newspaper named *Vekayi-i Mısriyye*. For more information, see: Christoph K. Neumann, Geoffrey Roper and Weltmuseum der Druck-kunst Gutenberg-Museum, in *Book And Newspaper Printing In Turkish, 18Th-20Th Centuries* (Westhofen: WVA-Verlag Skulima, 2002), p.234.

<sup>4</sup> Johann Strauss, "Who Read What in the Ottoman Empire (19th–20th Centuries)," *Middle Eastern Literatures 6*, no 1 (2003): 39–76, p.60.

**<sup>5</sup>** The first French paper (or bulletin) was published in 1795; for more information, see: Uğur Akbulut, "Osmanlı Basın Tarihine Bir Katkı: Gazetelerin Yayınlanma Amaçları Üzerine." *Journal of Turkish Studies 8*, no. 5 (2013): 31–57, p.34–35.

**<sup>6</sup>** Ibid, p.35; for more information, see: Neumann, p.234 and J. S. Szyliowicz and Geoffrey Roper, in *Functional Perspectives On Technology: The Case Of The Printing Press In The Ottoman Empire* (United Kingdom: Ashgate Publishing, 2013), p.337.

<sup>7</sup> For more information about him, see: Akbulut, p.38.

**<sup>8</sup>** Churchill blamed illiteracy for low circulation of papers and claimed that if literacy were to rise, printing would flourish, as had happened in Europe. For a detailed account of the paper's mission on encouraging the literacy, see Akbulut, p.39.



، ایکی دفعه استابولدملیم وفشرا ولنور. غزنه خانه سی حبد به ده کانندر معارف وامورخیر به اعلا ای مجانا باصیلور نمی ۸۰ واوج آبلیمی ۱۰ ورنسجند می حاغروشد در . ایالان ایله ممالک اجنبه ایمون پوست اجرفی علاوه قلمور

راد به تعالما جدم بور توسع اجرا هو دو هنو. قرطاغ کاری نیوتر اولد یو با سرماد اکری هو منو. بری کلوسفون اولد یو با سرماد در فوی شده اورز به دناطه با کری سازی جدم در و اوی ساعد اورز به دناطه با کری سازی و اولی ما می یونی وقایم می ایل کار به مرکز مانه و اولی می اورز برجی اطم و موالی و مرکز می اولی می اورز برجی اطم و موالی و مرکز می این می این برجی اطم و مقارم می مروم ایس مع مدار ان مادور تقدیم مرد ایک موجو برانسا فو مود تقدیم می و ایس می می و بولد بند تری تر ماطع ستمان تو و می این ا و بول اولی مانون قود می و بول و ایک روانی و با و کرد و ایس می ایس می می این مادور تقدیم می ایس می و بول این مادور تقدیم می و مودی می و بول و مود تری و مراح می می ایس می و بول و مود تری و مراح می می می ایس می و می این مود و مودی می می می می و مودی می و می می و و مودی و

\* بوخسل ایله بولور جله دول فوز وفلاح \* حاضراول جگه اکراسزایسک صلح وصلاح

# فر بای تخت کی

ابراسد دولم ابد ماسل له بنی جه مست. مسلیه دولم ابد ماسل له بنی جه مست. مسلیه کردی سی است و مسیر این ماند می می و این این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می مسلیه کردی می است و این این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می مسلیه کردی می است و این این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می مسلیه این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می مسلیه این این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می مسلیه این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می مسلیه این این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می این می مسلیه این این می می این می ای ای این می این می ای ای این این این می این می ای این می ای ای

والزراخ لينه 0 ولكى نىخەلك جوا دن داخلېدىمى صرەسىندەايما نشان دول عليه تى شكلان حاليەسىندن يرىدىنى • ىلغغالمىسىدركە بوت بوقتارە امتدادواسىندادى ۇغاللەسىدىرى بوك بورەممر المەسىرى غالى دىدىكارى باغىارك مىتىمتى الولدقارى محسازات مەسىرى باغىرىك مىتىمۇ بوجون كېمىسىكى اجرامی مرتبا وجو بی کچمند الدقه میز کسب تأخر ایل وي محصوص بر الاندمة منى نسب نام المستدن ت المندر ، هم نايسه الافي ما مان سمادي - جديد مالفنت مستجه معذو ايمن ، و بعد هاك البسانة برد ليل علني آرا ناسه برمدند نيرو اتخاذ ش اولان تشتبان مراوعك فرة ماصية سي كوسرامك

ئافېر و غالما مرحدتك بولدن بو به ندكس ابتد احتمال نوليد جنى صورنده ازالدس أنجنى نداير متحدد ك تمامى اجراستد دوام ايله حاصل اولدچنى جاه عنــدتده

Figure 5.3 *Tasvir-i Efkâr*, 3 July 1862, No.2. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Image source: Atatürk Library

Figure 5.5 First illustrated magazine Mir'at, 1862. Image source: Atatürk Library

Newspapers became more powerful and active in politics after the 1860s. The two prominent newspapers, Tercüman-1 Ahval and Tasvir-i Efkâr (Fig.5.3), were introduced in this period. These newspapers laid the foundations of modern newspapers and created a patriotic and lofty mission, such as simplifying Turkish in order to get the attention of the public and raise literacy and circulation in this way. Furthermore, the people behind these papers knew the correlation between a civilised nation and highcirculation newspapers, and often expressed this opinion in their editorial articles.<sup>9</sup> Apparently, achieving these goals was not deemed possible with low circulations, but according to the general opinion among the researchers, there was progress in literacy and success in creating a newspaper readership thanks to the simplification of the language and effective publishing strategies. A statement by one of the prolific Turkish literature professors, Ahmet Hamdi Tanpınar, also supports this argument. He claims that no newspaper in the world had the same mission and role as it had in Turkey in that period and while the public generally creates ideologies and spreads them with the help of newspapers, in Turkey, newspapers and the people behind them created new ideologies and imposed them on the public via newspapers. It is even possible to indicate a definite formation of public opinion for the first time through the newspapers of the period. However, due to the regulations and restrictions in the second half of the 19th century, newspapers almost lost their popularity and place to printed books and magazines, supported by the translation and popular literature trend.<sup>10</sup>

#### Magazine publishing

Despite the two centuries of delay in establishing Turkish printing, magazine publication immediately followed the first Turkish newspaper in Turkey. The first magazines spread to the country quickly in different genres.<sup>11</sup> The very first magazine in Turkish, *Vakay-i Tibbiye*, was on medicine and was published in 1849 (*Fig.5.4*). The first pictorial magazine called *Mir'at* was published in 1862 (*Fig.5.5*).<sup>12</sup>

There was a correlation between being an intellectual and being keen on to publish magazines in the beginning of 20th century. A few of intellectuals were privileged enough to own a private printing facility. Due to the limitations in printing, some of them ended up going to Europe in order to seek the new equipments to publish high-standard periodicals.<sup>13</sup> Except for

**<sup>9</sup>** Akbulut, p.41-3.

<sup>10</sup> Jale Baysal, 'Harf Devrimi'nden Önce Ve Sonra Yayın Hayatı' in *Harf Devrimi'nin 50. Yılı Sempozyumu* (Ankara: Türk Tarih Kurumu Yayınları, 1991), p.67.

**<sup>11</sup>** Aslı Yapar Gönenç, "Türkiye'de Dergiciliğin Tarihsel Gelişimi," İstanbul Üniversitesi İletişim Fakültesi Hakemli Dergisi | İstanbul University Faculty Of Communication Journal 29 (2007): p.64 http://www.journals.istanbul.edu.tr/iuifd/article/view/1019010360/1019009599.

**<sup>12</sup>** Zafer Toprak, "Fikir Dergiciliğinin Yüz Yılı," in *Türkiye'de Dergiler Ansiklopediler (1849-1983)* (İstanbul: Gelişim Yayınları, 1984), p.17.

**<sup>13</sup>** Alpay Kabacalı, *Başlangıcından Günümüze Türkiye'de Matbaa, Basın ve Yayın* (İstanbul: Literatür Yayıncılık, 2000), p.108.

some of the well-known, high-circulated ones, there was no continuity in publishing magazine in the beginning of 20th century. Many of magazines vanished after a short-period publishing. Even there were many onevolume magazines. This was also the result of the pressure on media dictated by the Ottoman regime. Considering the practice of publishing and its ephemerality, it is possible to conclude that magazines were substantial devices to spread the voice of people and ideas in that period.

In terms of magazine printing, owing to the lack of craftsmen to create clichés for pictures, publishers used to buy clichés and related equipment from the foreign-rooted publishing houses. Later on, Turkish publishers commissioned some of the European printing houses to create suitable clichés for their content. Even though the quality of clichés was good, printers and publishers faced a problem in applying printing techniques because of unsuitable printing machines and materials such as ink and paper. Furthermore, a law was enacted in the late 19th century requiring the inspection of clichés and equipment coming from abroad. Because of these limitations, editors (or publishers) sometimes had to use unsuitable clichés for their articles.<sup>14</sup> Surprisingly, despite all the obstacles, it was also possible to encounter across good examples of magazine printing, as the period printers spent most of their time improving their printing facilities, rather than dealing with the restriction on media.

## Print explosion 15

After overthrowing of Sultan Abdülhamid II in 1908 and the restrictive era the printing activities as well as the announcement of the Second Constitutional Era,<sup>16</sup> the Young Turks<sup>17</sup> set the press free again and abolished the inspector committee. That is how an "explosion" in printing came about. This was also "a period<sup>18</sup> when the seeds of the modern Turkish press were planted in terms of capitalisation, professionalisation, ideological differentiation, and technical advance."<sup>19</sup> To understand the extent of the explosion, Ataman and Pekman give a snapshot of it:

<sup>14</sup> Ahmet İhsan Tokgöz, Matbuat Hatıralarım (İstanbul: İletişim Yayıncılık, 1993), p.156.

**<sup>15</sup>** The historian Orhan Koloğlu uses this term to explain the immense scale of a breakthrough, which was considered a boom in printing after the lift of autocratic ban on the press in 1908 by the overthrow of the Sultan. Cited in Bora Ataman and Cem Pekman, "A Champion of Printing Quality in the Ottoman Turkish Press of the Second Constitutional Period: Şehbal Journal." In *Historical Aspects of Printing and Publishing in Languages of the Middle East: Papers from the Symposium at the University of Leipzig, September 2008*, ed. by Geoffrey Roper (Netherlands: Brill, 2013): p.231-243.

**<sup>16</sup>** This occasion was the second attempt of announcing the constitutional monarchy in 1908 as a result of the Young Turks' revolution.

**<sup>17</sup>** "A member of an abortive reform movement in the Ottoman Empire, originally made up of exiles in Europe who advocated liberal reforms. The movement fell under the domination of young Turkish army officers of a nationalist bent, who wielded great influence in the government between 1908 and 1918." "Young Turk". In *Collins English Dictionary*, 2000.

**<sup>18</sup>** A period started in 1908 with the abolishment of inspection committee and the oppression on the press.

<sup>19</sup> Ataman & Pekman, p.231.



**Figure 5.6** 'Loosing the Censor'. *Kalem* newspaper, 11 February, 1909. Cartoon shows the struggle between the Ottoman officials and opponents, who either try to open or shut in the Press ban. Image source: National Library of Turkey.



Figure 5.6a 'Sans Souci' (Care free). *Kalem* newspaper, 29 June, 1911. Cartoon shows Sultan Abdulhamid II as caved and watching the crowd, who celebrates his overthrow and the announcement of Second Constitution. Image source: National Library of Turkey.



**Figure 5.7** The cover of Illustrated magazine *Şehbal*. 23 May, 1909. Image source: Atatürk Library.



**Figure 5.7a** An inside page of *Şehbal* magazine. 23 May, 1909. Image source: Atatürk Library.

The total number of periodicals published in the entire Ottoman Empire was only 120. However, following the declaration of freedom, in the first six weeks, over 200 appeared and within seven months 730 newspapers had applied for licences. In the following six years, 1600 periodicals were licensed, not to mention the unlicensed journals and newspapers.<sup>20</sup>

The rate of circulation also peaked for the first time in the history of Ottoman Turkish printing and publications. For example, newspapers and periodicals reached nearly five or six times higher than their past rates. The newspapers were sold on the black market and supplies ran out quickly.<sup>21</sup> In addition to the conventional broadsheet newspapers, satirical tabloid newspapers also entered their golden era also as a result of the victory of political opponents. This incidence inevitably created a significant cartoon and image tradition in newspapers that had never been seen before (*Fig.5.6*).<sup>22</sup> Thus, the publishing stage was once again given to newspapers and periodicals, after a favourable era for printing quality and book publishing. As a result of this liberation, periodicals in good quality came into existence. *Şehbal* magazine, as an equivalent of *L'Illustration* in Paris in excellence is a good example for that (*Fig.5.7*). However, the life of this boom in publications did not last for long because the war period<sup>23</sup> was at the door.

#### War period and republican years <sup>24</sup>

Due to the dramatic rise in printing in the Second Constitutional Era, the aggressiveness in spreading new ideologies, such as Nationalism, Modernism<sup>25</sup> was at peak in the history of the Empire. This awakening increased the tension and caused some unpleasant incidents, such the execution of officers in İstanbul streets.<sup>26</sup> One year after the boom, a new regulation was promulgated in 1909 in order to take the press under control and prevent these unpleasant events. As a result of this, the printing activities started to slow down and the number of printed items, especially

**<sup>20</sup>** Ibid, p.233.

**<sup>21</sup>** Ibid, p.233.

**<sup>22</sup>** For a comprehensive account on the role of image and press in that period, see: Palmira Johnson Brummett, *Image and Imperialism in the Ottoman Revolutionary Press*, *1908–1911* (United States: State University of New York Press, 2000).

**<sup>23</sup>** I called this period as 'war period' to refer a series wars starting with the Balkan Wars first in 1912 and continuing with the World War I in 1914 and the Turkish Independence War in 1919.

**<sup>24</sup>** There is no efficient literature from a printing point of view, particularly about this period. Even though a boom in printing had happened a couple of years before, the conditions of the wars seem to have interrupted the rise on the quality of printing, due to the lack of printing facilities, and paper supply.

**<sup>25</sup>** In addition to these Western-rooted ideologies within the Ottoman territory, four more concepts as a national slogan spread by the announcement of the Second Constitutional Era, which were: "Freedom, Equality, Justice and Brotherhood."

**<sup>26</sup>** Nurşen Mazıcı, "1930'a kadar basının durumu ve 1931 Matbuat Kanunu," *Ankara Üniversitesi* Türk İnkilap Tarihi Enstitüsü Atatürk Yolu Dergisi (1996): 131-154, doi:10.1501/tite\_0000000210, p.136.



**Figure 5.8** *Güleryüz* newspaper, 18 May, 1921. Image source: National Library of Turkey.



Figure 5.8a Güleryüz newspaper, 26 May, 1921. Image source: National Library of Turkey.

publications decreased within years. The objection of the opponents for the oppression on the press in 1913 made the situation worse and censor became tighter afterwards. Ironically, not a long time later, when the opponents came to power, they also applied the same censorship.<sup>27</sup>

A long period of wars with a great privation and struggle has started with the Balkan Wars in 1912 and continued throughout the World War I and the War of Turkish Independence. It should not be a surprise that the readers lost their interest in reading literature in that period<sup>28</sup> and the need for making patriotic propagandas via publications –especially newspapers- has become a vital issue. This tendency inevitably gained a significant momentum in the Independence War even though the press was divided into two fractions as supporters and non-supporters of the war. The printing houses in the mainland, Anatolia,<sup>29</sup> which were founded right away after the boom in printing in 1908, soon became the places where the independence supporters published their publications during the war. Also despite the oppression of the occupier forces -French, British and Italians-,<sup>30</sup> the Anatolian movement succeeded in spreading the idea of independence and tried to prevent the black propaganda by publishing newspapers with high circulation (*Fig.5.8*).<sup>31</sup>

In the war period, the circumstances regarding printing were worst in the history of Turkey and the need for decent printing facilities and paper supply was greater. But still, besides all these difficulties, it was a productive period even though the printing people were using every material they had to be able to print and transmit the idea of independence.<sup>32</sup> This kind of challenge must have paved the way for the implementation of the alphabet reform and inspired the people who used publications as a helping device for the change.

**30** Kabacalı, p.151. Lots of journalists sent to exile and many publications were closed down due to the strong political propaganda against the occupiers.

**32** Hıfzı Topuz, cited in Akçura, p.57. For a detailed account of the difficulties that an Anatolian newspaper (Öğüt) went through, see: Akçura, p.57-62.

<sup>27</sup> Ibid, p.137.

<sup>28</sup> Alpay Kabacalı, Başlangıcından Günümüze Türkiye'de Matbaa, Basın ve Yayın (İstanbul: Literatür Yayıncılı k, 2000), p.139.

**<sup>29</sup>** *Anatolia:* In Turkish *Anadolu*, also called *Asia Minor*, which is the peninsula that today constitutes the Asian portion of Turkey. Because of its location at the point where the continents of Asia and Europe meet, Anatolia was, from the beginning of civilization, a crossroad for numerous peoples migrating or conquering from either continent. [...] Anatolia may be defined in geographic terms as the area bounded to the north by the Black Sea, to the east and south by the Southeastern Taurus Mountains and the Mediterranean Sea, and to the west by the Aegean Sea and Sea of Marmara; culturally the area also includes the islands of the eastern Aegean Sea. "Anatolia". In *Encyclopædia Britannica* (contributors: John E. Woods, John Frederick Haldon, Donald Fyfe Easton, Seton H.F. Lloyd, Philo H.J. Houwink ten Cate and Dominique P.M. Collon), accessed April 2018. https://www.britannica.com/place/Anatolia

**<sup>31</sup>** Mazıcı, p.138. The first kind of this newspaper was 'İrade-i Milliye', published in the city called 'Sivas' where the independence movement was started. After that, another important newspaper started to be published in the new centre of independence movement, which is Ankara. The newspaper was called 'Hakimiyet-i Milliye' and reached a noteworthy readership during the National campaign. There were also many other newspapers, such as *Güleryüz, İleri* and *Öğüt*.

After the occupation years, the Treaty of Lausanne was signed between the Allies and the Ottoman Empire in 1923 and as a consequence, the new Turkish Republic was founded shortly afterwards. It was a one-nation republic as opposed to the multicultural Ottoman Empire. Thus, again, making propaganda was necessary to unite the nation and spread the agenda of the new regime. For this reason, the printing facilities and equipments used in the war period also started to be utilized for printing new materials of the newly founded Republic, such as bulletins, circulars and official documents.<sup>33</sup>

Though these attempts revived the printing activity, the inspection and censor on the press still continued in this period. The reason was although the new government was determined to raise the literacy rate and readership and put this aim primarily into its agenda, any dissenting voice could have damaged the authority of the new republic.<sup>34</sup> Also, due to being afraid of any chaos that may have started by the minority riots in the country, the government brought censorship again in 1925 and closed down many publications due their provocative content.<sup>35</sup> In contrast with the new censorship, the governmental publishing took an essential role in the printing sphere in the same year. It is possible to see many state publications to shape the society and textbooks regarding different disciplines such as law, science and technology to educate the new generation. While the newspapers, which also support the new Republic, became the voice of the government, magazines had the role of engaging the public with social and cultural aspects. This reality encouraged the people who were in favour of the new government to use magazines in order to shape the society in accordance with the government's modernisation agenda. It was achieved with the use of Western-look imagery and also with articles encouraging a Western life style.

In addition to all the activities, the great acceleration has come later with a milestone, which is the Latin alphabet reform. Although the idea of changing the script existed since the 19th century, it was also one of the main goals of the new Republic from the beginning. Therefore, they might have intentionally kept their enthusiasm for printing and its educational side in the early years to realize their goal and get a greater result by changing the script afterwards.

# 5.2. Effects of the reform on newspapers and magazines

There was no apparent division between the roles of publications used to implement the reform. However, broadsheet newspapers played a key role as noted in the literature:

**<sup>33</sup>** Akçura, p.73.

**<sup>34</sup>** Mazıcı explains the reasons and motivation of the regime to control the press in depth, p.138-39.

<sup>35</sup> Mazıcı, p.140.

	1.12.1928		2.12.1928		7.12.1928	
Newspaper	Printed	Sold	Printed	Sold	Printed	Sold
Cumhuriyet	11.500	9.000	12.000	9.650	7.000	5.730
Milliyet	10.000	8.500	10.000	8.620	8.000	5.250
İkdam*	4.000	2.320	8.000	5.440	5.000	3.120
Vakit	7.000	5.500	7.000	5.440	4.000	2.780
Son Saat	6.000	3.420	3.000	2.670	2.500	1.500
Akşam**	1.000	850	4.000	2.000	3.000	1.340

(\*) and (\*\*) The newspapers *İkdam* and *Akşam* were printed 50% and 75% less than their normal print number on 1 December 1928. This was because of the breakdown in their printing machines; it is not related to the alphabet change.

**Figure 5.9** Table prepared by the American Embassy in İstanbul to inform to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the US to show the circulation of newspapers on the implementation day and the afterwards. Source: Şimşir, p.226.

The owners of the newspapers, who were affected most, ordered new metal types and as the first cost of the reform, they consoled themselves with the tax exemption for new printing machines and equipments by the government and their rightful hope that the public will learn the new alphabet and buy their newspapers.<sup>36</sup>

Magazines, due to less frequent publication and lack of the government subsidies available to the newspapers, played a less significant part in implementing the reform. In some cases, circulation declined and some magazine publishers had to declare their closure. Newspaper circulation also declined because fewer people could read the Latin script. This important burden on publications eventually brought great financial strain. The demand on readers - being able to read a daily newspaper partially in the Latin alphabet - was especially ambitious:

> As foreseen, a significant fall on the newspapers' sale occurred. The circulation of newspapers decreased by the percentages of 25, 30 and 50. The newspapers that had less power are struggling. Readers are now not able to scan the papers as quickly as they do before. They read slowly and with difficulty. It is possible to come across a person who says that s/he prefers to scan a newspaper in French, rather than being able to read a Turkish newspaper in two hours. One of my friends who is a young teacher told me disappointedly that he lost the pleasure of reading.<sup>37</sup>

Indeed, a serious decrease in circulation occurred throughout the transition period. The decrease was up to 50 per cent according to the report and the table prepared by the American Embassy in İstanbul to inform to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the US (*Fig.5.9*).<sup>38</sup> Readers familiar with the French language preferred to read the French editions of Turkish newspapers, such as *Cumhuriyet* (Republic), *Milliyet* (Nationality), and *Akşam* (Evening), as also indicated in the quote above.<sup>39</sup> Newspapers even took some precautions to help prevent the loss of readers and low circulation. Not only the drop in sales but also the effort and cost of procuring printing equipment, including Latin types, put publications in a difficult situation economically. Eventually, at the end of the transition period, the government prepared a law for newspapers and magazines, containing decisions on subsidies and tax exemptions for buying printing tools and metal types from abroad. Although the amount that the publications had initially asked for was not granted, these measures partially helped

<sup>36</sup> An extract from the news published in *The Times* newspaper (7.12.1928), cited in Şimşir, p.257.
37 This extract was from a French newspaper called *Mercure de France*, cited in Şimşir, p.227.
38 Şimşir, p.226.

**<sup>39</sup>** Also to compare with the Turkish ones printed in Latin, unfortunately I could not find a copy of these editions in the archives/libraries of Turkey. When I did some research, it appeared that the copies exist only in the Library of Congress in Washington. Due to the financial restraints and also because of the focus of this study, I did not run after them. Gökhan Akçura, *Cumhuriyet Döneminde Türkiye Matbaacılık Tarihi* (İstanbul: YKY, 2012), p.81.

Newspaper	Demanded	Taken	
Cumhuriyet	10.000	2.250	
Milliyet	9.000	2.000	
Vakit	8.000	850	
İkdam	8.000	1.200	
Son Saat	7.500	800	
Akşam	7.500	1.100	
Karagöz	2.000	200	
Köroğlu	2.000	200	

Magazine	Demanded	Taken	
Haftalık Mecmua	500	100	
Resimli Gazete	500	100	
Resimli Ay	300	100	
Akbaba	400	100	
Papağan	400	100	
Milli Mecmua	300	200	
İçtihat	300	50	
Üniversite Mecmuası	500	250	

Figure 5.10 The amount of subsidies paid by Turkish government's for newspapers and magazines per month. Source: Şimşir, p.226.



**Figure 5.11** Advertisement showing a new model of Heidelberg printing press (5 April, 1929, *Cumhuriyet*). Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 5.11a** One page advertisement of representative, Burla Biraderler, who were selling types, printing press and printing tools (1 December, 1928, *İkdam*). Image source: The National Library of Turkey some of high-circulation newspapers to keep their businesses running *(Fig.5.10)*. Nevertheless, others, such as *Vakit* and *İkdam*, had to declare their closure after the reform.<sup>40</sup> It is not known who initially brought in the idea of supporting publications financially, but there were also some official inquiries from local newspapers during the transition period as we understand from the state documents. On 1 and 16 October, two provincial newspapers from the cities, Amasya and Sakarya, requested money from the government either as a loan or aid to be able to buy new Latin types and to continue to spread the new Republic's reforms successfully and introduce the new alphabet to the public.<sup>41</sup> They wrote these requests to the Press Directorate of the State because an individual named Cenap<sup>42</sup> wrote a letter to the government based on these requests, and advised the following measures to be taken for this cause:

- Transferring 200,000 Turkish liras to the budget of the Press Directorate and distributing this amount to the newspapers that the government supports.

- Tax exemption on metal types that will be imported from abroad for one year.

- Tax exemption on newsprint for one year.
- Free circulation of publications via post for one year.

In his letter, Cenap he also emphasised that these publications are vital to make the public read and to spread the government's and its political party's propaganda. He also warned that if no measures were taken, these publications would have little choice but to close down.<sup>43</sup> After the Minister of Interior, Şükrü Kaya, forwarded this letter to the government, these measures were accepted and put into practice as far as conditions allowed.

# 5.3. Purchase of metal type and printing presses

As put forward in the arguments of reformers, adopting Latin script brought access to the new printing technologies and this meant greater importation to align the latest developments with Europe. Certainly, this adaptation was realised as a long-term achievement due to the pace of economic recovery. However, it was still possible to see advertisements for advanced printing tools and machines suitable for the Latin script during and after the transition period (*Fig.5.11*). Unfortunately, these ads are one of the few sources of information about the type of equipment likely to have been used for publication printing<sup>44</sup> because it is not even

**<sup>40</sup>** Rekin Ertem, *Elifbeden Alfabeye: Türkiye'de harf ve yazı meselesi* (Çemberlitaş, İstanbul: Dergâh Yayınları, 1991).

**<sup>41</sup>** See the document: BCA, 30.10.0.0, 8559/83.547.16, 25 October 1928, "Gazeteler 1928 Aralık ayından itibaren yeni harflerle çıkacağından bazı gazetelere para yardımında bulunulacağı, hariçten gelecek malzemeden gümrük vergisi alınmayacağı ve ücretsiz olarak nakledileceği."

**<sup>42</sup>** Unfortunately his position in this state institution could not be identified despite the research on him. Also, because the surname law was not enacted yet in this period, it became harder to identify him with only a forename.

<sup>43</sup> Ibid. See the letters in Appendix 3 and 3A, p.351-2.

<sup>44</sup> In addition to ads, there is some information extracted from the memoirs of printers, but
known where 68 percent of newspapers were printed. In İstanbul, only 12 out of 56 'identified' newspapers had their own printing facilities, and the rest (44 newspapers) were printed in other publishing houses.<sup>45</sup> Furthermore, there is only a generalised knowledge on printing presses used by publishers during the reform period. Especially it is hard to divide the printing environment of newspapers and magazines in two categories as the situation of magazine printing is unknown due to a lack of studies. However, they must have benefited from the experience of newspapers' printing which played a leading role in the adoption of the new alphabet. Hence, they will not be elaborated on separately in this section. In terms of production, the important developments could be categorised as 1) type of printing press, 2) typesetting, and 3) supply of metal types.

# Type of printing press

Before and after the Turkish Republic, the printing scene was briefly as follows:

The first years of the examined era (1919), the printing machines were primitive. Typesetting was being done by hand. The power and speed of machines were limited. One or two newspapers, such as *Vakit*, had a rotary press. After the foundation of the Republic, the printing machines improved and hand composition was replaced by type compositor machines. Between the years of 1923 and 1933, the power of the printing press increased and rotary presses became widespread.<sup>46</sup>

The extract above does not name all the newspapers that owned a rotary press before the Republic; these were *Sabah, İkdam, Tanin* and *Tasvir-i Efkar.*<sup>47</sup> It is not known which newspaper had the rotary press first, but there is a statement regarding its arrival date, which is either 1908 or 1909, 62 years after its invention. It is also stressed that they were not powerful machines<sup>48</sup> probably because they were the early kinds of rotary press. During the transition period, the newspapers that did not have a rotary press started to buy those machines, and they purchased the latest versions. According to the newspaper announcement, these newspapers were *Cumhuriyet, Vakit* and *Son Saat,* who bought the machines from the German Frankenthal company and *Milliyet* who bought from the British Skot company.<sup>49</sup> According to an announcement in *Son Saat* newspaper on 7 May 1929, the colour rotary press they ordered was dated 1929 and there were

- 46 Kocabaşoğlu, p.108.
- **47** Ahmed Celaleddin Saraçoğlu, *Mütareke yıllarında İstanbul, Kitabevi Yayınları* (İstanbul 2009), p.365, cited in Akçura, p.223.
- **48** Cevat Fehmi Başkut, *Gazetecilik dersleri* (İstanbul: Sermet Matbaası, İstanbul 1967), p.67, cited in Akçura, p.227.
- 49 Son Saat, 7 May 1929.

this is unreliable and generalised information based on a person's memory, so it cannot be taken as fact.

**<sup>45</sup>** Uygur Kocabaşoğlu, "1919-1938 Dönemi Basınına Toplu Bir Bakış," in Yıllık 1981, Ankara Üniversitesi Siyasal Bilgiler Fakültesi (Ankara, 1981), p.107.



**Figure 5.12** The announcement about *Akşam*'s rotary press sale is at the bottom of the ads, along with the advertisement of other products, such as metal types from the Bauer Type Foundry, ink from Gebrüder Schmidt, and the Grafika for printing presses. (9 December 1928, *Akşam*). Image source: Atatürk Library

only four others in the world; one in the Netherlands, one in Poland and the other two in New York. The newspaper also claimed that even French newspapers ordered these presses after Turkish newspapers had done so. The arrival date of these presses is also mentioned as four months after the announcement. Within a couple of days, the newspaper also advertised its old printing presses and the new metal types in 10 and 12 pt that they brought from Germany, without mentioning any names.<sup>50</sup>

Another piece of information about the sale of a rotary press, which was for the newspaper *Akşam*, comes from an advertisement by a representative, Muhsin ve Münir Emin Kardeşler, (*Fig.5.12*). An anecdote from a newspaper article in the 20th anniversary edition of the newspaper reveals this sale.<sup>51</sup> Apart from that, the ad claims that many printing presses, tools and metal types were sold to printing houses by the representative. However, it is hard to determine who the customers were.<sup>52</sup> This obstacle is also valid for the new printing presses imported from Europe for the State Printing House. An announcement on 15 January gave this information without indicating the seller and the type of the machines.<sup>53</sup>

It could be concluded that the new printing machines, which are rotary presses, were ordered either during the transition period or right after the implementation of the reform as the announcements indicate. Thus, during the transition when they introduced the Latin content along with text in the Arabic script, they must have used the old technology that they had.<sup>54</sup> But after the official date for the implementation, we understand that the new printing presses were purchased either by the newspapers and the state. Apart from the printing machines, the details about how they managed to print in two scripts are unknown, but we do have the information related to the practice of typesetting in the transition period.<sup>55</sup>

# Typesetting

Until the reform, types were set by hand because there were no composition machines suitable for Ottoman Turkish.<sup>56</sup> However, it is known that there were two Linotype machines in İstanbul for Arabic typesetting. However,

**<sup>50</sup>** Akçura, p.227.

**<sup>51</sup>** Ibid, p.223.

<sup>52</sup> This is one of the problems with such sources of information.

<sup>53</sup> Milliyet, 15 January 1929, "Devlet Matbaası-Yeni makineler geliyor-Mürettip mektebi açıldı."

**<sup>54</sup>** As mentioned, it is hard to identify each of these presses due to the lack of literature and evidence. This subject needs a separate study and some 'detective work'.

**<sup>55</sup>** The only information about this comes from one of the printing history books: the typesetters had to learn the new alphabet first in order to print in Latin in the transition period. This situation necessitated a course for the typesetters, which will be pondered on in the next section.

**<sup>56</sup>** The statement of one of the typesetters, İbrahim Bilge, on the general picture of printing press in 1925, proves this point: 'The newspapers were being published by rotary press with hand composition. Because there was no type composition machine in the country at this time, all letters were set by hand and twenty-five typesetters were working in order to publish a four-page newspaper.' Akçura, *Cumhuriyet Döneminde Türkiye Matbaacılık Tarihi*, p.171.



**Figure 5.13** Advertisements of Monotype and Typograph (9 December 1928, *Akşam* - 1 April 1929, *Cumhuriyet*). Image source: The National Library of Turkey

according to the statement of one of the Linotype representatives, Reginald Orcutt, they had fallen into disuse and were well beyond repair.<sup>57</sup> There is a detailed account on these machines in Titus Nemeth's unpublished thesis 'Arabic type-making in the machine age: the influence of technology on the form of Arabic type', with some speculations and evidence about their arrival time.<sup>58</sup> The conclusive date for their arrival is defined as some time before the First World War. To add a different perspective on the issue, there is another statement by a Turkish journalist, Cevat Fehmi Başkut. According to Başkut, a linotype machine for Arabic typesetting was brought to a printing house called 'Cevdet Matbaası', in 1923.<sup>59</sup> Furthermore, another interesting statement on Arabic typesetting machines in Turkey belongs to a typesetter, Saim Erdoğmuş, who also claimed that he used this machine before the reform. In his statement, we learn that the tutor, who thought these machines, was also the representative of Linotype, Fevzi Bey, who is also mentioned in Orcutt's memoir. He also gives some details that the matrices were in 12- and 16-point sizes and the machines were only used for printing law and regulation books. He specifically points out that these machines were not given to the newspapers until the alphabet reform, because of the difficulty of learning the old script and typesetting on these machines, which had a very crowded keyboard to operate (around 400 letters).<sup>60</sup> The first newspaper to get a typesetting machine suitable for the new Turkish alphabet was Cumhuriyet, as can be confirmed in other sources as well. According to another printer's statement, the date for the new machines was 1930, one year after the implementation.<sup>61</sup>

Although we see advertisements by competitors during the transition period, such as Monotype and Typograph (*Fig.5.13*), there is no evidence to confirm that they were bought and used in newspaper printing. Considering the huge economic burden on newspapers, it is likely that this technology was not adopted immediately as in the case of *Cumhuriyet* newspaper. As the printer above claims, it may also be because the compositors would not be able to adapt well enough to setting the new Turkish letters in the short time in which the implementation took place (within four months from the announcement and nine months from the preparations). As a defence of this suggestion, it is possible to see the newspaper owners' act of buying new metal types from Europe as an initial choice. A newspaper article in *Milliyet* also supports this suggestion by stating that the alphabet reform led to a positive and improving effect for cutting new Turkish types. The article even claimed that, in a very short time, there would be no need for importation of types from

<sup>57</sup> Reginald Orcutt, Merchant of alphabets (London: Jarrolds Publishers, 1947), p.71

**<sup>58</sup>** Titus Nemeth, "Arabic Type-making in the machine age: the influence of technology on the form of Arabic type, 1908-1993" (PhD diss., Reading University, 2013), p.67-71.

**<sup>59</sup>** Cevat Fehmi Başkut's statement, cited in Akçura's book (*Türkiye Matbaacılık Tarihi*, 2012), p.228.

<sup>60</sup> The statement of the printer cited in Fuat Süreyya Oral, *Türk Basın Tarihi (1919-1965 Cumhuriyet Dönemi)*, 2nd volume (Ankara: Doğuş Ltd. Şirketi Matbaası, 1968), p.450.
61 Akçura, p.228.



Figure 5.14 News about the positive effect of the reform on Turkish type foundries (29 October 1928, *Milliyet*) Image source: Atatürk Library



the course for typesetters in the State Printing House (15 January 1929, Milliyet). Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 5.16 The course to teach the new alphabet to the members of the Press Directorate (20 August 1928, Milliyet). Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 5.17 The printing course in the State Printing House (10 March 1929, Milliyet). Image source: Atatürk Library

Europe (*Fig.5.14*). The statement of a typesetter, Aslan Tufan Yazman, on typesetting processes during the transition period supports this argument by stating that there were no typesetting machines such as Intertype and Linotype.<sup>62</sup> However, a news/announcement in *Milliyet (Fig.5.15)* (15 January 1929) on the State Printing House's newly arrived unnamed typesetting machines disproves this fact.<sup>63</sup> In the announcement, it is claimed that these typesetting machines were the biggest ones in Turkey thus far. So, we understand from this statement that there were some typesetting machines before the *Cumhuriyet*'s machines in 1930. It is likely because of the earliest newspaper advertisement on December 1928 and the use of typesetting machine by the state before, as mentioned earlier (*Fig.5.13*). It was also stated in the same news article that the building of the State Printing House was being extended because of these new machines and a course to train the typesetters in this house was established.

In general, the issue of typesetters who had to learn the new alphabet in a short time was one of the ambitious but essential tasks regarding the adoption. There is no comprehensive account of the issue apart from the testimonies of some typesetters and the news/announcements in newspapers about the courses to train these people. Nevertheless, it was apparent that there were many courses in different forms for typesetters in many printing houses within the newspapers or in governmental bodies (*Fig.5.16*). Apart from the courses for typesetters specifically, which included both teaching the new alphabet and how to set pages with the new letters, there were courses for all the staff aimed at teaching printing using the new letters in general (*Fig.5.17*).

The State Printing House opened an early course for all its employees, including typesetters and copy-editors as we learn from the news on 22 August, ten days after the new alphabet announcement. It was planned that they were to learn the alphabet with practice in a month. According to the report, thirty typesetters in the house were already able to work with the new letters; others were going to be able to accomplish this in two months. Governmental paper works and correspondences with other nations could necessitate being familiar with the Latin alphabet, so it seems natural that there were already experienced typesetters. In Ankara, Hakimiyet-i Milliye newspaper also started to run a course for its typesetters.<sup>64</sup> There was also news on the application of new Turkish letters in the Turkish Press Society for all the staff. Lectures were conducted three days a week for a few hours and the person giving these lectures was Hakkı Tarık Bey, the owner of the Vakit newspaper and a member of parliament. It is not surprising that the owners of the newspapers, who were mainly the members of parliament, were also the ones who gave these initial lessons in how to set types in the new script and letters because of their identity as being the men of letters and their involvement in the reform process.

**<sup>62</sup>** Akçura, p.88.

<sup>63 &</sup>quot;Devlet Matbaası-Yeni makineler geliyor-Mürettip mektebi açıldı," *Milliyet*, 15 January 1929.64 *Cumhuriyet*, 22 August 1928.

An extract from a memoir of typesetter, Faik Ülgen, reveals some details about this aspect:

When the newspaper started to integrate the content in new letters, [the owner of the newspaper] Necmettin Sadık [Sadak] [who is also an MP] ordered a blackboard to teach the new script and the alphabet to us every day. As I know French letters a little bit, it became easy to learn the new Latin [Turkish] letters. I never forget that I set the first headline of the newspaper with the new letters. I received a "well-done!" from Necmettin Sadık [Sadak] as I set it without any mistakes. As people from the period know, it was a rare and unusual praise that could be expected from him.<sup>65</sup>

To conclude from all the evidence above, partially sharing content using the new letters could be seen as preparation and prudence to make all typesetters ready for the full adoption by training the typesetters during the transition period. It is apparent that the number of typesetters who were already familiar with the Latin script and quickly learned the new alphabet was sufficient to introduce Latin content in small amounts throughout the transition.

The statements of typesetters showed that these people either already knew French or worked setting publications in French. For instance, the journalist and typesetter Aslan Tufan [Yazman] stated that he worked in *Le Levant* newspaper before the reform and this prepared him for learning the new letters quickly. Moreover, he started to set the content according to the İstanbul accent, different from authors'/columnists' accents and their preferences, by applying the orthographic rules prepared by the important figures of the reform, Falih Rıfkı [Atay] and Necmettin Sadık [Sadak]. As well as the newspaper owners and MPs, these typesetters also taught typesetting courses established within the transition-period newspapers.<sup>66</sup>

# Supply of metal types

During the transition period, some of the European type foundries were being advertised with the name of their Turkish representatives in newspapers. These foundries were mostly German, such as Berthold, Schelter & Giesecke, and Bauersche Giesserei (or Bauer Type Foundry) *(Fig.5.18).* Despite the German influence and the dominance in the type purchases, it was also possible to see French type foundries, such as Deberny and Peignot.<sup>67</sup> Apart from *İkdam*, it is not known whether other newspapers bought metal types from these foundries.<sup>68</sup> This is because only *İkdam* announced the source of its new types on the first day of

**66** Ibid, p.88-90.

<sup>65</sup> Faik Ülgen's article in Akşam (26 September 1960), cited in Akçura, p.105.

**<sup>67</sup>** For the type foundry's advertisement of the new metal types, see the ABC primer in Atatürk Library Online Archive and Sources: *Yeni Türk Alfabesi* or *Halk Alfabesi*, (İstanbul: Cumhuriyet Matbaası, 1928).

**<sup>68</sup>** Finding out whether newspapers used these types requires a further investigation and study to identify every individual typeface in each newspaper.



**Figure 5.18** Advertisement of German Schelter Type Foundry (28 September 1928, *Cumhuriyet*). Image source: The National Library of Turkey

**Figure 5.18a** Advertisements of German type foundries, Berthold and Bauersche Giesserei (Bauer Type Foundry). Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 5.19** Announcement of the type foundry where the metal types of *İkdam* were provided from (1 December 1928, *İkdam*). Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 5.20** News about new types that imported from Europe to use in the State Printing House. (21 October 1928, *Milliyet*). Image source: Atatürk Library

the implementation (*Fig.5.19*). Due to the lack of official documents and research on the issue, it is hard to determine which publications bought their metal types from which type foundries. Even the statements of the newspaper owners could not give any clue about the source of metal types:

The old types that we had previously became worthless immediately. On the other hand, we had to provide the new types [suitable for the new letters] with a chunk of money. We did not have the experience to decide which kind of metal types would suit the [new] Turkish alphabet best. We bought this, and it didn't suit, but we said we need that, still it was not good; then we said we need those ones too. In short, we bought and bought...<sup>69</sup>

Newspapers were not the only ones to bring metal types from Europe. The State Printing House also imported types weighing 4000 kilos; these types were intended for the purpose of printing books according to the announcements in newspapers (Fig.5.20). In other news, it was also stated that the new types and Monotype machines for the house were soon to be ordered.<sup>70</sup> Unfortunately, there is no name or evidence about the suppliers. Despite the lack of record and literature in Turkey about these purchases, Klimis Mastoridis mentions in his article that the Greek type foundry, Karpathakis was the main supplier of the Turkish printing market at the time of the alphabet reform: "The printers of the time would talk about the way ships used to leave in rows from Piraeus loaded with printing types bound for Turkey."<sup>71</sup> In 1929, a decree signed by Atatürk for the printing house of the Prime Ministry was about a sale of metal types and printing tools from the Turkish representative of the Heidelberg factory, Burla Biraderler, in İstanbul.<sup>72</sup> However, as we know from the literature and the news/announcements, metal types were not solely imported from abroad, but also produced within the country.

One of the institutions to produce types was the State Printing House, despite its order for metal types and typesetting machines from Europe. It is known that the very first types after the alphabet announcement were cut and used to print the initial ABC primers.<sup>73</sup> A news article published on 22 August 1928 in *Cumhuriyet* supports this information by stating that the metal types that belonged to the State Printing house were produced and supplied in the house.<sup>74</sup> We also learn from an article that one of the wellknown calligraphers, Halim Efendi, designed the new types for the printing

**<sup>69</sup>** Quote is extracted from the Yunus Nadi [Abalıoğlu]'s article 'Fikir Hayatı' in *Cumhuriyet*, 3 April 1929, cited in Akçura, p.81.

<sup>70</sup> Cumhuriyet, 22 August 1928, cited in İlhan, p.194.

**<sup>71</sup>** Klimis Mastoridis, *Cutting and casting Greek types in the nineteenth and twentieth century* (Gutenberg Jahrbuch, 2006), p.18, 42. Accessed on February 2018. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/238664993\_Cutting\_and\_casting\_Greek\_types\_in\_the\_nineteenth\_and\_twentieth\_century

<sup>72</sup> Cumhuriyet, p.200.

**<sup>73</sup>** Kabacalı, p.172.

<sup>74</sup> Cumhuriyet, 22 August 1929.

## 24 punto N 45 ISTANBUL 1928 Darülfünun hukuk fakültesinde doktora sınıfı imtihan-

larına bu ğün başlanmıştır . 16 punto M 40

ISTANBUL 1928

Darülfünun hukuk fakültesinde doktora sınıfı imtihanlarına bu ğün başlanmıştır. Bu sene imtihanlara yalnız bir müdavim iştirak etmektedir.

12 punto 39 31 ISTANBUL 1928 Darülfünun hukuk fakültesinde doktora sınıfı imtihanlarına bu ğün başlanmıştır. Bu sene imtihanlara-

yalmız bir müdavim iştirak etmektedir. 10 punto AS 21

#### ISTANBUL 1928

Darülfünun hukuk fakültesinde doktora sınıfı imti-hanlarına bu ğün başlanmıştır. Bu sene imtihanlara-yahnz bir müdavim iştirak etmektedir.

12 punto M 29 ISTANBUL 1928

Darülfünun lukuk fakültesinde doktora sınıfi imti-hunlarına buğun başlanmıştır. Bu sene imtihanlara ya-lınz bir müdavim iştirak etmektedir.

Figure 5.21 Type examples attached to the official document: BCA, 30.10.0.0, 83.548.2, 'Kıbrıs Lefkoşa'da çıkan Söz gazetesine matbaa harfleri gönderildiği' (26 February 1929).

house of the Ministry of Education.<sup>75</sup> However, no further detail was given in these two accounts. An announcement was also made in *Cumhuriyet* about encouraging the type foundries, which had produced Arabic metal types before to now produce the new letters [types] now, with the help of the Press Directorate by considering the local needs and not buying from abroad. As a result of this decision, it is reported that samples from these type foundries were to be requested, but there is no more information on why they were being asked.<sup>76</sup>

In addition to the active role of the state in supplying the new metal types appropriately prepared for the new letters and printing teaching materials with the new metal types in different departments, it was also in the prime position to be consulted and asked to provide new type stocks by the Turkish communities abroad. For instance, a state document reveals that one of the Turkish newspapers, Söz, from Cyprus, asked for two cases of types in different sizes from the state. In another document, related to this request, an order was given by the state for making a deal with an unnamed representative in İstanbul, who was presumably selling new Latin types, in order to send the necessary types to this newspaper. There is also an attached type specimen showing the requested types; the metal types were unnamed, however, but numbered (Fig.5.21). Although the newspaper received the requested types from the representative, types in bigger points for headlines and headings were missing. So the correspondence continued between the state officers and the newspaper until the purchase was completed.<sup>77</sup> This kind of a relationship was not the only one from this period; we also see in the state documents that another two Turkish newspapers in Bulgaria also requested newspaper types from the state.78

It should be remembered that all the imported types were intended for use after the implementation of the reform (1 December 1928) because during the transition, the existing Latin types, which were mostly used for French publications from the time of the Ottoman Empire, were being used. However, it is impossible to determine the amount of existing Latin types that were used in foreign publications before and that were utilised later temporarily in the transition period.<sup>79</sup>

# 5.4. Role of visuals in the implementation of the reform

Although it was a script/alphabet reform, using visuals effectively aided the

**<sup>75</sup>** Melike Taşçıoğlu and Şinasi Acar, "Bir Hattatın Dönüşümü: Alfabe Devrimi'nin Halim Efendi'nin Çalışmaları Üzerinden İncelenmesi," *Osmanlı Bilimi Araştırmaları 15*, no. 2 (2014): p.82.

<sup>76</sup> Cumhuriyet, 20 August 1928.

<sup>77</sup> BCA, 30.10.0.0, 83.548.2, 'Kıbrıs Lefkoşa'da çıkan Söz gazetesine matbaa harfleri gönderildiği' (26 February 1929).

**<sup>78</sup>** BCA, 30.10.0.0, 239.617.3, 'Bulgaristan'ın Yanbolu kasabasında çıkan Yenilik isimli gazeteye yardım için matbaa harflerinin gönderilmesine izin verildiği (1 April 1929).

**<sup>79</sup>** Because of the lack of literature, this job can only be realised by identifying typefaces used in both early publications in Latin and in transition-period publications.

promotion of the reform and played a substantial role in creating a positive impression to encourage people to learn the new alphabet. This was mostly achieved by publishing photographs and cartoons in newspapers.<sup>80</sup> As the integration of more photographs in broadsheets and tabloids is mentioned in further chapters, cartoons – another significant tool, used to reinforce a negative perception of the old script – and their use in broadsheets and tabloids are discussed here before the typographic analysis of publications. However, before that, sharing a brief account on publishing images in publications both in the Ottoman and Republican years and on whether there was a limitation imposed by religion will be beneficial to eliminate questions that might arise in minds.

By looking at the publications from the late Ottoman period (late 19th and early 20th century) and at European publications at that time, it is possible to say that there was no significant difference considering westernisation and publishing the image of human openly. Although human depiction is a controversial issue in Islam, the wide use of human depiction and even the modern woman image in the Ottoman-Turkish printed media in the last century of the Empire was not an unusual practice. It can be said that the class or group which practised the traditional art (such as illumination, calligraphy etc.) was reserved and more conservative and religious compared with the class or group which printed and published newspapers and magazines at that time. Also because of the Tanzimat reforms which had opened the path for westernisation, there was a tendency among journalists and media people to admire European ideals and to introduce printing/media technologies. So there was a close watch on the printing developments in Europe, and this situation played an important role in the production of illustrated publications and magazines despite the drawback of image issue<sup>81</sup> in Islam. Moreover, thanks to the minorities living and

**<sup>80</sup>** In magazines, none of these visuals appeared to promote the reform. Instead, there was an increase in the use of images, including pictures and illustrations. The reason for integrating/ publishing more visuals was strengthening the tie with readers who may have been too bored with the reading trials because of the new letters. More visuals were added simply to attract readers. For more about the use of images in magazines, see: p. 287, 291-95..

<sup>81</sup> Image issue in Islam: Apart from the anecdote mentioned above, it is important to note that the understanding of image and its variations in the Islamic culture was not always very strict. Also it should not be forgotten that even though the image of people was not depicted on architectural structures as in Christianity, it found a place for itself mostly in books. So, apart from the Islamic scholars' scientific books/studies (especially books on medical or medicine), it is not surprising that there was a common traditional art in the Islamic world (mainly Persian and Ottoman), which is called 'miniature', that was the action of depicting important historical and also imperial occasions and events in order to make a visual record. In these depictions, it is possible to see people as pictured -even the prophet himself, though with a covered face-, besides the depicted animals and plants. From the book of İpşiroğlu, the basis for the ban and the journey of image in Islam in time could be summarized though there is no obvious and direct mention of banning image in Quran, as in Torah. There is a statement about the ban on creating all kind of idols or god icons. In the first years of Islam, idolatry also meant 'image', so the image was prohibited indirectly. Being strict about this matter was important in those years due to the mission to create a common acceptance on the existence of God and the belief on his being the only creator. After a certain period, an interpretation appeared that the non-living things/objects could be illuminated/illustrated. Then, in the late Abbasid period, known as 'Bagdat school', illumination art called 'miniature' appeared for the first time and remained as an

using printing presses actively in the Empire, getting familiar with the new printing technologies became possible. Moreover, the Ottoman-Turks were not against the use of image as the Ottoman Sultans were pleased to hire painters in order to have their self-portraits, as in the case of Italian painter, Bellini, who was hired by Mehmed the Conqueror. Turkish painters were present in the early 20th centuries and even they had their own institution called *Ottoman Painters Society* and its magazine. Also, publishing books with image was not forbidden, as İbrahim Müteferrika, who initiated printing in Ottoman-Turkish, published a book called *Tarih-i Hindi-i Garbi* with full of illustrations and human depictions.

#### 5.4.1. Cartoons: the tool for the condemnation of Arabic letters

Cartoons are, by their very nature, designed to confound the dimensions of time, space, language, and perceived reality. The effect of a cartoon is dependent both upon its invoking a perceived "reality" and upon its subsequently breaking the boundaries of that perception. That is, cartoons are expected to alter reality, radically or subtly, in ways which are both familiar and startling. To do so, cartoons employ tropes that are themselves caricatures of character, dress, aspect, setting, and situation. The cartoon mocks the attempt to bound signifier and signified; it serves as a mediator, for the viewer/reader, between chaos and culture, between the old and the new order.<sup>82</sup>

While newspapers were the helping devices of the reformers, cartoons in publications were also efficient and crucial tools to convey the mission and the message of the reform using soft power, as Brummett has indicated in the quote above. Although an introduction to these reform-period cartoons was given in the tabloids section, the quantity of cartoons in that context formed only a small part of the examples from this period. Here, in this section, some of the cartoons concerning the reform are collected from various publications, as this is a unique opportunity to analyse the visual rhetoric<sup>83</sup> in these helping tools and to show how the reform was promoted in publications using the power of image. Besides some of the cartoons from the analysed publications, such as *Cumhuriyet, Akşam, Milliyet, Köroğlu* and *Karagöz*, others were collected from the two satirical publications from the reform period, *Akbaba* and *Cem*. While not every cartoon was signed by

art form in the Ottoman Empire years. Despite the interruption in the image tradition within the Islamic societies, there was a continuation in the miniature art that was shaped by different cultures (Persian, Turkish etc); for more information on the issue, see Mazhar Ş. İpşiroğlu, *İslamda Resim Yasağı ve Sonuçları* (The image ban in Islam and its consequences) (İstanbul: Yapı Kredi Yayınları, 2018), p.9-11.

**<sup>82</sup>** Palmira Johnson Brummett, *Image and Imperialism in the Ottoman Revolutionary Press*, *1908–1911* (Albany: State University of New York Press, 2000), p.18–19.

**<sup>83</sup>** For a detailed account on visual rhetoric, see: Sonja K. Foss, "Theory of visual rhetoric," *Handbook of visual communication: Theory, methods, and media* (2005): p.141–152; for information about reading images, see: Gunther Kress and Theo van Leeuwen, *Reading Images: The Grammar of Visual Design* (New York: Routledge, 1996).





**Figure 5.22** Cartoons showing grandchildren teaching the new alphabet to their grandparents. (Left) *Köroğlu*, 29 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey. (Above) *Cem*, 12 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

its artist, most of them were created by the prominent cartoonists from the period. The identified names in the examined cartoons in this section are Cemil Cem, Ramiz Gökçe, Cemal Nadir, Mahmud Arif and Klişeci Rıza.

Before the Republic - which was founded in 1923 - the country had a good reputation for producing cartoons. The very first humour magazine in Turkish "Diyojen" was published in 1870 and others followed this magazine despite the interruptions and bans caused by the Ottoman Empire. As mentioned earlier,<sup>84</sup> the golden era for cartoons and satirical magazines in the country came right after the establishment of the Second Constitution Era in 1908.<sup>85</sup> Even though the subjects of these cartoons were different from the reform period cartoons, they helped to create a strong cartoon culture and tradition whose effect lasted and was felt after the Republican Era. Both in the time of the Ottoman Empire and the new Republic, because the majority of the population was illiterate, it was vital to create cartoons that did not need written explanation or captions to aid the interpretation of the image and given message. Also because of that, the images - the way they were presented and what they represented - were powerful and sensational and not so complicated so as not to cause misunderstandings. Despite the intention of the reformers to cut the historical and cultural connection with the Empire, shared knowledge and culture among the readers were important variables to be able to perceive and interpret the reform cartoons. The accumulation of meaning from this legacy must have encouraged reformers to use this powerful tool.

In general, it is possible to separate the cartoons in newspapers and magazines according to their subjects and into two main categories – the transition and post-reform periods. Before revealing these cartoons, it should be noted that the most of the propagandist cartoons were published during the transition period, when the publications were still trying to convince the public about the new alphabet as well as demonising the old one. To achieve this, two main approaches were used to spread the ideology of the reform among readers via cartoons:

1) Direct messages to convince the public about the benefits of the alphabet reform and encourage them to learn the new alphabet.

2) Condemning the Arabic letters by personification (illustrating them as a person or an object) or by using metaphors, associating them with certain notions, such as backwardness and the Middle Eastern culture that the reformers wanted to leave behind and not to be associated with.

Regarding the first approach, some of the examples were shared in the

**<sup>84</sup>** See the section 'Print explosion' in 5.1. Historical role of Turkish newspapers and magazines, p.127.

**<sup>85</sup>** For a good and comprehensive account on the role of image and press in that period, see: Palmira Johnson Brummett, *Image and Imperialism in the Ottoman Revolutionary Press*, 1908–1911 (United States: State University of New York Press, 2000).





Figure 5.23 Cartoons showing elder people buying a student ticket (Left) and talking about going to Nation's schools (Right).*Cumhuriyet*, 30-31 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library.





**Figure 5.24** The use of sun metaphor to represent the new Turkish letters.(Left) *Akbaba*, 30 August 1928.(Right) *Karagöz*, 1 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 5.25** The use of light metaphor against the candle, which represents the old letters. *Cumhuriyet*, 24 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

tabloids, as these publications mostly published cartoons on this matter.<sup>86</sup> This direct approach was also present in the broadsheet newspapers, but they did not publish as many cartoons using the second approach. There were two main messages behind the cartoons that passed a direct message. One was explaining the benefits of the reform, aiming to create awareness about being literate by associating knowing how to read with being an enlightened individual. The other was the idealisation of learning the new alphabet by the public, from children to the elderly. So, showing these people learning the new alphabet had to be encouraging and convincing. In particular, picturing grandchildren teaching the new alphabet to their grandparents was one of the most commonly used approaches (*Fig.5.22*). Along with this, showing the public attending the Nation's schools was another way of promoting the reform (*Fig.5.23*).<sup>87</sup>

As cited in Elisabeth El Refaie's article, the art historian E. H. Gombrich argues that metaphor is a common and expected device in political cartoons: it is one of the main "weapons" in the "cartoonist's armoury".88 That is why, metaphors were the most important characteristic of the reform cartoons, especially in the ones where the Arabic script and letters were demonised. Among the selected cartoons, it is possible to see many different metaphors that were used with their counters. One was the use of the sun - with 'The new Turkish letters" written on it - rising up from the horizon, to represent the new alphabet and association with the enlightenment and the new Republican era (Fig.5.24). In these cartoons, Arabic letters are also shown as either overrun or dead, buried with a gravestone. Similar to the sun metaphor, use of the light as representing the new alphabet can be seen in the cartoon that illustrates the new letters as a man -but also as a metaphor for light - that blows out the old-fashioned candle, which represents the old letters (*Fig.5.25*). The captions in two scripts were placed above and below the cartoon states: "The light of the new Turkish letters blew out the Arabic letters' candle." Other metaphors were the camel and the automobile. As can be seen in Figure 5.26, while the camel was created with Arabic letters, the car was partially formed with the new Latin letters, moving quickly and leaving the camel behind in the smoke. The caption placed above states: "Abandoning the Arabic letters and adopting the Turkish letters is like dismounting from the camel and getting into a car." Even the choice of words in this caption shows that

**<sup>86</sup>** For some of these cartoons, see Chapter 7 'Illustrative tabloid newspapers: visual propagandist', p.269-73.

**<sup>87</sup>** We cannot know for sure what the intentions of cartoons published in these publications were or whether there were multiple layers in their interpretation. On the other hand, the supportive content by these illustrative newspapers for the adoption of the new alphabet supports the idea that they were definitely in favor of the reform and that is why, it is most likely that there were no sarcasm or irony about the awkward situations that the reform created, such as picturing an old lady while asking a student ticket at the counter in Figure 5.23. Also, as mentioned in the illustrative tabloids part (Chapter 7), the satirical publications had not only a sarcastic approach or mission, but also a didactical one.

**<sup>88</sup>** Cited in El Refaie, Elisabeth. "Understanding visual metaphor: The example of newspaper cartoons." *Visual communication 2*, no. 1 (2003): 75–95.



**Figure 5.26** The metaphors 'camel' and 'car' to compare the old and the new alphabet. *Cumhuriyet*, 30 November 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.



**Figure 5.27** The chain metaphor to represent the imprisonment because of the old letters. *Akbaba*, 29 November 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library





**Figure 5.28** The association of the old and the new letters with the old and the new year (Left). *Cem*, 3 January 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library

**Figure 5.29** The association of the old and the new letters with the old and the new year (Above). *Milliyet*, 1 January 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 5.30 The hanged old letters. *Cem*, 12 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

the old letters were not seen as Ottoman-Turkish, but Arabic, and the new letters, despite their Latin source, were seen as solely Turkish and not even identified as new, as mentioned on some other occasions. The last unusual metaphor was a chain formed of Arabic letters, as in Figure 5.27. An enslaved man breaking the Arabic letter chain was illustrated in this cartoon, which celebrates the implementation day for the publications by saying that "The victory of 1 December: Turks liberated from the chain of Arabic letters" (1 December 1928).

Apart from metaphors, associations and personifications were applied frequently in the creation of cartoons. Because of the date of the implementation day, which was one month before the new year and the opening of the Nation's schools (which opened on the first day of the new year), the new and the old year association was made in some cartoons. Within this context, an old man carrying the old letters represents the old year and a child with many new ABC books represents the New Year – as illustrated in (*Fig.5.28*), for example. A similar approach was taken in another cartoon, which also shows a man carrying the old letters, representing the old year, while a woman sitting on a globe surrounded by the new letters represents the New Year (*Fig.5.29*).<sup>89</sup>

Apart from this, another common practice was the personification of the old letters alongside such associations. In some cartoons, the old letters were associated with death. For this reason, it is possible to encounter cartoons showing the old letters hanged/executed one by one (Fig.5.30) with a caption saying "The execution of the Arabic and Persian gang that pressured Turkish knowledge for centuries"; another shows the old letters placed in a coffin as a skeleton shouting: "The ones who love me shall come after me" (Fig.5.31). Another attempt at personification was apparent in a cartoon showing an old-letter figure running after the displaced Sultanate and abolished Caliphate pictured on the old-fashioned ox-driven cart (*Fig.5.32*). The personified letter, saying "I can't stay here, take me with you too", is also running away from the new Turkey shown as the sun on the horizon. In another example, a person created with the old letters is shown as unwanted and is being kicked by another person created with the new letters (Fig.5.33). One of the most representative and well-known reform cartoons also applied this method. The personified letters, wearing the oldfashioned and now-discarded hat, the fez, from the Ottoman period, were shown as migrating in an Islamic way called "Hejira" (Hicret in Turkish) (Fig.5.34).

Personifying the Arabic letters was a clever solution to flesh out the reform propaganda that resulted in the most striking and powerful images among a range of other cartoons. Because of these images and the successful

**<sup>89</sup>** The image of modern woman was not usual in that period, as she represents the new, so modernity and civilization (as the leading woman figure in the painting of Delacroix, 'Liberty') that the new Republic promotes as important concepts to wish public embrace. Considering the reformers' ideological tie with the Enlightment idea and the French Revolution, it is understandable why they chose a woman figure to represent the 'New Year'.



**Figure 5.31** The cartoon showing a skeleton formed by the old letters, *Cem*, 12 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 5.32** The old letter is running to catch the displaced Sultanate and the abolished caliphate. *Köroğlu*, 12 September 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey.



**Figure 5.33** Latin letters kick Arabic letters, *Akbaba*, 13 August 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 5.34 The migration of Arabic letters. Aksam, 1 December 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.

metaphors and associations, these cartoons could be labelled as efficient and essential tools for spreading the reform ideology among the readers and the public to encourage its acceptance, supporting the substantial and explicit help provided by the publications.

To trace this great alteration, the analysis is presented using three different publications: 1) broadsheet newspapers, 2) tabloids, and 3) magazines. Before discussing the typographic and design-related changes on publications due to the reform, their particular contributions in the adoption of the new alphabet are mentioned briefly.



**Figure 6.1** A cartoon showing vanguards to represent two publications (first row: *Milliyet* and second row: *Cem*) in the alphabet rally (*Cem*, 12 December 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library.

# **Chapter 6:** Broadsheet newspapers: the primary helping devices of reformers

"The change in the appearance of newspapers  $[\ldots]$  tells us a great deal about the changes in the society."  $^{\!\!\!^1}$ 

At the beginning of 1928, before the public announcements about the adoption of a new alphabet, some newspapers introduced the idea. This was in partly because of the positions newspapermen held in that period. Most of the editors in chief were the members of the parliament,<sup>2</sup> and were likely to have heard the initial arguments in government departments before the official announcement.<sup>3</sup> As a result, they became the first supporters of this new revolution and were the first people the reformers, such as, Atatürk and İsmet İnönü, sought help from.

Newspapers were known by many names based on to their leading role in teaching. The prime minister called newspapers 'mobile schools' when commenting on the scenes of the public reading in cities.<sup>4</sup> Furthermore, newspapermen likened their role to 'vanguards' as they were extending frontiers (*Fig.6.1*) or 'cavalry' to point out their vigorous and substantial contribution. A columnist of *Cumhuriyet* newspaper, Abidin Daver, emphasised this role on the first day of the implementation on 1 December 1928:

> Among the people who created, edited and especially set this newspaper, there were people who did not even recognise the Latin letters until the last three months. We, typesetters particularly, worked very hard and learned, and joined the frontiers in this alphabet mobilisation as cavalries.<sup>5</sup>

Calling the media 'a weapon of the Alphabet reform' was another salient example.<sup>6</sup> Newspapermen and owners of newspapers did not only support the reform because of cultural and literacy concerns, but also because of the practical side of the profession because if this change could be implemented successfully, there would be two important contributions. First, newspapers would be easily printed at speed, compared to the difficulties encountered in using Arabic letters, and eventually publications would gain a European look and quality, which was a long-lasting dream of the newspapermen:

<sup>1</sup> Harold Evans and Edwin F. Taylor. *Editing and Design: A Five-Volume Manual of English, Typography, and Layout.* 5 vol (New York: Heinemann [for] the National Council for the Training of Journalists, 1972-1978, 1973), p.23.

**<sup>2</sup>** To mention some of those prominent newspapermen, Yunus Nadi [Abalıoğlu] of *Cumhuriyet*, Celal Nuri of *İkdam*, Falih Rıfkı [Atay] of *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* and Mahmut Nedim [Soydan] of *Akşam*, Necmettin Sadık [Sadak] of *Milliyet* were all Members of the Parliament. For the names of MPs in detail, see: Nalan Ova, "Harf İnkilabı ve Türk Basını (1928-1929): Vakit, İkdam ve Hakimiyet-i Milliye Örnekleri" (MA diss., Ankara, 2005), p.84.

**<sup>3</sup>** In fact, these newspaper-related discussions were not the first. The subject had been discussed since the beginning of 1920 and gained a momentum in 1926 with the Bakü conference on the adoption of the Latin alphabet in the region.

<sup>4</sup> For the statement of İnönü in Cumhuriyet newspaper (28 March 1930), see: Nalan Ova, p.97.

<sup>5</sup> Abidin Daver, 'Bir Harika', *Cumhuriyet*, December 3, 1928.

<sup>6</sup> İhdam newspaper (7 April 1929), in Nalan Ova, p.73.

The newspaper, *İkdam*, claimed that at least one year later, the Turkish newspapers will be printed as beautiful as French newspapers because of the new letters. A couple days later, the newspaper also reported that the Turkish newspapers will be published even more beautifully than European newspapers (24.9.1928- 29.9.1928).<sup>7</sup>

Alongside this goal, the import of the latest printing technologies of Europe would become possible.<sup>8</sup> Secondly, in relation to this innovation, there would be no obstacle to printing newspapers in higher numbers and a sharp rise in circulation could therefore occur. Teaching an easy-to-learn alphabet to every individual in the country – reversing the dramatically low level of literacy<sup>9</sup> – would also be instrumental in creating a higher demand for publications.<sup>10</sup> Because they believed that after teaching the new alphabet to the illiterate people, a boom in publishing is likely due to the demand for reading materials, though this did not happen in the short term. Within two decades, a progression in publishing became possible.<sup>11</sup>

Newspapers were indeed rigorous in their support and determined to introduce the Latin alphabet to the public. Even before the official announcement on 10 August 1928, Milliyet published two small articles in Latin on 2 June to test and show the appearance of a Turkish-Latin text, and became the first paper to publish an alphabet table on 2 August, one week before the reformers. It is certain that the newspaper staff achieved this by using their own judgement and existing experience with French publications. So, compared to the state version, there were naturally many mistakes and differences in orthography. Another paper, *Cumhuriyet*, was also enthusiastic and quick to publish an alphabet table, announcing it in the paper on 7 and 8 August. After the proclamation, the rest of the major newspapers started to publish alphabet lessons regularly in their columns, a practice that lasted until the full adoption of Latin letters on 1 December, accompanied by ABC primers.<sup>12</sup> In addition to the lessons - and unlike the primers - they published reading articles for practice everyday. After the foundation of the public schools for teaching the new alphabet in January 1929, the newspapers continued to support education in this way.<sup>13</sup> A columnist, Ali Naci [Karacan] in İhdam, later claimed that newspapers were

<sup>7</sup> Ayla Acar, 'Türkiye'de Latin Alfabesine Geçiş Süreci ve Gazeteler', *İstanbul Üniversitesi İletişim Fakültesi Dergisi* 41 (2011): 16, http://kisi.deu.edu.tr//yilmaz.ahmet/ikinci\_donem\_makale/04\_ataturk\_donemi\_egitim\_kultur/54.pdf, p.18-19.

**<sup>8</sup>** The people in favour of a script reformation mainly blamed the use of Arabic movable type for the backwardness of printing in the territory and they always compared the look of these papers with European examples.

**<sup>9</sup>** There are many different literacy rates for that period, ranging from 9% to 20% of the whole population. See: Bilal Şimşir, p.165, 271.

<sup>10</sup> İkdam newspaper (18 December 1928), in Nalan Ova, p.89.

**<sup>11</sup>** Rekin Ertem, *Elifbe'den Alfabe'ye: Türkiye'de harf ve yazı meselesi*, (İstanbul, Dergah Yayınları, 1991), p.327.

**<sup>12</sup>** For a detailed analysis of alphabet lessons in newspapers, see section 6.4, 'Teaching the alphabet', p.253.

<sup>13</sup> Ayla Acar, p.22.



Figure 6.2 A news article regarding the abolition of circumflex.(*Cumhuriyet*, 29 January 1929). Image source: Atatürk Library.



**Figure 6.2a** An announcement about the change on G and K letters and their use in grammar. (*Milliyet*, 26 September 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library.



**Figure 6.3** A news article mentioning the change of signs. (*Milliyet*, 20 October 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library.

more successful than 'Millet Mektepleri' (Nation's schools) in teaching the new alphabet.<sup>14</sup> This may be because, due to the technical and financial challenges the reform brought, almost no books were printed during the transition period except for the initial ABC primers, and newspapers and magazines were the only printed materials that were accessible. Newspapermen were aware of this fact and reminded their readers of it by advising them to read the practice pieces every day.<sup>15</sup>

Apart from using and teaching the alphabet, newspapers were the first to apply grammatical rules for testing. They accomplished this task when there were no grammar books or style guides covering spelling, punctuation and orthographic rules. Such a guide, called *İmla Lügatı*, was only prepared by the state when the transition period was over, at the beginning of 1929.<sup>16</sup> Over the transition period, the ground was laid to discuss these issues. Before making the rules final, a consensus was reached over this period of effort and criticism. These trials also served as the only instant communication tool in public engagement to announce new developments regarding the orthographic changes (*Fig.6.2*).

Owing to their significant sacrifice and contribution, newspapers expected more tolerance for their orthographic mistakes. For instance, Cumhuriyet's editor in chief criticised the complaints about confusions related to grammar and typesetting mistakes in the paper. He invited people to be reasonable and fair at a time when there was no technical foundation for publishing these papers with such a short turnaround.<sup>17</sup> Newspapers also served as an inspector and a reporter for the new adaptations in other areas by publishing news on the subject and sharing photos of the transition in the streets and daily life. Especially, publishing the pictures of changing signs was a common practice during the transition period (Fig.6.3). Misspellings in subtitles in cinemas and shop signs were often criticised by newspapermen to guide the public trying to learn the alphabet.<sup>18</sup> It could seem ironic to criticise the same mistakes in other areas when there were complaints about newspapers, but considering the short preparation time of a newspaper every day, such mistakes are more understandable. Reporting and condemning some incidences of late adoption, such as not changing signs and car plates, was also the duty of the transition period newspapers. The punishments related to these late adoptions were mentioned. In addition to negative criticism, praise for good efforts was also evident as a method to condemn those who were late in making changes:

One of the things that Gazi [Mustafa Kemal] noticed in his last trip

<sup>14</sup> İkdam newspaper (7 April 1929), in Nalan Ova, p.73.

**<sup>15</sup>** For Celal Nuri's article, see: Celal Nuri, 'Efendiler, Gazete Okuyunuz', *İkdam* (n.p.), November 7, 1928.

<sup>16</sup> Gökhan Akçura, Cumhuriyet Döneminde Türkiye Matbaacılık Tarihi (İstanbul: YKY, 2012), p.93.

<sup>17</sup> Yunus Nadi [Abalıoğlu], 'Biraz İnsaf', *Cumhuriyet* (n.p.), December 6, 1928.

<sup>18</sup> For some of the complaints, see: Nalan Ova, p.75-77.

لسفاسی 5 خروشاد	<u>x ll</u>	ien multivojeksuden dologa iden of koled elmee.			Koniskos bydal parke ve nektor fler beindes pask ybui toeflik yspile.	مندى لا فردندو
lerden sokakl gibi m Mera	biri, S arda-ki nünevve levhala ak ec erce	levhala r merke r yeni liyoru levhal	Samsunda rı yeni h zlere uzal harfler-le z: Ista arı tün	a, vesâi larfler-le k yerlen e yazdıl nbuk rk ha	tsizlige ra yazdıklar de dahi, el çları bildir <b>la-ki bi</b> t	nlerce ve yazmak
	ربى محو ايديبورا	قاصبرغہ، اتَّتبل أط	AND DESCRIPTION OF A DE	نر برای دوام ایدیود استا نبونده ۱۹۵	بامتاری — م <sup>رز _</sup>	- رئيس ممهور حضر تلرينك . ان من تاريزام ادم ا

**Figure 6.4** A complain about the late adoptions, as headline (*İkdam*, 18 September 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey.

قەمزى بكى جر فلرلە ىك اعلا دقت إ فقط ماز اولور» ردوبا 11 ajours madi Bey! -13 د عی منه سوا gunta metralenenizi obudum . Obumadaa Bu J. 0 19.9 evel obuyautoridan, makter watinin mealini, dulle 55 man, apil matisadinisi anlaya mamis -يه لق ste وارد Hudust dan sonra, gordum Ke maksadini? be 4. dusunduklisim dar baska bir sey degil-du Si. ايشله Filhakiko evvela, yeni turbe alfaberini gu eli. rel ce ögrenmett ve بودم طايا: retmet lazin du Bunun için de bittabi ra ر تده حل! thigac yok the. Bura nazaran; makigat su demete olur. Ogies intigac سنه metale de-bli ولوحابه دقت ايدر ايسهكز برخبلى مشكلاندن هر ا ملنك بوب سوكره شوطه بويله 7 كادا بيلير سكركه شهر 5 hl ihtiple Ja 41. göstermagen geni turk de بودت اخطار ی شوفورلره ، آراباجیلره، كرار Sila trai delerini bellemede وسائط نقليهيه فارشى اجرا ايد eyice belletmeden, her 39 . 250 44 دوبا وسائط تبليه حتى يسادهازدم دوروب mua emr vaba 50 أزبر و دینه ممالینه مکار واوکا nder blorkmay a smithal ازى 1 . (Dikkat) wash ward . رينه Keall قدر chi و ( VAVAS GEC ) كارى ووك، بسيط، اولمق شرقبله تد مباعى اولان باش محرويتزه بالهار بقماز T کلاشیلیر صورثده بازیلامازمیدی T واقع catt a dly draw 1-1 ايشته بوساحهده غازى هميربورولق سامهين، [ NS.L 1 1.16

**Figure 6.6** Atatürk's handwritten respond to the editor (*Cumhuriyet*, 19 August 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library.

حفنده جهان د د ون آقشام ، دوله بالجه سرايندهكي غزته كزك باشلني تورك حرفلريله البك ختامنده ، وطنك بوبوك بانيسي

Figure 6.5 An newspaper article

(*Cumhuriyet*, 18 November 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library.

about a poorly designed traffic sign

Figure 6.7 "How beautiful your headline is with the Turkish letters." Atatürk's admiration note with his handwriting (*İkdam*, 30 August 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey.

was that people made a great effort to write their street signs with the new alphabet in [cities] Sinop and Samsun, regardless of the bad conditions they are in. Even in rural areas far from the centres, it is reported that they have changed all their signs into Latin. We wonder why thousands and thousands of shops in Istanbul wait to write their signs with the new Turkish letters (*Fig.6.4*).<sup>19</sup>

By reporting anomalous and successful executions, newspapers' contribution to the process was significant. In this way, they became the sole and comprehensive resources by sharing all the details of the adoption. Furthermore, they reached a position where they could warn public authorities to make changes in public spaces. A photograph accompanying a comment on a traffic sign is a good example of that kind of intervention (*Fig.6.5*). In the article, it is clearly stated that the use of only two words, 'Attention' (Dikkat) and 'Pass Slowly' (Yavaş Geç), would be sufficient to inform and not distract drivers with a long text as it is put in the sign.<sup>20</sup> Another warning was about a misspelling on the sign of the State Printing House's central office.<sup>21</sup> According to the paper, such a mistake should not be ignored in a place that was setting an example for others.

When considering all these active engagements with the process and the state, the role of MP newspapermen could not be denied, as was mentioned in the beginning of this chapter.<sup>22</sup> This close relationship simply resulted in newspapers being the agents of the state. As a consequence of this participation, Atatürk himself even sent handwritten notes to newspapers to be published. His first notice was for the editor of *Cumhuriyet*, Yunus Nadi [Abalıoğlu], after reading his article regarding his concerns about the duration of the implementation.<sup>23</sup> To sum up the note, contrary to Nadi's negative opinion, Atatürk stated that 'learning the new alphabet does not necessitate years' (*Fig.6.6*). Another of his handwritten messages was for *İkdam*, to praise its headlines in Latin (*Fig.6.7*). Apart from the content in favour of the reform, positive reactions from foreign newspapers were proudly shared in papers with pictures during the transition period. This kind of action was a convenient way of promoting the reform within the society.

This kind of readiness and enthusiasm, and being commissioned by the state, made newspapers an invaluable tool for realising the alphabet goal.<sup>24</sup> Considering the political and social role of newspapers in Turkey, dating back to their participation and effects on society in the 19th century, there is no doubt that they were the first consideration for creating a nationwide teacher and one-of-a-kind pioneer for the implementation of the reform.

<sup>19</sup> Headline', *İkdam*, September 18, 1928.

<sup>20 &#</sup>x27;Dikkat, Fakat Yazıya', Cumhuriryet, November 18, 1928.

**<sup>21</sup>** Acar, p.20.

<sup>22</sup> See p.171.

<sup>23</sup> Atatürk, 'Yunus Nadi Bey!', Cumhuriyet, August 19, 1928.

<sup>24</sup> For the rates of subsidy for newspapers and magazines, see Chapter 5.2., figure 5.10, p.142.

Before going through the broadsheet analysis, main visual attributes of a broadsheet newspaper will be mentioned briefly to comprehend the analysis of broadsheets.

# 6.1. Visual attributes of broadsheet newspaper

The transition period broadsheets shared the same visual attributes of broadsheets in Europe at that time (1928). As such, the features of this kind of publication mentioned below are also valid for the analysed Turkish broadsheets here in this study.

Broadsheet newspapers in the beginning of twentieth century were large-format printed newspapers. They were printed on rotary presses, a system that works with a number of cylinders, enabling printing in larger quantities and at greater speed. This type of newspaper was mostly published daily and was set by hand using metal type to form words, lines and paragraphs. Then, an impression was made to a stereotype by using a papier-mâché mould of the surface of a set page in order to transfer this impression to the rotary cylinders used to print to the newsprint. As can be understood by the name 'broadsheet', the paper (newsprint) was used at large sizes compared to other kind of papers used in printing works. That is why, broadsheets were created by folding the printed paper more than once and creating spreads. Even though the paper size was similar, the number of pages and the final size were usually different in each broadsheet, depending on the size of the rotary presses used.

One of the obvious features differentiating the broadsheet from the tabloid newspaper is the large number of graphic components with a more complex structure. These main components are placed on the front page, inside pages and the last page:

*Masthead:* The front page starts with this component, which defines the broadsheet newspaper's identity and consists of the nameplate and/or logo of the newspaper with some additional information, such as subscription, publication date and the paper's motto/slogan. The place for this kind of information is called the 'ear'. The nameplate could either be created by setting metal types or be printed using a line block where the name was written by hand.

*Headline:* The second important component that catches the eye of readers after the masthead is the headline, where the news content starts. It is an indicator of the news content. This part could be formed in different widths, such as one-page (width) or multiple column (width). It is, however, unusual to see one- or two-column width headlines, and the headline generally formed as one line. In this component, different typefaces, type styles and sizes can be used depending on the newspaper's content choice and visual identity.

Headings: These components are smaller and appear beneath the headline
on the front page and inside pages. They summarise the content placed underneath and help readers to decide whether to read the rest of the content/news article. This component could be formed in many widths, lines/styles on the inside pages – unlike the headline – such as multiple columns, multi lines (decks) and staircase style.

*Section heads:* Another type of heading style, section heads, appear as either only typographic or both pictorial and typographic. This type of component is mostly for specific permanent sections/columns and would help reader to remember and to navigate these sections.

*Body text:* The body text, which takes up the largest amount of space in broadsheets and forms the main news content, is placed under headings and mostly defines the typographic colour on the page. The choice of leading (line spacing), justification (spaces between words), typeface, typeface style and size all affect the appearance of this colour.

*Running head:* Another component not part of the news content is the running heads. This component generally comprises the date of issue, page numbers and the newspaper's nameplate/logo, helping readers to navigate the entire content of the newspaper.

*Pictorial components:* Apart from the textual components, there are pictorial ones, such as photographs, illustrations (line-drawings), cartoons, decorative elements and advertisements. Apart from decorative elements and advertisements, the others are created and used depending both on content and context. While decorative elements mainly include dashes, frames, etc. to separate different pieces of content, advertisements are either only textual or both textual and pictorial. These components balance the dominance of text, bring contrast to the page and give readers clues about the textual content. Apart from the components and their features, there are also some features of page design, namely layout and columns.

*Layout:* This feature is how all the components mentioned above are put together in a systematic way in order to create a reading pattern for readers. It is determined not only by aesthetic concerns, but also by the size and type of content and the choice of grid style.

*Grid style:* It is an invisible guideline system that allows determining the place of different components on a page, such as text, images, masthead/ nameplate/logo, running heads/folios and white space around them. Grid could be in different styles, such as modular, columnar, hierarchical, symmetrical or asymmetrical.

*Column features:* These components are the main building blocks of a grid and page. Layout and grid are primarily formed by multiple columns (from five to eight), which are divided with column rules. The width of the columns determines the type size of the body text. Further, the given space (gutter space) between these columns is one of the important areas of white space on page.

## Range and position of content

There are two main types of content in a broadsheet newspaper, which are textual and pictorial. While textual content is comprised of texts at a certain length for reading purpose, pictorial content does not include text/ words and is only for looking. Apart from the pictorial contents, such as photographs, illustrations, cartoons, illustrated advertisements, pictorial section heads, decorative elements, which were also mentioned above as components, there is many different textual content placed in different parts of the newspaper.

### Textual content

At that time, the textual content was formed from two types: permanent and changeable content. The permanent components, apart from the national and international news, consisted of the categories below, listed with their position:

## Front page:

- An editorial article, either on the first or second pages, written by the owner, who is also the editor of the newspaper  $^{\rm 25}$ 

 Small announcement frames for next day's content, or a directory for the inside pages, generally positioned next to the editorial article

 Weather forecast, either positioned on right-or-left side of masthead or bottom of page

National and international news coverage

#### Inside pages:

- Telegraph news from abroad and the national borders
- The 'voice of the readers' corner
- Sports news
- Table of stock exchange rates

#### Last pages:

- Official announcements
- Advertisements

The changeable content was mainly composed of cartoons, crossword puzzles, news and advertisements for cultural activities.

Within the next broadsheet newspaper analysis, the reform will be traced in three main categories: format and layout, typographic evolution and teaching the alphabet.<sup>26</sup>

**<sup>25</sup>** There are some cases where other important figures in the government or authors were guest authors for this particular issue.

**<sup>26</sup>** To be able to follow the mentioned changes in each section clearly, see Appendix 4, p.353-57 for the particular front pages from the different issues of newspapers.

# 6.2. Changes in format and layout

Apart from typography, these two important considerations, format and layout related to the physicality of a newspaper define the characteristic of a newspaper. Regarding the possible effect of the reform, decisions such as introducing the content in Latin script and using the two scripts during the transition period certainly affected newspapers' general look. This is the reason why it is worth discussing these issues to comprehend the transition-period newspapers as an 'object' to see how the overall look changed in the light of the available indications. At first, the state of format will be examined at and lastly, the possible effects of the reform on layout will be traced and revealed.

## Format

"The choice of format must always begin and end with editorial purpose, but the decision must be taken in the light of prevailing technology, and economic environment of the paper."<sup>27</sup>

The evolution and function of newspapers in Turkey differed greatly from their Western contemporaries, which had a progressive development and an advanced typography and readership. It is worth considering that the first Turkish newspaper only appeared in the beginning of the 19th century (two hundred years later than Europe) and the effect of this late adoption was also exacerbated by the adverse political attitudes and interruptions to printing by the Ottoman Palace, as mentioned in earlier chapters. That is why, the notion and the format of a newspaper in Turkey were not the same as other contemporaries. The late technological adaption, unlike Western newspapers, resulted in publishing in bigger sizes and had fewer pages right from the time they started to be printed in the territory. So, while considering these facts, we will be exploring two important features in newspaper format: number of pages and the paper size.

### Number of pages

At the beginning of the 20th century, the fall of the Empire, a defeat in World War I, the War of Independence and the establishment of a new Republic negatively affected paper stock and printing. This situation eventually caused severe pressure on paper stocks before the alphabet reform.

Lack of availability of paper was one of the reasons why newspapers had fewer pages – around four per edition – at the beginning of the 1920s, unlike contemporary Western newspapers, which were usually published with many more pages (fourty-eight pages in the case of *New* 

**<sup>27</sup>** Harold Evans and Edwin F. Taylor, *Editing and Design: A Five-Volume Manual of English, Typography, and Layout* (New York: Heinemann [for] the National Council for the Training of Journalists, 1972-1978, 1973), 5, p.41.

Newspapers	10 August	10 October	1 December	10 February	10 May
İkdam	6	6	6	8	6
Cumhuriyet	6	8	4	6	6
Akşam	4	4	4	8	8
Milliyet	8	6	8	8	8
Hakimiyet-i Milliye	6	6	6	6	6
Vakit	8	8	-	6	6

**Figure 6.8** The number of pages throughout the transition period and after the implementation of the reform.

*York Herald Tribune*).<sup>28</sup> However, during 1928, this number rose to six pages and during the transition period, there were fluctuations from time to time. To be more precise, only in Aksam and Cumhuriyet, the number of pages changed from 4 to 8 pages. Apart from this, the general approach was a six-page format (Fig.6.8). This could be the result of a decrease in advertisements. It is apparent that while the main content of newspapers did not change significantly throughout this period, there was a difference in the amount of advertisements.<sup>29</sup> Considering the evidence for decrease in circulation and readership during the transition,<sup>30</sup> due to the use of Latin-typed content and the slow learning process of public, companies and institutions must have been concerned about their accessibility through the newspaper medium. Another reason for the fluctuation in page numbers also could be the struggle of including content in Latin in a short 3-month transition period, but this explanation is less likely compared to the former one, because of previous the experience with Latin as touched on earlier, and also because of the small amount of Latin content.<sup>31</sup> Aksam was another example that raised its number of pages from four to eight. However, this change occured due to the change in its size as mentioned in the next section. Only *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* remained as six pages after the implementation of the reform. As it is not possible to see many advertisements as in other newspapers, the change in the amount of advertisements might not have affected the number of pages in Hakimiyet-i Millive as in others.

Although the change is not dramatic, observing the slightest change in page numbers might give an implicit indication of how the transition period, affected newspapers during the transition and post-reform periods. For example, different from the newspapers analysed here, when we examine another newspaper, *Vakit*, from the period, it is possible to see the decrease in the number of pages after the reform (*Fig.6.8*). It could be simply assumed that this fall is natural due to the struggle that all newspapers went through; but it will definitely make sense when we learn that this newspaper could not survive and closed down after a couple of years from the reform because, at the beginning of the 1930s, we also see a gradual rise in the number of pages up to 12 among newspapers mentioned here. This outcome could be simply the result of progress and stabilisation on newspaper printing, along with economic development; because it is known that the first typesetting machines were started to

**<sup>28</sup>** There was another reason for the low number of pages; that of the technical limitation of printing machines at that time. These limitations are mentioned in Chapter 5.3. 'Purchases of metal type and printing presses', p.139.

**<sup>29</sup>** This is also because advertisements were mainly placed in the last pages and in some occasions, there was a use of one full page of ads, so this design decision must be decisive in the number of pages.

**<sup>30</sup>** Bilal Şimşir, *Türk Yazı Devrimi* (Ankara:Turkish Historical Society Publications, 1992), p.226.

**<sup>31</sup>** After the implementation, some themed pages also appeared, such as cinema and literature pages etc., which automatically raised the number of printed pages.

45x60 cm



Figure 6.9 The average size of transition period newspapers, *İkdam*, *Cumhuriyet*, *Milliyet*, *Son Saat*, *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, *Vakit* (except *Akşam*). 46x60.5 cm

A4

**Figure 6.10** The measures of newspaper, The Times.

52x68 cm



A4



be used in newspaper printing in 1930 by *Cumhuriyet*.<sup>32</sup> The use of Latin script, benefiting from the existing printing convention in Latin, and also using the new typesetting machines with the Turkish keyboards that were suitably designed for the new alphabet must have brought progress in publishing more pages. Another factor that determined the number of pages at that time was the size of newspaper page.

#### Page size

Like the other broadsheet newspapers from the era, transition-period newspapers used a large sheet format, sized around 45 x 60 cm (Fig.6.9), with around six pages. This paper size was similar to European and American newspapers such as The Times and New York Herald Tribune (Fig.6.10). However, there was one exception, Aksam newspaper, with its 68 x 52 cm size and four-page extent, which is a similar approach to the Middle Eastern newspapers.<sup>33</sup> However, this page convention of Akşam lasted until the 11th of December, ten days after the implementation, and the number of pages doubled, and the size of the newspaper became smaller than it used to be.<sup>34</sup> Thus, we see size and page relationship in this example (*Fig.6.11*). Still, compared to the width of broadsheet newspapers today, all of the newspapers had a noticeably larger size. It is widely known that the determination of newsprint size before the offset printing was mainly shaped by the printing convention, as the result of different types of machines, due to their capacity and technical limitations. So, it is possible to date the use of large newsprints back to the 18th century due to the Stamps Act both by the US and England. The policy led the publishers to economise by using large newsprint instead of smaller one. Due to the successful mechanisation of papermaking to be able to produce larger sheets, the size of newspapers got bigger during the 19th century.<sup>35</sup> However, the average format of newspapers in the Ottoman Empire became wider after the Second Constitutional Era (1908).<sup>36</sup> This practice was not unusual but it is even late, as a large number of newspapers were printed at the same size long before the transition period newspapers. Thus, changing the alphabet and buying new printing presses that suitably work would not bring a change in paper size considering this fact. Despite the stability of format, the next section, layout, is one of the features that was affected due to the reform.

<sup>32</sup> The machines were from Linotype, see: Akçura, p.228.

**<sup>33</sup>** To give an example, Syrian newspaper *Al Ahdud Jadid* was in 1928 one of the large-format papers and published in a four-page format like *Akşam*.

**<sup>34</sup>** There is no way of confirming this claim, due to the no access policy for newspapers' physical copies in the Turkish archives/libraries. It can be concluded though by looking at whether there is a decrease in number of columns and in the scale of typefaces in same sizes.

<sup>35</sup> Kevin G. Barnhurst, Seeing the Newspaper (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1993), p.166.

**<sup>36</sup>** Müzeyyen Buttanrı, "İkdam Gazetesinin Kültür Hayatımızdaki Yeri, Şekil ve İçerik Özellikleri (1894–1900)," *Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, Osmangazi Üniversitesi,* vol. 1 (2003): p.81, accessed August 3, 2014, http://sbd.ogu.edu.tr/makaleler/4\_1\_Makale\_5.pdf.

### Layout 37

Layout is the key factor in the organisation of content and in the effectiveness of page and design elements. It is possible to say that it is also another definition of 'consistency'. That is why, layout makes the task of designing a daily newspaper easier to some extent. It also helps to communicate information to the reader in a clearer way and defines the look and identity of a newspaper, differentiating it from others. Bearing in mind this important function, the transition-period newspapers were not particularly individual in design and identity, and were very similar to each other, as the design decisions for newspapers at that time generally belonged to type and page setters and not to designers, and were also the result of circumstances in printing and the limitations of technology. However, the shift from a different alphabet would certainly change the look of a page due to the differences in the Arabic and Latin scripts; apart from the typography, the layout could be the only other way to trace and identify this alteration.

Before determining the layout characteristics of these newspapers –such as column features, grid styles– and how the alphabet reform affected these features, it is important to know how editorial content was structured and whether it evolved after the alphabet change, as design and typographic decisions are not the only decisive factors that affect the layout design.

### Change in the content

Turkish broadsheet newspapers shared a similar approach to content. The owners were all willing to support the new Republic and work for the benefit of the new nation. As mentioned earlier, some of them were the members of the parliament or worked together on governmental projects. This relationship influenced the notion of how a newspaper should be formed as a part of the modernisation process, and is why the contents of the period's mainstream newspapers were not noticeably different from each other. Even though the subject of the change was script, especially the use of pictorial content -rather than the textual content- had some interesting cases. During the transition period, we witness two kinds of changes to this particular category: a) the size and b) the amount of visual content. Before examining at the visual content of the transition period newspapers, the textual content in general will be mentioned briefly to understand how Turkish newspapers were formed at that time.

## a. Textual content

Considering the two different content types, there were no significant changes in either the amount of regular content or its allocation in pages during the transition. However, new content was introduced in the form of announcements/news and critiques regarding the alphabet change. As it

**<sup>37</sup>** Even though some of the literature evaluates the position and the use of headlines within the layout decisions as they affect overall look, headlines will be analysed separately in the next section, due to the excessive transformation that came with the alphabet and script change.



**Figure 6.12** The pictorial page in *Milliyet*, 10 December, 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library.



**Figure 6.13** Line drawings in *Milliyet*, 10 January, 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library.

was pointed out before, due to the newspapers' leading role in the reform, alphabet lessons to teach readers the new alphabet and special articles for readers to practice what they had learned were published on a daily basis during the transition period. Right after the reform, with the notion of help for Nation's Schools, this instructive type of content was again published in broadsheets, as lessons and reading articles. This new content in some occasions affected the regular amount of news content, which would cause extra labor of typesetting that would be difficult to do at that time, and surely the page layout, as table features and practice sheets set in large point sizes required a considerable amount of space. The second important content type that affected the usual look of the newspapers was pictorial content.

### b. Pictorial content

In parallel with Western newspapers (British and American) that introduced more visuals on their pages after 1920,<sup>38</sup> the transitionperiod newspapers were also illustrated before the reform even though the amount of pictorial content varied in each paper. As in their contemporaries, broadsheets had similar pictorial content such as: a) photographs and illustrations, b) cartoons, c) illustrated advertisements, d) illustrative section heads, e) decorative elements.

#### Photographs and illustrations

There was a significant rise in the use of photographs on Aksam and Millivet's front and inside pages during the transition and after the implementation. However, a new practice was introduced after the implementation day, which was placing pictorial featured pages. Millivet could be the pioneer in this matter by publishing sole pictorial pages on last pages to exhibit news photography under the titles of 'Cinema of the Day and 1000 Words, 1 Picture' (Fig.6.12). Furthermore, after one month from the implementation, a new page, called *Millivet*'s public page with alphabet lessons and reading articles, was also introduced with a substantial amount of illustration (Fig.6.13). Similarly, Aksam also introduced many featured pages filled with visuals under the titles of 'Cinema, Child World and Fun Articles'. So this practice automatically increased the number of pictorial content. This act slightly affected the amount of content and advertisements negatively, but as mentioned in the number of pages section, this could be the result of clients' choice, which is not giving advertisement during the transition period due to the concern on low circulation and the newspapermen might have wanted to create these pages as a measure. *İkdam*'s patch style photograph pages on the first days of implementation could also be a substitution for the labor of setting more pages, considering the struggle in the new script. However, one month later, a new pictorial featured page called 'Curious world news' was also introduced in the format of a last page with masthead that would remain for one month.

<sup>38</sup> Evans, p.28.

Newspapers	10 August	10 October	1 December	10 February	10 May
İkdam	6	5	23	9	10
Cumhuriyet	11	10	14*	15	8
Akşam	7	6	11	13	23
Milliyet	9	11	30	27	25
Hakimiyet-i Milliye	3	1	5	5	5

Figure 6.14 The number of visuals, including photographs and illustations and excluding section heads, advertisements and decorative elements, used in each listed issues. (\*Even though the number of pages was four on that day)



**Figure 6.15** Line drawing illustrations in *Cumhuriyet* (left) and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* (right), 10 August 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library and Ankara University Online Newspaper Database



**Figure 6.16** A two-column width cartoon in *Akşam*, 13 February 1929. Image source: Ankara University Online Newspaper Database

Apart from these pages, there was a slight rise in the amount of photos in other newspapers such as *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, *Cumhuriyet* either throughout the transition or afterwards (*Fig.6.14*). On the other hand, three newspapers, *İkdam*, *Cumhuriyet* and *Milliyet*, made a change to the size of photos, but only after the implementation day, 1 December 1928. However, this choice did not last even for two months, and they returned to the original proportions. The only newspapers that retained the big picture format after the reform were *Akşam* and *Cumhuriyet*.

In *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* and *Cumhuriyet*, illustrations existed before and after the reform, although in small quantities. On the other hand, the newspapers, *Milliyet*, *Akşam* and *İkdam* that lacked illustrations before the reform started to introduce more editorial illustrations after the implementation day, mostly in line-drawing form (*Fig.6.15*).

When we examine the overall tendencies seen in all these categories, there is a rise in integrating the pictures with the content after the reform; this could be a coping mechanism to overcome the difficulties of setting the entire paper in Latin by placing pictures in bigger sizes to fill pages in order to leave less space for text. The publishers of newspapers might also have thought that the reader who struggled to learn the new alphabet or read the text hardly and slowly could take a break from reading trials and enjoy the illustrated pages. Hence, developing a more illustrative approach to graphic materials in the following decades is an indicator of this proceeding. There is another possible rationale behind this change, which is more psychological. Abandoning a script that they associated with backwardness and the eastern values and that felt ashamed of must have opened up ways to embracing and publishing more western-style visuals in publications.

#### Cartoons

It was not a common practice among these newspapers to publish cartoons regularly especially before the reform. But after the reform, it was possible to see the routine use of cartoons in one newspaper, *Akşam (Fig.6.16)*. Such content can also be seen occasionally in other newspapers. The reason why broadsheets newspapers did not publish more cartoons after the reform, as in the rise of pictures, could be the intention of leaving satirical comment and stand to the illustrated tabloids.

#### Illustrated advertisements

Advertisements had a huge presence in the period's newspapers either in typographical form only or a mixture of text and picture. It was common to see page-sized pictorial ads or many allocated ads in the final pages. Not the amount, but the format of advertisements did not change due to the reform.

### Illustrative section heads

This practice was widely embraced among the transition-period

newspapers, though not to the same degree. They were most widely used in *İkdam* and *Cumhuriyet*, which they were visually rich and more ornamental. Unlike these papers, others such as Akşam, Hakimiyet-i Milliye and *Milliyet* preferred not to use this feature. Here, the form of section heads was small and tidy and not very significant visually compared with the ones in *İkdam* and *Cumhuriyet*. Nevertheless, this feature did not vanish from these newspapers after the adoption of the Latin script. Some of these sections could not remain identical to the previous issues before the implementation though, because in general these sections tended to become more typographical after the reform.<sup>39</sup> There is also the important fact that, except *Milliyet*, no newspapers printed these pictorial section heads on the first days of the implementation, most probably because they did not have sufficient time to prepare the necessary clichés in the new script, Latin. This could be the case for preferring more typographical section heads after the reform because it was easier to set those parts with the new Latin types in bigger sizes, as this was not the case for Arabic metal type, which lacked big-size variations.

### Decorative elements

These elements were mostly used to separate the content, and the most common elements were in the form of frames, boxes and decorative lines. Of the era's newspapers, *İkdam* and *Cumhuriyet* used these elements frequently both before and after the reform. A particular frame was especially preferred in these papers before the reform and it was replaced after the reform by the use of more thin-lined boxes. Apart from these, there was only occasional use of these components in other newspapers, such as Aksam and Milliyet. Hakimiyet-i Milliye followed a different path in the use of these elements; boxes were much preferred over frames before the reform, and 'cut-offs' were mainly used for the separation of the content. Probably due to the confusion on the first days of implementation, more frames were used, and they were thicker than previous versions, but this practice was abandoned almost immediately. Use of these elements could be more Victorian, and compared to their Western contemporaries, Turkish publications did not abandon this habit despite the Latin script/alphabet change. This shows that they did not fully mimic the look and the features of Western publications, probably due to the haste of the reform. Still, the need for separating the content is important, so, another helpful device for this purpose, which is columns, will be analysed in the next section.

#### Column features

Columns are one of the main elements in the determination of a layout style. They serve as building blocks and define the characteristics of a page, along with pictorial content. So, in order to trace whether this feature transformed due to the script change, the components of column, which are the number and the width of columns and the gutter space, will be reviewed in this context.

<sup>39</sup> For the typographic discussion on this feature, see Section heads on p.247-9.





Figure 6.17 Examples for the use of kashida in *İkdam*, 14 July 1928. Image source: The National Library of Turkey.



Figure 6.17a The use of kashida in a modern newspaper, Al Sabah (Iraq), 11 April 2006.



Figure 6.18 The rise in the number of columns in *İhdam*, before and after the reform (Left: 11 August 1928, Right: 1 December 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey

Before the implementation of the reform, transition-period broadsheet newspapers had columns in different quantities and sizes, but the sixcolumn practice was widely accepted, except in *Akşam* and *Milliyet*, which were printed in a seven-column format. This approach was unusual because the common practice was an eight-column grid at that time in Western newspapers. According to Evans, this practice started to disappear among American newspapers after the 1960s, 'when a trend set in toward wider column measures'.

The rationale behind defining the number of columns becomes more interesting if we take the different nature of Arabic and Latin scripts into account. Nemeth's claim about the variation of the number of columns depends on the idea that 'in the newspapers set in Arabic script, the justification method allows narrower columns than it allows in Latin'.<sup>40</sup> The ligatures in Arabic types make it possible to stack letters in x-height and save considerable space in justification. And due to the letters and letter extensions in x-height, a rise in the leading space occurs and this normally should result in having narrower columns. But this situation was the opposite in transition-period newspapers, where the preferred number of columns was six and the column width was wider than it should be according to Nemeth's suggestion. So it can be concluded that the width of columns in Turkish broadsheets was wider than the ones in the West.

Nemeth also posited this idea based on the function of 'kashida', where an additional Arabic extension fills the unnecessary gaps between words occurring due to the justification in narrower columns.<sup>41</sup> Although it is possible to find its use in Turkish newspapers before the reform, the examples were unremarkable short pieces, easily missed without looking closely, and unlike the long extensions in contemporary Arabic newspapers (Fig.6.17).<sup>42</sup> So, the function of this particular feature is debatable for these papers. But it is still worth thinking about the 'Cartesian space'43 of the two different scripts and the illusions that they created in the overall look. Although the use of narrower columns would create a contrast with the horizontal movement of the Arabic script, the practice in Turkish newspapers was the opposite. Moreover, the fact that there was no change to the number and the width of the columns after the implementation of the Latin script in Turkish newspapers is more significant and indicates that either the newspaper men were aware of the different needs of the scripts (by not switching to a narrower column so considering the need of

**41** Ibid, p.23.

**<sup>40</sup>** Titus Nemeth, "The Current State of Arabic Newspaper Type and Typography," (MA diss., University of Reading, 2006,) p.23.

**<sup>42</sup>** Although long extensions have been used in modern Arabic newspapers, it started to be abandoned in recent years.

**<sup>43</sup>** The definition of the term by Nemeth is: 'Cartesian space defines the area used by different script on x and y coordinates. The variations of use depend on writing direction (horizontal, vertical, left to right, right to left), writing system (for example alphabetic or syllabic) and the particular shapes a script employs to convey meaning'. Ibid, p.32.

بر حاله کام جانا ولان و دو میلر اوز زند، نفله و فف و ندقیانه لاوم ها ایه جندن احضاری فو بیسیو نزل برهنته ظرننده چیتاراجی دوسیه لوله نفویش قومیسو مجه اعظی اوچ کو للکاجناعده طوی کر اوه

ربط ايندلى لازمد . ربط ايندلى لازمد . 5 – دوسياريك چوقلى حميله مادله مادلان مم اولان ولايل ايون نصما كوايله منيل ودندي اقاله ودوسيارك اممارى ونيالى رنديتانك كون كرند مرحله اكال طهوستم بالدوم برد ملك منتى مالود والدرمى اوزرم برد ملك منتى مالور ايناندر اوزرم برد ملك منتى مالور ايناندر ايندل ماملاك حس موده اكار غيرالى

مدیری کنان کنا دواستند، مودانجاندی هد افغارد. برجنی ماحقطو سوردیدا کره تنید جنده، شرک مهنماری عمد سطالی مورد این ماندان المعمر باید برمن ووسورته آری تنام مان قاشده مرکز مان میلوان اجامعان چندهد موکره، ولات کارد والیکم ساین مقال فروسی، تعلیا اعتاله قواد و روکز ش د پر مثاردر .

والی وکیل عیالدین بك ، کندیسی زیارت بر عرض، بو خصومسده آنیدهک بیانانده بولو غدر :

ه تراموای عمله سبله شرکن آراس طالبات حقنده جريان ابدن مذاكر اتمتقطم اولمثمر. بولكاوزرينه عمله، جمه اير تسى كونى غر. اعلان الدهكل غربر استدعا المه ولايته سادير ديل

Hobatzadelerin büyük manifato n mağazılarında bu faaliyet he-men hergün ayni suretle devam ederdi. Denkler, balyalar girer çı kar,gümrükcüler komisyoncular, si kar.ğünrükcüler komisyoncular, si masırlar, tollarlar birbirini kovalar. Mağazıntı loş, camekinda bölün-müş daracık cedasında Hobutzade Tosun bey bütün bu faaliyetin dimagı gübipr. Mavi elektrik ayd-nlışında cekler, imzalar bonolaz yazar, kamektudların kontozol eder telefonla sağa sola emirler verir yorulop usunmadan çalaştır. iki kərdesil. Biri (Konya) daki say yorulup usanmadan çalışır.. il kardestil. Biri (Konya) daki şı beyi idare ederdi. (Recep) ismir

suretle sui istimal etmedigini söylemiştir. Heyeti hakime Reşit efendi hakkındakik ararı vermek için muhakdmeyi başka bir güne tehir etmiştir.

10,000 aç çocuk Istanbul mekteplerinde tahsilde bulunan 10,000 çocugun gıdaya muhtaç vaziyette oldushit adilmistir Bu cocu-

، استده نزوى ددارتىديم او بو مېچې وهى فو مېيو مې جهتماليه طا بودا تر دار نداير د ماوو وېر له چکدد. 2 - ندتينى قو مييو نلرى هى کون سياح، آلتام منتظماً اجتماع او موجيه يو نلره ما وراولان د وات باهته ساملانه قطعاً اشتغال اتيموله وقلر عى

متمراً دوسيه تدقيقاتنه حصر ايليه بكاردر . 8 ــــ هر ولايندوكي دوسـيەلرك اك قيصه بر زمانده تدقیقاتی انتاج اولندرق قرار ابتدائی. ریبلاً تفویش قومیسیونلرینه تودینه قادار اعضادن اولان املاك ملیه و طباع مأمورلری منحصراً تومیسبونارده ماایتاجقاردر . اسکان ماملات سائردسندن متباقی خصوساتك اسکان مأمورلرینك فضله مساعی صرف ایتملری صورتبله ناخرانه میدان برادامامی وبو وجهاه تلاق ابتد بریاسی ایجاب ايدر .

يويدهم محرو وسيتي يحتربه بالحلام اليكوراني مالد منطرة مندم فالهجني ويتمالل مسلكان فالدلي الولانيدر على مكون خليدو روحاني نك وروننا كريده رشي مكون خليل معيدور موحواني نك محروفين قابات وفالتي فعل تغربه المجروب والن درفان بالمليم بر قراق تتمل ليدن يك فوتكماني dar cercivesi içinde bunalan matbuatimız icin bundan büyük saadet olamaz. Zira, türk gazetecisi, ar-tık, büyük avrupa döküm-hanelerinin "hakiketen ga-

zete !" ismini verebilece gimiz muesseseler ıçın yap-tıkları bin bir icattan istifade imkanını elde ediyor. Arap harflerinin kendisine bur kildigi uydurma mec

bir kilo ekmek 40 öre, 928de

83 öre, et 125 öre iken 161

öre, tereyağı 235 öre iken 345 öre, süt 19 öre iken 30

öre, gazın bir metresi 12 iken 16 olmuş ve elektriğin

kilovati 35 iken gene 35 öre

kalmıştır. Tramvay ücretleri-ne %50, kiralara % 65 zam

icra edilmiştir. Bir kuruş iki

öredir.

الملى لارمد بوده چوى كوج براين داد. علا آخره الله العائيول ، استابول الله طرزون واريو اله آلك و لينود استابيول الله طرزون [رمندمداور مطلق محلي تفايتون اوزون بر زمانه ومسلم بر تتكلانه العالي بله والد. المالك بره مبيوراكم : « در بو اين البنيليو ويركن والز اليابيدار ، اينه بر ونطانظرى المالك بره ومبيوراكم : « در يو اين الجنوبي ويركن والز الجنوبي المالية اليون الماليو الجني مركنون براسه واليه مولانه بيكران ورماني والد المور الماله ما يحت الدن برون قبل ورماني وركم كندين قوالانميز والجنيوايده ورمانير وكم كندين والانميز والجنيوايده المالية مد الماله المالية مالية المالية المالية المالية المالية المالية المال

ایمکدهدر . آق دکزده ی بویوك قومشومهاه

آرام.د. اسا ابدیلن معاهده، کانجه، بووینه آرام.د. اسا او چ قطعه ای بربر ته باغلایان بوبویوك كول. و والخامه او ك شرق حوضه سند.

برور برصاح ومواذنت عامدیدر . جهوریت حکومتی نورکیه وابتالیا آراسندهک

دوستلنى مناسبانك فارشبلغلى اى بركوروش وآكلابشله جنيتى منعتلريمزه داياندينى قناعتدهدر. بوماهده شمول واهمينى اعتباريله بالكر ايكودوانه

tişan tüccartar.Babalarti(Kaysəri) rameti rahmana kavuşunca bütün m iki gencin omuzlarınpa m de derakende satis yadan pir esn-afti, sonra sonra işi büyüttü, civar kasadaların satışlarını üzeride alqı ilk t afti, sonra sonra işi büyüttü, civar yüklendi . kasadaların satışlarını üzeride alqı ilk teesürden sonra kendiler-istanbuda büyük müesseselerə mü ine gelen delikanlılar mağazanır istanbuda büyük mücsseselerə mü nasebet deyda etti. Ciro, bono, ko-namento gibi tüccari nuameleleri çalıştılar. Fakat tesaduf onlara ötrenmedi. Daki atkarlık usulunu braktı yeni tarzda ticari yadmaya başladı Bu zawan (Toson)le Rec-çocuklar kendilerini todlasıncaşa ed göyle böylə bir idap i tahsili görüd mağaztya deyama başlamış-tarpı. Babaları onları bazen hamal rifbi, bazam katip, muhasebeci zekisi bu yazivette mücadele etm-

Kında hayat sıgorta iaareieri nin muamele yapamayacağı anlaşılmıştır.

Diger taraftan Bahnmuhit gibi büyük bir deniz geçecek olan İzmir vapuruna her ihtimale karşı yedek bir dümen ve yedek bir uskur almak icap edecektir. Binaenaleyh cemiyeti aliniz eğer İzmir Figure 6.19 Gutter space in İkdam throughout the transition and post-reform periods.(From top: 11 August 1928, 11 October 1928, 1 December 1928, 15 January 1929). Image source: The National Library of Turkev



Figure 6.20 The shift from a page without gutter space to a page with gutter space in Cumhuriyet (20 and 21 February 1929). The difference on the use of space can be seen clearly in the overall look. Image source: Atatürk Library

Latin script for wider columns), or that they even did not take the different anatomies of the scripts into account. Only in one case, in *İkdam*, did an alteration appear on the day of the implementation. The issue printed in all Latin on that day was set in seven columns, different from the others (former practice was six columns)(*Fig.6.18*). But this decision was abandoned two months later, with no reason indicated. Initially, they might mistakenly have preferred a narrower column in parallel with the vertical emphasis of the Latin letterforms. Apart from this exception, *Akşam* was also being printed as a five-column paper after the reform, simply because of a reduction in its size, not as a result of a conscious decision about the needs of the Latin script. This might be the case for others as well.<sup>44</sup>

Apart from the number of columns, there is another consideration, which is the width of columns that defines the text-setting variations, including type size and the gutter space. It is not possible to measure the exact size of the columns from different transition-period newspapers due to the restriction of physical availability and because the column numbers generally did not change due to the alphabet change. Also, the use of column rules remained the same after the reform. It is known that the creation of column rules was simply a caution 'to prevent the type from flying out of the rotating print drum' in the printing presses used during the 19th century.<sup>45</sup> But as Evans emphasised, they were not abandoned despite the invention of rotary press that does not necessitate the use of column rules and make the horizontal layout more possible. This clearly shows the function of separating columns and different contents. This also helps readers to group certain content.

In addition to these column features, a variability appeared in gutter space decisions. Only two newspapers, *İkdam* and *Cumhuriyet*, showed inconsistency when the pages were set all in Latin. As it can be seen in *İkdam*'s example (*Fig.6.19*), on the day of switching to the new alphabet, there was no gutter space to separate columns apart from the rulers in these two newspapers. In *İkdam*, the shift to an increased number of columns, along with the changing justification, might have caused confusion for a while, but it was revised two months later, when the column number decreased to six again. Even though *Cumhuriyet* did not change the number of columns, a gutter space was only applied two and a half month after the implementation day (Fig.6.20). Certainly, this kind of inexperience in setting text is understandable considering the amount of time given to them to switch into Latin script. Moreover, for other newspapers, Milliyet, Hakimiyet-i Milliye and Akşam, not having any issue regarding gutter space during the transition period and right after the reform shows that they were aware of the use of white space and did not ignore this need when they were rushed to cope with a completely different

<sup>44</sup> There is no evidence to prove the change in *Akşam*'s format, but considering the image of first pages before and after the reform shown in Appendix 4, the type size used in headline, headings, body text and also the decrease in the number of columns indicate this change.45 Barnhurst, p.167.



**Figure 6.21** Over flowing text examples in *Milliyet* (Left) before the reform and in *Cumhuriyet* (Right) after the reform (10 August 1928 and 5 May 1929). Image source: Atatürk Library



10 August 1928



10 October 1928





اقشاع

**Figure 6.22** The evolution of grid in *Akşam* newspaper from columnar to a more modular approach throughout the reform period.

202

convention with a tight deadline. Though there was not a dramatic change in column features except for a few cases mentioned above, it is also worth examining if there is a change in layout due to the reform.

# Grid style

Before exploring whether this feature evolved or not due to the change, it should not be forgotten that there were owned practices/trends on page setting among newspapers in Latin script at that time. Even though the development of Western and Turkish newspapers was not parallel and Turkish newspapers followed the convention and technology behind, partially because of the printing presses that were not capable of using the Arabic script, it was possible to see some shared features/practices before the reform. One of the features was the habit of setting newspaper with long news/stories. This type of content was longer than today,<sup>46</sup> and were positioned on front pages, often without leading readers to the inside pages for the rest of stories. This is the reason why the columnar grid was more common. When we look at the modular grid, it needs short stories to convey/maintain its box-shaped characteristic, while the columnar grid is practical to share long stories as it is a conventional practice. Therefore, before the reform, in particular, most of the newspapers had no effective way to deal with additional text flowing from one column into the bottom of neighbouring columns in order to fit the whole of the story in, as in the case of Millivet (Fig.6.21). Moreover, this practice did not change after the reform in all newspapers, except for Aksam, which is the only newspaper that completely embraced a modular grid after the reform. So, in the rest of newspapers, the text flowing issue shows that there was no wellestablished layout system at that time and creating a page was more of a spontaneous task. However, there were some attempts to shorten news/ stories and use more modular approach in some issues after the reform. In some cases, the first page was used as an introductory page, where articles and stories were left incomplete, and it was pointed out that they continued on the stated pages inside. Still, considering the overflow texts, the use of vertical columns and two or three-column modules, it is possible to say that the use of columnar grid persisted after the reform in four newspapers, except Akşam (Fig.6.22).

The second factor that made the columnar module common among Turkish newspapers before the reform was the practice of locating the content in one direction because of the long stories, rather than from top to the bottom as in modular grid. As we learned from the various resources, this was a convention among Western newspapers before World War I:

> Newspapers did begin with the first column and fill in the others across the page. Although reading matter flowed from top to

<sup>46</sup> Barnhurst, p.14.



Figure 6.23 The use of horizontal module for the featured news/ article in *Milliyet* on the implemtation day (1 December 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 6.24** The practice of merging of two columns without using a column rule on *İkdam* (Left) and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* (Right) after the reform (7 January 1929 and 3 January 1929). Image source: The National Library of Turkey and Ankara University Online Newspaper database

bottom within each column, the dominant direction for all the columns and for the page as a whole was from left to right.<sup>47</sup>

And again according to Barnhurst, 'the tendency to design the entire front page as a visual unit became widespread' during and after the war<sup>48</sup> and the notion of positioning the content from top to bottom started to appear. However, it is hard to say that it was the case for transition period newspapers and magazines before the reform, as they were still setting pages from right to left according to the direction of the script. Positioning the news according to its importance was a conscious decision on transition period publications. Especially, in the case of the editorial articles before the reform, these were on the first right columns, where readers would possibly look at first due to the direction of reading in Arabic script (right to left). We see that this practice has changed after the implementation of the reform by putting this section on the left (Fig.6.21) due to the change in the direction of script. Only the newspaper Hakimiyet-i Milliye changed the position first during the transition period, as its front page was printed all in Latin at that time. It is possible to say that the printing convention of Latin script started to be applied after the implementation day, so during the transition period, we still see the execution of old convention due to the dominant integration of old script and the partial appearance of the Latin script.

Apart from these choices, there are two other variables that define the grid style before and after the reform. The first is the choice of column modules and the second is the size and shape of the visuals (square or rectangular, covering one or two columns) and their position, which determines the column use. Before the reform, we generally see the use of one or two column modules, both in the width of text and pictures.<sup>49</sup> Although the practice of using three-column modules was rare and mostly used on the inside pages only for section heads, as in *İkdam* and Hakimiyet-i Milliye, we encounter its use for articles only in Milliyet. This convention started to change when Latin content began to be introduced. More newspapers, especially *Cumhuriyet*, introduced this type of module during the transition period. Even Millivet used one-page-width horizontal modules for its featured news (Fig.6.23). However, within the two months after the implementation, it was abandoned, and the practice of using oneand two-column modules prevailed. We can assume the reason why the vertical format became preferable for especially front pages could be the dynamism that is brought to the page. As Evans claims, it is a more flexible system and allows for the simplest page organisation. The transition period newspapers at that time may not have aimed at grabbing the attention of readers, and rather preferred to ponder on the issue of setting the pages in Latin script properly. We see that they made this decision after making

**<sup>47</sup>** Ibid, p.171.

**<sup>48</sup>** Ibid, p.175.

**<sup>49</sup>** When I say three or two column modules for text, I mean they are not merged columns, since single column texts existed within these modules.



Figure 6.25 The practice of merging of two columns without using a column rule on Daily Express in 1928. Image source: Harold Evans and Edwin F. Taylor, *Editing and Design*, 1973, p.28.





Figure 6.26 Horizontal approaches on *Cumhuriyet* (Left) and *İkdam* (Right) newspapers before the reform (11 August and 30 November 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library and The National Library of Turkey some experiments for modular grid during the transition and after the reform. An unusual practice for that was the merging of two columns without using a column rule on front pages. Only *İkdam, Milliyet* and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* applied this new column form to their pages (*Fig.6.24*). When we examine an issue of *Daily Express* from 1928, the same practice that the newspaper applied on its front pages could be seen clearly (*Fig.6.25*). So, it is possible to conclude that these Turkish newspapers must have seen this application before and must have been inspired by those newspapers as well as each other. However, we do not see a continuation of this practice no longer than a couple months after the implementation. The reason why they did not continue is unknown, but they might have found it difficult to maintain this new approach (modular grid) in a time when they faced a big challenge like alphabet/script change.

Unlike the dominant use of vertical modules, we do not encounter horizontal modules in every newspaper before the reform, except for *İkdam*, *Cumhuriyet* and *Milliyet*, at the end of the inside pages (*Fig.6.26*). This feature must have been used to break the monotonous look of the vertical columns, which were more dominant. In addition to these approaches, after type and white space, 'illustration is the third basic ingredient in the make-up of a newspaper page'.<sup>50</sup> So, the use of big rectangular and square pictures and editorial cartoons served the same function as other horizontal modules. *Akşam* was the only newspaper to introduce the use of wide-scale cartoons on its first page after the implementation of the reform and kept this approach afterwards. These kinds of choices show that people who set the layout of these newspapers were aware of the newspaper's primary function, which is attracting the readers' attention, and they had made a conscious decision to integrate more varied components in order to create more contrast and more assertive pages.<sup>51</sup>

On the other hand, despite a conscious approach to layout, there is no consistent and systematic modular system in the transition-period newspapers. The choices of column modules and their evolutions indicate a more irregular system in general (*Fig.6.27*). In other cases, there was a more strict and planned layout system that allowed a freedom to set all content more systematically, as in the case of *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*.

To sum up all the tendencies throughout the period around the adoption of the Latin script, the common attitude of the newspapers did not really change either before or after the reform due to their primary focus on setting, which is also stressed by Albert Sutton:

Although many newspapers try to follow a regular pattern, most

<sup>50</sup> Allen Hutt, Newspaper Design (United Kingdom: Oxford University Press, 1961), p.169.

**<sup>51</sup>** However, this notion should be evaluated considering that the method of selling newspapers was not the same as it is today. Most likely there were not many news-stalls or any kind of display areas. We know that paperboys were recruited for the distribution and there was a subscription system.

	İkdam	Milliyet	Cumhuriyet	Hakimiyet-i Milliye*	Akşam
10 August	One-two column textℑ - Three column page sections	One, two and three column textℑ	One&two column textℑ	One&two column textℑ - Three column page sections	One&two column textℑ
10 October	One, two- three column text	One, two- three column text	One&two column textℑ	Same use as in previous + merged two columns introduced	+ three column text and a horizontal module on inside page
1 December	One&two column text - Three column image	One&two column text is more common. More one page horizontal modules, on first and inside pages	Two column text is more common – Three column image is existed	Besides one column, more two&three column texℑ and horizontal modules + merged two column	One&two column textℑ + Three column textℑ, more horizontal modules
10 February	Two column textℑ (merged columns as well)	The introduction of merged two&three column modules besides one column use.	Two&three column text and image is more common than single column – four column textℑ	No three column except headline, others remained same, two column is dominant	Two column is dominant + more three column textℑ&section heads +horizontal module
10 May	Two column text - More horizontal modules	In contrast to previous date, no use of three column module, but more one&two column modules.	Not much horizontal module – one&two column is common – three column as section head	Same use as in precious one	Same as in previous one + one page width cartoon on first page

\* Due to the missing issues of Hakimiyet-i Milliye from December 1928 (the first month of the implementation) I take the date of 2nd of January 1929 in place of the 1st of December.

Figure 6.27 A table showing the tendencies of using the column modules during the reform period.

of them allow enough latitude to take care of the more important news breaks. Consequently, it would be impossible to classify the styles followed into any well-defined categories.<sup>52</sup>

Furthermore, sometimes more than one style was used at the same time in these newspapers as a result of possible confusion. This makes it hard to observe and reveal an explicit and systematic change (as would happen if modern newspapers were subjected to change) between the issues before and after the reform, as they might have been following multiple approaches:

> [...] it should be remembered that a newspaper sometimes will shift from one method to another, and occasionally it will make use of a combination of two styles that overlap in its efforts to provide suitable display for the various situations that arise.<sup>53</sup>

To make a generalisation about the overall look of these newspapers in particular throughout this period, *Milliyet* and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* were the only transition period newspapers with the most consistent style compared to others, little affected by the alphabet change, even though they struggled slightly and went through some changes in the early days of the implementation. İkdam and Cumhuriyet on the other hand, were the only newspapers that adopted the most experimental style attempts when the integration of Latin script started. Yet, despite these trials, they seemed to maintain their initial style without an obvious reason. Among the others, only *Aksam* had a modular look before the reform and showed a consistent effort to change its layout throughout the reform period (also due to the change of its format) and developed a recognisable pattern for its look to be distinguished from others. It seems that the broadsheets did not pay enough attention to the layout, except for Aksam, due to their initial and urgent concern, which is the demanding typesetting job involving the integration of the Latin script during the transition and printing all in Latin after the implementation day. The next section reveals this effort.

## **6.3. Typographic evolution**

It is evident that type is the backbone of a newspaper. It also determines the colour and general look of a page. As John Berry stated:

Despite the importance of photography and various kinds of graphic images, the fundamental visual identity of a newspaper is set in its type. The text type is what we actually read, when we read a story; the display type is where we get the gist of what's there to peruse. The secret history of newspaper design [...] is in its typography.<sup>54</sup>

**<sup>52</sup>** Albert A. Sutton, *Design and Makeup of the Newspaper* (United States: Greenwood Press, 1948), p.349.

<sup>53</sup> Ibid, p.359-360.

<sup>54</sup> John Berry, ed., Contemporary Newspaper Design: Shaping the News in the Digital Age - Typography



ملاحت وجهيهده صاچلر 2 طاؤلق \_ داءالثماب قبالرك عموما وباخود قسما دوكولمسنه « داءالثملب \_ طازانی Alopésie ، دینیرکه واسم لانينجه Alogex كمهسندن مأخوذ و قبلترى دوكولەن جلدك طازىيە تشيېندن منبعندر. صام-calvitie بالكر صاجلرك سقوطنه علم اولش r In leter calvis chanve the tes آلنمشدر . اسکی رومالیلر صنعی ســـتر ایجون باشلريته دفته داللرندن اكليللو يابديريرلردى . صلع اكثرياباشك سربوش ايله مستوراو لانقسمندن

Figure 6.28 Non-Turkish names written in the Latin script within the text in *Cumhuriyet* (Left - 1 August 1928) and in *Milliyet* (Above - 28 July 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library In this case, the use of type is important and decisive in newspaper design for developing an identity or voice, it is therefore one of the most vital elements for observing and revealing the alphabet change process. From this point of view, the transition between two alphabets that have different nature of letterforms can bring a radical change of appearance of the page. So, before analysing the typographic changes in particular sections, such as headlines, body text, masthead etc, in detail, how the first adoption was in each newspapers and to what extent the newspapers integrated the Latin script during the transition period will be discussed.

## Integration of the Latin script

In this section, first, a detailed account of the initial appearances of Latin will be presented in order to understand the similar approaches that were used in the transition period, and then the extent of the Latin integration in broadsheet newspapers during the transition period will be examined more briefly. By doing this, it is aimed to reflect how Turkish printers and publications dealt with the demand of the new Turkish characters that mostly lacked in the transition period typefaces. So this part reveals how they reacted to this first encounter with the new script and found the ways to cope with it.

Apart from one paper, *Milliyet*, which introduced its first content in Latin (a small article) on 3 August (seven days before the announcement) and continued this practice on daily basis, broadsheet newspapers started to set small parts of their content in Latin script, approximately between five and ten days after the announcement of the new alphabet. This attitute is remarkable and revolutionary when the short time to achieve this task is considered. So it makes one think that the preparations of broadsheets were earlier than the announcement day as considering the strong ties of newspapermen with the government and the reformers. Despite a possible early precautional preparations, still it should not be forgotten that the typesetters who knew how to set in Latin were very few in numbers; and they must have had this skill, which they probably gained from their previous experience with foreign publications long before the reform rumours.

The first content printed with Latin letters by newspapers was mostly the new alphabet tables.<sup>55</sup> In terms of the first Latin appearances in both alphabet lessons/tables and newspaper content, *Cumhuriyet, Milliyet* and *İkdam* were the first papers to introduce it. However, before the idea of the reform, apart from advertisements that were partially in Latin, we see non-Turkish names written in the Latin script within the text occasionally, as in the case of *Cumhuriyet* and *Milliyet* (*Fig.6.28*). Among the papers *Milliyet*, *Cumhuriyet* and *İkdam*, only *Milliyet* published a small article in Latin first,

and Image on Modern Newsprint (United States: Mark Batty Publisher, 2004), p.12.55 These tables and lessons are examined in the next section thoroughly, so they will not be mentioned here. For the alphabet lessons, see section 6.4. 'Teaching the alphabet', p.253-67.



**Figure 6.30** First content in the Latin script in *Cumhuriyet* (14 August 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library

dim. Riyâset-i cümhur khâtib-i umumîsi namina *M. TEVFIK* 

«Vatanda, slar, yeni türk harflerini çabuk ôyrenini<sup>z</sup>bu harfleri bü. tün millete, kôylüy<mark>e, çobana, hamala, sandalciya ôyretiniz bu nu vatan perverlik ve millietperverlik vazifesi biliniz.» (millimitemi</mark>

Figure 6.31 First content in the Latin script as headline in Ikdam (20 August 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey

whereas *Cumhuriyet* and *İkdam* only shared initial non-approved alphabet tables, starting from 1 August (*Cumhuriyet*) and 3 August (*İkdam*) until the announcement of the new alphabet on 10 August.<sup>56</sup>

## Milliyet

Unlike all the other papers, *Millivet* contained Latin content before the announcement both because of its speedy adoption and its accurate execution of the text, compared to the efforts of most other newspapers. Apart from the fact that the Latin type was used for the body text of a small article with a heading in Arabic script, one thing that stands out in this typeface was the presence of letters s (*s* with cedilla) and  $\ddot{q}$  (*q* with breve). These were letters unique to the new Turkish alphabet and not present in some of the transition-period typefaces. They were therefore substituted throughout this period mostly with the use of the letter *q* without breve and a comma before and after the letter *s* (*Fig.6.29*). The typeface used for this initial content has broad inflected Latin letters, such as  $\hat{a}$  and  $\hat{i}$  (letter *a* and *i* with circumflex) and the letters *ö*, *ü* and *ő*, *ű* both as short and long umlauted vowels. Alongside the presence of the new Turkish letters, however, one letter was missing – I (dotted capital *I*), also unique to Turkish. This clearly shows that the typeface was not designed for the new Turkish alphabet, even though it included most of the new Turkish letters. This particular typeface was used throughout the transition period, though it was not the most preferred typeface for body text.

### Cumhuriyet

It was the only paper that showed its title in Latin letters for the first time on 1 August. Apart from the alphabet tables (mentioned in the next section), the very first Latin content appeared on 14 August, four days after the announcement, as a short article with a Latin heading and body text with different typefaces used. The execution of the body text was, like others, inadequate in using the additional Latin characters for the new alphabet, and as in *Cumhuriyet*, due to the lack of letters  $\hat{a}$ ,  $\hat{i}$ ,  $\check{g}$  and  $\ddot{u}$ , they used the same typeface that was initially used in *Milliyet*. As shown in Fig.6.30, there was some hesitation around the use of space in the name and title of addressees in the article. On the other hand, punctuation was well executed for the practice of setting Latin script.

## İkdam

The use of Latin alphabet for the first time appeared on 20 August, ten days after the announcement *(Appendix 5)*. The most apparent content printed in Latin was the one-page width headline (which is a quote from Atatürk)(*Fig.6.31*). The typeface used for the headline/quote on the front page is *Robur*, a type released by the French type foundry 'Deberny and Peignot' around 1909, which was a typeface that was also used in French publications in Turkey before.<sup>57</sup> As can be seen, it is a rounded and semiserif typeface. It is apparently acceptable that there is unusual typesetting

<sup>56</sup> These are shown in the section 'Teaching the alphabet', figure 6.78, p.254.57 See the figure 3.7a on p.70 for this typeface use in a publication in French.



**Figure 6.32** First content in the Latin script as an article in *İkdam* (20 August 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 6.33** First content in the Latin script as heading in *İkdam* (10 August 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey

المال المتعمل والتعليم المعلم

riike telä tensä» (2) Kur'andan inrar etti. ete (3)...] sûretinde okur. Bu iki cumle, noktasız arap hartleri-le aynı şekilde yazıldığı için, Taşkentliler, "Sunkur bey" in dediğine inanır-lar; ve, "Allah, Allah! kos koca âyeti kur'andan şeytan mi aşırdı acabâ?." diye söylenerek Kazana cevap verir-ler: "Aradığınız buraya gelmedi!"

Türk ırkının irfânını bunca zararlara sokan gerek noklalı, gerek noklasız arap harîlerinden bihakkin istifâde eden yeghâne türk, muhakkık ki, " Sunkur bey kalânîsi"-dir. Figure 6.34 *Akşam*'s content in the Latin script as the body text of a small article – shows that the same body text typeface (20 August 1928). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database on this headline. Some alien letters could be seen between the letters of *Robur* typeface due to the lack of type stock. But we also see the same invented usages<sup>58</sup> to supplement the new Turkish letters, such as s or  $\ddot{u}$ . Some other Turkish characters that differ from Latin were in stock, such as the letters *ü* and *ç* from Hungarian and French. Different from *Milliyet*'s typeface, a comma was used before the letter s, as a substitution for the letter *ş*. Also, for the letter *ö*, a circumflex was used instead of two points above it. Contrary to Milliyet's and Hakimiyet-i Milliye's body texts, some misprints, such as putting an unnecessary space between the characters and not setting the type according to the baseline during the composition, also existed in this headline. On the front page, only half of one column was set in Latin for a piece of editorial content. The typeface use for heading was a sans serif (Fig.6.32). This type was also used for setting some columnist names on the inside pages. The typeface used for the main text of this announcement is identified as Clarendon. However, the condition of the type is not good, probably because it was old, and was borrowed or bought in haste. As seen before, it is also possible to encounter the same misuse of type on this part of the announcement. The Turkish letters s,  $\ddot{o}$  and  $\ddot{q}$  are absent due to an insufficient type stock. In some lines, some letters from different type families were used in order to set these new letters. Also in relation to the lack of types, some letters were set as capitals, even though it is not the beginning of the sentence. The same problem also occurred with the types used on the second page. Different from these applications, there is another unidentified condensed, slab-serif typeface on the second and third pages that was used for headings (Fig.6.33). This type was also used on the front page to set the name of the Atatürk after his quote and as one of the typefaces that was used in French publications before.

### Akşam

It was another late introducer of Latin content like *İkdam*, though it differed in its low level of integration. Even though the newspaper published two alphabet tables/lessons on 5 August, the first content appeared ten days after the announcement on 20 August in the form of a headline and the hand-written note by Atatürk on the front page. This very short headline does not give any clue about the obstacles to the use of the new Turkish characters, except for the letter *a* with a closely attached circumflex. Similarly, an alphabet lesson with only a heading in Latin appeared on 22 August on the second page, but this time with a different typeface. However, another Latin appearance on 24 August - the body text of a small article - shows that the same body text typeface used in *Milliyet* was also used here with the same additional and missing Turkish characters (Fig.6.34). Despite the slightly bigger Latin heading printed a few days previously, there is no similar execution here in this bilingual heading of the article, but rather a plain setting without the letter capital *I* that the heading should have started with. Apparently, this paper was suffering from the lack of type stock for the new Turkish characters.

**<sup>58</sup>** This term is used to define the attempts of creating the new Turkish letters c,  $\dot{I}$ ,  $\ddot{g}$ ,  $\ddot{o}$ ,  $\ddot{s}$ ,  $\ddot{u}$  with cedilla, dot or breve.



**Figure 6.35** First content in the Latin script as an advertisement in *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* (18 August 1928). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

بروسەليلر سوكيلى غاز يلرينە قاووشديلر رئيس جمهورحضر تلرى بروسه مجلس عمومى صالونده ولايت اركانني يكى حرفلرديد امتحايد ERTUGRUL YATI 27 (a.a) — Gazi hazretleri Ismet paşaya dediler ki: — 26 ağustostan sende kalan intiba' ne.dir ? Ismet paşanın sâde ve kısa cevâbı şu oldu : - Karanlık, sarp daglardan zafer ve şeref güneşinin nasıl ve ne vasıtalar la doğduğunu daima hatırlarım. Bu kuvvetli i hatırama çok güvenerk beyan edebilir.im ki bugün yeni Türk harfleri . le cehâlete karşı açtığınız mücadelenin yarın için 26 ağustos zaferinden yüksek ve geniş saådet netîceleri vereceğini muhakkak ğöruyor.um .

**Figure 6.36** First content in the Latin script as body text in *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* (28 August 1928). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 6.37** The use of same typeface with the additional Turkish characters within an article in *Milliyet* (28 September 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library

Koca türk mil	etinin havirlı oldununa l	ekir dagı halkı kanâat getirdiyi, bu yazi	meselesinde suûr infik	al ve hilhacea
istical goster	mekte oldugunu görmek	benim için cidden büyük,	amma çok buyuk saadel	-tir.Gazi Mustafa Kemal
		زيارتارى ، ملت ايجون ، يكى	سرتلرينك تكمير داعى خلقني	غازی حف
مرفود کردن المنترين قرن ، منتظ المحافظ واص لوديدي کردن ، منتظ الديديون کردن کاريس شريده الديديون کردن کاريس شريده شريع روى وري مان ، بالا روان شير اختياده استاذ خلي وارن بار الميديو کرده ورون اوري من مان ، واري گيرداني کرده بر مياريم ميکي ميا کردنده مي گوده کي	ولي جهور هماري «الماري والمراري بيان جهور هماري - «اي دوموليدان الولير تكره الل اول هرن مسوح كروان المسابع - وران الله هرن محافي والمراس المواسيم الاركور رايا محمد والاسمي الاركور مالي والدي الوليس الوليس الولي		der blytik anma och blytik sam det etter für hume ellert agårt syn medbel karret eldeck-ter. Ar name nære spent tilte harf- lert-le, påfert kansplret tilte må- nert, elkipden var kangarate åre- tenden okkaler partik påfervenn ik för namarar besti ggjør ellev. For yalne, ho gjön Tele Eggätter- de vallige ritt ver han äller.	Teller dapanden film gleve priort harre- terrenn gene Breise i einheft harret- ber i filmstamm på och forsen i berjar begrende-har : 
بران روان با مرد این مرد از داده مراک بران روان رواند ، اعتوار با برای مراک ری حوات ارواند، از اورین از ماخل این اید ی برای مادی ومتری ماخلی اظلا بار برای اروا بروان از دادن الرومیشان	یکی او تریز دارد . در سالیزد هم از من او توزین بالریزل قرل مرغور در ال نسیت ایک او قالوی کردم . هز : از در ، معویتر واطاطاطاهیدند بری معلو اولایی هزت مسلوی رون هایتر تکریدومون مسافستی	X	<ul> <li>yahne bana dahi situkden kari ola- rak beyin edeblar-inn ki hatia tark milieti ba mesetede banis gefeliginnd, benin hin estigana yana ngörentia ve higi etnisti elim tik kata hatida ve guirtu olan tirk milieti, kendi- nin retilinna, itilassna bineti, kendi- nin retilinna, itilassna bineti, sende- den bei hayikit edegelenekite edidgelene den bei hayikit edegelenekite edidgelene</li> </ul>	öğrenmiş-lerdir diyebilir-im, Memirların khaflesini bözat insthar, etim, Soluklarda ve dikkanlarda hatı bi tenirinder' yazımak ve okumak bilmeyenlerin hiçi yazımak ve okumak bilmeyenlerin tirki haritar-le derind 'sünyet es- miş olünkanım gördüm, Henu ce-
برد. آری شهره من برند. دمانی ، وجدای بوقدو عزم وضلیته تزله که قراروپرمش اولان بویوك ملتمك استقبالی قصوو ایتک	الدينة عليه مراوع من مساميري الدينة عليه كثيري جريك سترست برطارة مسلكتير داخل دياطه ستيل برطارة مسلكتير والحك ماشر، برطوم ما الحل جوم موسعيت		ni artık temyle eytediği bölün modul ve mlarevi mönleri, mulaklada parça parça ederek erladan kaldı- racak-dir. Bunda artık ağılışıre ma- hul yok-dar. Dönligan, vicdilmi bu kadar azm ve kafiyet-bi temile- mele kardır vermiş odan böyük	Luda, salahiyendar mekkendan bat- dikanden geçmiş, bir reibber ol- madan, hemuz esillet mualimleri deliket fafiliyetine geçmeden koza türk müclünin hayırlı oktoğuna ka- nkat getiretiği, bu yarı menefesinde hi kadır yulusek şadır ve entikal

**Figure 6.38** An attempt at the equalisation with the Arabic alphabet in *İkdam* (24 August 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey
#### Hakimiyet-i Milliye

Apart from the first alphabet appearances on 18 and 23 August, the first Latin content in the newspaper *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* was an advertisement, appearing as a short text set in italics (Fig.6.35). It can be seen that despite the existence of the letter *a* with circumflex, it is not sufficient to complete the text, as the letter *s* was substituted with *s* and a comma and the letter  $\hat{a}$  in the same way with a regular type. Five days later, the newspaper introduced its first serious content in Latin script on the front page, though it was the last to do this. This content was similarly set with the attempt of hybridising its primer typeface with the additional Latin characters unique to the new Turkish alphabet, from the same typeface initially used in *Milliyet (Fig.6.36).*<sup>59</sup> But as can be seen from the figure, this attempt created an unsettled text with letters appearing to move around the baseline. Interestingly, this primer typeface used by *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* was used in Millivet afterwards, but this time with the additional Latin characters (Fig.6.37). This might show the relationship between these two newspapers, as they had a shared lead writer, Falih Rıfkı [Atay], who was also an MP. This situation suggests that while *Millivet* made some early preparations by providing the missing additional Latin characters in this initial typeface before the official announcement, Hakimiyet-i Milliye might have borrowed these characters from *Millivet* after the announcement, considering the ties between them. The execution of the setting of this initial content also varies in these two newspapers. In the context of fast adoption, *Millivet* set the text differently from the content in Arabic script, as it can be seen from the setting of the punctuation. However, Hakimiyet-i Milliye imitated the previous experience with the Arabic script.

#### Summary

As can be seen from the explanations above, newspapers had their own way of presenting the first Latin content and they did this in different timeframes with a considerably ambitious attitude. However, despite starting to adapt to the alphabet change immediately and contrary to what might be expected - increasing Latin content gradually until making the content completely Latin - the general approach during the transition period was to publish only one or two columns of brief news and announcements in the Latin script, except for *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, which published its first and second page entirely in Latin (Appendix 5). In other newspapers, we do not see an invasion of Latin alphabet use, but in some issues it is possible to see some attempts at the equalisation with the Arabic alphabet (*Fig.6.38*), as in the cases of *İkdam* and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*. In addition to printing an entire article in Latin during the transition, the habit of printing headings in Latin on inside pages and one-page width headlines and quotes of Atatürk in Latin were common practices. On the other hand, writing author names in Latin differently from its content

**<sup>59</sup>** Although the quality of pictures is not good enough to confirm, it seems that they are the same typeface.

in the Arabic script was also seen occasionally. Nevertheless, first pages served as a display area, and were subject to the most alterations with the introduction of the Latin content – they became the most obvious, informative device through which the primary, visible indications of the reform could be observed.

Integrating the content in Latin script, both as headline, headings and body text varied day to day, and was not systematic at all. The general tendency was that while the introduction of the Latin script accelerated in September and increased dramatically in October, a slow decrease in its use was apparent in late October, and this continued in November until the full adoption on 1 December. The extent of this practice was also different in every newspaper.<sup>60</sup> If we look at them individually, *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* introduced the most Latin content compared to the others by printing the half of the newspaper (three of six pages) in Latin (Appendix 5). The front page along with two inside pages was printed entirely in Latin throughout the transition period.<sup>61</sup> Taking a similar approach, *Millivet* followed Hakimiyet-i Milliye with its front pages all in Latin during October. In terms of the most and least Latin content, *İkdam* was in the middle, with its steady and balanced adoption on each page and use of different components, such as headline, headings, body text, author name, advertisement and section head. *Cumhuriyet* also had a similar approach in printing the different components in Latin script, but showed less willingness compared to *İhdam*. Despite *Cumhuriyet*'s increase in use in the beginning of September, there was a serious decrease towards the end of the month. In particular, the last page, with a Latin masthead, was allocated for the content in Latin, along with advertisements, on 29 September, moving Latin content from the other inside pages, except for some small headings gathered on inside pages. After 15 November, the last page started to be used as only an advertisement page again, and the integration of Latin content on inside pages increased, despite a decrease in the last of couple of days before the implementation day. Compared to all the newspapers, Aksam was the slowest and least enthusiastic in terms of integration (Appendix 5). The reason for that could be the effort to change the format and layout and focusing on these issues rather than spending time in the integration of Latin content and solving related typesetting issues. Moreover, it did not show any consistency and plan in doing so and its efforts were variable over this period. But this does not mean that the newspaper failed to cope with the implementation in the later stages; the reason simply could be the lack of resources or saving time for the preparations needed for the big change, which is the format and layout change.

Problems regarding the integration of Latin script also appeared within this

**<sup>60</sup>** To observe the changes on all newspapers' appearances from selected dates, see also Appendix 4, p.353-7.

**<sup>61</sup>** Unfortunately, the November and December issues of *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* are missing in libraries, so it is not possible to trace the adoption until the implementation day. But it is possible to determine that the high integration of the Latin content must have remained in the further days, as there was a steady and decisive increase in the adoption.

4 : 44 قتصاد کثاری ادخالات و اخراجاعز كاغد وكاغده متعلق اشالر انجويد سدده خارم 3168594 لرا ور بورز مقوا ( عادی، خادم، ایکی بوزی سرت وقطر انلی كاغد وتطبيقاتى فصلى دينيلن كاغده متفرع اشبالر و ا\_غال: ) 208145 ، جلالي عادي مقوا ، ايجون سنهده خارجه ويرديكمز بإرابى شـوصورتله نثبت ابده سليرز : تريينات. مقوا قوطى ومقوا بورى 139720، غير مطبوع وذننسز وحلالي وحلاستر اعلا مقوالر كاغد اعمالنه مخصوص هرجنس مجاوره واسكى ايب (فوطوغرافه مخصوص مقوالرده داخلدر) 18299، وخلاط وسائر قابل نسج اولان مواد خردملری ؛ آغاج وصان خوری و۔لولوز و۔اثرہ کی کاغد مطبوع ویا سوسلی مقوالر ، قارت وستال ، مکتوب قارتى ، قارت دوويزيت ، سوسلى ، قوا قوطيلر ، ممك اعمالنه مخصوص ليني مواد 850 ، صارغيلق كاغد (قیرمه لی ، قیرمه سز) وقطرانلی کاغد 726009 که ایسته ای ، تقویم آرقه اری و۔ اثر مطبوع ومنی ن مقوالر 61678 ، اوبونكاغدى 1954 ، جلدسز جماً 726859 ليرادر. يوزد، ين (22,93)در. مطبعه و یازی کاغدلری : هادی مطبعه کاغدلری آناز معدوعه وقاتالوغار 18979 ، .كمت كمتا بلرى 198284 ، كسامەمش يازى كاغدى وابى مطسه ( بزلی ویا مقوا قابلی ) وسائر کتابلر ؛ خریطهلر ، كاغدى 386871 ، مكتوباتى كسيلمش كاغد جدوللر 35043 ، موسيق نوطاسي ۽ محکوك ر- ملر ؛ كاغد مودمالر ، كاغد و. قوادن مممول اشاق (طدى وظرفى عينى كاغددن) 138128 مكتوباق زينت كاغدى ( يلديزلي ، مطبوع ، الوان، ترسته ومعولات 127,472 لمراك جداً 611,290 تقلیدی ) و بو جنس کاغددن معمول ظرف ليرادر . بوزد. نسبق ( 19,30 ) در . يوصورنله جله خلك يكونى 3168594 ليرا 11570، سونكر و سوزكج كاغدى 6985 ، زماره كاغدى وبرداخت وحك ابتمكه مخصوص جام اتمكدور .

**Figure 6.39** The use of Latin numerals in various places in *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* (8 September 1928). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 6.40** No attempt at harmonization of the type styles and sizes for Latin numerals in *İhdam* (2 September 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey

period, such as the lack of harmony of Latin numerals within the content in the Arabic script (and even their disharmonious type styles within the Latin script content during the transition) and other typographical oddities due to the lack of type stocks and the inexperience of typesetters in setting Latin types. So before revealing the typographic changes, it is important to mention these problems, as they will enlighten the similar issues discussed in further sections of this thesis.

#### Latin numerals

Before the reform, Latin numerals started to be used in newspapers, such as in the masthead, headlines and body text (*Fig.6.39*). This use was deliberate once the idea of alphabet change emerged. A law was passed in the parliament on 28 May 1928 for the use of Latin numerals in order to pave the way for the alphabet change. Up until the announcement of the reform and during the transition period, a typographic variation was employed for body text and headings, which is the use of Latin numerals and words alongside text printed in Arabic letters. Unlike the practice of contemporary Arabic newspapers that Nemeth mentioned,<sup>62</sup> this practice was temporary, so it was not taken seriously or carefully thought out. As a consequence, there were no attempts at harmonization of the type styles and sizes (*Fig.6.40*). There are many identified styles for the numerals printed throughout the transition period, either in sans serif or serif styles. The typeface families they belong to could not be identified though, due to the same issue with the transition types.<sup>63</sup>

### The state of typographic practice before the reform

In the Turkish context, the state of the newspaper type was one of the reasons to change the Arabic script and remove the hard labour of typesetting, which was a great obstacle considering the fast pace of the task. But not all concerns were related to productivity; the aesthetic of a newspaper page also mattered. When Titus Nemeth discusses the visual identity of contemporary Arabic newspapers, he observed the weak visual voice and homogenous look of these publications due to the lack of typeface choices and insufficiency of their production.<sup>64</sup> It is possible to say that this problem is also relevant to the newspapers before the reform.

Another significant issue is the choice of typefaces before the reform. Unfortunately, due to lack of literature on Arabic type production, it is not possible to identify every single typeface used in reform period

**<sup>62</sup>** Titus Nemeth, "The Current State of Arabic Newspaper Type and Typography," (MA diss., University of Reading, 2006), p.23.

**<sup>63</sup>** To summarize, they were temporarily used types, so in general they had no type family or any other variations.

**<sup>64</sup>** Ibid, p.27.

newspapers. However, an empirical approach can be followed to make a reasonable assumption on whether the typefaces were the same because, as stated earlier, there were only few typefaces widely used to print the publications of the era. When compared to others, only *İkdam* had the privilege to use a typeface cast for itself. The newspaper published an announcement in 1899 regarding the new types.<sup>65</sup> According to the article, the person who cut this type was Haçik Kevorkyan, an Armenian type cutter who was most prolific at the time. The type was not named, but was commemorated with its creator. There is no written statement that *İkdam* used the same types in the transition period, but following the type examples taken from Kevorkyan's work, it becomes possible to identify similarities between the types. Regarding the typefaces in other newspapers, it is likely that although the types are not exactly identical, there is a possibility that they were copied from the Kevorkyan's type used in *İkdam*.

### Mastheads 66

This particular part contains the most important core information about a newspaper. It would be fair to say that this is a section where readers initially look and get the first impression about the newspaper. So in a way, its function is to serve as a window on the newspaper, or as Sutton describes, 'it serves much the same purpose as the title printed on the cover of a book or at the beginning of an article: it identifies the newspaper and gives some significant facts about the publication.' A masthead mainly consists of the nameplate,<sup>67</sup> the ears<sup>68</sup> and the dateline, which contains the date, price and the number of the newspaper. Apart from these, there might be a slogan or the motto of the newspaper, which is generally situated beneath the nameplate. The ears could be used for more detailed information, such as the editorial board, subscription information, prices and contact details (address/telephone). On some occasions, it is also possible to see announcements, news and weather notices. The Turkish newspapers in the transition period shared these common features also seen in most European newspapers. Furthermore, the execution of a one page-width masthead, which was also a convention in the Western publications, remained the same before and after the Latin adoption.

After the decision of newspapers to introduce the Latin script, the search for a nameplate in Latin was one of the initial concerns of the newspapers.

**<sup>65</sup>** Alpay Kabacalı, *Başlangıcından Günümüze Türkiye'de Matbaa, Basın Ve Yayın* (İstanbul: Literatür Yayincilik, 2000), p.103.

**<sup>66</sup>** Although different terms 'Title-piece' (Hutt) and 'Nameplate' (Sutton) were used in the old literature (around the 1930s), and 'masthead' referred to the 'section head' instead (in Sutton), I prefer to use 'masthead' as it is defined in some of the recent literature on newspaper design and also as in the newspaper terminology of *The Guardian*.

<sup>67</sup> Nameplate: The name of the newspaper in the form of a logo or seal.

**<sup>68</sup>** Ears are 'text or graphic elements on either side of a newspaper's flag'; see Tim Harrower and Julie M. Elman. *The newspaper designer's handbook*. (WCB, Brown & Benchmark Publishers, 1997), p.224.



**Figure 6.41** The nameplate of *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, 1 September 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 6.42** The use of colour in the nameplate of *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* during the transition period (Above: 30 August 1928, below: 23 September 1928). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



Figure 6.43 The positioning of the old nameplate in the ears in Milliyet, 11 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk

However, not all of them shared the same urge for this change and took different paths. Still, it was one of the important precursors to the introduction of Latin during the transition.

### Hakimiyet-i Milliye

The nameplate before the reform was in naskh style and was created by a cliché (plate) rather than setting types. The treatment on typesetting was not plain; the technique called *istif*<sup>69</sup> was applied (*Fig.6.41*), so it looked more decorative than a regular setting. However, the quality of the execution was not very good; the letters were not cut properly, as can be seen in the uneven strokes. Two decorative boxes were placed in the ears. The masthead was printed in Latin for the first time on 2 September, but it was partially in the old script apart from the nameplate and the primary information. The style of the masthead was changed by abandoning the boxes in the ears and placing a dateline under the nameplate. On 23 September, this section was presented completely in Latin. The old version of the nameplate was often printed in red before, and we also see the same practice within the transition period (Fig.6.42). Another interesting change was made during this period; the initial nameplate in Latin, which was also a white-lined blackletter, was changed and a nameplate in the same style (with the white-line in the type this time not functioning as shadow, but rather as part of the letters) replaced it on 23 October. The style of the masthead did not change until February, two months after the implementation. The boxes were placed in the ears again to allow for publishing one-sentence news headings or announcements.

### Milliyet

Before the reform, plain typesetting in naskh style on the nameplate was preferred for this newspaper; no other decorative elements were used, and though information in the ears and a dateline existed, it was written plainly. On 27 August, an announcement appeared to present the new nameplate in Latin, which was a white-lined blackletter typeface. Two days later, the new and the old nameplates and the dates in two scripts were printed together for the next three days. Afterwards, on 2 September, the nameplate in the Arabic script was positioned vertically in an odd way situated on both sides of the Latin nameplate (*Fig.6.43*). This practice lasted until 28 September and the masthead started to be written all in Latin from this date. But at the time of the implementation, the previously used nameplate was changed and the same blackletter typeface that was also used for *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* was preferred. Apart from the changes in the nameplate, two decorative boxes were also placed in the ears (*Appendix 4*). From this point, the masthead remained the same without any change.

**<sup>69</sup>** This is a technique where words and letters were set (either side by side, or as stacked) to create a more harmonised and decorative look.



Figure 6.44 The masthead of Cumhuriyet before the transition period, 10 August 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 6.45 The announcement of the name in Latin, 1 August 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 6.46 A reader survey for the new Latin nameplate, 1 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 6.47 The Latinised masthead in the last page (29 September 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 6.48 The masthead printed all in Latin (1 December 1928). Image source: Atatürk Library

#### Cumhuriyet

Apart from *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, this was the only other newspaper that had its nameplate printed in red. But unlike that newspaper, *Cumhuriyet* used this colour daily. Before the reform, a plain naskh type was used for the style of nameplate, as was the case for most newspapers (*Fig.6.44*). The newspaper unexpectedly shared its nameplate in Latin within an article ten days before the alphabet announcement, on 1 August (*Fig.6.45*). On 1 and 2 September, over half a month after the announcement, the newspaper published four different suggestions for its Latin nameplate, and asked its readers to choose one of them. In this selection, two nameplates were written in uppercase, and the other two in lowercase (*Fig.6.46*).

The first Latin appearance in the masthead was in name of the head author on 20 August and nine days later, the title 'subscription conditions' was written in Latin as well. On 5 September, the newspaper asked its readers to choose a nameplate again. After the survey results, a new nameplate, in serif and italic styles and different from the ones in the survey, was released within an article on 23 September. Although they did not use the readers' selection, this act (doing a survey) points to an important but rare occasion at the time in that they valued the readers' opinion and tried to understand their preferences and familiarity on a design and typographic related issue. Within one week, this newly created nameplate was printed only in the last page's masthead (*Fig.6.47*). This situation lasted until the implementation day, when the masthead was written entirely in Latin. Despite the existing Latin nameplate on the last page, a new one was introduced in a different style, not a serif and italic, but a sans serif typeface (*Fig.6.48*). The content of the masthead including the nameplate was framed differently from the previous issues.

### Akşam

*Akşam* was the only newspaper that did not make any change to this part during the transition. Not a single piece of content was changed into Latin before the implementation. As mentioned before, it could be the case because of focusing mainly on format and layout change for the postreform period. The short period (between May and August) for the adoption of Latin in numerals must have worried *Akşam*'s newspapermen more and gave them a reason to print numerals in two scripts side by side. After the full adoption, all the content in the masthead was written in Latin. The typeface chosen for the nameplate was different from other newspapers, but similar in terms of its white-lined blackletter style.

## İkdam

Before the alphabet reform, *İkdam*'s masthead consisted of a nameplate and two pictorial sections for information relating to communication, advertisement policy, issue date/number and subscription. The nameplate was clearly created with apparent influence from the calligraphic tradition



Figure 6.49 The masthead of İhdam before the reform (11 August 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey



Figure 6.50 The masthead of İkdam during the transition period (11 October 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey

of Turkey (Fig.6.49). When compared with other Turkish newspapers from the era, *İkdam* has more of a logo style, in the form of a circle filled with decorative elements alongside the letters of *İhdam*. This approach is not unusual though, considering the Ottoman craftsmanship of seals. The nameplate remained the same during the transition period, but changed on the day of the implementation of the alphabet, and was printed in Latin type. The new type is in blackletter style, as was a common practice among transition-period newspapers. The logotype was also accompanied by the image of a globe, unlike the other newspapers that used only typographical nameplates (Fig.6.50). This brought a challenge for İkdam. Designs that use pictorial elements are a greater challenge than plain lettering as there is more to get in the way of a strong message. Jim Parkinson notes that the image needs to harmonise with the letters in terms of colour, size and prominence and that 'the illustration should read instantly, and it shouldn't attach too much attention to itself and away from the name of the paper'.<sup>70</sup> Considering this point, in the case of *İkdam*, the use of the globe integrated with the logotype as a whole piece might be linked to the previous design in the ears, most probably to sustain readers' familiarity with it after the reform as well.

Unlike the nameplate, the alphabet used in the two pictorial boxes changed during the transition period. Latin numerals were already being used before the reform, but the switch from Arabic to Latin in this part appeared first on 10 September 1928, one month after the announcement. After the implementation, all the information previously situated in the ears within a box, apart from the subscription information and price, was placed in a bar below the nameplate. The space in the ears was used only for the new slogan, the number of the issued pages and various announcements. In this way, they gained a clean and modern look and more space to publish extra content such as announcements or short weather notices.

### Summary

In this particular section, there are both common occurrences and unique cases related to the design decisions made due to the script change. The first of these shared occurrences was the use of the same typefaces that were preferred for the body text. With this decision, we can conclude that there was no special treatment for the masthead style. The other occurrence was the change in the position of information in the masthead. Before the change, the box with contact details was placed on the right side and the box with subscription information and ads policy was positioned on the left side. This positioning of the content was the case for all transition-period newspapers. However, not all of them were willing to make a change to this part. First, *İkdam* positioned these pieces of content/ boxes the opposite way round during the transition period. Then, by the day of the implementation, *Milliyet* and *Cumhuriyet* adopted the same practice.

**<sup>70</sup>** Jim Parkinson, "More Than You Ever Wanted to Know about Nameplates," in *Contemporary newspaper design*, ed. J. D. Berry (New York: Mark Batty, 2004), p.166.

This indicates that there was a motivation behind the positioning of boxes due to the different reading direction of scripts. The editors might have been aiming to instruct readers first with the contact information box.

Another similar experience occurred around confusion over the choice of the nameplate's typeface. If we exclude the change in *Cumhuriyet*'s initial nameplate used in the last page's masthead, during the transition, two newspapers changed their nameplates' typeface in Latin twice. These papers were *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* and *Milliyet*. Considering this confusion and the attempts made, one might think that they were investigating the best solution for this part. However, this was not the issue.<sup>71</sup> Because both used the same two typefaces when they changed their nameplates twice. Hutt's warning on the choice of nameplate reveals an important consideration, however:

There is the evident importance of association. A distinctive title line (nameplate), like a good trademark, helps to build a positive association in the minds of readers and potential readers.<sup>72</sup>

Apparently, the transition period newspapers were not aware of the importance of distinctiveness as they chose similar typefaces for their nameplates - except Cumhuriyet, which was the only paper to ask its readers to choose between the options for its new Latin nameplates. Furthermore, the option selected was typographically a unique choice compared to the blackletter typefaces widely used in the new nameplates of the other transition-period newspapers. The reason why readers chose the new nameplate for *Cumhuriyet*, written in a modern, sans serif typeface in contrast to other newspapers, could be its legibility and the desire for a new and modern look that would suit to this important reform.<sup>73</sup> In parallel with this, the reason why other newspapers chose their nameplates in blackletter style could be explained in many ways: one reason could be the conservative nature of the society, while another could be getting inspiration from the European newspapers that they always admired. A final reason could be the nation's significant calligraphic past, the familiarity, and making associations between these old and new nameplates even though they are in different scripts.

As in *Cumhuriyet*'s unique position with its nameplate typography, there were other exceptional cases such as the use of numerals in both scripts, as in *Akşam*'s masthead. As explained earlier, they might have had concerns about whether the public had not familiarised themselves with Latin numerals sufficiently. So, they may have thought that there was no logic in using Latin numerals only, when full Latin adoption was to be implemented in a few months' time in any case.

**<sup>71</sup>** We do not exactly know what the motivation behind changing the Latin nameplate twice was, due to the lack of further evidence.

<sup>72</sup> Allen Hutt, Newspaper Design (London: Oxford University Press, 1961), p.240.

**<sup>73</sup>** This version is still in use today with some minor alterations.

طوزله ايجمه لرنده بركون .. منبع او كنده كيلر صايبورلر دى:اللى،اللى بر .. شماردةادى بتربه كمرنجى دارداغى قالدردى . راننده كى اركىكلىددە طاقت قالمامشدى . جايلمك محبورا ويديلر

Ruq'ah Naskh Ruq'ah

ارجه وراسه نينك طسمت حادثه وقو تلريى ده كندى آرزو واراده زرام ومنقاد ايده جكى ظن ايديبوردى حتى جبهده بولنان قوجه منه بازديني مكتوبده ، راسبو تيك عسكري حركاني اشکال ایدن سیسه بعدما مانع اولهجغنی بیلدیردی

Ruq'ah

Small sized Naskh



Ruq'ah

Naskh

ادیج تولدی! مجاك بولومي بوغو سلاوياده يكي ى روخامت صفحه سى كشادا تدى وضعبت زاولاجق ؟ مرداندك فناربت اداربه طلى اك قطعى شكلنده بالحلوق ورمك استعداد دود

Ruq'ah

Naskh Small sized Naskh

Ruq'ah Small sized Ruq'ah



Naskh

Ruq'ah

Small sized Naskh

Small sized Ruq'ah

**Figure 6.51** Headline & headings variations, in *Akşam* (First three from the top), and *Milliyet* (last two), 10 August 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 6.52** Kufic style heading, in *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, 10 August 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

In relation to all these issues, it is unsurprising that unwanted errors/ results occurred as well. Although no other mistakes related to the orthography or the detail of design of the mastheads were found during and after the reform, on one occasion, the nameplate in *Milliyet* was placed upside down six days after the full Latin adoption, most likely because of the haste of the implementation.

### Headline and headings

Headlines and headings were the most obvious components where one could observe the integration of the Latin script and the most altered parts regarding their function and importance in newspaper design after the reform. This was due to the use of more diverse variants in Latin types, both in size and style. Contrary to previous parts, this section analyses the broadsheets in a comparative way under two main headings: 1) Variations and 2) Typefaces, in four different periods: a) before the reform, b) during the transition, c) after the implementation, and d) further changes.

# Before the reform

## Variations

Before the reform, we do not see headlines in large sizes (one page-width or less) in all the transition period newspapers, like we are used to seeing today, due to the lack of production of large-sized Arabic types before the reform year. Therefore, there was no single dominant headline, or even a hierarchy or level of importance between these parts. Moreover, they used decorative dashes/separators to differentiate the same size, and sometimes same style headlines and headings. But instead there are sub-headlines, which are not very different from the regular headings preferred for short pieces of content. So, there was no strong distinction between the typographic decisions for headlines and headings. The only differentiating factor was the difference in type styles.

## Typefaces

News headings on the front page generally had the same weight as the subheadlines, but were less diverse in alphabet and type style. Similar to the type measures of subheadlines on front pages, the weight and size of the types used for the headings on the inside pages were the same. Of course, this was only true before the transition period. Even though the ruq'ah style dominated in headlines and headings, the naskh style was also used as another type choice in different sizes. This practice was valid for all the reform period newspapers, and we see many variations to overcome the differentiation problem (Fig.6.51). Only the newspaper Hakimiyet-i *Millive* used kufic style in headings, unlike the others (*Fig.6.52*). Even though there were kufic style types in 12, 16 and 48 points by the typographer Kevorkyan, there is no sign that they were preferred in the newspapers' headlines or headings because this style has a more decorative use and do not fulfil the aim of newspapers' instant interaction with the reader and its state of being more ephemeral, compared to magazines, which had more ornamental typographic arrangements at that time.



**Figure 6.53** Transition period newspapers headline and headings, 10 October 1928 (From the top: *Hakimiyet-i Milliye, Akşam, Milliyet, Cumhuriyet, İkdam*). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database, Atatürk Library, The National Library of Turkey



Figure 6.54 Headings in two scripts in *İkdam* (Left) and *Akşam* (Right), 10 October 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database, The National Library of Turkey

## **During the transition period** Variations

During this period, due to the integration of Latin content, not every newspaper published their headlines and headings in Latin. To measure the Latin headlines and headings from the most used to the least, Hakimiyet-i Millive has the most headlines and headings in Latin, with its two pages printed all in the same script. However, this paper did not have a dominant headline, but instead one- and two-column-width headings were used. After this paper, *Millivet* preferred Latin headlines and headings mostly on its first page, although there was no dominant headline, as in Hakimiyet-i Milliyet. However, two other newspapers, Akşam and İkdam, showed a similar approach and published one-page-width headlines different from the prereform period. So in a way, they showed the sign of embracing the approach of Western broadsheets printed in Latin, which has one-page width headline practice. Apart from this, while *İkdam* printed more headings both on its first page and inside pages, Aksam only had a heading in Latin on its second page. Cumhuriyet - unlike its Latin-embracing approach one month earlier - surprisingly did not set any of its headlines and headings in Latin on its initial pages, except on the last page, which had a Latin masthead.

With the introduction of Latin script use, the variety of these components changed in a very unusual way (*Fig.6.53*). The two- or three-part headings harmonised both Latin and Arabic scripts, as was the most applied practice in *Milliyet*. On the first page, it was possible to see four different forms of this component. Only *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* and *Cumhuriyet* did not apply this practice. Their headlines and headings were either only in Latin or Arabic. *İkdam* and *Akşam*, on the other hand, used two scripts together more moderately (*Fig.6.54*). Although the exact reason why they had different approaches on this matter is not known, considering their close watch on each other, they still aimed to familiarise the reader with the Latin script with the integration in different forms eventually.

## Typefaces

The Latin types used at this time were identical in all newspapers, except for *İkdam*. Even though the execution of headline/headings typesetting was full of typographical oddities, the typefaces in use were more well known and in a decent form, compared to the ones in other papers. There was only one typeface *İkdam* shared with other newspapers, but otherwise it exclusively used *Clarendon* and *Robur (Fig.6.53)*. For the other newspapers, there were three shared typefaces, two of which were sans serif types in big sizes and which looked alike. The other shared one was mainly used at the bottom of the heading stacks and was a condensed serif type in a smaller size. Apart from typeface choices, no capital letters were used, except for one heading in *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*. It shows that they were at least paying attention to common use and practice in this sense. It is clear that there was shared practice in using the same typefaces, as these were used only as a substitution of the newly purchased types that include new Turkish characters, during the transition period.



**Figure 6.55** The headlines and headings in the implementation day, 01 December 1928. From the top: *İkdam, Milliyet, Cumhuriyet* and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* (10 September 1928). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database, Atatürk Library, The National Library of Turkey

## After the implementation Variations

On the first day of the implementation of Latin, *İkdam* and *Cumhuriyet* used one-page-wide headlines. However, while there were only inconspicuous headings in *İkdam*, *Cumhuriyet* set its page in a more sophisticated way by following one pattern for this part, even though the choice of style for heading was italic. So, it can be said that *Cumhuriyet* developed a more typographical awareness after the transition period among others. In the case of other newspapers, there was no dominant headline in Milliyet, but a one-page-sized box was placed at the top of the page to announce and celebrate the day. The rest of the page consisted mainly of one-column headings. Another newspaper notable for its early Latin use, Hakimiyet-i Milliye, had a weaker typographic voice despite the expectations and effort to include Latin content.<sup>74</sup> No one-page-width headline was used, but the size of the two headlines was considerably larger than previous use. Apart from that, there is not such a difference between the uses on the first page and inside pages in Hakimiyet-i Milliye (Fig.6.55). The most surprising and unexpected occurrence was that Aksam was not set all in Latin on the first day of the implementation, unlike its contemporaries. Only two headings in Latin were used on the first page. Ten days after this date, with the change in the format, the headline and heading variations did not change, but five different typefaces on the same page were used in these components (Fig.6.56). Also, the use of capitals for this part shows a more traditional approach which is more Victorian. No other newspaper used capitals as they were clearly aware of the fact that this execution is old-fashioned.

## Typeface

When the new alphabet was implemented, the variety of types used for headlines and headings was also changed. At this time, transition period newspapers preferred serif types mostly for headlines. Of the newspapers, only *İkdam* announced its new typeface – *Bodoni*, bought from the Berthold Type Foundry in Germany. All the newspapers had new typefaces, but they differed in the execution of the different styles. While the variations of headlines and headings in *İkdam*, *Cumhuriyet* and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* were more moderate, with the use of one typeface and its different sizes, the choices in *Akşam* and *Milliyet* were more random and indecisive in this sense.

Unlike in the transition period, the differentiation of this section was also created using different type sizes. Setting the headline and headings in different sizes created a hierarchy in the contents according to their importance. However, we can see that most of the time, this practice – attempts at differentiating different pieces of news – was not successful and consistent. In *Akşam* and *Milliyet* especially, many uses of different

**<sup>74</sup>** Unfortunately, it is not possible to know exactly what the first December issue of *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* looked like because of its absence from the archives and libraries. The earliest existing issue after the implementation is dated 2 January 1929.



Figure 6.56 The variation of type styles in the Latinised issue of *Akşam*, 11 December 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database, Atatürk Library



Ticaret odası da bu mesele ile meşgul oluyor Yiyeceğe dair olan bazı eşyanın ihracının men'i istenecek

Yarın Gazereni 12 Sahifedir

Edebiyatımız ne halde? İbnirrefik Ahmet Nûri bey ve temaşa hayatımız Şekispir meselesinde Ahmet Nûri bey de Hüseyin Suat beyin fikrinde... Ferdi tyatronada Darübeda Figure 6.57 Headline and heading variations in *Akşam* (13 February and 9 May 1929). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database weights and the uppercase and lowercase choices show typographic trials and experiments on the new convention (*Fig.6.55*).

#### Further changes

The greatest change in the headline/headings approach was in Akşam, which used a dominant large-size headline and stronger headings, both in size and clarity; no other paper used this kind of bold treatment at that time (Fig.6.57). In contrast to this, the newspaper that did not show a significant effort in the execution of headlines throughout its transition was Hakimiyet-i Milliye, which kept its typeface choice and headline/ headings style and variations exactly the same after the reform. Apart from Hakimiyet-i Milliye, the use of one-page width headline became a norm among papers, even though it is not seen in every single issue. Apart from these two papers, others, Cumhuriyet, Milliyet and İkdam, followed a similar approach in this period. Cumhuriyet abandoned its italic headings used in the first days of the implementation; instead it embraced a less prominent execution and used the same semi-serif type in every section, only with a change in size. On the other hand, *İhdam* introduced italic in headings differently compared to the first days of the implementation, as it had used this style only in one-page headlines. Unlike the day of the implementation, there is no continuity in headline/headings variations in these three papers. We see many different styles combined. One reason could be that they did this with the purpose of making them stand out from their competitors; or because of the rich variety of purchased types, they simply wanted to use them all to distinguish different sections (Fig.6.58). Despite the active use of majuscule and minuscule as the only style in the first months of the implementation, we see a completely different execution on headline and headings in the later issues, such as the ones in May -this is not a good execution in the creation of a typographic style for the newspapers. Combinations of many styles, such as condensed semi-serif type, sans serif and serif types both in italic were seen in these issues. In general, it seems that they could not agree on a particular style for this part. What is more, these trials continued in the long term (Appendix 4). The use of large-sized Latin types compared to the previous small-sized Arabic types created a substantial contrast between large-sized headline/headings and small-sized body text, and made newspapers look more appealing visually. Also, compared with their Western contemporaries, the active use of sansserif type shows the influence of modernism and indicates that they were following the design and typographic developments in Europe at that time.<sup>75</sup> Although there were still some old-fashioned executions, such as centered headlines/headings and the use of separators in heading levels (dashes etc.) in all broadsheets both before and after the reform, the setting of headlines/ headings and the use of space seem progressive in that period.

**<sup>75</sup>** Another reason why they chose to use sans-serif typefaces could be the type purchases that they were made from the European type foundries.



**Figure 6.59** Body text examples, 10 August 1928 (From the top: *Milliyet, İkdam*). Image source: Atatürk Library, The National Library of Turkey

## **Body text**

Unlike headlines and headings, the decisions and typesetting for body text were not remarkably distinctive among the reform period newspapers. The reason could be the use of the same typefaces among the newspapers during the transition period. Another factor could be related to the issue of hand compositors who had the experience in setting Latin and who taught this skill to other people in the profession. On the other hand, it is obvious from the articles published during the transition period that newspapers were closely monitoring each other for new developments in order to see how they coped with the reform. So in this case, there could be some 'copying' and 'being influenced by' issues. That is why, the changes mentioned below are mostly valid for all the reform period newspapers. Also, it should not be forgotten that the typographic decisions made at that time depended on the experience of typesetters.<sup>76</sup> Furthermore, it is likely that these decisions were more conventional, rather than intentional.<sup>77</sup>

#### Before the reform

Due to the small sample size and the poor quality of printing, it is not possible to determine the typefaces in the Arabic script used in newspapers. Metal types in Ottoman-Turkish script were not in a good state, mostly worn out or broken. Other issues related to printing also led to poor results, such as uneven inking and the low quality of paper.

As mentioned earlier, the lack of types and size variations resulted in less sophisticated text and a more homogeneous look to the newspaper while the Arabic alphabet was in use. When we look at the issues printed with Arabic letters, generally a standard size and style were preferred for the body text, though sometimes we see smaller sizes within the text as it could be a solution to distinguish different parts of the content. The preferred style was naskh and it was a common style for body text in that period (*Fig.6.59*). Similarly, we also encounter the same type at a larger size in the body text for differentiation. The only other variation in body text is the use of the ruq'ah type, which is generally used for quotations.

#### During the transition period

When Latin content started to appear in the transition period, the Latin

77 Also, an issue must be kept in mind that there were many different dialects in body text settings due to the various typesetters and the lack of standard in the issue. But, this linguistic problem was not taken into consideration here, as it is not the focus of this study.

**<sup>76</sup>** There is no specific archive or information about the non-Ottoman-Turkish typesetters and the publications they set, when there is also not so much information about Turkish typesetters and literature about them. But as mentioned earlier, there is some information that can be extract from the Turkish printing history books that Levantines had their own printing presses and publications (Greek, Armenians, French and including Sephardic-Jews as one of the important minorities within the society). So it is possible to conclude that there were naturally typesetters among them. But there is no way to determine their presence in numbers, as there is no comprehensive research/source around this. But it can be said that Turkish typesetters mostly worked in publications in Turkish; Ahmet Ali Gazel, *1923 Mürettipler Grevi*, (İstanbul: Ideal Kültür ve Yayıncılık, 2016).



Figure 6.60 Harmonised body text in *Milliyet*, 10 October 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

مرک یک ید وقول ایندی برایتبرای بر گرد ویلیمول کندرها کندیز تاب رایاولوالمانای ویلیمول این کرد برای این ایند اسلام ویل عرک دون، اولی کون تاب رایاولو ایند کوم پایتران بر اینامه در کنه ویرداز اولی در می داده و دوام ایند این وارن ویرمی مع در ما دوره و دام ایند این وارن ویرمی برعده که کرد می درم ایند که استراله اینده استا اینیه با و وزن هره ویزه کنی المی از ایند و ایناع اوراد، هد اینم کند و استراله اینده استاه اینیه با و وزن هره ویزم کنو تا استراله اینده اینیه با و دون هره ویزم کنو تا مایترا اینیه کرد و درم ایز و باستنده استاه اینیه با و دون هره ویزم کنو تا مایترا ایند و اینیاع اوراد، هد اینم کنو استراله اینده و م و دریته رو دون استال این مایتره مایتره می مستان و دون استال اینده کرد می دینیه با دارمی ایون مانو اینده کرده می gazetesinde "Yazıyı Avru-اغهیمیکی سورمن و برسؤاله عرموجیلر شو جوابی و رمندر : \_\_\_\_ توسیط حکومت طرفندن ، ملا مقام kayese ederek sonuncu-توتوق انحمار دائرمى بانقودى ومامديرى د قانو ، علينه بر قاطبانى دعواس اقامه ايادى . sunun öyrenilmesi daha müşkül, birincisinin öy-renilmesi daha sehil olpalila,stirma sernamesile çok istifadeli bir makale ولایت آستوسط تعکومت طرفتین ، علا تقام ولایت طرفتین وقوع مواشی تقنیدو توصلی ورویل بول ایمبرك حکومتول تقرر ایشیکی ایمبی اوزرند، البه مالته بول ایمبرگیرایی م اولیاتو، وررمتی کار، حکومترک آزار وارشا. دلوی داتا برم ایمون، رومبرد. Rumen baytarları هد مرد مار ne,sr olunmu,stur. Makale muharriri lid ğünden beri şehrimizde bulunan 27 Rumen baytarı şerefine dün akşam « Atıpbayı Baytarıye » du gunu tespit etmektedir Muharririn iddiasina Acem lisanının ruhuna göre Acem çocukları es-kiden bir kaç sene mek-tebe gittikten sonra an-cak bin belâ ile heceleye heceleye okuyordular. Bucemiyeti tarafından Tokatlıyan ote-linde bir çay zıyafeti verilmiştir . Zıyafette rumen sefarethanesi erkâni hiç de uygun olmayan Arap Alfabesinden alın-يوتما خوا mış Acem yazısiyle ile sehrimizin taninmış doktoriarındar تراموای شرکتنده heceleye okuyordular. Bu nun üstüne sarf ve nahiy kaidelerini öyrenmek la zımdı. Acem lisanında bu kaideler çok basit ise de dahi çok katmerle,siyordu Makalesinin sonunda mu artır. Acem Alfabesi me-setesinin bir an evvel tekik edilmesini talep etmektedir. bazıları bulunmuşdur . alay etmekte ve bu yazıda bulunupta Acem lisanı için lüzumsuz o-lan bir yığın harfleri Batumda tugyan Moskuvadan dün ğelen bir tel-grafa göre, tufan asa yağmurlar Batum muntukasında nohirlerin taş. saymaktadır. Mesela (ha) sesi için iki türlü وضيتك اداردسي انجون صلاحيت ايسته يهجكلرهو. دون كندياريان كوروشتي بر محرد مماه ضره وجيلر masine sebebiyet vermiş ve 2000 köylü hanesiyle bunlara alt mezruat alâmet (harf), (s) sedası هوناری سویل، طردر : بر دیر کتان ویر دیکیست ر المآخر، و مدوام 340 içîn kezalik ve saire bu ve karadeniz sabillerindeki sämer الد میکر . داد میطند وایندیکمز بومیه ایتراد تو بو استان مارتید . عکمی تقدیر دشترک نرم وجو. kabildendirler, Aynı sedüfer hatları sular altında kalmıştir.

Figure 6.61 Harmonised body text in *İkdam*, 10 October 1928. Image source: The National Library of Turkey

şiddetli bir tahavvü, mazîya düşman ve yeni bir âtînin taharrîsi peşinde olan telakkî ve fikurlerden ibâret sistemdir .» Bu târiflerin şimdi dahî Türkiyeye kabili tatbîk olduğunu görmek, son seneler zarîmda Türkiyede hâkim olan sükhun ve istikrâra rağmen çok câlibi dikkattir. Pek eski bir telakkînin, bize fatalizmin ve batâatin halk arasında tâmîm etm Mustafa Kemal, öyrenih nız imtiyazlı bir sınıf içi olacak derecede müşkil harflerni iptâl edip bunla latin harflerini ikâme e yordu.

Meselenin tetkhîki iç mütahassıslardan mürekk misyon teşkil etti. Bu bir kaç hafta bilâfâşıla

Figure 6.62 The variation in setting punctuation marks in *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* (2 September 1928). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

typefaces were also in a poor condition most probably because they were old and used types that were left from the typesetting of foreign publications that were printed in Latin. In addition to that, they mainly had only one size or style from one type family and were mostly used before in publishing French publications. The extent of the body text in the Latin script compared to headline and headings was considerably low, thus, in some issues, the Latin parts have a weaker 'voice' and even seem lost between the columns set in Arabic (*Fig.6.60*). There were rare occasions though when the use of Latin was treated more equally (*Fig.6.61*).

The body text in all newspapers had been indented and justified before and after the reform, and the leading was the same as in contents set in the Arabic script. Another important component, punctuation, was exactly like in the Arabic typesetting before the reform, which was inspired by the use of French punctuation that inserts a quarter-em space around punctuation marks. In the middle of the transition period, this use was still common, and even it was possible to see the two uses, with or without a space, in the same text (Fig.6.62). Only Millivet is distinguished by not using the space, as frequently as others. Punctuation marks also vary in all, as it can be seen in both the guillemet (« and »), which is French quotation mark and probably used as a result of previous experiences and the regular quotation mark (" and "), as a possible consequence of lacking guillemet. But still, using different alternatives and no space could indicate two possibilities: these may be trials in a new convention, or it is simply the result of different typesetters and their experience on this particular matter. Also, the lack of established or accepted punctuation system could have caused this kind of differences.

Apart from punctuation, one of the biggest problems about the transition period body text was the use of new additional Turkish characters borrowed from different type families. This naturally creates an unpleasant look, as the letters do not sit together on the baseline and make an unsteady and loose text. The body text in *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* is a good example for this. On the other hand, *Milliyet* again, was a rare case that does not mostly have this kind of body text treatment during the transition. Due the same reason, many different typefaces in different styles, weights and sizes were used as the body text type, even italic in some occasions (*Fig.6.63*). In addition to this, the bigger-sized typefaces that were used for headings were also used in poems, announcement and quotes, as body text typefaces.

Considering others and the considerable amount of Latin content, *Milliyet* and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* are the most successful ones in the execution of typesetting. But even in these papers, it is possible to see some minor issues, such as not using a capital letter at the beginning of a sentence or using a smaller type from a different typeface (*Fig.6.64*) due to the problem in type stock, as mentioned earlier. *İkdam* was the worst among newspapers with lots of mistakes and poor hybridisation of additional Latin characters.

## Doktorlar ve latince

Bu günlerde doktorlar arasında yeni bir cereyan var. Doktorlar rccetelerde ve tibbi istilahátda latincenin kabul edilmesini isteyorlar. Butun dünya etibbası latinocyi kabul etmişler-dir. Kodeksler latince-dir. Biz ise fransızcayı kabul etmiş-iz. Beynel milel munasebåtda ve kongrelerde bu garábetin büyük tesirleri oluyor. Binaen aleyh doktorlar yeni yetişecek doktorların latin kodeksi üzerinden tedrisat görmelerini istemekdedirler.

Fransız kodeksinin bir fenaliği tercemelerde dáima arapcaya müracaata mechur kalışımız-tır. O zaman beynel-miled ıstılahlar oldugu gibi ifåde edilccek-tir. Bu seklt bizimde kabul etmememiz tuhaf oluyor.

Figure 6.63 The use of italic style in body text in İkdam (26 August 1928). Image source: The National Library of Turkey

şevketi ile, bütün kavanin ve kudreti ile Meclive Milli Misakın aleyhinde vaziyet alan asırle idare ile onun mensuplarını hangi sebeple ve ngi haklarla hiyanetle vasfettikse, bugünkü kimiyeti milliye düşmanlarını da aynı haklar aynı sebeplerle hain telâkkı ederiz.

Iakimiyeti milliyenin kanunî ifadesi olan « Teşkilatı Esasiye » mize onun bir senedi teyidi olan « 1 teşrinisani 1338 » kararına nalefet edenleri aynı hak ile menederiz, ensali müstakbelemizin meti ve vatanın istikbali namına menederiz. Juhterem ve muazzez arkadaşlarim,

Bu izahatmıdan sonra hep beraber enzarı ihtiramımızı metafı lanımız olan muhiti millete nasbedelim: Orada fazıletin, vefa

Figure 6.64 The substitution of letter e in Hakimiyet-i Milliye (13 October 1928). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

Türk yemeklerinin söhreti dillere destan- k dır. Pilavınız, muhal- lebileriniz, v. s., cihan- ür, elbette, kadınların tekâmülü sayesinde kai- de altına alınmıştır. Bu inkisaftan bizi haber-	meeruh olmuytur. HIITSIZILK Eminönünde Iyek terzihanesinden sabiskalı Ishak tarafından iki palto çalındığı zabitaya müracaat edile- rek iddia olunmuştur. Süpheli bir alınan Çatalca memnu mıntakasında dolaşan Vihelm isminde bir Al- man yakalanarak zabitaya teslim edilmiştir. Hakkinda takibat ya-	beri his olunmakta idi. Merkez memuru Haşim enveri beyin bu ihtiyact delaili maddiyesile irae den raporu uzerine keyfiyet ul- fürken. äyste de terviç olunarak vekälete madut olan Manisa Polis teşkila- tının muduriyete kalbi taşavvara- tının kuvveden file çıkmak üzer alınmaştır. * Millet mektepleri hakkım- daki talimatname ahkâmının tat- biki için vilâyetteki komisyon Yivecei
--	---	--

Figure 6.65 An example of unsteady body text in *İkdam* (05 January 1929). Image source: The National Library of Turkey

نكلترهدن اقتراق

يره توريا ( ترانسوال) ، 10 [ ٦.٦] ملیت پرورلر قونفره می فرقه میللری طرفندن مزينغ يتمش ايكى كيلو متره قطع ايتمك ص فهدمرال مجلسنه تكليف ايديلش اولان تعديلانى افه رەقور نى ودىتنەر يدبيوز تىمش بش مترەيە قبول ايله مشدر . مليت پرور فرقه نك تشكيلا تنه متعلق بوكسلمك صورتيله جهان ارتفاع روقور بنى قيرمشلردر. اولان بوتعديلات جنوبى آمرينا حاكميت واستقلالني ناطق بولونان 1926 سنهسى انكلبز اعبراطورلنى قونفرانسنك بياننامهسني قبول ايمكده وموجود حقوقنى تحديده معطوف هى درلو تشبيتاته قارشى وسائط شروعه ايله مجادله ابتمكي تعهدا يلهمكدهدر.

آطنه ، 9 [ خصوصی تلغرافمز ] یت 21 ده جیمان فورطنهدن صوکره ، داندن بوشانیرجهسنه ایکی بچق ساعت دوام ن یاغمور ، شهرده وباغلرده برچوق باراته لری ایتدی. میزان الحراره دون 39 ایدی ،



Gelecek sene İnğilterede umumî intihabat yapılacağından alelusul 1929 senesinde toplanmast icap eden İnğiliz Imperatorluğu konferansının 1930 se- dolar tezyidine dair Mr. Brance taranesine tehir edileceği hakkında bir fından geçen hafta dermeyan olunan şayıa devran ediyor. Bu mes'eleye dair adil teklifini reddeylemiştir. irat olunan bir suale cevap veren müstemlikât nazırı M. Amery gelecek

بحرمحيطي كجهمه ينلر

لهلى طبارهجيلر شمندوفرله بإرسه عزيمت



Vasington 17 [A.A] Ayan meclisi müskiratın men'ine ait Dün Dromond öğleden sonra Bolivya-

Ingiliz amelesine

Genevre 17 [A.A]

kanunun tatbik masarifini 250 milyon nin halen Cenevrede bulunmakta olan Bern sefiri ile görüşmüştür.

Büenos Ayres, 17 [A.A] Assompsiyondan bildirildigine göre efkårı umumiye Bolivyaya karşı koymanın zamanı hulûl etmiş olduğu merkezindedir. 10.000 gönüllü kayde-

Figure 6.66 The mimicry in the execution of body text in İkdam, 10 February 1929. Image source: The National Library of Turkey

[ T.T ] 10 c in

يودنو، 10 [ ٦.٦]

### After the implementation

By the day of the alphabet change, we see a rich variation in text, due to the different styles and sizes, despite the use of only one typeface. Much variation in body text is apparent, which is at different sizes and in different styles, such as italic and bold. This practice for the body text did not change after the reform and can be seen in the later issues printed in Latin. However, leading and justification – and gutter space as a result – was not consistent in all stages. The shift in the alphabet did not provide a progression in this particular arrangement. As a consequence of ignoring these issues, the creation of an unsteady look in the body text became inevitable (*Fig.6.65*).

### Further changes

After a short, hesitant period lasting two months, the newspapers seemed more confident of their typographic choices in body text, and certainly, a remarkable revision in setting text suitable to the orthography was evident in the later issues, also because of the newly published orthography guide 'Imla Lugatı' in January 1929. Apart from the differentiation of body text and the improvement to orthography, the general approach to the adjustment of body text did not show a significant change. For instance, before the reform, body text was always justified and paragraphs had been indented at first lines as in traditional layout. These features remained the same when the Latin columns appeared during the transition and did not change after the implementation of the new alphabet. Moreover, when we look at the body text closely before and after the reform, we can see the attempts at mimicry in the execution of the text (*Fig.6.66*).

### Other parts of the newspaper

### Running heads 78

A regular running head consisted of the name of the newspaper, date and page number accompanied by a page-width line at the top of the every page. The main function of the running head is to help readers to navigate the content. In particular it is a vital tool in the common practice of leading readers to the inside pages for the rest of a news story, a teaser which is initially presented on the first page.

It is possible to see this feature in all the newspapers of the period, but naturally with some slight differences in style. For instance, before the reform, only *Cumhuriyet* printed its name in kufic style (*Fig.6.67*), while others preferred a plain naskh type. Another unique case in this part was that *Akşam* used both scripts for numerals and French-style brackets in its name (*Fig.6.68*).

Unlike the main newspaper content, Latin lettering was not used in all

**<sup>78</sup>** Although Allen Hutt named this part the 'page folio' and claimed that it is the equivalent of a 'running head' in books, I prefer to use the term 'running head' as Albert A. Sutton did in his book, as it sounds more inclusive and considers the whole part, not only the page number style.

and the second se		and the second second second second second second
1928 آلسنوس 1928		• غازى • مزك المانتدن

Figure 6.67 The running head of Cumhuriyet before and after the reform, 10 August-1 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

1928	• أقامه		24.00
رم خسته خانه سر المسر المسر مناز المعرفين	alles in the second and	المتالية المحالية	A second se

Figure 6.68 The running head of *Akşam* before and after the reform, 10 August 1928-13 March 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database





Figure 6.69 An example of pictorial section head in *İhdam* before and after the reform. Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 6.70** Examples of typographical section head in *Akşam* (Left) and *İkdam* (Below)before and the reform. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database, The National Library of Turkey



Figure 6.71 The evolution of 'Telegrams' section in *İhdam*, which was also printed only typographically right after the implementation day. Image source: The National Library of Turkey

of the newspapers' running heads during the transition. However, Latin numerals were in use, as in the rest of the content. Running heads only started to be printed using the new alphabet after the implementation day. Only *Milliyet* was three days earlier in its Latinisation of this part. Regarding the practice of Western newspapers, Sutton states the ideal setting of this part as:

> The same style of type used in the date line on the page one ordinarily is used, and the words generally set in full-capitals.The type selected should harmonise closely, both in design and weight, with the rest of the head-dress, and it should be in a size small enough so that it does not attract undue attention.<sup>79</sup>

Comparing practice with this advice, three out of five transition-period newspapers set this part with the types they used in their mastheads and kept the small type size due to the same concerns mentioned above, but did not set the words – or even the name of newspaper – in full capitals and did not position the content as was usually done in European newspapers. Only *Milliyet* and *İkdam* used similar settings to European newspapers. While *Milliyet* preferred all the words in this part in uppercase, *İkdam* capitalised its name only to distinguish it from other information. In the same way that errors occurred in other parts due to the haste of the adoption, *Milliyet* and *Cumhuriyet* sometimes printed the position of page numbers and date in the wrong direction. Apart from this occurrence, there were no other issues related to this part.

## Section heads

These are also called 'boxed heads' or 'feature heads' and are the components that help categorise the different newspaper content and create a familiarity and continuity for the permanent sections. In transition-period publications, two different kinds of section heads were identified before the full adoption of the Latin script. As a result of the newspapers' rich pictorial content, one of the styles was pictorial, where typography was accompanied by ornaments or images (Fig.6.69). The other kind was the plain type treatment, generally framed with a box or being left as plain (Fig.6.70). In these sections, different type styles were applied before and during the transition period, ranging from ruq'ah to naskh styles, which were also mainly used in body text, in addition to other handlettered calligraphic approaches. On both of these kinds of section heads, a partial shift is observed in the transition period. After the implementation day, some of the pictorial sections were substituted with a plain type treatment due to the haste of adopting a new alphabet. But almost in one month, some of the pictorial heads were prepared in Latin with the same or similar pictures (Fig.6.71). However, in the meantime, some sections, both pictorial and typographical, were abandoned. Still, it became possible to see the introduction of more section heads in one-page or narrower headline

**<sup>79</sup>** Albert Alton Sutton, *Design and Makeup of the Newspaper* (United States: Greenwood Press, 1948), p.393.

MILLIYETIN		VE MEI	MLEKET	HABE	RLERI
Foli <b>/TE</b> Romanlardaki gibi	DÜN!	MAHKEMELERDE Cozal	Imtihan	EMANETTE Köpränän ayaktarı tamirde	MÜTEFERIK HABERLER
		Carsamba, 5 KÅNUNUE		and the second second	Carlos and

Figure 6.72 One-page width feature headlines as replacements of sections heads in Milliyet. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 6.73** The use of 'kashida' in typographical section heads of *Hakimiyet-i Milliye.* Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 6.74** The pictorial section heads of *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* that quickly adopted to the Latin script. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



Figure 6.75 Examples of foreign brands' name in Latin, before and after the reform, 'Cresival' in *Milliyet*. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 6.76 The use of random types from different type-families due to the lack of transition period types, *Cumhuriyet*. Image source: Atatürk Library

form, suitably created for the feature/editorial sections. It appears that this was an upward trend among Western newspapers over the following decade.<sup>80</sup>

Like in other parts, there were also exceptional cases in this part of the newspaper. Even though they were uncommon in *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*, pictorial section heads were abandoned and the use of plain typesetting instead increased with the transition, unlike most of the other transitionperiod newspapers. The reason for this could be the new Latin type stocks that allow printers to create section heads in bigger sizes and in different type styles that Arabic types lacked before the reform. Also, abandoning a script in a more ornamental and organic shape could aid to abandon more decorative and pictorial approach in these parts, especially, considering the more formal tone of *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*. Apart from these reasonings, they might not have wanted to create another new lithographic cliche for these parts, when metal type in rich variations could be used for this task. Besides this paper, *Millivet* also had a different notion on the treatment of this part. The use of page-width section heads and a related approach -feature headlines - can be seen, especially during the transition period (Fig.6.72). The lack of Arabic types in big sizes must have previously restrained this convention. Aksam was the most reluctant to Latinise these parts, although it did not have many pictorial section heads as they were mostly set by hand, and used the *kashida* style to make these sections more decorative (Fig.6.73). However, it unexpectedly kept its pictorial section heads and adapted them in the Latin script more quickly than other newspapers, only a couple of days after the implementation (*Fig.6.74*). As in the other parts due the confusion of a fast implementation, we also come across section heads printed upside down, especially in Millivet and Cumhurivet.

### Advertisements

Advertisements played a huge part in the period's newspapers. It was common to see page-sized ads, or many allocated ads in the final pages in contrast to contemporary European newspapers. Before the alphabet reform, due to foreign-origin advertisements, the use of Latin letters was not unusual. This was particularly the case for special or brand names, which were written in Latin (Fig.6.75). This practice could be the result of using the same printing plates, probably from a country where Latin was used, or simply being loyal to the brand's image. However, advertisements started to be Latinised for the first time at the end of August, and during the transition period, especially in last two months, most advertisements were published in both alphabets. In this temporary situation, the transition period typefaces used in this section were varied. For instance, we clearly see an effort in a typewriter advertisement in *Cumhuriyet*, as the typesetter could not find all the letters in the type family and replaced them with others (Fig.6.76). We cannot, therefore, talk about a special design or consideration for this part of the newspaper. The main concern

<sup>80</sup> Sutton, p.318.



Figure 6.77 The designs of 'Fiat' ad in *Milliyet* after the reform (Left) and the 'Chrysler' ad in *Akşam* during the transition period (Right). Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database, Atatürk Library

was printing these sections in Latin as soon as possible. As a result of this, there are different attempts at presentation, as can be seen in these two one-page car ads. While the Fiat cars ad in *Milliyet* was written using only Latin letters, without showing any design considerations, the Chrysler ad in Aksam seems to have been created after a deliberate design process (*Fig.6.77*). In particular, the use of different typefaces in ads for the same company or brand in two different newspapers proves this point. However, we do not see the same willingness to adopt Latin in all transition-period advertisements, as many other newspapers still printed everything in the Arabic script. This was most likely the decision of those placing the advertisements, and some remained in Arabic right up until the full Latin adoption. This could be the result of customers' decisions and their fear of being unnoticed and unread during the transition. As with all content, on the day the newspapers shifted to the new alphabet, all the advertisements started to be printed in Latin. In the post-reform period, there was no big changes in this part as using Latin script was a part of setting these sections.

#### Summary

Considering the unvarying text elements and design decisions throughout the transition period, we cannot see a very dramatic change in the look of the newspapers, especially when the most grey area, the body text, did not show a substantial change. Even the adoption of Latin content during the transition did not produce a significant alteration, as the content in Arabic script had still a substantial place on pages. But after the full adoption, when all the factors related to design elements and typographic variations touched on above are taken into consideration, it can be concluded that the alphabet change created more black and white space interaction, and a dynamism on the page came with that. While the Arabic script was in use, broadsheet newspapers had a more homogeneous look and a grey tone. But, after the alphabet change, with the help of the new typefaces and size variations, the hierarchy between the sections became apparent and pages started to look more distinguished from its competitors, despite many amatuer executions. Especially, right after the implementation day, the active use of headlines/headings and announcements and quotes in big sizes brought dynamism to pages. Nevertheless, this did not prevail in the next two or three months, and the newspapers, except for Aksam, mostly returned to their conservative looks with more modest typographic choices, as in before the reform. It is not known why they made a decision in this way. However, the typographic execution in the transition period was more promising with its diversity and richness in style and content. They also showed a unique creativity and resilience by attaching external components, such as dots, commas and breves to the old Latin types they had in order to create the new Turkish characters. Even though we see the same practical approach - substituting different letters for missing ones in Victorian typography, the solutions of Turkish typesetters were superior both in the execution and the purpose. It should also not be forgotten that, although the executions were judged here considering some kinds of
standards, the efforts of the people who prepared these newspapers were great, considering the short time and lack of the resources.

This period also was significant in giving a big chance to publish alphabet tables/lessons and reading columns for practising regularly. In the following section, these sections will be explained broadly.

# 6.4. Teaching the alphabet

As a result of being one of the efficient advocates of the new alphabet, broadsheet newspapers willingly accepted the duty of preparing daily sections for alphabet lessons. It is not exactly known whether these lessons succeeded in teaching the new alphabet, but they definitely raised awareness and served as the first public schools by publishing such lessons for teaching people how to read and write with the new letters, prior to the opening of *Millet Mektepleri* (Nation's Schools). The ABC booklet that was published immediately after the official announcement, with the intention of publicising the new alphabet, has limited circulation, as it was printed for the members of parliament and other political figures. No detailed grammar and orthographic rules related to the new script were shared in these booklets, mainly because not all the rules had been clearly defined at that point. For this reason, the lessons in the broadsheets served as the first basis to deliver these principles publicly.

However, not every newspaper was keen to promote the new alphabet. While *Milliyet*, for example, was making a serious attempt to create a rich variety of lessons in many different forms, others, such as *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* and *Akşam*, did the minimum and published very basic alphabet tables, a couple of lessons and reading articles. Besides its alphabet lessons were presented in many different forms *Cumhuriyet* also announced that they were publishing an additional ABC booklet, suitable for everyone – women, men and children<sup>81</sup> – and even allocated a corner for its readers to ask their questions related to the new alphabet.<sup>82</sup> It seems then that, some of them shared this content only to familiarise the public with the alphabet and its basic orthographic rules, while others paid great effort to teach the public how to read and write by publishing consistent lesson series.

As it is the case for the general content, the lessons were published in both the Arabic and the Latin scripts during the four-month transition period.<sup>83</sup> Only *Cumhuriyet* made an exception and created a lesson series all in Latin. By the implementation day of the reform, all the lessons started to print in Latin. Even though there was shared initial content among the newspapers, the majority of tables and lessons were prepared for each newspaper individually.<sup>84</sup> This content can be categorised into five types:

**<sup>81</sup>** *Cumhuriyet*, 26 August 1928.

<sup>82</sup> Cumhuriyet, 16 September 1928.

**<sup>83</sup>** The introductory information and explanations regarding certain rules, especially, were written in Arabic script in the transition period.

<sup>84</sup> Apart from the newspapers' editorial board, which consisted of members of parliament and

بکی نورا حرفلرینا نظیقه دونرو یکی الفبا ویکی صرف نصل اولاجقدر ؟ منائل d 3 04(1) a p 20 min a Z یکی صرف نور کج بازی ، املا وتصريفلر حقنده eline J مختلف اسارابی نصل شبیت ایندی ؟ S 0 (او)دوبه شمديق مالده بكر تورك المبلس شو صورته وآقنام إ. كيرميكر ا S 0 (او) كو: تقرد ايتش عد الولونه يبليا : v bu akşam b'ze gelirmi-siniz? مانكر وقتكر مسايدت بشد كلمك 8 1 (1) U 8 vaktiniz mil-aid - se beşde ge'e a(T) e(:) 1(343- 3) ( او - قوبون ) ۱۱ ( ن - کدی ) i (او - اوزوم) ۱۱ ( و - اولک) 6 (او اولک) 0 crg - im . U (IC) CS فسا اكر بودور اب يكدى Eger ba til'yå ise geçdi ( اورانها اشارت ) . ( کسه اشارت ) 11 2.(2) k 2 1 - 15 130 4 ماملر ya rū yā d gdse (12) ك b( -) c( =) c( =) d( ) 0 q أودمكيلرى تلصل بولدبكم 1(3) g (3. +) h (+ + + ) j () evde-kileri na-il buldanrz k(J.j)1(J)m(,)n(J) (ار) لی Soul J 1 p(-,) r(,) \*(...) \*(...) bilmem ki (5) Y (,) Y (3) Z()) سن كوزليك [ (ار)مان m 2 sen güzel-sin مرى مدمقار lisi. 1 - بوالباديك خدوميتردن برى صاميل n 2 benim güz'im مرفك = ج . اولارق قول ايد بدر . = ج. كوبا من اوردم بتول المرده ال زيده اختلاف اولان b V ghuya sens gö. düm ريد . . ج = توريکده چوق مستعمل 5.40 طرده اوديميدر ٢ ابچون ساده برمرطه کوخرتسی ضروری ایدی . 1 h 3 ت ali de evdemi-dir مرتورتو مستانندن قطع المر ، ٥ و ٢ 520 کامل کا بونی مولهدینی ا ومودكه بوتون تورك دنيلي اساسا قبول اغتدر. Khamil sapa bunu söyledi-mi? ی – \*\*\* مرفان «ق.ای» وهچه مرفان برکم) اولارق استمالته کامیه : تورکه C 2. 6 У دور باداج دما ابتك مبدائيدر لماند. هم براستنا اواندری «تا» مرق ایم. سائلوله والما «لنه»، دانین سائلوله والما « ق « dur bakalım daha işin mebe'i-dir رك مدمقر

Figure 6.78 The very first attempts of creating alphabet tables, *Cumhuriyet* 1 August (Left), *Milliyet* 2 August (Right) 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 6.79** *Akşam*'s first alphabet table, 14 August 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

eőűi aou bcçdfgğhj 5 2 9 1 tvyz SŞ n いい 1:1 یکی توریخه الفیه یی کوسترر جدول

**Figure 6.80** *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*'s first alphabet table, 23 August 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

- First alphabet tables/lessons
- Plain descriptive lessons
- Illustrative lessons
- Handwriting practice sheets
- Reading columns

#### First alphabet tables/lessons

These tables were seen mostly in the beginning of the transition period. Their purpose was to introduce the new letters in a more organised way, while also keeping the aim of helping readers to memorise them. Compared to other subsidiary text, the type size of the letters was bigger and bolder, most probably to distinguish this content from the newspapers' regular content. The choices of type style also ranged from sans-serif to serif, most likely without any reference or conscious decision.

The issue of first alphabet table/lesson appearances could initiate a discussion on its own.<sup>85</sup> It is possible to divide newspapers into two groups here. The first group includes the ones who were impatient waiting until the official announcement and who published some alphabet forms predicted and created by themselves beforehand. The most enthusiastic newspapers in this respect were *Cumhuriyet*, which was published on 1 August and *Milliyet*, which was published on 2 August (*Fig.6.78*). It is certain that the newspaper staff achieved this by using their own judgment and existing experience with French publications. Compared to the state version, naturally there were mistakes about showing the new Turkish letters in Latin. To be more precise, the vowels with circumflex were introduced as a part of the original alphabet differently from the official (state) version. After the official announcement on August 10, the circumflex mark was solely presented without letters in the lessons along with other punctuation marks, such as apostrophe and hyphen.

The others, *Akşam*, *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* and *İkdam* published this material after the announcement of the reform, in a more expected way. *Akşam*, published an organised text on 14 August showing the new letters and some words as examples, under the title *Yeni Harfler ve İmla* (New letters and spelling)(*Fig.6.79*). *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* announced the new alphabet on 23 August by using a table showing the whole alphabet in two parts, as vowels and consonants along with their vocalisation in Arabic script, and most

era's political figures, there were also other anonymous people who prepared these lessons and who chose the sound of old letters as nicknames, such as 'Kaf-Sad' and 'Va-Nu'. Though it is known that 'Va-Nu' is the short version of Vâlâ Nureddin.

**<sup>85</sup>** There were some unexpected attitudes regarding the effort of publishing these initial lessons and the newspapers' performance during the transition period. For instance, even though *İkdam* seemed more serious about this task during the transition, with its illustrative/ instructive approach and one-page reading articles, unusually it published its first lesson on 23 August, while *Akşam* acted earlier and published its first lesson on 14 August, but did not share a serious lesson series during this period. *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* also published its first alphabet table on 23 August as *İkdam* did, but did not appear to make an effort, unlike other more ambitious newspapers.

Bu dersler چ کون ایجنده، یکی ه او کر ه نیر سکز ! ادهبکر کمی ادفرابنسکز !	<b>i dikka</b> كمزء برقا قولايلقا	at-le t ب ایدیا قومغی	قتله تعقي روب او	بو درسلری د حرفلرله یاز
A THE BOARD A CONTRACT OF THE CONTRACT. OF THE CONTRACT OF THE CONTRACT OF THE	E. C. C. S. J. C. E. A. A. E.	m か ア r s s t v y z	C.E. E. F. F. C. C. F.	ر بخی دون بی بر از می دون بی در (س) بر می بی در (س) بر می در بر از می بر بی می میرود بی می میرود بی میرود میرو میرو میرو میرو میرو میرو میرو میرو

**Figure 6.81** The first alphabet table of *İhdam*, 23 August 1928. Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 6.82** *İkdam*'s second alphabet table, showing both printing and handwriting letters, 29 August 1928. Image source: The National Library of Turkey

	Sed,	Asiz	h
4	В	b	
4	C	c	
4.	ç	è	
• 3	D	d	
4	F	f	
5	G	g	1
4.6	H	h	1
ژ.	J	j	
4	K	k	1
4	L	1	1
4.		m	1
:	N		,
			î
			1
•)		r	1
4		8	S
44		8	\$
÷	Т	t	1
.,	V	v	
	Y	v	
		2	
•>	-	L	
		· · · · DFGHJKLMNP	C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C

			- and a state	
	Sed	asiz	harfler :	مدارم
4	В	b	Bedri	bal
ķ	C	c	Cemal	cazip
4	ç	è	Çan.kaya	çorap
	D	d	Dâhî	dede
	F	f	Fazıl	fená
5	G	g	Galip	gelen
	H	h	hasan	hava
3	J	j	Jale	ejder
;	K	k	Kemal	kalıp
1	L	1	Leyla	lala
•	Μ	m	Mehmet .	memnun
	N	n	Nûri	nasıl
	Р	р	Paşa	pazarlık
,	R	r	Recep	rahat
	S	8	Sami	sayı
	S	\$	şákir	şeker
	Т	t	Tahir,	tezkere
	V	v	Veli,	vali
	Y	y	yusuf,	yazı
	Z	Z	Zeki,	ziyaret
			Carl Carl Carl Carl Carl Carl Carl Carl	

IT

**Figure 6.83** Examples of different uses in positioning the content due to the different nature of the scripts, (From left) *Milliyet* and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database, Atatürk Library

					سريفلرينه						-			1
	ر. تصريخ	به کو	, مالا	تلرك اسم	2			-						الم اولق
موهلاليرت				a rectly		-	المال	من موت. منبو ابت	13.			1.1.1	-215	وم اولق
5.00	- Q.	6.0	au	0,0	a		15 3	1	3	. 2		6.2	5.4.4	الرا من
parlak			güze		yi s,A									· · pail
parlağı			guze		viyi .	1								الدادف الم
porlaĝa			guze		ملمولاله vivo	Juse .		· . D						
parlakti parlakti			güze		widen منسول وبه منسول منه viden	به امکان	Je . a	ē 6774	بال ج	5.82	ممال إيد	-	لىر ماد	بنتر ود.
parlakl			guze		vivle wight			. 1.69	tes .	Se jugs	ath	45 4	ول آيرا	there a
parlak i						. 212	. 30 .	5.05	\$ )	ملت و1	400	لوده از.	5 72	., 5
parlağı			gaze		منبرل له vinin مناور									نېودې ماد
parlagi			guze		yisi win			• • • •						
Inund.	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		Barr	1	111 001									Kenip
			.11				· 54	عر ايد.	4.1	.25 }1	45 -2	دن خر	عائد الولا	فكره
المر طارى	41.19	وهرى	- 2)	. وصير	5- اسم، صفت	1.2	S	تصرغل	ور.	Say	비니	اسملر	-1	
hen	: 2 2 0	vi o	üzel	1 : 120	adam : r	in with								. : .
	كل ماننى				جرهرى خال مدارى:	- 0.0		a			400		a	
vivsem	bennis	im ga	zelda	n ada	وغي مقر دشخص اللاللة	kanat		nefes		insat		an		20
					usin • • • •	kanad	4	nefes	1000	insat		an	neyi	مرل و
					uder	kariad		nefes		insa				شول اله
eyiysek	bizmişi	z Ki	izeldi	k adar	miz · et dez	kanat		nefes		insat		an	mede	شول فه
cyiysenia	z sizmişs	iniz g:	izehli	niz adar	nsiniz	kanat		nefes			ndan	an	meder	شرلته ا
cyiyseler	r onlarm	15 E	izeldi	ler adar	mbriar	kanal		nefes		insa		an	neyle	طبولمه
					T. Warman	kanat		nefes			n için			شراباه n
احى	ابراهيم ع					kana		nefs		insa				خالية ا
1.000						kana	la	nefes	1	insa	m	an	taesi.	- 34
	ka	2	8	614		on	8	08	8	Inc	Inc	al	8	
	ant for	-	nek	15		1.9	-	lar	lan	2	173	-	lar	
	a	18	2.	× 4.		1 P 14	5	5	lan	20				
						1000	5							
	ano	da	nn	0.7		-2-	2.	The.	а.	2.		2.	- 22	
	sin sin	2	oni	6.3	1. Spiller Mark	1.6.8	ain .	zin	zde	2	8	2.		
	1 H.				6.	1	2	2	3	10				1
	87 R	-	P	1	1.	1	-				-			5
	nefesimi	dia	nn	5.4	e	1.2	hizi	biz	hiz	Nin	ize	biz	Biz	ساحرو ته وده و
	din	nin.	m	12	E	B	-	ml	den	lo	-	-		e
	iz z	ZIE	-		1.	1	çin		130					. 6
		2	- 2	0.0	6	1 21	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
	efer	lan	out	6 3	÷	anu	nus	nu	nda	nda	a	nu		3
	₽ a.		ž.	1.5		1	No.	la		-				
				1	L'	1 3 34	n.							21,0
	an	da	100	5 2	L	13	NOI	20	3	3	Z	3	8	i
	di in	- 11	1	1.5	1	in	in	in	ade	de	-	2.	-	1
	- 30	22		2	4	1	ici	8		-				
		-	-	100	-	7	0	3-	-		-	-	-	~
		E.	at a	48		1	100	en	-Th	2	an	en	en	
	ne's					1 1	10	E	de.	0	-	-		
	nefevin kanadı	amu	tem	1.5										
	nefesini kanadum	time	em .	12		10	ini	8						
	nefesini nof	amua ada	erm arte	the second		10	icin 4	10 4	0	-	÷		ï	

**Figure 6.84** An example of positioning the words vertically in *Milliyet*, 18 October. Image source: Atatürk Library

likely set with metal types, as the letterforms were fairly identical. The same table also appeared in *Milliyet* three days later (*Fig.6.80*). So here again, there is an indicator for the relationship between these publications.

In *İhdam*'s first table appearance on 23 August, the section heading was written both in Latin and Arabic types, advising, 'Follow these lessons carefully'. There is a picture showing a boy holding a blackboard with the new alphabet written on – this approach is the only example to use an illustrative approach in the first instance (*Fig.6.81*). In the blackboard image, the Latin letters were handwritten, instead of printed with metal type, and thirty-one new Turkish letters were shown on, only as minuscule letters. However, the new Turkish alphabet was created with 29 letters. Apparently, there were spare letters with circumflex, as it happened in the example of *Cumhuriyet*, besides the missing letter *ğ*. This execution shows the newspaper's own attempt to introduce the new alphabet, rather than an official authorisation. Still, it is interesting to see this confusion after 13 days from the official announcement.

*ikdam*'s second alphabet table, called *Türk alfabesi levhası* (The plate of the Turkish alphabet) consisted of both printing and handwriting letters, published on August 29 (*Fig.6.82*). On this plate, all letters were presented completely (including the missing letter *ğ* in the previous one) in both capitals and small letters and in two different styles, serif and cursive handwriting letters. This was the first appearance of examples for handwriting version of letters. Later, this table was also published in *Hakimiyet-i Milliye*. Considering the changing approach throughout the transition and some shared lessons, it is possible to see a more cautious publishing emerge, as opposed those initial disorganised attempts.

## Plain descriptive lessons

Although this lesson format was common, as it was not in the table form and was easy to set as free text, organising and placing words by following a pattern and order could be an issue. In these sections, the use of two scripts to teach the new alphabet meant that differences in positioning the words in Latin and Arabic scripts occurred, and this could cause a slight confusion in reading directions (*Fig.6.83*). We also see a different typesetting convention, most probably due to concerns over saving space while sharing wide-spaced lessons. As a result, on a few occasions *Milliyet* printed some of the words in these sections vertically to save some space and fit all the words into the lesson box (*Fig.6.84*).

# Illustrative lessons

It is mentioned that there was only one alphabet table in *İkdam* containing a picture within the first lessons (*Fig.6.81*). After this lesson, only *Cumhuriyet* and *Milliyet* apart from *İkdam*, generously embraced an illustrative approach in some of their lesson series, unlike *Akşam*, which only used a couple of images to illustrate words in the new alphabet (*Fig.6.85*). Only the Ankara newspaper *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* did not publish pictorial lessons.



**Figure 6.85** *Akşam*'s illustrative lesson series, 12 October 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



Figure 6.86 *İkdam*'s illustrative lesson series, 3 October 1928. Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 6.87** *Cumhuriyet*'s illustrative lesson series, 15 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 6.88** *Milliyet's* illustrative lesson series, 1 January 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

Although there is no reason or explanation behind this approach, it seems reasonable considering that the newspaper does not integrate much visual in general, as in other broadsheets. We also know that Hakimiyet-i Milliye was not interested in publishing extensive alphabet lessons and had the least lesson content among the other broadsheets. *İkdam* in particular called this illustrative approach 'the method of İkdam' with a slogan 'both theoretical and practice' and started to publish these lessons on 3 October 1928 (Fig.6.86). These lessons were placed on the inside pages and lasted one month; the format was a horizontal rectangular, divided into two parts ready to be cut and folded as a booklet. There is no precise indication or explanation to do this, but considering the format, this idea of cutting and folding lessons as booklets occurs. There was some advice given by some of the newspapers, encouraging readers to cut out and keep the lessons for the purpose of repeating them later, instead of throwing them away with the newspaper. Instructive illustrations are seen as beneficial for teaching the new alphabet and for this reason, some of the letters and words were produced within images, so there was no need for metal types, unlike most of the content.

While *İkdam* published this section in a larger format, *Cumhuriyet* kept its simple approach by publishing only limited words accompanying a couple of images in a small box (*Fig.6.87*). Unlike its competitors, most of these illustrative lessons did not contain Arabic script. Later, these lessons were combined and printed as a poster.<sup>86</sup> Very different to these two cases, *Milliyet* published daily illustrative lessons on the same days the lessons were taught in Nation's Schools – in a way, giving a clue to the readers about what they would be taught on that day. So naturally these lessons appeared after the implementation of the reform, and had a distinctive visual style due to the familiarisation method of using the shape of objects to visualise the new letters (*Fig.6.88*). The illustrative approach could be the result of keeping these lessons as simple as possible, to be accessible to people of all age groups from children to the elderly.

#### Practice sheets

*Milliyet* was the only paper that published practice sheets for teaching handwriting. These sheets appeared on 5 September and were published for eight days. The first few days were reserved for writing the new letters *(Fig.6.89)*. On other days, some short words up to four letters, using both vowels and consonants, were published. Surprisingly there was no writing line in this content, but some tracing marks to make copying the letters/ words easier were included *(Fig.6.90)*. However, the uniqueness of this special content does not mean that the other newspapers ignored writing. For instance, *Cumhuriyet* advised its readers to do exercises by writing the lessons they published, and even told them to carry a pen and notebook in their pockets.<sup>87</sup>

**<sup>86</sup>** Mustafa Duman, "Latin Harfli Türk Alfabe Levhaları," *Tarih ve Toplum*, vol 229 (Ocak 2003): p.21.

<sup>87</sup> Cumhuriyet, 28 August 1928.

يادى مرسلرى زمزى اوكرمك جو

**Figure 6.90** *Milliyet's* practice sheets, 8 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

					.2.:						
2-	ر کبد	ن م	حرفد	البنز .	2 صد	2190	سدالح	.8	ابەم	بي الف	2
بو 29 عرف نورکجرنك بونون صوتياتی اداير كافيدر. يا کمز عربی وفارسيدد											
cont	مەدر	رولما	19 21	: امت	上.	و الحي	رايجو،	كلمرد	real	آلنمسه	Parts .
Barth		1.100	***	تابع ادل		•		1.10.1	Caller Lub	. : ال مر	
				يدن اول	1 2000	مدمنه	ر ظرا د.	c	نك آلما	.4.	Se sine
6	1/32	: زمدر	y chai	جدولى ب	ايدن شو					را بومنی . بی و ال	
- 10	، مرفلری مطسه	یک نورك شکلری		un	الحرارية.		، حرفلری معلمه -	یک نورك شکالری	13.0	اسرى	اسکورارید معابلہ ا
51.1.	3,5	Ser.	325	-	مابلرى	32.9.	Bris	der.	195	-	a file
M	m	M	m	-				A		T	Tibeles
N	n	N	74	10.4.5	3.0	B	b	B	6	-	Y
0	0	0	na.	او(اواق)		C	-	C		+	c
0	0.2	0	-	1000	. ,	Q	9	B	-		
P.	p	T		-	30	ateth	2	Ø	1	100	in the se
R	1 444 F	R	in go	14 14 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	2/0/0	E	100	8			4.1
10 ach		9	C.F.	13	the last	a gibis	(2)	5	10 Martin	4614	· 14/1-
apar al	2424	ac ap a	and a	allering of	1000	the life of a	a sola	Tang	-	-	-
N. S. M.	1.10	9	- 40	24	3		. 8	G	1	10	r.e
T	and and	C	alle .	and the second	310	0	8	G	ž	بردان کا	5.2
U	u d	21	10-10	اوو (موذور)	1.0.0	H	The series	H	1	-	2.2.
0.	0	21	2	او (سورو)	and and	-11.90		T	1.00	10.00	
Y		q.	-		a suis	1	10	ð.		ی (بے)	u
T	y	3	4			-3		9	1	.,	3
Z		36	7	1	قەز، ش ي	X	k	R	k		5.3
- Sweet	1.4520	1121		-	11/2	L	-	g	1	-	J
1	1		-	1.0%	1	La in	an	1 Test	100	1	-

**Figure 6.91** *Milliyet*'s lesson showing handwriting letters, 8 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

**Figure 5.89** *Milliyet*'s practice sheets, 6 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 6.92 No use of writing line in *Cumhuriyet's* lessons, 21 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

Yetmiş ücüncü ders **AVRUPA DEVLETLERI** Büyük-Britanya (ingiltere), merkezi Londra (dünyanin en hüyük .sehri), Fransa (Paris), Almanya (Berlin), italya (Roma), Ispanya (Madrit), Sovyet ittihadi (Rusya) (Moskova), Lehistan (var.sova), isviçre (Bern), Avusturya (Viyana), Macaristan (Pe,ste), isvec (Stokholm), Norveç (Ozlo), Danimarka (KoPenhag), Portügaj (Lizbon), Yunanistan (Atina), Bulgaristan (Sofya) Yugoslavya (Belgirat), Romanya (Bukre.s), çekoslovakya (Prag) ve saire.

تمش اوچنجی درس

یمش ایکنچی درس Yetmiş ikinci ders

Güzel Yazi (Kaligrafi) Yazınız güzel olsun! Hüsnühat, Bir harfi büyük, ötekini kuçuk YazmaYınız. Her harf bir biçim olmalı. Her kelime arni yazılmalı, biti,stirilmemeli. Noktadan sonra (Majuskul) büyük harf lâzım. Satırlar doğru ve duzgun olmazSa çok çirkin görünür, Ba,slangıçta çizki çizip üzerine Yazınız... . (Nokta), (virgul); (noktalivirgul) ? (sormak i,sareti)

! (taaccup i,sareti) () (mute-

riza« » (tirnak)

**Figure 6.93** Poor typesetting occasion due to the low type stock in *İhdam*, 21 October 1928. Image source: The National Library of Turkey

Another feature of the lessons regarding writing is sharing the handwriting letters alongside printing types. Printing types were preferred for the purpose of teaching people to read and the cursive handwriting types for showing how Latin letters could be written by hand. Apart from *Cumhuriyet*<sup>88</sup> and *Milliyet*, there was no explanation in other papers for the distinction between printing and handwriting letters, as they have different natures in spacing, letterforms and style. Akşam, İkdam and Hakimiyet-i Milliye only shared those letters in alphabet tables; no specific separate content was shared later. With a conscious division and explanations, Cumhuriyet published this part in August 28 and Milliyet followed it in October 6 (Fig.6.91). Later, Milliyet broadly shared these two types of letters in its illustrative lessons, which aided 'Nation's Schools' starting from January 1. These parts were not in the form of practice sheets, but only a writing line was used to situate handwriting letters, indicating the fact that these letters necessitated a guide as they were to be written by hand. This was combined with the standard four parallel lines, 'the two middle ones containing the body of the letters and the outer ones serving as markers for the ascenders and descenders' as suggested by Palatino<sup>89</sup> (Fig.6.88). On the other hand, in another occasion of *Cumhuriyet*'s illustrative lesson in September 21, no writing line was used to show handwriting letters, but more space was embedded between the letters, which were placed rather randomly (*Fig.6.92*) unlike the printing ones published earlier.

#### **Reading columns**

In this section readers could practice what they had learned from the lessons by rereading. This approach was also advised by the newspapermen who prepared this content.<sup>90</sup> It is possible to divide this part in two sections: 1) reading articles during the transition period and 2) reading columns after the implementation of the reform to assist the Nation's schools.

Before the implementation, only *Cumhuriyet* (22 September), *İhdam* (21 October) and *Milliyet* (18 October) published reading articles along with regular alphabet lessons. These lessons, except for the one in *Milliyet*, included orthographic mistakes. Even though this was an educational section, we also see some seriously irregular typesetting due to the problem with the newspaper's type stock and inexperience hand-compositors (*Fig.6.93*). As the stock was in use for the issues throughout the transition, there was no amendment in this aspect. Surprisingly, *Milliyet* paid a great attention to both typesetting and punctuation, considering that these pieces would represent the right version of text in Latin script and readers would see these as an example (*Fig.6.94*).

<sup>88</sup> Ibid.

**<sup>89</sup>** Osley 1972, cited in Sue Walker, *Typography & Language in Everyday Life: Prescriptions and Practic-es* (London, United Kingdom: Routledge, 2014), p.62.

<sup>90</sup> Cumhuriyet, 23 August 1928.

yapacaklarını şaşır - mışlar. Usulca toplanm- ışlar, düşünmüşler,ta-	-Oldu bitti .	olduğundan kayığın kayıya bağlı ipini kes- meyi nuutmuşlar. Acc- leden biç biri bunun farkuna varmamiş. Bir an evel Usküdara geç- mek için var kuvetle- riyle küreklere asılmı- şlarsada kayık iskeleye	ceresinden denizi seyr- e liyormus. Yalınınönü- nde kayığın içinde bir alay arabın çır, ındık- larını görünce şaşmış. Sebebini anlamak üzre	<ul> <li>Tevekkeli kırk ara- bın aklı bir incir çekir- değini doklurnaz de- memişler! Meğer çok doğru imiş.</li> <li>Arapların tekrar ko- nağa alınmasını emr- etmiş, ve hepsine birer miktar para verip gö-</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Mcsela iki atm var- sa birini vereceksin:</li> <li>olur.</li> <li>Iki öküzün varsa</li> </ul>	is için bir otele girdi. Paltosunu kapının önü- ne asırak füzerine şu kartı iyneledi : Bu paltosunu salıbili bir kolu ile ikiyüz elli okka kaldırır. On daki- kaya kadar geri gele- cektir.
simmişlar. Sonunda hep beraber kaçınmığa kararı vermişler. Dağılacak- ları zeman içlerinden biri : - Kaçalım içlerinden ama, nereye kaçalım ? demis. - Ötekiler :	-Eh Dağılın öyle ise Efendi duymasın	bağlı olduğu için boça- lar dururanış, araplar da bu salıntidan gidiyo- ruz zannetmişler. Baş- ları yavaşça: – Aman, gayret ağa- lar az kaldı! Der, ötekiler de ye- ni bir gayretle kürek-	kâhyasını çağırtıp sor- muş. kâhya tahkikat yapıp işi anlamış. Efen- disine demiş ki: – Öfkenizden korktuk-	nüllerini almış. Kommünism Bir açık ğöz adam diyer bir adama dedi ki -Her yerde kommü- nism vardır. Artık se - ninle varınızı yoğumu- zu paylaşmahiyız. Kar-	biri benim olacak. – lşte bunu yapamam. – Bir öküz, bir at ve- riyorsun da neden bir tavuk vermiyorsun? – çünkü ne atım var ne de öküzüm. Fakat ki dane tavuyğum yar!	Sini bitip geri ge- len Ahmet paltosunun verinde bir kart buldu. O karttu üzerinde şu sözler yazıh idi : - Bu paltoyu alan saatta yirmi kilometre yol koşan bir koşucu- dur; geri gelmiyecek- tir.

Figure 6.94 Milliyet's reading column during the transition period, 18 October 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 6.95** *Cumhuriyet*'s reading column, 3 January 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 6.96** *Milliyet*'s reading column with small-sized headings, 11 December 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

The most distinctive feature of this content was the use of large-sized and bold types and on some occasions even the use of bold style. The reading columns published after the implementation day, also shared this distinctive feature. *Cumhuriyet* was one of the papers that used bold in its reading columns, on 3 January (*Fig.6.95*). However, size or styles were not applied consistently across all newspapers. For instance, *Akşam* did not use a large size in its first reading columns, but rather published only a small part in larger sizes after the implementation, starting from 3 January. There was an explanation in *Milliyet*'s section on 1 January, called *Milliyet*'in Halka mahsus sahifesi (*Milliyet*'s special public page) on why they chose to print in this way: 'There are some people who are not able to read small newspaper types; what do these people read everyday?' In *Milliyet*'s reading articles 'Tuhaf Fıkralar', the headings were ironically set smaller than the body text for a couple of days (*Fig.6.96*).<sup>91</sup>

Only *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* did not specifically publish reading columns in large type sizes, except in one case, which was the issue on 29 September. One reason could be that it was the official voice of the government, being the capital's only newspaper. So it had no intention of publishing 'informal' content to engage with the public, but instead published articles to be read in the same type size as its other content, most probably because it depended on public schools for teaching the alphabet, and reported on the develepments in relation to the reform in its capacity as an official channel.

*İhdam* was the only newspaper to publish full one-page reading articles and had the most interesting case in its typesetting approach. This section, called *The Reading Page*, consisted of stories and was published as one page in two columns. Considering the dimensions, the type size was quite large for the body text and there was also no consistency in it. The leading of the text was also oversized. The reason for this choice could probably be an attempt to fill the whole page (*Fig.6.97*). When we look at the same section on 15 January, there is still no adjustment to the text features. Although the number of columns increased, the size of the text increased gradually, and the leading was still unnecessarily wide (Fig.6.98). It was not possible to determine why the text size and leading were exaggerated, but there are some possibilities. The text size could be the result of the lack of types. This low stock might result in the use of different or inappropriate type sizes. When it comes to the leading problem, there could be two possibilities. One of them is helping readers to read a large-sized text easily while teaching the new alphabet. The other could be the need to fill the entire page with text, as mentioned before. In the same section in a later issue (1 February 1928), we see a remarkable alteration in the text. The text size and leading are more appropriate, although they are still quite large, considering the size of the newspaper's body text (Fig.6.99). In comparison, other newspapers did not have a serious issue regarding the execution of this part, as they kept it small and simple.

**<sup>91</sup>** There could be two reasons for this; one is that there is not enough space due to the large size of the body text. The other possibility is the lack of type sizes in the same type family.



Figure 6.97 *İkdam*'s reading column, 02 January 1929. Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 6.100** An example of using non-metal type in alphabet lessons, *Cumhuriyet*, 16 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 6.101 The use of metal type in alphabet lessons, *Akşam* 12 October (Above), *Cumhuriyet*, 22 September (Right) 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database, Atatürk Library

# **Benim Kirâatim**

Sevgili Gâzîmiz.

Ezilmiştik, bitmiştik. Uzaktan görenler bizim artık ölmüş sanıyorlardı. Kim derdiki bir ğün dirileceğiz.

İşte bugün diriyiz; ner zamankinden canlıyız.

ölmedik, yaşıyoruz; hem de eskisinden daha şanlı yaşıyoruz.

Şimdi daha hızlı nefes alıyoruz. Gözlerimiz daha fazla parlıyor.

Neoldu? Bu büyük mu' cizeyi kime borçluyuz?

Bize bu büyük eyiliği yapan, bizi yok olmaktan Kurtaran, bize yeni bir can veren yuca gazirnizdir, yuca ve seyili Gazimiz Mustafa Kemaldir. Bunu büyük kücük hep biliyoruz, hep dünya billiyor.

# Issues regarding typography and production Metal type versus lithography

From the typographic point of view, the use of type depended on two different conventions: the first one was either wood block or engraved into lithographic plate. It is apparent that the details of the Latin letterforms – strokes, counters, etc. – are not identical to each other, so this suggests that they are not metal types, but only cut once for the purpose of display (*Fig.6.100*). Also, the parts showing handwriting letters were clearly hand-drawn, therefore, it supports the argument. The second and most common practice was creating these lessons by using metal movable types. This can be seen mostly in the regular lessons, which is content set as text, not a table or plate. In some cases, the same metal types were used in different newspapers (*Fig.6.101*).

#### Availability problem of type

Besides the irregular typesetting in *İkdam*'s illustrative lessons mentioned earlier, there were only minor incidents regarding this section, and moreover, it is even possible to say that the newspapers were more cautious typographically, and they were keen to present the language correctly by applying the initial orthographic principles. However, we do see some mistakes regarding typesetting in a most cautious paper, Millivet. These minor mistakes were not like those in *İkdam*, which mostly happened due to the low type stock, but were the result of confusing similar letters and their sounds (i.e. letters i and i). In terms of lack of type stock, the use of minuscule letters at the beginning of sentences particularly highlights this problem. Also the use of double acute or long umlaut from Hungarian for the Turkish characters ö and ü proves this situation (Fig.6.80). Another important issue, which is the lack of Turkish characters during the transition period, also appears in this particular part. The difference in cedilla styles among the letters *s* and *c* points to the deficiency of type stocks. While they could find the letter *ç* from their type stock that they used for previous French publications, they could not apply the same practice for the letter *s*, as it only belongs to the Turkish language (Fig.6.102). Additionally, the common use of lowercase letters in the initial lessons might be the reason for low type stock, or it could simply be an indicator of their lack of notion on uppercase letters, which are absent in the Arabic script. Thus, we can also explain some unsuccessful examples of punctuation due to this confusion which came with the introduction of new practices in the Latin script (Fig.6.103). This confusion can also be seen in the Milliyet's illustrative lessons. Even though the letters were not printed with metal type, there is no consistency on style, as it is possible to see both serif and sans-serif use in the same lesson (Fig.6.104). This example clearly indicates that the issue was not merely the type stock problem, but also the difficulties of getting used to a completely different alphabet and its printing convention. However, they perfectly succeeded in publishing these lessons and instructive content daily in the most accurate way.



Figure 6.102 The difference in cedillas between the letters  $\varsigma$  and  $\varsigma$  in *Milliyet*, 23 January 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 6.103 The confusion in punctuation, *İhdam*, 3 October 1928. Image source: The National Library of Turkey



**Figure 6.104** The use of serif and sansserif letters in the same lesson, *Milliyet*, 10 January 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library

# Along with broadsheets, another important supporter of the reform was tabloid newspapers. Their role in the implementation of the reform and the changes regarding their design and typographic choices throughout the reform period are analysed in the next chapter.

\*

# **Chapter 7:** Illustrative tabloid newspapers: visual propagandists

The two major tabloids examined here, *Yeni Köroğlu*<sup>1</sup> and *Karagöz*, survived through the transition process, in part because they were among the papers and magazines subsidised by the state.<sup>2</sup> Although these two were separate publications, their appearance was almost identical, most likely because of the editorial approach of the new head columnist of *Yeni Köroğlu*, who was also the former head columnist of *Karagöz*.

It is apparent from their content that they were the supporters of the reform and did not show any kind of resistance/opposition or sarcasm in their content. On the contrary, it is possible to see mockery towards the old script and the old letters. Additionally, for example, showing old people as a student or the students of their grandchildren in their cartoons was not sarcasm; it is clearly a content, which provides encouragement for old people who had difficulty in learning the new alphabet/script by praising the studentship status, which represents progress and enlightenment. Thus, the satirical tabloids played an essential role in the acceptance of the new alphabet and the act of learning it. Moreover, it should not be forgotten that the satirical approach of these publications was not solely sarcastic, especially in the case of Turkish ones. They also had a didactical style and publishing approach to promote the ideas and notions that they support in the way to Turkish modernisation cause. This active support was the reason why they were included in the publication analysis to see the reform from the satirical aspect and through the design of tabloids. Before the analysis of these publications, it is important to detail their role in the alphabet reform as the title indicates.

One of the newspapers, *Karagöz*, had a longstanding and important place in the history of illustrative political publications, dating back to 1908. In line with the broadcasting policy of *Karagöz*, the public<sup>3</sup> was targeted with simple language, with the help of political cartoons to commentate on current political issues, and with the personalisation of two important cultural figures, *Karagöz* and *Hacivat*, in a humorous way.<sup>4</sup> We observe the same approach – 'state-centric humour' as defined by Turgut Çeviker<sup>5</sup> – in

<sup>1</sup> It is important to note that the name *Yeni Köroğlu* is sometimes referred to only as *Köroğlu* by abandoning 'Yeni', which means 'New', in the newspaper, so the same approach could be applied here in this study in some occasions.

<sup>2</sup> For more detail, see Chapter 5.2, p.139.

**<sup>3</sup>** Even though the reader segmentation of all newspapers seems 'public', there was a division between 'public' and 'elites/intellectuals'. So, these papers basically aimed at the majority of the population, which is mainly referred to as the 'public'. In particular, *Yeni Köroğlu* indicated this in its masthead by calling itself a 'Political public newspaper'.

**<sup>4</sup>** The detailed information about these two figures and their relationship with the newspaper was given in the section 'Karagöz' in Chapter 1.1, p.19.

<sup>5</sup> Turgut Çeviker, Karikatürkiye: Karikatürlerle Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Tarihi 1923-2008, Vol.1 (İstanbul: NTV Yayınları, 2010), cited in Bülent Akbaba, "İnkilap Tarihi Öğretimi İçin Bir Kaynak: Karagöz Dergisi," Kastamonu Eğitim Dergisi 22, no.2 (2014): 731-742, http://79.123.169.199/ojs/index.php/



Yeni harf inkılabı milletin bir zaferidir

Figure 7.1 The front page cartoon of *Köroğlu*, using a vulgar image to emphasise the national victory of the alphabet reform, 1 December 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



**Figure 7.2** *Karagöz* informs the readers about the exams in Nation's schools on its front page cartoon, 2 March 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Millet mektepleri bu hafta açılıyor Köroğlu – Haydi Habibe hanım konu komşu hazır, seni bekliyor... Mektep....

**Figure 7.3** The news of Nation's schools' opening on *Köroğlu*, 26 January 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey publishing content supportive of the new Republic, which is also pointed out by Kılıç:

> Preservation and maintenance of the world peace was the primary concern and main theme of the news and commentary relayed during the interwar period; however, after the declaration of the Republic, papers also contained domestic news concerning the progress of social and political reforms. It has been noticed that, as these were the early years of the declaration of Turkish Republic, fragility of the new regime was taken into consideration and based on this reality, harsh criticism of governance was avoided. Countrywide reforms and progression movements have been relayed with positive mood and commentary in order to help establish the new regime and gain public acceptance for it.<sup>6</sup>

It is possible to see the same type of support in many forms for the alphabet reform and for the government who actualised it. The newspaper *Yeni Köroğlu* was newly founded on April 1928, and it showed a much greater enthusiasm for and participation in supporting the reform than *Karagöz*.

The contents conveying positive support for the reform were mainly cartoons, pictures, announcements, competitions, encouraging articles/ slogans and reader letters. Cartoons were most effective, and there were two kinds - the big ones printed on the front and last pages, and other examples that were very small and printed on the inside pages. These cartoons - apart from visualising current topics - had two functions: promoting the learning of the new alphabet and reporting the news about the reform. To give an example of front-page propagandist cartoons, the one-page-width cartoon in *Köroğlu* on the implementation day (1 December) is a striking image that expresses the success of the reform with the accompanying title, 'The new alphabet is the victory of the [Turkish] nation' (Fig.7.1). Compared to this direct and powerful visual approach, Karagöz chose to use a softer voice in cartoons at a small scale and mostly in black and white; this approach is apparent in Figure 7.2. While they inform the reader about the exams in Nation's Schools,<sup>7</sup> they also present their message on the blackboard, written in a more indirect way, by saying that 'We learned ABC, succeeded in syllabication, so the sun of the knowledge has come up, and changed the night into the day'. Below the cartoon, there is a warning for the public stating that if they do not take these exams and get their certificate, they will certainly not be able to find a job anymore. Similar to this format, we also see some informative cartoons on the front page of Yeni Köroğlu, announcing the opening of new schools (Fig.7.3). On

Kefdergi/article/view/197/108.

**<sup>6</sup>** Sibel Kılıç, "Contribution of Karagöz humour magazine (1908–1955) to sociocultural transformations of the Turkish society which derives its sources from the Karagöz humour practices and its importance through the perspective of the Turkish cultural history," *The Journal Of International Social Research 4*, no. 16 (2011): p. 244–5.

**<sup>7</sup>** Nation schools, opened on 1 January 1929, operated nationwide and were obligatory, particularly for adults.





kaça? Bacı — Bir harf öğretene bir susam veriyorum, Karagöz çelebi!

Figure 7.4 The scenes that show older people learning the new alphabet in *Karagöz*, 16 January 1929. Image source: Hakkı Tarık US Collection.



**Figure 7.5** A last page cartoon of *Köroğlu*, to encourage public about learning the new alphabet, 29 September 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



**Figure 7.6** An example of both informative and propagandist cartoon in *Karagöz*, 29 December 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Anadolu köylüsü bakın nasıl okuyor. (Arbaa) nın (Endik pınar) köylüleri açıkta yeni harfleri öğreniyorlar. Muallim Tahsin bey hecaları. Arbaa Foto KOROĞLU, Ç. Y.

Figure 7.7 A photograph in the front page of *Köroğlu*, showing people gathered on the village square to learn the new alphabet, 16 March 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey the inside pages, there are also scenes that show older people learning the new alphabet and showing great enthusiasm and keenness to participate (*Fig.7.4*). The last-page cartoons were more implicitly promoting the reform, with some short stories beneath the cartoons.

To give an example of this, Yeni Köroğlu's cartoon shows a boy with a ball next to his friend, and the conversation indicates that his father had bought him a ball - he had refused to buy it before as he thought it was a waste of money - instead teaching the new alphabet to him first (Fig.7.5). In the Karagöz example, the opening of schools for the new alphabet was named as the 'Nation's festival of the public overcoming ignorance' (Fig.7.6). As can be seen from all these cartoons, their aim is mainly to encourage people, either dictating the message directly or making the characters promote it in an indirect way. Apart from some examples occasionally published in broadsheet newspapers, these cartoons actively promoted the benefits of the reform and its social and educational effects on citizens using the power of image. Another visual element used to inform readers about the developments was photograph. Two papers both published such content regularly both on the front and inside pages and Yeni Köroğlu, unlike *Karagöz*, introduced a completely new page by turning its last page into a picture page and calling it 'the cinema of Köroğlu' (Appendix 6). In some cases, it is possible to see photos on front pages beneath cartoons, mostly showing the scenes from Nation's Schools and people trying to learn the new alphabet (Fig.7.7). These few examples indicate why it is easy to name these newspapers as visual propagandists.

Apart from visuals, different kinds of texts, including news/ announcements, encouraging articles/slogans/poems and competitions, were integrated more into the inside pages after the reform announcement. While the news and announcements were not present in such large amounts as in broadsheet newspapers, the proportion of content to encourage engagement with the new alphabet was much greater compared to them. For instance, reminders of how many days were left to the implementation day and why readers should learn the new alphabet quickly were common inclusions.<sup>8</sup> It was even emphasised that the police would escort the people who refused to attend to the Nation's Schools.9 Another type of content that aimed to help readers to make reading practices aloud was poems written with the new alphabet (Fig.7.8). The two papers published this content regularly, both in the pre- and post-reform periods. The last thing that distinguished tabloids from the broadsheets was the way of engaging their readers to participate in learning the new alphabet and promoting it. This was done by publishing enthusiastic reader letters written in the Latin script and also calling readers to rewrite a particular piece of content, originally published in the Arabic script in Latin and send it to the paper to be published and earn some rewards

<sup>8</sup> For the content mentioned, see Köroğlu, 17 November 1928, p.2.

<sup>9</sup> Karagöz, 19 January 1929.



**Figure 7.8** Poems in *Köroğlu* (left) on 3 October and *Karagöz* (right) on 24 October being used for teaching to read from Arabic to Latin script. Image source: National Library of Turkey



**Figure 7.9** A calling for readers in *Köroğlu* to re-write a particular piece of content, in order to gain a reward, 26 September 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.10 Position of content and layout in Köroğlu, 18 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

(Fig.7.9). Despite this enthusiasm, especially shown in *Köroğlu*, the changes throughout the transition period and the engagement in teaching the new letters were not as considerable as in the broadsheets. Still, these tabloid papers were important allies of the reformers. They were the ones who would participate the reform and go through a considerable change. To see the extent of changes and contributions, the two papers are analysed typographically in the following sections. Before the analysis, the visual attributes of tabloids, which are different from broadsheets, are mentioned briefly to comprehend the analysis.

# 7.1. Visual attributes of tabloid newspaper

Tabloid-format newspapers during the reform period were not exactly identical to the ones outside of Turkey at that time, as defined earlier.<sup>10</sup> The papers analysed here were not dailies, but illustrative periodicals published twice a week. The number of pages was also less compared to the Turkish dailies at that time, as they comprised only four pages and the size was smaller than the broadsheet newspaper format. The allocation of the components on pages was also different compared to broadsheets, as reform-period tabloids used cartoons and photographs extensively and the textual content was shorter (*Fig. 7.10*). The first page with the masthead was designed as the cover, accompanied by a whole-page illustration, related headline and dialogues beneath it. The second and third pages were more integrated units, containing short news items and articles with some pictures. The last page was designed mostly to be illustrative and for leisure, and also contained readers' letters and short notices. The main components are:

*Masthead:* Unlike the broadsheets, there are no wide 'ear' sections to place extra information. There is only the nameplate/logo and subscription information, with the publication date placed beneath the nameplate/ logo. These are formed both from the name of the publication and the caricaturised characters who are associated with newspapers.

*Headline/picture caption:* On the front page, a headline also functions as a picture caption that sets the day's agenda and also explains the image used on the cover. Compared to the headlines in broadsheets, this component is set in smaller sizes without limitations on type style, as it could be set as italic, bold, condensed, etc. However, headlines are mostly centred to the cover image and there is no concern about the column width as in broadsheets.

*Headings:* This part is very similar to that in broadsheet newspapers.<sup>11</sup> Oneline and short headings on inside pages are more common in tabloids. Taking the different contents into consideration, there are some differences

<sup>10</sup> The confusion around the genre and its definition for the newspapers analysed here were explained briefly in Chapter 2.3. Identifying newspapers and magazines for the study, p.33.11 See Chapter 6.1. Visual attributes of broadsheet newspaper, p.179.

in type size and type styles between the headings on spreads. It is possible to follow a hierarchical order with the consideration of different contents.

*Section heads:* The function of this type of heading in tabloids is as defined in the broadsheet section.<sup>12</sup> In the analysed tabloids, it is possible to see characters such as *Karagöz* and *Köroğlu*, which are associated with the newspapers, pictured alongside the title.

*Body text:* In addition to the definition in the broadsheet section, the body text in tabloids is set in bigger type sizes, and the leading (line spacing) is wider than that in broadsheets. This is because the news/articles are shorter compared to broadsheets.

*Running heads:* This part also exists in tabloids as in broadsheet newspapers. In contrast to broadsheets, there is more use of decorative elements/dashes in this part, placed before and after the name of the tabloid.

*Advertisements:* While it is possible to see this kind of content in the period's tabloids in Europe and America, the tabloids which are analysed here do not consist of any commercial advertisements apart from the ads/ announcements of publishing/printing houses.<sup>13</sup>

*Pictorial components:* As mentioned earlier, this type of content is dominant in tabloids, compared to the textual content. It includes cartoons, photographs, and line drawings. Mostly, an explanation was placed beneath the dominant visual as image/figure caption. The cartoons in these tabloids, unlike other pictorial components, were mostly framed with a thick line/ frame.

*Column features and layout/grid style:* In contrast to broadsheet newspapers, also due to the smaller format/size, the number of columns in tabloids is generally fewer than four. The use of gutter space and column rules is the same as in broadsheets. Likewise, the grid style can be modular or columnar as well as asymmetrical or symmetrical. Compared to broadsheets, the layout is more flexible because of the short textual content.

# 7.2. Format and production issues

These two tabloids had the same page size, the same page plans and comprised only four pages before and after the reform. Only the direction of the pages, opening from left to right to be suitable for the Arabic script convention, changed and was set to open the other way around after the implementation day. Apart from this change, it is not possible to see a change in the format due to the reform.

**<sup>12</sup>** Ibid, p.171.

**<sup>13</sup>** Especially in the case of *Köroğlu*, its printing house 'Burhan Cahit Matbaası' was advertised in the space between the spreads.

#### Change in content

In Karagöz, before and after the reform, there was no increase in textual content, but more replacements with supportive content in favour of the alphabet change. Still, some of the featured parts remained the same during this period. On the other hand, Yeni Köroğlu seemed less determined to keep its textual content stable. Compared to *Karagöz*, this paper was not old and well established, so the content was more flexible, as we know from an announcement by Köroğlu that they decided to keep the news short to make readers read the content easily. But it is still not possible to talk about a considerable content change due to the reform. As mentioned earlier, only the illustrative concept on the last page changed and was replaced with a photographic theme. However, regarding the pictorial content, as was the case in the broadsheet newspapers, the use of line drawings was introduced in a different way with the implementation of the reform and we see more small editorial illustrations placed within the articles. There could be two possible rationales for this change; the first could be the visual recovery of quality lost due to the haste of the adoption and the other could be that the reader who gets bored with trying to read the content in the new letters could enjoy visuals more, and thus newspapers (including tabloids and broadsheets), which had a decreasing circulation during the transition could attract readers in this way.

# Column features and grid style

No change was seen in the number of columns - three in both papers - and no adjustment in gutter space or grid style was observed throughout the transition and after the reform. Only Karagöz abandoned the decorative frames that used to cover the whole spread after the implementation. Instead, specific, less dominant frames were used to distinguish different content. Yeni Köroğlu used these small frames from the beginning also to separate various pieces of content, so its approach did not change, in contrast to Karagöz. Up until the reform, the grid style in the two inside pages was more columnar in each newspaper, and their overall layout was identical. To break the monotonous look of vertical emphasis with the columnar grid, cartoons or pictures were situated at the bottom of the pages as horizontal modules. They also had symmetrical layouts. This shared approach did not change at all in these two tabloids before and after the reform. Because of few pages, the initial aim would not be column features, grid and layout, but typography with the concern of being read. So, it is most likely that they preferred to deal with the integration of the Latin script and the typographic arrangements, rather than spending time on making substantial changes in the newspapers' format and layout. Besides, they were also more interested in integrating more visuals, including cartoons, photographs and textual content. So this issue brings us to the most important change, which was the chance in typographical features.



**Figure 7.11** The first Latin appearance in *Karagöz* as the alternative of the original title in Arabic script, 15 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

چابوق اوکرەنەلم	رفلرى	یکی توریحه. ح
یکی حرفلرل بوید پازیلیر :	ليردى:	اسی حرفلرلہ بویدیازیا
Vatan	-	وطن
Millet	-	ملت
Istiklâl	0	استقلال
Cumhuriyet		جهوريت
Gâzi Baba	•	غازی بابا
Ismet Paşa		عصمت پاشا
Fevzi Paşa	-	فوذی پاشا
Khazim Paş	a	كاظم پاشا

**Figure 7.12** First Latin appearance on inside pages of *Karagöz*, to show the Latin version of some words and important people from the period, 15 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.13 The first Latin-inscribed cartoon in *Karagöz*, 15 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

اوكره نيكز. یکی تورك حرفلری پك قولای . YENI TURK HARFLERI PEK KOLAY توركلك عالمنى يكى بردنيايه ، مدنيت دنياسنه. بوبوك انقلامك بويوك داهيسي غازى حضرتلرى قوللا شو غرب حرفلرينيك اوكره نيلمه سيندهكي

**Figure 7.14** The first Latin appearance in *Yeni Köroğlu*'s heading as biscript on the second page, 18 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

# 7.3. Typographic evolution

## Adoption of Latin content – first appearances

Although we have the information about where these two heavily illustrated newspapers were printed, it is hard to conclude whether these two printing facilities borrowed from or lent certain typefaces and decorative elements to each other.<sup>14</sup> For the tabloid newspapers, it is possible to see a parallel pace with the broadsheet papers on sharing the initial Latin content with the public. Although the amount is not comparable to that in the broadsheets, which were pioneers on the matter in so many ways, they were quick to respond (Appendix 6A). Of the two tabloid newspapers, the very first Latin use appeared in Karagöz's masthead on 15 August, 1928. The title was printed in small-sized capitals with a quirky thin-stroked typeface called *Romana*,<sup>15</sup> as positioned beneath the nameplate (Fig.7.11). Compared to other publications, it was an unusual place for the first appearance of Latin. However, on the second page, many words in Latin script were introduced as examples along with their Arabic inscription, in a bold sans-serif typeface that was used also in broadsheets which is Mediäval Grotesk from the type foundry Stempel AG - Milliyet, Akşam and Cumhuriyet during the transition period (Fig.7.12). Also in the same issue, the first Latin-inscribed cartoon was published on the last page at an unexpectedly early stage (Fig.7.13). While Karagöz initiated the first Latin adoption, Yeni Köroğlu published its first Latin three days after Karagöz on 18 August (Fig.7.14), but only shared one heading as biscript on the second page, saying that 'The new Turkish letters are very easy' by using the same typeface, Romana, used for the nameplate of Karagöz. Although they were early like broadsheets, these initial Latin appearances in small amounts show that tabloids were not completely comfortable at integrating Latin content. Considering they only had three pages (not including the cover page) and were being published quarterly, this tendency is understandable.

The amount of Latin integration fluctuated somewhat during the transition period. While it was possible to see an ambitious use of Latin script in one issue, the same enthusiasm could be less apparent in the next issue. For instance, *Köroğlu* showed a very stable Latin adoption process until 20 October, and the peak for the use of Latin was seen on 24 October, but in the next issue, a considerable decrease occurred (*Appendix 6B*). In *Karagöz*, the amount of integration was low and not to the same degree as *Köroğlu* despite its quick start, but it showed a more steady increase throughout the transition period. It is more likely that these newspapers published Latin content only with the aim of familiarising readers with the script; thus, the Latin content generally appeared as short announcements/reminders about the reform and some modest alphabet lessons that were less significant in content and amount than those in the broadsheet newspapers. Apart from

<sup>14</sup> *Karagöz* printed in 'Milliyet printing house' and *Yeni Köroğlu* printed in 'Burhan Cahit printing house'.

<sup>15</sup> Romana typeface was designed by Theophile Beaudoire and Gustav F. Schroeder in 1860.



Figure 7.15 Köroğlu's masthead with the slogan written in the istif style before the reform, 15 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.16 The first Latin masthead of *Köroğlu* appeared on the last page, 6 October 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.17 After the minor changes in the masthead of *Köroğlu*, 24 October 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey the content about the reform, the components printed in Latin were mainly the big titles (equivalent of headlines) of cartoons, small headings on inside pages, poems and some author names. The most distinguishing feature of integrating content in Latin was its use as an alternative to the content in the Arabic script, which created a biscript approach. So, because of the less integrated Latin content, they were probably more concerned about a decrease in circulation and losing their loyal readers.

## Masthead

Before the reform, the mastheads of the two tabloids were very similarly structured, as the name of the newspapers were printed in ruq'ah style and situated between the two illustrated characters of the publications and framed. Further, the boxes that contained the relevant information for readers were situated in the ears of the mastheads. Even the text within and the other information below and above the boxes were similarly executed. Moreover, the use of decorative elements, such as long dashes and fleurons to separate the detail of dates, was identical with just a slight difference in size. Only the slogan of *Köroğlu* was present in an *istif*<sup>16</sup> style (*Fig.7.15*). This masthead arrangements show the similarity between these two tabloids.

After the announcement of the new alphabet, the very first change appeared in Karagöz on 15 August, as mentioned in the previous section, 'first appearances'. For Köroğlu, the first Latin masthead appeared on the last page of the 6 October issue (Fig.7.16). This appearance signalled the Latin version of this part in the later issues, as it was printed all in Latin and identical to the front-page version that appeared on 24 October (Fig.7.17), except for its colour (black) and the more graphic approach of the illustrations. Even though there were no significant changes between these two, it is obvious that they reconsidered some of the executions and enhanced the visibility to some degree. They changed the shape of the box beneath the nameplate and the position of the text in it. The price of the publication, which was 3 'kuruş' (pence) and placed in the middle and boxed in the first version, was now positioned on both sides at a bigger size to be differentiated from other material. The same practice was applied for the slogan, which was written at the same size with the texts in other boxes. Also, the additional part of the name 'Yeni' (New) was resized and repositioned in the newer version; it was made bigger and placed closer to the name Köroğlu maybe as a result of the minimised nameplate box. The new nameplate in Latin was all in capitals, and the typeface choice was a sans-serif, unlike most broadsheet newspapers which used a blackletterstyle typeface. This choice clearly shows that they were aware of their informal, humorous approach, one that would be reflected by the nature of

**<sup>16</sup>** This is a technique where words and letters were set (either side by side, or stacked) to create a more harmonised and decorative look in the Arabic script and convention. And the slogan simply says that *Köroğlu* is a political and humorous public newspaper published on Wednesdays and Saturdays.



Figure 7.18 Karagöz's masthead remained in the Arabic script until the first day of implementation, 8 August 1928.Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.19 Karagöz's new masthead in Latin after the reform, 29 December 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.20 After the change in the initial Latin masthead of *Karagöz*, 13 March 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey



**Figure 7.21** An example of the initial preference for primary headings in *Köroğlu*, which was the ruq'ah style type, 25 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

typeface they used. Nevertheless, the use of capitals in the title/nameplate indicates the influence of traditional convention and the small amateur diacritical mark of letter  $\check{g}$ , which is unsuitable to the size of the letter, indicates that they were not completely comfortable with the new Turkish characters and still lacking the type stock suitable for these characters. Apart from the nameplate, other typefaces in the masthead were the same ones used both in these tabloids and the broadsheet newspapers of the transition period. The lack of the letter  $\dot{I}$  (dotted I) in the word 'idarehanesi' supports this observation (*Fig.7.17*).

Despite the quick start by Karagöz, they did not change any part of the masthead during the transition, and apart from the tiny newspaper name being in Latin, this part remained entirely the same in the Arabic script until the implementation day (Fig.7.18). On this day, they printed exactly the same structure in Latin, only with small changes in the size of information below the nameplate. As in Köroğlu, they also chose to print the nameplate in capitals (Fig.7.19). Only on 13 March did a completely new masthead appear (Fig.7.20). In this design, the boxes were mostly abandoned except for the one for reader information, and the characters, Karagöz ve Hacivat, were positioned on both sides and the nameplate was printed at a larger size by using lower-case letters. So, this time they must have realised that using capitals is not striking and legible as in lowercase setting because otherwise, they would leave the title as it was or influenced by the execution of Köroğlu and made in the same way. Unlike this late revision, the quality of the Latin nameplate was very poor, as the letter shapes were not even and well drawn. This indicates that they still were not comfortable with the Latin letters. The use of the colour red in the nameplates is the only feature that remained from the pre-reform period. It is not known whether they were influenced by the new typographical movement in Europe at that time, but their choice of sans-serif titles was superior compared to the reform-period broadsheets, which mostly preferred 'blackletter.'

# Headline and headings

Before revealing the changes in these sections, it is important to clarify the notion and the functions of the headline and headings in this particular genre. As mentioned, the main cartoons were situated on both the front and last pages and these cartoons had one heading with some short anecdotes/ dialogues. Considering the position of this content, it would be logical to call these headings on the front-page headlines – even though they were placed beneath the cartoon – as they provide the first interaction with and agenda to the reader. Apart from this type of heading, there were the small regular ones for the short articles on the inside pages.

# Before the reform

The initial preference for headline and primary headings was the use of the ruq'ah style type in one size in both newspapers (*Fig.7.21*). In the secondary headings, naskh style was substituted as another variation in a smaller

imami, muhtari, Hacisi, Hocasi, yeni Harfleri öyrenmege başladi ی، خوجاسی بکی حرفلری اوکه تمکه امامی، محتاری، جاجب كوراوغلو - هايدى امام افندى، هايدى تمزيك، هايدى مديرافندى مكتبه كيج قالبورسكز، قارينهام صنفده قالبرسكز ها ا

Figure 7.22 Köroğlu's first headline in Latin in the form of small underlined headings, 25 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.24 The change of headline typeface in Köroğlu, 3 October 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



معلملر \_\_ باہو، جوجوقلرك بانندن كچركن اولسون كتابى قاباء آفاجانلر معلم امتحانه كېرمجك، آيماده صيقيلدى ها، دييه اوح چكيورلر .

Figure 7.25 Inside page headings of *Karagöz* appeared in Latin for the first time as biscript, 25 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.26 An attempt of increase the visibility of the Latin headings in *Köroğlu* by underlining them 5 September 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

size. Even though *Karagöz* applied the same approach in cartoon headlines, the headings on the inside pages were mostly in naskh style in a small size and ruq'ah style types were used in section heads. These components were always positioned centred to the main text.

#### During the transition

Köroğlu printed its first headline in Latin on 25 August in the form of small underlined headings, and this was also applied later on the inside pages (Fig.7.22). However, the execution of the typesetting was poor, as the headline began with a small letter and a small-sized, serif typeface in italic style was chosen. This most likely happened due to the lack of type in this style, as can be seen from the regular *H*, which was set differently. The underlining issue could be also because of the need for emphasis of this insignificant type choice. Compared to Köroğlu, Karagöz was late in making changes to headlines, printing them in Latin for the first time on 29 September in three-sentence form and using a full stop (Fig.7.23). A sans-serif and condensed typeface was chosen for this headline. Because of the larger-sized type and the same problem of availability of necessary types, the inventive use of letters was seen, as in the letters s and  $\check{g}$  by using a comma beneath the letter and a very thin breve externally attached. However, they did use capitals at the beginning of sentences. The use of Latin in *Karagöz*'s headlines did not appear again until the implementation of the reform. On the other hand, Köroğlu continued to Latinise headlines until the implementation day, but altered its execution by using more of a 'display' typeface that would be preferable for headlines and headings, which is Stempel's Mediäval Grotesk (Fig.7.24). With this choice, they might have started to realise the function of headlines, which is attracting the reader.

For the inside page headings of *Karagöz*, the first Latin example appeared as biscript on 25 August (Fig.7.25). Three different typefaces in different styles and sizes were used for this appearance, both lower case and capitals. This could indicate two things; that they used every typeface they had at that time, or simply that they thought that using multiple typefaces at once was good for distinguishing the different sections, rather than using variations of a single typeface, as they were not experienced in using the Latin script. Surprisingly, this exact execution remained until the implementation day. They did not seek alternative ways to set these parts in a better way. In Köroğlu, the headings in Latin script, along with section heads, were situated at the tops of the inside pages on 5 September. However, they seem insignificant and dull compared to *Karagöz*'s headings and its own version with the bold rug'ah style in the old script. It is therefore likely that they tried to increase the visibility of these Latin headings by underlining them (Fig.7.26). Nonetheless, they abandoned this execution of the inside headings on 8 September, and then adopted it again in the next issue, on 12 September, even though they had already applied this in the secondary headings of their old issues when the Arabic script was in use (Fig.7.23). So, this clearly shows that they were simply trying to discover ways to



Figure 7.27 A serif typeface in lower case and in a fairly big size used in *Köroğlu* on the day of implementation, 1 December 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.28 The use of six different typefaces in the inside page headings of *Köroğlu* on the day of implementation, 1 December 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.29 Köroğlu replaced its initial heading typefaces with a less decorative, but a similar serif typeface, mainly appeared as lowercase, 26 December 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



YALAN HA!

Haberiniz varmı, devletler yeni bir muharebe olursa Fıkra

Bir kış günü Baba oğul köyden köye gidiyorlarmış, tam bir ormanın

**Figure 7.30** The introduction of a new sans-serif typeface in capitals, preferred in the headings of *Köroğlu*, 27 March 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey
create variations for setting headlines/headings in the Latin script. On 24 October, when the amount of Latin content dramatically increased only for this issue of *Köroğlu*, the new heading variations with different typefaces in different sizes appeared (*Appendix 6B*). Even though a consistency was present in the mirroring of the biggest headings on facing pages, there was confusion around the setting of these headings with their equivalent in the Arabic script. Furthermore, it is possible to see both all-capital and lowercase headings in the same spread for the aforementioned reasons of low type stock or because of not being experienced enough typographically.

#### After the reform

On the day of implementation (1 December), Köroğlu printed its headline on the front page with a new and different Latin type - a slightly decorative serif typeface in lower case and in a fairly big size, compared to the old script headlines and inside page headings (Fig.7.27). However, this size was not used on the inside pages, so it must have been chosen for display purposes only. On the inside pages there is clearly confusion about the choice of typeface and style variations. It is possible to see six different typefaces used in the same page (Fig.7.28). Further, the variations of these types changed according to the importance of the content. This was not an unusual practice, however, as it also existed in the pre-reform period, so the same logic was followed. Nevertheless, it is apparent that due to the speed of the implementation, the papers used nearly every typeface they had in different styles and sizes to distinguish different parts. Moreover, the Turkish characters, such as I and g, were missing due to the use of transition-period types. After five days, both in the headlines and headings, we see that the newspaper changed its initial typeface choices by replacing them with a less decorative, serif, but a similar typeface, in the same style and size, and retained this in ongoing issues (Fig.7.29). The choice of typeface in front-page headlines was lower case and this was also preferred for the inside page headings; unlike the other content, these were mainly coloured red. Compared to the issues published in the old script, the attempt at creating a hierarchy between the different heading levels is also apparent after the reform, despite the single type variation - something which partially brought consistency to heading style. However, there was no obvious practice of stacking headings at three levels or more, which occasionally appeared right after the reform. After two months from its appearance, the colour red was abandoned in headings, and furthermore, a new sans-serif typeface in capitals was introduced for certain parts of the paper, such as letters, announcements and the reading section (Fig.7.30). Perhaps it was felt that the use of lower case was not enough to create a sensational effect on readers; hence, the use of another typeface to make some sections stood out. The papers were also more careful to provide the Turkish characters, so there was no issue with this aspect.

On the first day of the implementation, *Karagöz* chose a sans-serif typeface which appeared as lower case for its headline. Beneath the headline with cartoon dialogue, there is an announcement placed within a box and

Bu günden itibaren Arap harfleri tarihe karışıyor! Hacıyvat – Bak, karagöz, Arap harflerini gömdükten sonra Türk harflerinin güneşi ne parlak doğdu! Karagöz – Vatanımızın bu nur!a aydınlanmadık bir bucağı kalmaz, işallah!
İş arayanlara bir sütun açtık! iç sayfamizda iş arayan karilerimizin gönderdikleri mektupları neşrediyoruz
Figure 7.31 The headline section of Karagöz, on the day of implementation, 1 December 1928. Image source: Hakkı Tarık Us Collection



Figure 7.32 The use of both lower-case and upper-case headings in both serif and sans-serif typefaces in inside page headings of *Karagöz*, 1 December 1928. Image source: Hakki Tarik Us Collection



Figure 7.33 A fairly decorative, serif typeface appeared both in headings of Karagöz, 2 February 1929. Image source: Hakkı Tarık Us Collection



**Figure 7.34** The progression in the differenciation of the different sections in body text appeared in Latin in *Köroğlu*, 29 September (left) and 3 October (right) 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.35 The use of italic to differenciate the reader letter from the rest of the content, 24 October 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey printed in the most common typeface of the transition period in a bigger size than the headline (Fig.7.31). Similarly, the use of old fashioned boxes or frames shows the paper's traditional and conservative approach compared to Köroğlu. On the inside pages, there is a dominance of Latinised section heads with pictures. Although the typefaces were sans-serif, they were hand-drawn (not typed) and appeared in capitals to keep the traditional approach. In the rest of the paper, we again see the use of both lower-case and upper-case headings in both serif and sans-serif typefaces (Fig.7.32). As in *Köroğlu*, there is a hierarchy between the primary and secondary headings from the top to the bottom of the pages, but unlike that paper, there is the issue of underlining secondary headings set in small sizes. At least they were paying attention not to use italic, as in the case of Köroğlu. This approach remained for two months, when the new, fairly decorative, serif typeface appeared both in headline and headings, and again the inconsistency in style appeared, probably for the same reasons as in Köroğlu (Fig.7.33). The use of small-size type for the secondary headings also disappeared as the same size typeface was used for these. In May, *Karagöz* changed its type preference for the secondary headings again by introducing a sans-serif typeface and showed that they were clearly seeking the best way of setting the paper by trying different typefaces.

#### Summary

Turkish characters were not completely present in the headlines and headings of these two tabloid papers, despite now being in the post-reform period. This shows that they were not as prepared as the broadsheet newspapers in this period, possibly also because of the small amount of financial aid received from the government. Despite a mono and consistent look due to the use of one or two typefaces in headings in the early days of implementation, they seemed to change their approach by using many typefaces in the following few months, probably due to the new type purchases. There was one thing that *Köroğlu* differed from *Karagöz* though. While Köroğlu abandoned the old-fashioned hand-drawn section heads after the reform, *Karagöz* continued to print these sections, also in capital letters, as in the Victorian typography. But still, they had a more modernist mindset in general, as they mostly preferred sans-serif typefaces. Also, their efforts to become a contemporary publication was evident, as there is an announcement on competing with the quality of European newspapers by indicating that the newspaper (*Köroğlu*) would be (visually) superior to classy European newspapers, with the use of newly purchased Latin types from the German type foundry, Bauersche Giesserei.<sup>17</sup>

#### **Body text**

#### Before the reform

Both tabloids used an unknown naskh typeface in a single size for body text. Only *Karagöz* used a ruq'ah style typeface as another variation to

<sup>17 &</sup>quot;Yeni Harflerimiz (Our new letters)," Yeni Köroğlu, 10 November 1928.



**Figure 7.36** The first long body text in Latin in *Karagöz* appeared as poem, 11 September 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Haciyvat — Ey karagözüm söyle bakalım, sen tiyatrodan henden iyi anlarsın. Sanayii nefise birliği tulûatciliğin menedilmesini isteyormuş; doğrumu, yanlışmı? Haklımı, haksıznı? Karagöz — Hem doğru, hem yanlış, hem haklı, hem haksız,

H — Anlayamadım?

K — 'Bunda anlaşılmayacak bir şey yok. Bazı ehliyetsiz tulûatcilara nazaran həkh, fakat bazı nuktedan, zeki, zarif sanatkârlara nazaran haksız.

H — Peki ama hunları nasıl ayırt etmeli? Zekânın, zarafetin bir ülçüsü yok ki... Onunla ülçüpte, sen zarifsin, zekisin, nüktedansın, sen değilsin diyelim!

K – Nüktedanlığın yok ama terbiyesizliğin var. Sahnede halkı güldüreceğim diye çoluK çocuğun yüzünü gözünü açmacağı, ağza alınmaz sözler söylemeği menetmeli. Buylelerini sahneye çıkarmamali . O zaman mes'le kendiliğinden hallolur.

Figure 7.37 The amended body text execution in *Karagöz*, 17 November 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

#### Gel keyfim gel!

EMANETTE AMIR BEYLERIN GELIRI Emanet amirlerinden bazıları mezbahada, ve daha diger idarelerde aylıkla vazife yapiyorlar. her birinin aylığı altı yedi yüz lirayı buluyor. Ve bu zatler bulundukları idareleri halkın menfaati aleyhine mudafaa ediyorlar. Bu haberi Cumhuriyet refikimizda okuduk. Hayret ettik. bu adet lidi yapan bir turk genci artık azaldı. çünkü artık kadınlar eskisi gibi kapalı değil. erkekler arasına kadınlar karıştıkça kız oynatmak adeti de unutulacaktır. çünkü şimdi (Bar)larda herkes istediği gibi oyun seyr ediyor.

 Hangi (Osman)ı göndereyim? cehalet de zabtiyeden aşağı olmayan müstantık şiddet le emir verir:
 \_, hangisi olursa olsun, bana bir (Osman) bul gönder.

Türk Alfabesi

Vakup kadri bey namında bir genç iki renkl i ve gramer kaidelerini havi bir al fabe tablosu bas tırmıştır. Kaideleri eyice bel lemek isteyenler için şayanı tavsıyedir.

**Figure 7.38** The use of four different typefaces in the body text of *Köroğlu*, 1 December 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

tım, atlar güzel, araba pırıl pırıl, serde delikanlılık ta var, şöyle faytonun kenarına yaslanıp etrafı seyrederken gözüme bizim genç komşu hanim ras gelmesin mı, zaten eskiden de epi göz aşınalığı, hatta karşılıklı iç çekişmeler filân vardı, dururmusun, hemen bir araya geldik, kırk yıllık ahbap oluverdik, komşu hanımla bir Hıdırellez yaptik, bir Hıdırellez yaptık ki hâlâ o günün tadı damagımdadır; hey gidi gençlik hey!

> Veremle mücadele cemiyetine yardım ediniz

#### Soygunculuk

Gazi Ayıntap ile Birecik arasında işleyen posta otomobilinde bir soygunculuk oldu, otomobilin çerkes şöförü posta mütaahhidini vurup içindeki emanet 30.000 lırayı alarak Halebe firar etti, şimdilik bu alçak herif jandarmalarımızın elinden kurtuldu ama er geç cezasını bulacağına emin olsun!

#### 8 saatte

İzmir Demiryolu kumpanyası İzmirden Bandırmaya 8 saatta varacak şimendiferler işletecekmiş; iş sahipleri bundan çok memnun olacaklar, bu asır sur'at asridir, her şeyde sur'at işterl ne bir şey ilâve etmeğe lüzum görmiyoruz bu paraları vekâletimize merbut olan müesseselerin alması için emir vermenizi rica ederiz.

#### Av müsabakası

Bıldırcın geçiti oldugu için Silifkede Gazi Hazretlerinin çiflikleri cıvarında avcılar arasında bir bıldırcın müsabakası yapıldı, bu müsabaka birinciligi askerlik işleri reisi binbaşı Tevfik Bey kazandı, aferin bu nişancı binbasıyal



Figure 7.39 An example of using two different typefaces in *Karagöz*'s body text, 8 May 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library separate different parts within the text. Compared to the broadsheets, the text-setting approach was similar, as the text was always justified, first line indented, as in traditional approach and the French punctuation system was used, where a space applied before punctuation marks. When the Latin started to be integrated, the first typeface preferred by both papers was the one used initially in the broadsheets, *Romana*.

#### During the transition

Köroğlu's first use of a long section of body text in Latin appeared on 8 September, in the form of a poem. As usual, the typeface Romana was used. Even though the Turkish characters are present, the poor orthography and the lack of punctuation were the main issues in this setting. On 29 September, the execution of the body text in Latin was unsophisticated but in the next issue (3 October) it seems that they noticed the need for a more diverse approach to distinguish different elements (Fig.7.34). We also see the attempt at using a comma under the letter *S* as a result of the lack of specialised type. In the same issue, *Köroğlu* does not have the letter ğ on the inside pages. The same typeface but in a smaller size was also used on the last page, and a letter  $\check{g}$  was created although the diacritics does not seem to belong to the letter. Interestingly, we see Turkish characters such as  $\ddot{o}$  and  $\dot{s}$  in the same typeface. On 3 October, the attempts to equalise the Latin part with the old scripted text in a poem can be seen. There are also some minor incidents regarding typesetting. On 20 October, a new Latin typeface for body text emerged. The use of italic for a published letter on 24 October shows the typesetter's notion of differentiation of text from other pieces (Fig.7.35). Still there is the issue of a lack of type, as the body text is sometimes set in bigger sizes. Confusion on typographic choices in body text is evident.

After the initial appearance of Latin on 15 August in *Karagöz*, as mentioned in the 'first appearance' section, the first use of Latin in the body text appeared on 18 August, in the form of words to show the Latin versions of names and objects, compared to the ones in the Arabic script. In this section, various transition-period typefaces, which had problems with Turkish characters, were used. Therefore, unlike the early attempt by *Köroğlu*, the first long body text in Latin in *Karagöz* was printed on 11 September as a poem (*Fig.7.36*) with many orthographic and punctuational mistakes. However, a body text in Latin appeared on 17 November, just two weeks before the implementation, and the execution of the text was clearly amended (*Fig.7.37*). Despite some orthographic issues and the inconsistency of punctuation marks, the setting seems refined with its precise justification and leading. From this date to the implementation, this approach remained constant.

#### After the reform

In both tabloids, there is confusion again in setting body text, shown in the use of up to four different typefaces in different sizes in serif and sans-



Figure 7.40 Köroğlu Latinised and printed its running head as biscript for one day, which is 24 October 1928, during the transition period. Image source: National Library of Turkey

2150 - 900 🗧 قر.كوز 🟟 2 - 42 No. - 2205 Karagöz Sa. – 3

**Figure 7.41** *Karagöz* abondoned the decorative paranthesis and shortened the words in its running head after the reform, 24 October 1928 (top) and 4 May 1929 (above). Image source: National Library of Turkey

ی تورك حرفلریله یازوب اوقومایی او کر منه اسلام ادارمسندمه ایشلر زور جیفار : Iskhan idaresinden işler zor çikar سیر مفائنا ایشی کرز بویا قدر : Seyr-i sefainin işi ğöz boyamakdır بدك ذخيره نداركم باقالم : Vedek zahîre tedârikine bakalim ماجبوادی صور کونوردم صور کتیردم : Hacîvadı suya ğötürdüm susuz ğetirdim بو مذبحہ وارکن أت اوجوزلاماد : Bu mezbaha varken et ucuzlamaz : شريف بك شهرا ماننك بببيدر serif bey sehir - emânetinin bülbülüdür 

**Figure 7.42** The very first example of a lesson showing some sentences in two scripts in *Karagöz*, 18 August 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

یکی لفابهمزی چاہوق او کردنه ا تورك يازيسي يكرمى طقوز سکزی سسلی حرف، یکرمی بری سس سز حر يعنى سـ لى حرفلر اوستون ، اسر. ، اوتر. ، قالين اسره، قالين اوتره ، يوموشاق اوتره اوقرتمايه بإرار. بو سسلى حرفلر اولمانچه سس سز حرفلر اوقوناماز . اونك ایجون تورکجه حرفلرله چوق قولای بازیلیر جوتى قولاى اوقو ور . شىمدى ايلك اوكر سىلى حرفلرى اوكر.نه : آن ، آن ، آل كي AL ، AK ، AT »  $=\overline{1}=A$ نىت ، ئەك ، ئەم كى EM ، EK ، ET » = = -ایخ ، ایس کمی ۱۵ ، ۱۶ « · 01 · iN = ئى = ینی ، چنی ، ینی کی BIK ، ÇIK ، YIK = & = ] اون ، اوت ، اوق كې OK ، OT ، UN « ) = او = اوچ ، اونون ، اوبون كي اويون كي UYUT UNUT ، اويون كي UYUT » ص يومشاق او= نوز ، نوب ، ثول كمى ÖL ، ÖP ، ÖZ «Ö انجە ئو = ئوچ، كوچ، ئوخوكى يى يېڭو : يۇن ، يۇن :  $\overset{i}{OR} = \mathfrak{Z} = \overset{i}{O} = \overset{i}{O} = \overset{i}{\mathfrak{g}} \mathfrak{e} = \overset{i}{\mathfrak{g}} \mathfrak{e}$ بو حرفلری جمعایرتسنه قادار اوکرمنیکز جعها يرتسي أسخه من ده سس منز حر فلري بيلد ر مجكز.

Figure 7.43 The first serious lesson revealing the vowels in *Karagöz*, 12 September 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

حرفلردن صوكرا سي سزلري او در كندى كنديلرب المقوقا ورمبيامك انجون إ اوكنه يا آرد. حرفاردن بر تانيس كله لي : A () ، او) ، لا (قالين فر) ، (قالين في) - ريز - = M · = N = R = G ×= برموشاق که جوشاق ک ·-- · = D = مزلرى ولشديرمل. باقالم نهجيقاجق. مثلا B م الله A آبي والشدوم. A بوقاریاوقوتور او حالد. B می BA ازاد مق BA با اوفورز . بان بانه ابکی دفعه شویله بازار اق · HABA بر نانه داها آلالم . N نه ي آلدق . باشنه بر A نوبدق . AN آن اولدی. رد. صوک A A قوال . شبعدی د. ANA اولدی . برد. T نبه باقا . بر A آاوکنه بر T ز کنبر برمال AT آن اوقورز . T ملکد. اوکنه بر A آ داها قوبارسەق ATA اولور . باشغە بر سىلى آلام. مىلا Oي آلدق . بولمك اولنه بر K كتير. ب O او اور. اوتوندين انجون OK اوق اوقورز . O او نك اوكنه بر T فوالم، OT اوت اولور. نوی او می و T فوالم، I اوک بر O او قوالم، اونک بر T نه بازالم ، اوک بر O او قوالم، اونک اوک بر K ف قوالم، TOK طوق اولور . Ç جه قوبار-،ق ÇOK جوق ادلور . جارشانبابه قادار سسرنز حرفلرى بللهيم ، جارشانبا كونى داها جوق مثالارله حرفلرى ببتيشيك اوقوغا-بى اوكر. نېرز .

Figure 7.44 The use of two different typefaces in the lesson section, due to the lack of metal type, 15 September 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey serif on the same page (*Fig.7.38*). Compared to *Köroğlu*, which used different styles, *Karagöz* preferred only serif typefaces for body text, which seems to be a conscious decision. However, after a couple of months, *Karagöz* changed its approach and used more than one typeface for this part, most probably to distinguish different contents (*Fig.7.39*).

#### Post-reform period

One of the typical issues unique to the post-reform period was the setting of some body texts in large-sized typefaces. Though the aim of this approach was to differentiate between various sections, it created a shifting and amateur look. Problems with leading also contributed to these amateurish executions. Over the next few months especially, we still see orthographic and punctuation issues, particularly in *Köroğlu*, as typesetting in *Karagöz* was more well-considered with fewer mistakes and the leading inconsistency. Apart from the variations discussed, the tabloids use more decorative serif types than the broadsheet newspapers in the post-reform period, so it can be concluded that these newspapers are closer to the magazine format, and also because of their illustrative approach. Nevertheless, the same typefaces were also used both in tabloids and broadsheets, so there may have been a relationship, or these Latin typefaces simply represented the few types available in the country at that time.

#### Other parts - running heads 18

Before the reform, this part was identical, with decorative parenthesis, in both of these newspapers, except for the use of Arabic numerals in *Köroğlu*, alongside the Latin one. During the transition period, only *Köroğlu* Latinised and printed this as biscript for one day, 24 October, when there was an unusually high quantity of Latin content (*Fig.7.40*). The running heads in *Karagöz* were Latinised at the implementation of the reform. We see that the decorative elements were abandoned and the words were printed smaller in the following period, and the shortening of words – 'sayfa' as 'Sa.' (page) and 'numara' as 'No' (number) – was also observed (*Fig.7.41*). The papers might have abandoned decorative parts to suit the nature of non-decorative Latin types or might have concluded that it seemed crowded and too dominant compared to the rest of the page.

#### 7.4. Familiarising with the alphabet

Unlike the broadsheets, the alphabet tables and lessons in both tabloids were not progressive and systematic to encourage readers to enhance their learning experience, but they were rather simple reminders to maintain enthusiasm and encourage familiarity in the public throughout

<sup>18</sup> The section heads were excluded here as they are insignificant in terms of quantity and design, and also because of being mostly typographic, they are considered as a level of headings and mentioned already in the tabloids' headline/headings section. Also unusually, there are no advertisements in these newspapers - unlike the broadsheets - apart from the newspapers' publishing house small advertisement in the middle of pages. So, only running head will be discussed here.





**Figure 7.46** Another alphabet table of *Köroğlu* appeared in a different typeface, a serif and in capitals with all the characters, despite some Turkish characters borrowed from another typeface, 24 October 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey

**Figure 7.45** The first alphabet table in *Köroğlu*, named as Turkish poem, even though it also shows the new alphabet, 15 September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library.



**Figure 7.47** *Köroğlu*'s complete alphabet in capitals positioned at the top of the inside pages on the day of implementation, 1 December 1928. Image source: National Library of Turkey.



**Figure 7.48** *Köroğlu*'s illustrated partial alphabet table, 5 January 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey



Figure 7.49 An example of *Köroğlu*'s small reading corners for practice with some illustrations, 26 January 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey



**Figure 7.50** A new section appeared in *Köroğlu*, as both news and reading section for practice, 27 February 1929. Image source: National Library of Turkey this period. They were simply sections to present the new alphabet and some words/sentences for practice. The amount of this content was quite small, especially in *Karagöz*. If we do not count the very first example of a lesson showing some sentences in two scripts during August (*Fig.7.42*), the first serious lesson revealing the vowels for the first time appeared on 12 September (*Fig.7.43*). Due to the lack of Turkish characters in the transition period typefaces, they apparently borrowed characters in various sizes from different typefaces. The same problem occurs in the next issue, as two different typefaces were used (*Fig.7.44*). Apart from these, some poems were published for readers to practice, but this was not permanent and they only appeared during the transition period.

In Köroğlu, the first alphabet table appeared on 15 September, even though the section was not named as a table but as a Turkish poem, 'mani'. The typeface used was one of the most popular transition-period typefaces, a sans-serif and lower case. Although it is possible to find these characters in the typeface elsewhere in the paper, the two Turkish characters ö and ğ are missing in this table (Fig.7.45). However, on 24 October, another table appeared on the last page, and this one appeared in a different typeface, a serif and in lower case with all the characters, even though the Turkish *Ğ*, *Ö*, *Ş* and *Ü* were borrowed from the other typeface, *Romana*. Despite this attempt, on 21 November, only the character 'ö' was added to the table, whereas 'ğ' was still missing (Fig.7.46). This clearly shows that they were not paying close attention to this content in the way that the broadsheets were. Up until the implementation day, this table was printed occasionally, with some announcements and reminders regarding the reform. On the first day of full Latin adoption, *Köroğlu* printed the complete alphabet in capitals positioned at the top of the inside pages (Fig.7.47). This time, the Turkish characters were all present, printed with the same typeface used in the first table. On 5 January, an illustrated partial alphabet table appeared (Fig.7.48), with the rest published in further weeks. The previous sans-serif and the serif typeface used in headings were preferred for this section and printed in red to highlight and separate it from other content. After publishing the whole alphabet with some syllables, small reading corners for practice started to appear on 26 January with some illustrations and pictures (Fig.7.49). One month later, this corner turned into both a news and reading corner and was sometimes named as only a 'reading corner' (Fig.7.50). Because of its insignificance within the paper, especially compared to the broadsheets, these reading practice pieces might seem insufficient, but the other texts printed in big point sizes were also serving as reading practice, even in *Karagöz*, which did not publish a specific reading section.

As can be concluded from the analysis, tabloids were the second most important supporter of the reform after the broadsheets and succeeded in this role by using their visual power. Magazines were the last publications subjected to this immense change.



#### Serveti Fünûn

HAVADIS VE ILAN KISIMLARI

Gizi Hazretleri seyahatlerinden Ankaraya avdet buyurmuşlardır.

...

Gizi Hazretlerinin son emirleri yazımızı kolaylaştırmıştır ; Dil Heyeti Ankaraya gitdi.

Hç tereddüt etmeden diyebilirz ki, en yakın noktasından en uzak noktasına kadar bütut Anadoluda ve vatanın her yarçasında yedisinden yetmişine kadar herkes yeni hârilerinizi öğrenmekde dir. Bu, mühterem Başvekilimizin dediği çibi: Cahil kalmaktan kurtulmak isteyen bir milletin kurttluş hamlesidir.

Biumum resmi orta mektep ve liselerin Teşrini evvelin birinci günü ve ilk mekteblerin Teşrini evvelin on beşinde açilması tekarrür etmiştir.

Ecnebi ve ekalliyet ilk ve orta mekteplerîle liseleri ise Teşrini evvelin birinci günü açılacaklardır.

Yeni kurslara devâm etmekte olan muallimlerin imtihanları da Eylûl nihayetine kadar hıtam bulacaktır.

. . .

5 Teşrini evvelde İspanyanın Sevil şehrinde Beynelmilel şehirler kongresi toplanacaktır. Şehremanetimizin davet edilmiş bulunduğu bu kongreye henuz kimin ve ya kimlerin iştirakh etmek üzere gönderilecekleri tekarrür etmemiştir. Emânet murahhaslarını bu günlerde tâyîn edecektir.

Istanbul maârifinde Boğaziçi Anadolu mantıkasında Paşabahçede açılan muallimlere mahsus yeni hârf kursları bu kerre nihâyet bulmuştur. Tedrîsât 1 Eylûlden 18 Eylûle kadar devâm etmiş ve müfettiş Kıymet hanımın muallim talebeleri ilk defa olarak büyük bir muvaffakıyetle imtihanlarını vermişler dir.

1676 - 202

Perşembe, 27 Eylûl 1928

Kurslar mektep usûlîle altmışar dakhîkalık olarak günde üçer sâatten haftada dörder gün devâm etmiştir. Hanımların bu muvaffakıyeti türk halkının yeni hârfleri kavramaları îtibârîle her türlü taktirlere sezadır.

Yunan başvekilinin fikrine göre, aramızdaki muallak işleri îtilâf zemînini salâhiyettar Türk ve yunan mütehassıslarının bizzat hal ve tesviye edebileceği bir haylı teknik mesâilden temizlemek lâzımdır.

**Figure 8.1** The news section in *Servet-i Fünun* magazine, reporting the news regarding the reform, 4 October 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.

#### Chapter 8: Magazines: late and slow adopters

While the harmonisation of Latin content was very explicit in both broadsheets and tabloids during the transition period, magazines did not show a considerable change; nevertheless it was possible to encounter attempts at revision in layout and typographical attributions a little while after the day of implementation. That is why the focus will be more on the issues of the post-reform period in this analysis. The reason for being late in integrating content in Latin compared to the newspapers could be the magazines' publishing frequency, which was monthly (in the case of Resimli Ay), twice a month or weekly (in the case of Servet-i Fünun) - that would not have allowed for making immediate and regular changes for fear of losing readers, even though the magazines had the advantage of having spare time to plan changes compared to the frequently published periodicals. In addition to this, the low amount of financial aid from the government was a factor in magazines being slow adopters. There was even a danger of closure for the reform-period magazines, and a sharp decrease in circulation was observed,<sup>1</sup> as in the case of *Resimli Ay* magazine, which took a break for three months after the implementation day. Not every magazine was in this situation as Servet-i Fünun was printed regularly during the change and perhaps was the least affected of comparable publications.<sup>2</sup>

These two magazines, Servet-i Fünun and Resimli Ay, which were subject to the analysis here, were perhaps the most famous magazines at that time. They were more interested in and focused on the social and cultural issues of Turkish society, but they still paid attention to political issues and published related content in favour of the change. In particular, Servet-i Fünun's news coverage during the transition period of the alphabet courses, the trips of Atatürk to the Anatolian cities to introduce the new alphabet and the activities of the Language Commission and the State Printing House served as an informative and supportive tool (Fig.8.1). During this reform period, even though broadsheets and tabloids were fierce defenders of the reform, they seemed more conservative, public-minded and convention-friendly, whereas magazines were more the representatives of the new, the modern and the Western-facing partly because of the personal background of their owners.<sup>3</sup> The leading article by the owner and the founder of Servet-i Fünun, which was published on 6 September 1928, is a good example of this approach. In the article, he praised the reformers because of the change that would help Turkish journalism and

**<sup>1</sup>** This decrease in circulation was mentioned in the leading article of *Resimli Ay*; see *Resimli Ay*, May 1929.

**<sup>2</sup>** It is important to note that these magazines had their own printing facilities and as in the case of *Servet-i Fünun*, which was always a pioneer in printing; it is understandable that they were less affected compared to the other small-scale magazines. This is also why they sought ways to change their design after the reform.

**<sup>3</sup>** The owners and their backgrounds will be mentioned more in the further pages. In these two cases, the owners of these magazines were also the editor-in-chief and leading authors. This situation partly explains why it was easier for them to have such a role.



Figure 8.2 The shape of the agreed typecase for the new Turkish metal types in *Servet-i Fünun*, 8 November 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.



**Figure 8.3** The alphabet table with missing letter ğ in *Resimli Ay*, November 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

publishing industries to function as they did in Europe.<sup>4</sup> And most likely because of that, the owner, Ahmet İhsan [Tokgöz], also started to publish his own printing experiences as a series during and after the reform. The alphabet reform could have been a trigger that encouraged him to pass his experience on, explaining why the Arabic printing convention was not easy and productive compared to printing in Latin. It is apparent from an article that Servet-i Fünun also pioneered in the creation of a plan for the new metal type cases.<sup>5</sup> According to the article, the head of the typesetters in Servet-i Fünun was the first person who realised this need and initiated a three-day meeting in order to create a new plan with the heads of typesetters from many printing houses dealing with both book and newspaper printing. In this meeting, the members of 'the Turkish Typesetters Association' (Türk Mürettipler Cemiyeti) were also present.<sup>6</sup> After reviewing the proposals from the people in the meeting or who were absent but sent their proposals, a new plan was created and approved on the last day (Fig.8.2). We see that new type cases were created according to this plan and started to be used in İstanbul and many other cities. Not only printing issues were discussed. Servet-i Fünun shared the same view as the reformers, namely the desire to abandon all Arabic and Persian influence in the Turkish language. Thus, the Arabic-rooted name of the magazine 'Servet-i Fünun', meaning 'Wealth of knowledge' was replaced with the Turkish-originated word 'Uyanış', meaning 'Awakening'. The magazine explained this change in an article on 13 December.

Apart from the announcement and news about the reform, they did not publish alphabet lessons like the newspapers did, but presented the new alphabet to their readers during the transition period (*Fig.8.3*). In the alphabet table in *Resimli Ay*, the missing ğ tells us something about the role of magazines in the reform period. Publishing this incomplete

<sup>4 &</sup>quot;Artık gözüm arkada kalmaz," Servet-i Fünun, 6 December 1928.

<sup>5 &</sup>quot;Türkçe yeni hurufat kasasının şekli," Servet-i Fünun, 8 November 1928.

<sup>6</sup> Unfortunately there is not so much information or archive about this association, except for one book on the strike of the association's typesetters in 1923. According to the book, this association, Mürettibîn-i Osmanlı Cemiyeti, was founded with 5 members in 2 August 1908 after the announcement of the Second Constitution (İkinci Mesrutiyet) and only for the typesetters who work at the printing houses and newspapers of İstanbul and set in Turkish. Until the 1912 regulation, the association accepted other printing workers as well, besides typesetters (p.33-35). During the war period (Balkan Wars and WWI), the association had to be closed down many times due to the negative effects of the wars. In 1919, a gathering was arranged and the association was founded as the fourth time (p.39-41). In 1922 annual meeting, the name of the association was changed into 'Türk Mürettibin Cemiyeti' and the emphasis of 'Ottoman' in the name was abandoned (p.42). In 1938, all different printing workers were also included in the scope of the association and its name was changed accordingly as 'Matbaa İşçileri Birliği' (Printing Workers Union) (p.47-8). After several changes, it is named as 'Basın-İş' (Türkiye Basın Yayın Matbaa Çalışanları Sendikası) in 1963. After 4 years, it was affiliated with other labor unions that formed 'DİSK' (Devrimci İşçi Sendikaları Konfederasyonu) and still carries out its activities under this formation (p.50). We learn from the source mentioned here that the foreign typesetters (the ones who set in Greek and French) were not the members of this association, so they had one called 'Rum Mürettipler Cemiyeti'. But we do not know more about this association (p.63-5). We also see that there is another typesetter association in İzmir. So the typesetters in Turkey must have organised from time to time in different cities (p.203); Ahmet Ali Gazel, 1923 Mürettipler Grevi, (İstanbul: İdeal Kültür ve Yayıncılık, 2016.)

table so late in the period of transition shows that they did not have a mission to teach the new alphabet to the public as the broadsheets did. One of the reasons could be the fact that they had a limited and targeted audience compared to newspapers, and so did not reach the majority of the population. The relative infrequency of the issues must also have prevented them from publishing regular lessons. Still, they tried to create awareness among readers about the reform by publishing opinion pieces. During the transition, even Resimli Ay conducted interviews with important figures and reformers about the benefits and the implementation details of the reform (In September and October volumes). In September, Resimli Ay also published a three-page long lesson series, advising readers to study the new alphabet every day. Apart from these, they did not publish lessons regularly. They focused more on the period after the reform, in order to create a brand-new and Westernised look. To understand this mission, the next section will present the changes in layout. Before this, the visual attributes of a magazine will be mentioned briefly to comprehend the analysis of magazines.

#### 8.1. Visual attributes of magazine

A magazine can be formed/created in many formats/forms and sizes as it has more freedom and less formal tone than a broadsheet or tabloid newspaper. It also has more pages compared to newspapers. At the time of the alphabet reform, there was no considerable difference in relation to European's magazines from the same period. As mentioned above, magazines -like the ones also analysed here- were closely monitoring European publications and paying attention to staying up-to-date print-wise. Even some of the clichés (line blocks) were imported from Europe, along with some printing presses and equipments. Compared to newspapers, which need big sized printing presses (rotary press at that time), magazines were being printed in small sized printing presses and being created by folding big sized printed-paper as spreads. A magazine consists of a cover, inside pages and back cover. Covers are mostly published on a thicker paper/carton than the paper used for inside pages. Apart from a dominant one image (either photograph or illustration) and a heading or image caption on the cover page, there is a nameplate/logo and other information about the issue/volume.

*Masthead:* Contrary to broadsheets and tabloids that have a masthead part, magazines do not have an organised one, as the information about the issue/volume on this part can be placed on any space around the nameplate/logo.

*Headings:* As there is no headline in magazines in contrast to broadsheets and tabloids, headings are one of the most explicit and dominant components in magazines, especially in large sizes and in different styles. They are appropriately designed according to the content. While the main headings could be designed as mentioned above, subheadings within the text are in a similar size and style with the body text. *Section heads:* As in newspapers, there are some section heads in magazines for specific content that is regularly published to remind readers by using the same design. Features of this component are the same as in newspapers.

*Body text:* If the magazine is heavily illustrated, this section is generally set after the allocation of visuals on page, as it has priority. The type size preferred to set regular articles is slightly bigger than in broadsheets, but it also depends on the type of content. The type style might be more decorative, rather than formal and classic as would appear in broadsheets.

*Page numbers/folios:* Unlike broadsheet and tabloid newspapers, running head is not often preferred in magazines. Instead, printing only folios is a common practice.

*Pictorial components:* Photographs and line illustrations are the main pictorial elements that mostly determine the design of page. At the time of the alphabet reform (1928), in addition to these, decorative elements such as frames, dashes and swashes were used in page layout.

*Column features:* Magazines are not very text based like broadsheet newspapers; as a result of this, more than three columns are hardly seen. The overall layout and the use of space and visuals are more important. Additionally, there are no column rules as in broadsheet and tabloid newspapers.

*Layout and grid style:* Similar to broadsheets and tabloids, a magazine page/spread is also designed in different grid styles, such as manuscript, columnar, modular and hierarchical. Additionally, all the components on the spread (textual and pictorial) are placed to form either a symmetrical or asymmetrical layout. Compared to the layout in newspapers, a magazine layout is more flexible and artistic, as their initial function is to attract and please readers' eyes.

#### 8.2. Decisions on format and layout Format

Before analysing the changes in textual and visual content, it is beneficial to look whether there was a difference in page size and in the number of pages. Due to the physical unavailability of these magazines, it is not possible to determine the change in their sizes as a result of the reform. However, as in the broadsheets and tabloids, there was some fluctuation in the number of pages, but only in *Servet-i Fünun*, due to the integration of more textual and visual content regarding the reform. This was also the result of integrating more announcements and an inside cover. During the transition, the number of pages in this magazine was usually 24, but in two volumes, this number increased to 32. Right after the implementation, the published pages were fixed at 28 and this lasted for three months. After this point, the magazine was published as 24 pages. On the other hand, *Resimli Ay* did not review its number of pages. Despite its new design approach,



**Figure 8.4** Main text was set according to the places of pictures and the remaining space in *Servet-i Fünun*, 4 October 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.



**Figure 8.5** The use of large images on page in *Servet-i Fünun,* 7 February 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.

the number of pages remained steady at 42, between the volumes of August 1928 and May 1929.

Regarding the changes in format, while *Servet-i Fünun* did not make a significant change in its visual format (although it was announced that the quality of visuals was going to be better), there was a clear attempt to increase the contribution of the textual content. The assumption about why there were no great visual changes was the magazine's mission to be the Turkish equivalent of *L'Illustration* and *the Illustrated London News* at that time and its success of being the oldest magazine in the history of Turkish publication. It already had a European – specifically French – influence on its publishing policy, and it was always a high-quality illustrative magazine, so it kept this approach after the reform and the amount of pictures remained the same even though some slightly different approaches to the visual size and composition were applied. Furthermore, the magazine remained up-to-date print-wise because of the owner, Ahmet Ihsan [Tokgöz], and his knowledge and cultural interests based on his frequent visits to Europe.

In Resimli Ay, the original intention for a format change was abandoned after the reform in a leading article on March 1929, when the magazine came back into print three months after the implementation day. The people who created this magazine did not want to reduce the quality being under pressure due to the low circulation and the financial strain but to go against the spirit of new alphabet enthusiasts by publishing more visually appealing magazine. In this article, they also explained why they did not want to end the publication. It appears that they intended to make the format smaller, but abandoned this idea because of the magazine's reputation. Another reason why they did not change the format was that they also did not want to make this decision, especially at the time that the alphabet reform was enacted. This was indicated by their statement that this was not the right decision for a time when readers would have lost their joy of reading. Thus, it was also emphasised that the new version of the magazine integrated more visuals - if the reader was getting tired as a result of reading trials, they could find nice illustrative pages to look at. So, there was a clear rise in the integration of images. By doing this, the creators of the magazine tried to make this publication look like a European magazine and claimed that they partially succeeded in this. The owners and editors of *Resimli Ay*, Mehmet Zekeriya and Sabiha [Sertel] as a couple, had also lived and worked in New York for a while before publishing this magazine. As James Ryan indicated, it is likely that they took substantial inspiration from the American Vanity Fair and Vogue magazines.7

#### Layout

Before the reform, Servet-i Fünun published its content in three columns,

<sup>7</sup> James Ryan, "The Glamor of the New Turkish Woman in 'Resimli Ay," in *Stambouline* (July 29, 2013), Accessed February 27, 2017, http://www.stambouline.com/2013/07/the-glamor-of-new-turkishwoman-in.html.



Figure 8.6 Example for symmetrical compositions in *Servet-i Fünun*, 8 November 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.



Figure 8.7 An example of placing a large image on spread in *Servet-i Fünun,* 21 March 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.

though this appeared as two on some occasions. There are some irregular settings of columns as in the 30 August issue, although there was no use of column rules, as in traditional approach. Even though it seems that the layout has a more vertical approach, the use of many horizontal images breaks this monotonous look. During the transition period, it is possible to see full-page-width images as horizontal modules. There are also cases in which they set the text around the images. It seems that in some spreads and sections, positioning the pictures was more important and thus, they were placed first on the page and the text was set according to this arrangement and remaining space (*Fig.8.4*). In terms of the layout style, it is possible to come across mostly symmetrical compositions, where pictures and texts are positioned according to this arrangement (Fig. 8.5). After the reform, we see that there is a dominant use of two columns, instead of three as before. It is even possible to see full-page-width text as in the first leading article in Latin, with only the page of news in three columns, most probably mimicking the newspaper approach. Unlike in the pre-reform period, the magazine also printed large and dominant images (Fig. 8.6). They were still paying attention to the symmetry of the image/illustration positioning on facing pages. Also, it is possible to see blocks as centered and rules around them both before and after the reform. Although Servet-i Fünun started to abandon these rules in the late post-reform period (around May), it was still used in some occasions. After the reform, it is apparent that more illustrative pages, containing a huge image placed in the middle of the spread, were introduced with some decorative motifs/elements (*Fig.8.7*).<sup>8</sup> The attempt at placing a page-width photograph vertically also appeared for the first time in May, as commonly found in European illustrative magazines. To summarise, even though there was no significant change in the layout of Servet-i Fünun after the reform, they made an effort to increase the number and size of images while generally maintaining their usual layout style. The content of the images did not change due to the reform, as the magazine was publishing images from different categories, which had been always progressive compared to other magazines at that time.

On the other hand, the decisions made about layout after the reform were the most significant for *Resimli Ay.* The desire to publish a better illustrative magazine and having a break for three months might have forced them to make such brave decisions on layout, even though they had claimed that they did not want to change the format and appearance. While the layout seemed fairly plain and predictable before the reform (*Fig.8.8*), a new approach appeared in the first issue after the three-month break. Before the reform, the approach in *Resimli Ay* was more illustrative compared to *Servet-i Fünun* and it already had large-sized images in some irregular grid arrangements, such as image-and-caption-only pages or image-collage-only pages (*Appendix 7*). Apart from this irregular style and the new approach

**<sup>8</sup>** Though the common use of decorative elements and frames to separate content in *Servet-i Fünun* started to disappear after May, *Resimli Ay* did not use this kind of elements both before and after the reform, as it had a more minimal and modern approach.



Figure 8.8 Page layout in Resimli Ay before the reform, August 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 8.9 An example of a spread in *Resimli Ay* before the reform, April 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library

after the reform, the general tendency was to stay with the three-column grid. In contrast to the period before the reform and during the transition, the magazine generally considered the two facing pages independently, focusing on the composition, the position and the size of images accompanying the typographic experiments and expressions (Fig. 8.9). After the transition, the general order in a page was that big headings were at the top, pictures positioned beneath them, with the body text as the last component, generally set in three columns. This arrangement was a new approach, as the page design was different before and during the transition period. These page designs indicate that the magazine was searching for ways to adopt the Latin convention typographically and also to find a consistent layout style that would suit the Westernised-look they wanted to embrace with the new alphabet. It is also possible to see sole pictorial pages without articles, just as before and during the transition period (Appendix 7A). There were also still some symmetrical page designs, where picture blocks were centered, despite the experimental and irregular arrangements. But, contrary to the pre-reform period, the use of rulers around blocks was abandoned after the reform and magazines gained a more clean and fresh look. However, it should not be forgotten that the changes in layout -apart from the use and position of various pictures - were mostly realised because of the new typographic compositions and increased size and style options available in Latin metal types. This brings us to the next issue, which is the typographic change brought about by the reform.

#### 8.3. Typographic evolution

#### Adoption of Latin content – first appearances

As emphasised earlier, the integration of Latin content started at a late stage of the transition period, and as was the case for the newspapers, the amount of integration varied in these two magazines. Compared to *Resimli Ay, Servet-i Fünun* introduced an early and more regular Latin integration in certain components. *Resimli Ay* did not start doing this until the end of transition period. However, the integration was far better than in *Servet-i Fünun* both in quantity and in terms of typography. However, there is no established reason for the late integration of Latin content.

Examine more closely, it is observed that *Servet-i Fünun* introduced the very first Latin content in the 23 August issue by writing the names of the authors in Latin. The same typefaces, *Romana* and *Mediäval Grotesk*, used in the transition period newspapers, were also used to print these names (*Fig.8.10*). There is no explicit mention that reveals the relations of people who published the reform period publications (apart from being MP), so it is not possible to say why the same typefaces were also used in magazines. But still, this situation indicates that there might be a connection between them. Another possible rationale could be that the representatives in the country might mostly have imported these types and sold them to all the publications printed in Latin-based languages long before the reform. This could partially explain how the reform-period publications provided these particular typefaces. Apart from this first appearance, by 30 August 1928,



Figure 8.10 Authors' name in Latin script in Servet-i Fünun, 23 August 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.



**Figure 8.11** Heading appeared in Latin, printed with a blackletter-style typeface along with decorative Latin initials in *Servet-i Fünun*, 30 August 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.

SERV	ET-I-FI	ININ			
Persembe, 6 Ey101 1928	Haftalık resimli türk gazetesi	Nomero : 199 - 1673 36 nci sene			
Teleg.: Liambul SERVETFON: N AHMED IHSAN – Istanbul Teleion : Istanbul 1402 – 1403					
BTANBUL POSTASI	<ul> <li>Paşam, beş yüz kadar olmalı,</li> <li>Yok! ben rakkam isterim.</li> </ul>	edeblyåt-i-cedideyi täkhip eden ede- biyyåt mektebinin canlı alemdarı			
Depirmen-dere, 2 Eybil 19:38	- You' ben raxkam isterim. Iki dakika sonra, telefonla mat-	olarak dolaşıyorlar, ve dahā bir çok			
Erince istasiyonundatehalükle içine atladığım Ankara tireni	baamda baş mürettibimden aldığım	yaşlı ve genç muharrirler, dostlar			
beni Istanbula doğru sür'atla götü-	malümatı Paşaya veriyordum: - 16 ve ya 12 punto olan düz	ăşmalar dolu onları muhabbet-le dolaşan gözlerim her del'asında .			
rürken, Türk inkhilab nin en muhim	- 16 ve ya 12 punto olan duz vazilar 522 parca, rik'a 608 parcal	ilk sıradaki inkhilap dâhis'nin sarı-			
safhası olan «harflerin deyişmesi»	Ismet Paşa gülerek söyledi :	şın başı üstunde duruyor ve ronra			
meselesinde kararlar ittihäz etmek	- Yeni ellibamız 29; ne büyük	karş mıza konulmuş olan siyah tahta-			
Izere Dolma Bağçe sarayında büyük Gâzinin huzuri-yle akt edilecek ta-	fark I	nın önürde bize yeni elifbamız, yeni gıramerimiz hakkında mesleki ta'-			
rihi irfan celsesine iştirak eyleye-	Arap harflerinin yüz senelik türk matbaacılığım nasıl melluç	rifler eden dil enciment a'zalarma			
ceğim için son derece seviniyordum,	birakdığını anlatiyordum ve muhle-	bakiyorum ve dinleyorum. Imlanı 1			
we ikide birde beni Dolma Bağçe	rem baş vekil Paşa çok dikkatla	ikinci derecede teferruätma, mesela			
sarayından çağıran cebimdeki tel- ğralı çıkarup derin bir hürmet ve	beni dinlemek lutfunda bulunuyor-	(dır)edat-i-haberinin latin harfierinde nasıl yazılaçağı hakkında-ki müna-			
şevkle tekrar okuyordum. Telğrafi	dr Bu esnada bulunduğumuz de- nize nazır balkonlu sofanın sol ta-	kaşalar-la çokluk alâkadar olmıyo-			
sabahlayan sa'at on buçukda Deyir-	rafındaki kapı açıldı; büyük Gázi-	rum; bence mühim ve yüksek mes-			
men-derede almış-tm ; hemen ha- zırlanmak, karşı sahile tütün, çift-	nin zekhá saçan mavi gözlerinin	ele latin harllerinin kabuli-dir o ka- bul olundukdan sonra dilimizin na-			
zırlanmak, karşı sahile tütün, çift- liğine keçmek, orada İstanbuldan	parıltısını ve türk inkhilabinı yara-	sil vazilacağını mutlaka tansim Ey-			
gelen Adana tirenine girup Derince	tan kıymetli başın sarı saçlarını görlüm;hazır olanlara iltifsi ederek,	leyecekler-dir; ve bu,zeman işi-dir.			
mevkhif nde Ankara katarı-yla telaki	el vererek ilerlediler, sağdaki bü-	dilimizi arabca harflerinin girdåbin-			
olduğu ande bir vagondan diger vagona atlamak bunların hepsi	yük içiima' salonına geçtiler, orası	dan kurtaralım-da ondan ronrasl ko- Iay-dır diye düsünüyorum.			
bir saat bile sürmemiş-ti? Bötün	dolu idi. Istanbulda bulunan meb'- uslar, ye türk irfan inkhillåbmin tå	haylı ugun süren teferruat mü-			
helecanım iki katarın telakı anında	uslar, ve turk irlan lokallabinin ta rihi ceisesine dävet edilen vasli ve	zakereleri bitti ; Ismet Paşa haz-			
istilade idememek korkusu idi. Ken-	genç muharrirlerimizin çoğu orada	retleri hakiki bir devlet adamı ol- dugunu bir daha isbat itti, müna-			
dimi Ankara katara un yemek salo- nunda bulduğum zeman derin bir	idi. Türk matbüat åleminin en e-	kaşaları fatli ve piratik bir neticeye			
neles almış-tım, ellerimi uğuşturu-	mekdarı vefakhār arkadaşım Mah- mut Sadık, gazeteci ve muharrirler	bağladı; arab harflerinin terki lüzü-			
yordum, Sa'at iki buçukda Haydar	mut Sadık, gazeleci ve muharrirler gurüpunun ayakta bir târihi gibi	mundan bahs iderken matbaaciliga			
Paşada, üçde köprüde olacağ-ız. Ne	hiç burnundan düşürmediği gözlü-	temas eyledi ve matbaalardaki eski harllerin adedini verirken iamimi			
MA diyordum.	ğünün arkasından etrafına bakıyor,	zikr itmek lutfunda bulunmak-la be-			
.*. Dolma Bağçe sarayının hey-	harfler inkhilábi celsesini sanki di- mažinda tasidiği matbuat tái ihine	ni minnettar itti; çünki bu tårihi			
betli merdivenlerinden çıkdım;yoka- rıda bir çok asına simalar var-dı.	kayt ediyordu	ictima'ta selahiyetdar ağızdan söyle-			
nda bir çok aşına simalar var-dı. Matbuât cemiyeti re'isimiz Hakkı	İşte «Servet-i-Fünüm» Edebiyatı	nen nutukta ma baacı sıfalı ile is- mimin söylenmesi beni cok müta-			
Tarik bey, Dil komisiyoranda aza	devrestnin asrt romancisi Halit Ziya	hassis itmişidi, İsmet Paşa nutku-			
olan eski ve yeni meslek arkadaş-	bey, sáir Celal Sáhir, tatlı muhar- rir Fázıl Ahmet beyler ve sonra	nun sonunda hazırlad ğı esasları oku-			
larim ve bir çok muhterem mebus- lar Iste Ismet Pasa hazretleri cok	hem meb'us bem muharrirlerden cok	du, ve o maddeler latin harller-le siyah tahtaya yazıldı.			
lar, işle ismet Paşa hazretleri çok sevimli ve afif bakışla konuşuyor.	eski dostum koca Ahmet Rasim bey,	1 - Milleti cehåletten kurtar-			
Lozan konferansının altı ay süren	bab-i-áli yokuşunun yarım asırlık ka-	mak için kendi diline uymayan arap			
tekmil devrelerinde malyetlerinde	lem ve fa'áliyetinin tímsali gibi san- dalvesinde oturuvor. Servet-I-Fünün	harflerini terk edip latin estandan türk harflerini kabül etmekten baska			
bulunmakla bahtiyär olduğum baş	dalyesinde oturuyor. Servet-I-Pünun Fecr-I-Åtistnin en ruhlu uzvu Ham-	dırk harmerini kabul etmekten başka çâre yok-tur.			
vekil paşa beni gördügü zeman gülen ve iltifat iden tatlı cehreleri	dullah Suphi bey kendine yakışan	2 - Komisyonun teklif etdiği			
ile sordular :	ipek gibi yumuşak saçları ile loş salonda uzaktan göze çarpıyor. Ru-	alfabe hakbikaten türk alfabesi-dir; kat'i-dir,tärk milletinin bütün ihtiya-			
- Arap harfleri matbaalarımızda					

**Figure 8.12** A new masthead at the end of the magazine – the back cover – appeared all in Latin in *Servet-i Fünun*, 6 September 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.

khâzim kaldı kalan para khâfi-dir bu kadar zaman az-dir jandarma geldi çok gec kaldik kadinin güzel kulaklari var kara göz ve kalin kaş kel başa şimşir tarak alinin külahını veliye jâle hanim kibar-dir

**Figure 8.13** Substitution of missing Turkish characters in *Resimli Ay*, September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

çalı	چالی	yarın	يارين
cam	جام	dışarı	ديثارى
can	جان	içeri	الجرى
palavra	بالاورا	vâlide	والده
pili pirti	يىلى يېرتى	şarap	شراب
aç adam. bu sedâ - vilayet vay efendim d söyledi.	önünde	vali beye te	

**Figure 8.14** The letter ç with both cedilla and comma in *Resimli Ay*, September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

only a heading appeared in Latin, printed with a blackletter-style typeface along with decorative Latin initials, though this typeface and style was never seen before in any other publications and there is no information about how it was stopped being used here (*Fig.8.11*). In the body text, the first appearance was in the leading article, which was published first in the old script in the initial pages of magazines and then all in Latin in the last pages in the same issue; some poems were also published in Latin on 6 September 1928. The typeface was *Romana* again for both of these content types. This issue of *Servet-i Fünun* was the turning point in the integration of Latin. A new masthead at the end of the magazine – the back cover – appeared all in Latin (*Fig.8.12*). The choice of the typeface for the nameplate was more decorative with its unusual serif style and it seems like a condensed type with its long and thin x-height measure. In the same issue, the running heads were also printed in Latin, but with many typographical mistakes, such as switching letters or missing numerals.

In *Resimli Ay*, no Latin content appeared after the reform announcement, except some already-familiar special and foreign names in Latin within the body text, and the advertisements of foreign brands/companies. In the September issue, there is a detailed alphabet explanation on pages 36-38, like a small lesson, partially written in Latin with a sans-serif typeface, as mentioned in the introduction of the magazine analysis. Here, there is an issue with the new Turkish characters. The magazine apparently tried to substitute some new additional Turkish letters, such as,  $\iota$ ,  $\hat{a}$ ,  $\varsigma$ ,  $\check{g}$ ,  $\ddot{u}$  and also another character *k* from a different sans-serif typeface, due to the lack of type stock (*Fig.8.13*). The use of the letter *ç* with both cedilla and comma can be seen (Fig.8.14). Apart from this first lesson, the very first Latin appearance occurred in an article in the October issue, with a Latin heading, introductory part and one-and-a-half-page-long body text (Fig.8.15). A modern typeface with thick and thin strokes and straight serifs was used for the heading. This type clearly does not include the new Turkish characters, as the letter *ş* is formed with a comma, as in the Romanian alphabet. For the introductory part and the body text, two different serif typefaces were used. Here it is also apparent that the typeface used in the body text does not include all the Turkish characters, such as the capital *Ş* and the letter *ğ* with breve (*Fig.8.16*). It is not possible to apply this claim for the typeface used in the introductory part. But it is likely that they were all transition period typefaces that were supplied from the publications printed in foreign languages in Latin. These instances represented the initial appearances of Latin in both magazines. Considering the initial appearances of Latin in other reform-period publications, it can be said that the same solution of sourcing the missing new Turkish characters from different typefaces was the case. Thus, it seems that Resimli Ay did not invest its time in the integration, but rather in the preparations for the post-reform period.

#### **Covers**

As is the case for all illustrative magazines, these magazines have a picture

#### Harf inkılabı köylü ve halk arasında nasıl intişar ediyor?

Resimli ay yeni harfler münasebetile ediplerimiz ve selahiyettar lisan mütehassıslarımız arasında bir anket açmıştır. Geçen nushamızda başladığımız bu ankete tekrar devam ediyoruz

Yeni harflerimiz hakkında yapmakda olduğumuz ankete devâm ederek bu hususda Gireson meb'usu ve Vakit gazetesi baş muharriri Hakkı Tarık beyin fikirlerini sorduk. Mûmâileyh suallerimize bervechi âti cevap vermiştir: daha asrî bir vasıta elde edeceklerdir.

Kamyonu gördükten sonra kağnıyı son safa bıragdığımız gibi. sonra yeni harflerle yetişecek nesil içinde tutunabilmek, hayatta kalabilmek yeni şeraite sürâtle intibak

nihayet bir tefhim ve tefehüm aleti olduğunu gözden kaçırmamahdır, yenisine geçinceye kadar bu âletten aşağı yukarı istifade imkânı varsa onuda kazanmayı türk cemiyetinin menfeatine talakki ederim. Bence hayat

**Figure 8.15** Latin appearance in article in *Resimli Ay*, September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library

Mesela: (Şu ve şu mâhiyetteki neşriyat şu zamandan îtibâren basılıp neşr olunacakdır.) Yâhut (Şu zamandan sonraki tarih ile yazılmış yazıların, mukavelelerin hükûmete, mahkemelere ibrazında bır kimet iktisap edebilmesi

**Figure 8.16** The substitution of letter *Ş* in *Resimli Ay*, September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 8.17 The cover of *Resimli Ay* before the reform, September 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 8.18** The cover of *Servet-i Fünun* before the reform, 16 August 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 8.19** The cover of *Servet-i Fünun* in the implementation day, 6 December 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

on their covers and their nameplates in calligraphic styles. Although the nameplate *Resimli Ay* echoed the approaches of its Western contemporaries *Vogue* and *Vanity Fair, Servet-i Fünun* also used a similar approach, gathering all the information regarding date, price and subscription into the masthead, as seen in *L'Illustration* and *the Illustrated London News. Resimli Ay* placed this information at the bottom of page, beneath the cover image. While *Servet-i Fünun* attached a (usually small-scale) caption beneath the cover picture as in those Western magazines, *Resimli Ay* used a plain large-scale picture in a more artistic style (*Fig.8.17*). As in the nameplates of the broadsheets, these components are not formed with movable type, but lithographic plates that would enable calligraphic styles. *Servet-i Fünun*'s nameplate was more calligraphic, owing to the use of the 'istif' technique (*Fig.8.18*), compared to *Resimli Ay*'s nameplate, which was a plainer design, formed by using a long extension *kashida*.

As mentioned in the section about the first appearances of Latin, Servet-i *Fünun* introduced a back cover that was all in Latin for the first time on 6 September 1928. After one issue, some amendments were made to the orthography on the cover of the 23 September 1928 issue, as can be seen from the nameplate (abandoning dashes) and changing the name of the owner according to the new orthographic rules (from Ahmed - which was the more Arabic form of the name ending with *d* - to Ahmet, which applied a new Turkish rule ending words with *t* instead of *d*). At least the publishers were aware of the new orthographic uses and eager to apply them immediately during the transition period. A new cover all in Latin appeared on 6 December 1928, after the implementation day, but with the new magazine title 'Resimli Uyanış' (Fig.8.19). A note was also attached to the title: 'Servet-i Fünun yerine çıkar' - 'replacing Servet-i Fünun', which appeared in all issues (until August) that were reviewed for this analysis. The new name was written half in blackletter style and half in a sans-serif type, using a calligraphic approach. It is possible to explain these choices of typefaces with the more conventional and traditional approach of the magazine. Apart from the nameplate, the typefaces in the cover were still the same ones that were used in the transition period.

Compared to the issues before the implementation day, the layout of the cover of *Servet-i Fünun* was almost same after the reform, with the masthead approach, one dominant image and image caption. In the next issue on 13 December 1928, a new practice was developed – publishing an inside cover with the same design – and thus, the design of the main cover was then changed. The nameplate was made bigger and the magazine information, which was gathered in the masthead before, was now spread around the cover picture. The picture caption was also separated with a rule at the bottom of page, along with the price. On 3 January 1929, a new design for the nameplate appeared (*Fig.8.20*). This time, a sans-serif typeface was used to create a more modern look, but it did not have the new Turkish character *i*, which indicates that the previous efforts to keep up with the developments ceased due to the rush change. Even though this issue was



**Figure 8.20** The cover of *Servet-i Fünun* on 3 January 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 8.21** The cover of *Servet-i Fünun* on 14 March 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 8.22** The cover of *Servet-i Fünun* on 25 April 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 8.23** The cover of *Servet-i Fünun* on 30 May 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 8.23a** The inside cover of 30 May 1929, *Servet-i Fünun*, Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



**Figure 8.24** The cover of *Servet-i Fünun* on 21 July 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

partially revised on 7 February 1929 by putting dots on letter I, other parts of the magazine were still suffering from the lack of type. In the issue of 14 March 1929, attempts to re-locate the magazine information are seen, as well as experiments in writing the motto and the name of the owner in a different way (Fig.8.21). Despite these changes on the front cover, the inside cover surprisingly remained much the same in the arrangement of magazine information, with few changes. On 28 March 1928, it is apparent that a new composition for the main cover's nameplate, which also contains the magazine motto, the name of the owner and the frequency of the publication, was created, paying attention to the new Turkish characters. However, the inside cover was not changed. But this approach only lasted for two issues, and was then replaced with the previous one. The confusion around the design and function of the cover continued on 25 April 1929, when the front cover was used to make announcements, such as the arrival of the new offset machine at the magazine's printing house and the new editorial contributors for the coming issues (Fig.8.22). For this new cover approach, a new design was created for the nameplate and the magazine information. The typeface choice was again sans serif, but more elegant and clean, using thin strokes and condensed, as often seen in fashion magazines. On 30 May 1929, both on the front and the inside covers, the initial Latin version of the title *Servet-i Fünun* appeared again beneath the new title, in a bigger size, different from the previous issues (Fig.8.23). Finally, on 21 July, one design was used both on the front and inside covers, and was one of the previous designs (Fig.8.24); the old title was rendered at a small size again, and the composition of the magazine information became set from this point. As can be seen from the observations above, the magazine clearly tried to create different variants for the cover after the reform in order to find the ideal identity for itself, which led to a confusion and uncertainty in many components, such as the choice of typeface, the design of the nameplate and the location of the magazine information. But apparently, they may have found their style and agreed on nameplate design on the cover.

For Resimli Ay, owing to it being published less frequently compared to Servet-i Fünun (Resimli Uyanış), the changes to the cover were slower and less significant. The very first Latin to appear on the cover of the September issue was the name of the month (Fig.8.17). A decorative display typeface was used for the Latin part. In the October issue, the cover was printed all in Latin, including the nameplate and the magazine information (Fig.8.25). The typeface choice for the nameplate was a bold serif, which had a slight problem with the varying stroke-width and appeared as capitals. On the cover of November issue, partial use of the old script reappeared, as only the numerals were in Latin (Fig.8.26). The reason for this could be the same explanation for the amount of Latin integration in newspapers in November. The publishers might have thought that there would be no harm in using the old script during that month, as it would be completely abandoned on the first day of the next month. Another reason could be the first-time back cover, printed all in Latin, which was also in a format that usually appeared in newspapers (Fig.8.27).

### RESIMLI AY



**Figure 8.25** The October (1928) cover of *Resimli Ay* all in Latin. Image source: Atatürk Library

### RESIMLI AY



**Figure 8.26** The November (1928) cover of *Resimli Ay* all in partially Latin. Image source: Atatürk Library

# RESIMLI AY

#### Bu senenin yeni dansı

Dolaşımış ipekler ve dalgalar dansı Arapane no hüyük dans malimlerinden bu sala şu cevabı ve river:

riyor: – Evet bu sene yeni bir dans yar. Adı da (RIVERS ISPIN) dolaşmış İpekler ve Dalgalardır. FOKS TROT yine ve ne çok

umumi ve en 'çok anann dans olarak lacaktır. (Dolaşmış kder) dansımı en bükı alameti farikası la altı defa durala altı defa duraksızın dönmektir. Intazam adımla ilerlikten sonra altı dafa nünüz. Dansı bitirşkı istediğiniz zaman bir defa dönünüz, arra yürüyerek dans filesi arısına karı-

(Dalgalar) dansının ameti farikası da ge-



caklarımz bitiş hk ayaklar ü topuklarda bı parmaklarımızı tedrici hareke rü dötedrici bir sur ziyette ayaktan ötekin

**Figure 8.27** The back cover in *Resimli Ay*, November 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library



<sup>25</sup> <sup>25</sup> E. Muhsin ve tiyatro!

**Figure 8.28** The March (1929) cover of *Resimli Ay*. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 8.29** The April (1929) cover of *Resimli Ay*. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 8.30** The July (1929) cover of *Resimli Ay*. Image source: Atatürk Library

After the reform, with a three-month break, we see that *Resimli Ay* still preferred the same nameplate and layout in the cover that were used before the implementation day (Fig.8.28). This time, however, there were differences - the use of two big headings in italic with a bold serif typeface, and the position of the magazine information, which was pushed to the bottom-left corner, next to the headings. In the next issue (Fig. 8.29), the typeface and the size of nameplate were changed. This time, the title was written in a lowercase serif typeface and the initial letter R was printed bigger and in red to stand out from the rest. So, it is possible to say that they were at least paying attention to not using capitals in the title. The available space next to the cover image would also necessitate this arrangement. Unlike the previous covers, the price was also included above the nameplate, also printed in red as a compliment to the letter R. In addition, the date was written beneath the nameplate at a larger size. The two headings were placed on the left side, mirroring the style of the nameplate by printing the initials in red. These choices show that they were experimenting with colour, type and layout and trying to establish relationships between them. The search for ways to create a permanent cover approach continued in the following issues. For instance, the magazine introduced more headings in the next issue (May) and created a hierarchy between them by putting one big heading forward and printing it partially in italic and colouring its initials in red (echoing the magazine title), and keeping the rest of the headings small and in different colours, mostly because of the concern for differentiation. Surprisingly, the approach of colouring the initials as red and the use of a dominant heading were abandoned in the next issue for the sake of the cover image and the title appeared as a negative space. The different heading levels (lines) were still printed in different colours and that might have caused confusion for perceiving headings as a whole. Apparently, the publishers thought that this execution was not right, so they changed it and coloured the headings word by word in the July cover (Fig.8.30). Also the use of a dominant heading came back with this issue, but still they were struggling with the position of components in the cover, as the price was positioned beneath the title in this issue. The minor differences in the nameplate also raised a question about whether the lettering was created with a lithographic plate or a movable type that had different variations. After the reform, *Resimli Ay* seemed more consistent in layout style and the choice of type on its covers in contrast to Servet-i Fünun even though it had made a huge compositional shift within a month. But despite this change, Resimli Ay was slower and less receptive compared to Servet-i Fünun in changing the design of the cover right after the implementation. Considering the three-month break of *Resimli Ay*, this approach seems feasible.

#### Headings

#### Before the reform

To clarify the features of headings in these two magazines before the reform, there was again the problem of the lack of variation of styles and

اسکی نسل ناصل اکلہ نیردی ، شیر کی نسل ناصل اکلہ نیور ؟ Ruq'ah قامیلردہ ناصل پاشارلر ؟ Ruq'ah Ruq'ah بو سه بونود. کنج مکتبی ودارالفنود. طلبسنك اورده بربره قوردقدری قامیلر ، برده یکی برحیاتك بائلانغجبدد . قامب حیاتی ، هرکوده و هرساعت یکیلکلرلد دولو سرویملی ، برنشهٔ برحیاندر كيليوس قامينده كون ناصل كجر؟ Ruq'ah Naskh قامپ حیاتی بول ہوآ وکونش ، تام برفکری استراحت دیمکدر استانبولده ده کیزسیو رلر ی Naskh استابولده دکر میورلری حرب عمومی اید باشلار - ایلك انگشاف ایده به قلوبلر - استابولده 700 قادار دکرچی کنج واردر - دکرمیورلرده خانملر . Ruq'ah كتخاذلرده اك چوق كملر کوی توستهمی دوام ايدهر، وال زياده Ruq'ah 29 غوز 1928 ها:کی ارگری اوقورلر؟ رەنك صوبى اوقدر آ زالدىكە دها دکر کنار بنه بتشهمه دن صولر کتجانب ال جوق کنجلر دوام ابدور. جوق اوقونان ازلرتاریخی ایلنجی درجدد ادبی ازلردر باغجەلر آردسندە ، قوروطوىراقلر Ruq'ah محررى : وصفى صميم ايجنده غائب اولدى ويالىدەكىدرە

Figure 8.31 The heading variations in *Resimli Ay* before the reform. Image source: Atatürk Library

Figure 8.32 The use of decorative initials in Servet-i Fünun before the reform, 2 August 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database.



Figure 8.33 Experimenting with the heading in *Resimli Ay* before the reform, November 1928. Image source: Atatürk Library sizes in Arabic type. So, the execution of this part was modest, using smallsized types and the two styles naskh and ruq'ah. It was possible to see both styles as the primary and secondary choices, as there was no alternative (*Fig.8.31*). As a result, the headings did not have a significant enough presence on the pages to be able to affect the page design to attract the reader. While there were some one-line headings, heading decks consisting of many levels were also used. Contrary to their use in broadsheets, in magazines, lithographic plates were not used to create bigger headlines, headings and section heads as a way to work around the need for largerpoint Arabic metal types. Some big decorative initials were used next to these insignificant headings, as in the case of *Servet-i Fünun (Fig.8.32*).

#### The transition period

There was no significant integration of Latin at this time compared to the broadsheets and tabloids and no bi-script approach appeared in headings (unlike in broadsheets and tabloids), except for one case in Resimli Ay. Still, Servet-i Fünun started to publish some particular headings in Latin one month after the reform announcement and steadily kept to this approach until the implementation day (1 December 1928). While Resimli Ay did not print its headings with the new letters as immediately as Servet-i Fünun, it gradually increased the amount of Latin use in this part and revised the presentation. Here we can see the signals of a further typographic change that can be observed after the reform in the integration of Latin content in Resimli Ay. Even though the amount of integrated Latin content in Servet-i Fünun was greater and the pace of integration was quick during the transition period, the magazine did not attempt to create typographic solutions for Latin, as Resimli Ay did in its November issue (Fig. 8.33). As can be seen in the figure, the Latin letters were created in a form of light bulbs to indicate the entertainment world and support the image of the woman dancer.

To mention the choice of transition-period types in this part specifically, it is possible to see the same stock problem with the new Turkish characters as was seen in broadsheets and tabloids. In the October issue of *Resimli Ay*, the letter *ş* seemed to have been created with a big comma, as in Romanian alphabet, rather than a cedilla (*Fig.8.15*). In the next (November) issue, the heading in Latin also lacked some of the Turkish characters, but this time not the letter *ş*, but the letter *ö*. In *Servet-i Fünun*, even though there was no big issue with the new Turkish characters in headings – except for minor occasions –, it seems that the cedillas of the new letters were attached externally, as shown by the differing distance of the dots and breves attached to the letters (*Fig.8.34*). Obviously, they were creating solutions to overcome this difficulty.

The choice of transition typefaces for headings in these magazines was similar and mostly serif and lowercase, but in their execution and differentiation of heading levels and hierarchy, they were different. In *Servet-i Fünun*, different levels of headings were distinguished using

## MATBUAT HATIRALARIM

### BU GÜNKİ TÜRK MECMUACILIĞI DOĞARKEN

uuharririn Mahmut Sadık Beyin «MİR'ATI ÂLEM» indeki resimler bir gazeteden ödünç alınır ve mecmua bu kılişelerle süslenirdi. mülkiyede geçen seneler -- Abdülhamit dehşet saçıyor -- Eski Babıâli kitapçıları -- Şemsettin Sa kâmusu nasıl çıktı ?

#### 30 sene evel

Küba adasının istiklâli

Küba adasının merkezi olan Havana şehrinde ahiren adanın istiklali, 30 senelik hayati merasimı yapılmıştır.

Artık gözüm arkada kalmaz

**Figure 8.35** The lowercase heading in *Servet-i Fünun* after the reform, 13 December 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

**Figure 8.36** Attached diacritics in the heading of *Servet-i Fünun*, after the reform, 6 December 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

### Misafirimiz «EMDEN» Gitti "Emden,, ve suvarisi

Limanımıza gelen kruvazör Almanların umumî harpten sonra yaptıkları ilk harp gemisidir.

Figure 8.37 Different use of quotation marks in the heading of *Servet-i Fünun* after the reform, 28 February 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



Figure 8.38 A decorative approach in the heading of *Servet-i Fünun* after the reform, 18 April 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



Figure 8.39 The staircase approach in headings of *Servet-i Fünun*, after the reform, 28 March and 4 July 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

Figure 8.34 Attached diacritics in the heading of *Servet-i Fünun* before the reform, 29 November 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database different type sizes and weights, bold and regular. Both capital and lowercase letters were used to further distinguish the heading levels and headings which were generally centred. On the other hand, *Resimli Ay* did not use many heading levels, preferring explanatory parts beneath the headings instead. Headings were also generally lowercase, but still centered as in *Servet-i Fünun*.

#### After the reform

Although, the other publications, broadsheets and tabloids overcome the issue of Turkish characters' availability with the purchases of new types, there was still an issue regarding the new Turkish characters in *Servet-i Fünun* and the lack of stock and typefaces that included these specific letters. It is apparent that they tried to attach the necessary points and cedillas above and below the letters. By contrast, *Resimli Ay* printed all its headings with new types that included the new Turkish characters. The three-month break in its publication schedule (unlike *Servet-i Fünun*, which continued to publish regular issues during the transition period and afterwards) might have been beneficial for *Resimli Ay* in that it had time to acquire and become familiar with these new metal types.

Examining the progress in this part closely, it is apparent that Servet-i *Fünun*, in the first month of the full Latin adoption, struggled to set these parts in a certain style, as well as having difficulties with the new Turkish characters. So, it set these parts plainly, using mostly one lowercase, serif typeface in small sizes, as it had during the transition period (Fig.8.35). The magazine also introduced a new display typeface besides this serif typeface, but it seems that the dots were placed externally to form the new Turkish characters (Fig.8.36). In the further issues, confusion around the use of punctuation was also evident, as both French guillemets and quotation marks were used at the same time (Fig.8.37). After this date as in this issue, many different typefaces were used - for example, it is possible to see 10 different typefaces used in headings in only one issue (28 February 1929). In addition to the variety of typefaces used in headings, we also see the use of italic in this section. In the issue of 28 March 1929, attempts at creating experimental and decorative headings can be seen (Fig.8.38). The vertical and diagonal (like a staircase) heading composition with initials is a striking example of this approach, which continued in later issues (Fig.8.39). In the following month's issues (April 1929), more typefaces and decorative headings were introduced, and the use of different typefaces, also in italic, in heading levels was evident (Fig.8.40). In the following months, especially in July 1929, the understanding of heading position also changed, and many of the headings were placed around or according to the shapes of pictures (*Fig.8.41*). In the next month (August 1929), new pictorial and typographical section heads appeared and were used in many places as headings. These heads consisted of more display and decorative types created by copying or lettering and reflect the period's design influences, such as Art Deco style. But still, the magazine kept its conservative approach by using the transition-period typefaces, including Mediäval Grotesk (Fig.8.37). So, for



**Figure 8.40** The use of different typefaces and italic in the heading of *Servet-i Fünun* after the reform, 4 April 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



Figure 8.41 Examples for shaping headings according to images in *Servet- Fünun* after the reform, 11 and 18 July 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database





Figure 8.43 The use of cursive and swash characters in the heading of *Resimli Ay* after the reform, June 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 8.44** The use of multiple typefaces and style in the heading of *Resimli Ay* after the reform, March 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library



**Figure 8.45** Different composition of headings in *Resimli Ay* after the reform, April 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library
*Servet-i Fünun*, even in August 1929, the issue of lacking the new Turkish characters remained. These trials show the efforts and struggles of the magazines to adapt to a new printing convention and to find a style or visual voice in headings.

While Servet-i Fünun sought ways to create headings in different styles in the post-reform period, this experiment did not affect layout considerations dramatically. In *Resimli Ay*, however, the new and the brave typographic approach in headings aided in shaping the layout of the magazine spread, along with pictures (Fig.8.42). The main approach was printing the first letters of headings in a different typeface - mostly cursive, swash characters - style and colour and applying these all at once (Fig.8.43); even some of the subheadings are subjected to this treatment. It should be noted that this was the case for the big articles that were situated in spreads. The headings of small articles were printed in one style and at a modest size. In these hybrid arrangements, both sans-serif and serif typefaces were used together. Unlike *Servet-i Fünun*, the use of italic and large-sized headings was common in *Resimli Ay*. Apart from this practice, on some occasions, multiple typefaces were used at once (Fig.8.44). Headings were generally positioned at the top of the page and mostly centred, though occasionally they were shaped according to dominant/large pictures on the page. To add dynamism to the page, experiments with composition, such as staircase, deck, and vertical arrangements, were applied in some headings (Fig.8.45). It is known that the Victorian period typography (1837-1901) also had a similar experimental approach: "extreme variations of type size and weight crammed within a single headline - was an invention of expedience allowing the printer to utilise every inch of precious space."9 But there is no information about whether they were influenced by this approach.

Putting the heading in the middle of the spread or dividing the heading in half was another treatment; the use of the spread as a whole unit was a common practice in *Resimli Ay*. To trace the developments monthly, in March (the first issue after the break), the magazine was more conservative in the execution of headings and used fewer typefaces and at moderate sizes. But in the following months, in April and May, new approaches in the composition of headings and typographic experiments appeared, as the variety of typefaces, styles and sizes increased. But this approach did not seem to last long, as there was more use of a single typeface and style for headings in June and July. Despite this moderation, some experiments with the positioning of headings continued in the July edition. Unlike in the previous editions, some of the headings were placed behind the main text in the colour red, rather than separately (Fig.8.46). The use of a large image in certain shapes, such as square or rectangular, must have been the reason for this decision. Still, it is not possible to name a reason why it ended its experimental approach mostly in the further months after the reform.

**<sup>9</sup>** Steven Heller and Seymour Chwast, *Graphic Style: From Victorian to Post-Modern*, (New York: Harry N. Abrams, Inc., Publishers, 1988), p.15.



Misafirlerimiz Taksim abidesine merasimle bir çelenk bıraktılar -

Vilayetten ayrıldıkları esnada alınmıştır.

<sup>44</sup> Martın 26 incı günü Amerikan açık fılosuna mensup Raliegli kruvazörü limanımızı ziyaret etmiştir. Kruvazör erkanı saat 17 de vali beyi ziyaret etmişler ve pastalarla izaz olunmuş-lardır. Şehrimizi bir defa daha ziyaret etmiş olan amiral Con datyon inkilabin şehrimızdeki feyizlerinden ve gördüğü yenliklerden takadırkar bir lisanla babsetmiştir. Ayın 29 uncu günü Amerikan bahriyelileri sureti mahsusda ihzar edilen bir çelenk ile önlerinde Amerikan bayrağı olduğu halde Taksim meydanına gelmişler ve bilâhere otomobil ile gelen Amiralın emir ve nezareti altınta abideye çelenklerini vazeylemişlerdir. Dayton cenapları ile kruvazör erkân ve efradı Muzika terennümlerinden ve istiklal marşından sonra kesif bir halk kütlesinin alkışları arasında dönmüşlerdir. Misafirlerimiz Nisanın 4 üncü günü Karadenize doğru azimetle limanımızı terkedeceklerdir. Raliegh kruvazörü amiralı Dayton cenabları İstanbul vali vekili ve şehremini Muhittin Bey Efendiyi makamlarında ziyaret etmişlerdir. Bu resim ziyareti müteakıp Figure 8.47 The difference in leading in body text in Servet-i Fünun after the reform, 4 April 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper

Figure 8.48 The use of more

than one typeface and sizes in

body text in Servet-i Fünun after the reform, 11 July 1929. Image

source: Ankara University online

newspaper database

database

davet etmek fikrindeyiz. Çûnkû dedikoduyu ve harişte her tûrlû menfî hareketlerî ihmal etmedîklerî halde Birlîğe mukayyet olmağı ihmal eden ve buna rağmen el'an söz söylemek haklarımı kendilerinde bulabilen bu kısım dedebiyatçılar çalışan ve zaferine emin olan şuurlu bir nesil için asla bir tehlike değildir. Bu sebepten onlar da çağırılacaklardır. Yani onları da çağıracağız. Gelsinler görelim. Ellerindeki paslı mazi silâhlarile ne yapa-bilecekler? Yalnız bu defa kayıtlarını ihmal etmemeleri tavsiye

tan sonra nihayet Ebüssuut caddesindeki matbaamızın aydınlığını dahi, hâk san'atına muvafık görmemişti. Şimdiki « Akşam » matbaası binasıda yani eski «Ba-siret » matbaasında büyük bir oda tuttuk, yanına çırak verdik, uğraştık, çabaladık, ne yaptıksa faide vermedi; ve iradei seniye mucibince « san'ati hakki İstanbulda tesise gelen » bir Parisli san'atkârı başımızdan deffeyledikten sonra matbaada bir kâbustan

Asil ırkımıza lâyık bir surette sağlam, zinde, kavî, gürbüz ve ileride dürüst duygulu, iyi düşünceli çocuk yetiştirmek istiyor ve bekliyor isek onunla doğmadan evel, hatta hayatiyeti daha ayrı iki tohum içinde gizli, hayvancık ve yumurtacık halinde bulunur iki höcreden ibaret iken intihabı ve daha sonra dokuz aylık müsafirliği zamanında sıhhatı ile uğraşmalıyız. İyi bir mahsul almak için evel emirde

tohumun iyiliğine, sağlamlığına, seçılmesine, toprağın bereket ve kuvvetini ziyadeleştirmeğe mecmuayı yalnız üç dört muayyen zatın yazıları için açık bir kapı yapmamak, bilâkis bu kıymetler meyanına diğer ihmal edilen pekçok değerli imzaları da çağırmak... İşte (Hayat) ın cidden möfit bir mecmus olabilmesi ancak bununla kaimdir. Yokıs azten eser hususunda ne zamandır boş kalan mathur aleminde bir boşluğu da (Hayat)ın sayfaları devam ettirir. Bu vaziyeti de ancak bir kelime hülasa edebilir : Yazık !.

#### « İÇTİHAT » GENÇLEŞİYOR !

Abdullah Cevdet B. in gün görmüş ve artık saçı sakalı ağarmış olan (İçtihat) mecmuasına Meşale şairlerinin ve Nahit Sırrı B.in himmetile bir gençlik aşısı yapılacağını memnuniyetle haber aldık. İnşaallah bu Voronof serümü kırkı yılıkı i-İçtihat: a son senelerdeki kötürümlüğünden kurtarır. Hepi çalışkan ve müsteit gençler olan bu küçük biraderlere muvaffakıyetler ve Abdulet Cevdet Beye de ahiri ömünde -İçtihat: isimil evládını evlendire-rek mürüvvetini gören bir baba saadet ve neşesi dileriz.

aile ve 1rka muzur olmaması için her iki tarafta sihhî hüviyet in tehakkuku icapeder. Marazi veraset adalete münafi bir eser, kanuna karşı adeta bir isyandır. Tekemmülde bir hali noksanı, sui teşekkülat, aklî ve ahlâkî zaaf, ruhî ve hissî dalalet hemen hep marazî veraset eseri, izdivaçta « sıhhî hüviyet» in aranılmaması, tahakkuk ettirilmemesi neticesidir. «Marazî veraset» ten korunmak hastaların, mütereddilerin izdivacına, zürriyetine manî olmak ile mümkündür,

mize auşen kısım

Figure 8.49 Special names and terms were highlighted within the text by making them bold in

Servet-i Fünun after the reform, 11 July 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

daldılar. Biraz sonra Taikaa cesedi ıslak otlar üzerine serdi.	almağa başladı. Taikaa yacaların üzerine'ıslak <sup>m</sup> otlar <sup>r</sup> koydu.	memleketine giderken nehir kenarındakidir. Geçen kış sert oldu. Bütün arkadaşlarım öldüler.
he was a start of the second second second second second second second second second second second second second	Meçhul adam yatağının post- ları üzerine oturmuştu. İçtiği	Köpeklerle yalnız kaldım. Onlar da öldü. Karşı yakadaydım. Cenuba
	sıcak kısrak sütü canına can kat- mıştı. Biraz sonra	doğru yürümeğe başladım. Bir gün yeyecek hiç bir şeyim kalmadı, kunduralarımın köselesini kemir-
	būtün kabile	dim. Artık ayakta duracak kuvve-

Figure 8.50 The body text shaped according to the picture in Resimli Ay after the reform, June 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library

Compared to the newspapers, which took a more conventional and conservative approach, the magazines used the freedom and opportunity that came with being less formal in their content to experiment more with typographic and layout arrangements despite the downside of looking more unstable in their appearance and identity. It seems fair to conclude that time in their publication schedules allowed the magazines a useful preparation period, and that the genre itself also aided magazines in taking this more experimental approach.

#### **Body text**

Before the reform, the two magazines had similar executions in body text, as in broadsheets and tabloids. Again, not so many style and size variations existed in Arabic metal type, so there is no differenciations within the text. Paragraphs start with indents, as in traditional setting. As in other publications, writing foreign names and terms in Latin script differently from the old script was a common practice in these magazines as well. So, we see a parallel approach and practice before the reform. However, considering the poor execution of body text in newspapers after the reform – due to the haste of the implementation and the great demand of printing many pages daily – magazines were more successful in setting body text, the inconsistency in leading space being the only issue they struggled with (*Fig.8.47*).<sup>10</sup>

The approach to setting the Latin script in body text was exactly the same in *Servet-i Fünun* during the transition period and right after the reform. No dramatic changes were made in the position and the composition of this part. The same problem regarding the use of French punctuation – the guillemet – and putting space before the punctuation marks was evident in some cases. In terms of the choice of typefaces, from the transition period until the end of March 1929, *Servet-i Fünun* used only one typeface for body text. After this, it became possible to see it rendered in many typefaces and in many sizes (*Fig.8.48*). Sometimes special names and terms were highlighted within the text by making them bold, although this was a very unusual practice (*Fig.8.49*). They must think that it is a good way to use every typeface they provided in order to distinguish between different parts in the text. This approach could also be the result of enthusiasm for the availability of rich variations of Latin types.

After the reform, setting body text in *Resimli Ay* was mainly determined by the position of pictures/illustrations, or by headings on some occasions (*Fig.8.50*). Unlike *Servet-i Fünun*, there were some attempts to form this part with a defined arrangement, such as the staircase approach. However, apart from these kinds of considerations and compositions, body text was mainly set as three columns on the lower part of pages in the post-reform period.

**<sup>10</sup>** Because of the insignificant participation of magazines in the integration of Latin during the transition period, it was not mentioned here, as the state of the integrated Latin parts is analysed in the section of 'Adoption of Latin content: first appearances' earlier.

bir meseleyi halletmiş, kaç gunun Sabahtan beri ağızlarımızı açmaüzen kızımın tahsili meselesini en mütarafından Beyoğlunda kapatılar maktan mütvellit bir ısyan ile nasip bir şekilde neticelendirmiştim. randevu evinde emrazı zühreviyeye tutulmuş 4 kadın, bir de 14 yaşında coştuk... Herkes birden içini Kararımı akşam kızıma tepşir ettiğim Gerzeli Ayşe isminde bir kız zaman, sevincine hudut yoktu. boşaltıyordu... bulunmuş, merkumların heps Kızım orta mektebi bitirmiş on beş Şidddetli bir yumruk masayı emrazı zühreviye hastanesine sevi yaşlarında bir çocuktu. Fakat gerek sarstı, tabaklar sıçradı... edilmiştir. mektepten, gerek evden aldığı telkin

Figure 8.51 The use of different typefaces in the following pages in Resimli Ay after the reform, May 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library

cek kadar cahil d Havzla ortak olm izah eder misiniz Mecmuada bug dasına tesadüf ed tabiî bir şey olam nerler etrafı ürkü Bu sayıfa linotip ile dizilmiştir

Baybil Havzın neşretmekte oldı mua hakkında geçen nüshamızda neşriyatımtz üzerine Cumhuriyet r bir bent yazdı, ve Muhit mecmuaş ranlardan izahat istedi. Muhitin sah nen Dil Encümeni azasından Ahm Bey cevap verdi, ve mecmuasının bi boşluğu dolduran mükemmel bir ı

Figure 8.52 The body text set by Linotype machine in *Resimli Ay* after the reform, May 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library



Figure 8.53 An advertisement published in two scripts in the same volume of *Servet-i Fünun* before the reform, 29 November 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database



Figure 8.54 Exact design and the lithographic plate that was used before the reform was preserved and used in advertisements of *Resimli Ay* after the reform, September 1928 and April 1929. Image source: Atatürk Library

# SARK MALET HULASASI

**Figure 8.55** Setting the diacritics of letter *ş* with a comma in an advertisement of *Servet-i Fünun* after the reform, 13 December 1928. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

Until May, *Resimli Ay* used only one typeface for setting this part, as the main typeface that it had used before the reform was already changed. This monotone approach in the March and April issues did not last long, and the number of typefaces rose to three in May (*Fig.8.51*). As in the case of *Servet-i Fünun*, they must have provided more typefaces in time and found this practice beneficial to find their own style with some trials.

A rare practice in body text appeared in the May issue of *Resimli Ay*, where an article was set using a Linotype machine, as indicated by a brief note below the article (*Fig.8.52*). Although the heading contained the letter şwith a cedilla, this letter appeared in the body text with a comma, as in the Romanian alphabet. Moreover, all the new and unique Turkish characters, including letters  $I, \check{g}$ , were present within the article. It is hard to determine whether the typesetting machine used was a new one specifically prepared for the new Turkish alphabet, or an old machine, not necessarily suitable for the new characters.<sup>11</sup>

#### Other parts - running heads and advertisements

As in the newspapers, running heads were used in *Servet-i Fünun* as mentioned in the section on initial Latin appearances. Since the change from Arabic to Latin script during the transition period, no changes were observed in running heads. *Resimli Ay* did not use running heads before and after the reform, so only page numbers were present and these remained in their usual place in the top corner of the pages. Running heads in magazine design were not very usual at that time and were even considered as oldfashioned, but we do not know whether these two magazines were aware of this notion when they used them.

Advertisements showed a similar pattern to broadsheet newspapers and no significant change in the integration of the new script during the transition period was observed. While Resimli Ay only printed advertisements with the new letters after the implementation day, Servet-i Fünun published some of them in two scripts as different versions during the transition period (Fig. 8.53). In Resimli Ay, after the implementation day, 1 December 1928, the exact design and the lithographic plates that were used before the reform were preserved, while the content of the advertisements was printed in Latin script with the new letters (Fig. 8.54). The setting of this part in Latin script was also similar to the newspapers' approach in that the metal types used were substituted in the creation of this content. However, the execution was not as precise as in the newspapers, as typographical oddities and issues due to the lack of Turkish characters can be seen in the both magazines (Fig.8.55). To create the new Turkish characters that were lacking in the transition period typefaces, cedillas and dots were also added in Servet-i Fünun (Fig.8.56). It was not only dots or commas that were added to the letters - it is even possible to see the number 5 used as a cedilla to create the letter § (Fig.8.57).

<sup>11 &</sup>quot;Türkçe yeni hurufat kasasının şekli," Servet-i Fünun, 8 November 1928.

# Doyce Oriant Bank Deutsche Orient Bank

# Türkiye İş Bankası

Figure 8.56 An example of adding dots externally in an advertisement of *Servet-i Fünun* after the reform, 25 July 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database

**Figure 8.57** The number 5 used as a cedilla to create the letter ş in an advertisement of *Servet-i Fünun* after the reform, 25 July 1929. Image source: Ankara University online newspaper database To sum up, as in newspapers, similar design and typographic issues due to the haste of the alphabet change were mostly seen in magazines despite their publishing frequency which would allow them to overcome the problems of adapting to a new printing convention. However, they were definitely more brave and experimental in creating layout and headings variations, compared to the reform period broadsheets and tabloids, and were pioneers in this matter at the time.

#### Conclusion

It is known that the Turkish alphabet reform was implemented in a very short period of time, and newspapers and magazines had to be published in the new script/alphabet within four months, while integrating Latin content during the transition period. However, it was not known when they started to integrate Latin into their pages and to what extent they did this and with which motives. Also, their specific roles in the implementation and promotion of the reform, as they were assigned as helping tools by the reformers, are not well established. Also considering the satirical illustrated approach, the use of the satire or other pictorial elements in supporting reform was not elaborated before.

This research documents the pace of the reform and the transition of design and typographic features of newspapers and magazines due to the script/alphabet change that no other studies pondered on. It also reveals the beginning of a significant era, which is the first encounter of Turks with the Latin printing convention and shows how they (printers, publishers, publications) reacted to this change and coped with it. Also, up to today, there is no study that reveals the typographic features of Turkish publications both in the past and the present. So, this study also discovers and reveals an unknown territory that opens the opportunity up for making a typographic comparison of the publications in the country and abroad. From a universal point of view, it also seeks the answers to the questions of how integrating and shifting into a different script in a short time affected the design of a page layout and its look, and how easy or difficult it was to learn and apply a different printing convention in a short-period. Apart from these, it gives hints about the further effects and implications of the reform on the design and typographic journey of Turkey and reveals the issues with Turkish libraries and archives for typographic research.

After a comprehensive review of reform period publications, five broadsheets, two tabloids and two magazines were chosen according to some developed criteria and were subjected to the design and typographical analysis in a certain framework to unfold the issues mentioned above.

#### Roles of newspapers and magazines in promoting and implementing the reform

The power of the media was used actively during the transition and post-reform periods. Publishers, many of whom were MPs or had close connections with government, were prepared to take the risk of implementing the alphabet reform despite the associated risks of losing readers and facing closure. Although they received financial aid from the government, it was not in the amounts they requested. At least, they benefited from the tax exemption for printing machines and equipments and metal types imported from abroad for one year. The circulation rates of publications declined due to the integration of the new alphabet/script. Despite this, the newspapers and magazines were specifically chosen for this study, as they became frontiers among other institutions on implementing, promoting and teaching the new alphabet. They were called 'cavalry', 'vanguards' or 'mobile schools' because of their contribution. They succeeded in this by 1) integrating content in Latin script along with content in the old script during the transition, 2) publishing news content that praises the reform 3) publishing cartoons to condemn the old script/alphabet, 4) becoming a forum to discuss reform-related changes, 5) publishing alphabet lessons and reading articles for readers to learn and practice the new alphabet, and lastly 6) showing ambition to being printed all in Latin after four months from the official announcement and purchasing new types, printing presses and adapting to a new printing convention.

To detail their roles, the broadsheet newspapers played a key role in promoting and teaching the new alphabet among others. They integrated a substantial amount of their content in Latin into their pages during the transition period. Apart from the praiseful content and reporting about the implementation in streets, they published anti-Arabic script cartoons to promote the reform to the public, and encouraged readers to learn the new alphabet by publishing daily or regular lessons. The illustrated tabloids used their visual power to promote the reform and encourage readers to accept and learn the new alphabet. They published encouraging images and satirical cartoons. Especially, associating the old letters/script with death, skeleton, and camel (against automobiles) was the common approaches in cartoons. Not only satirical but also encouraging cartoons, such as showing children and the elderly learning the new alphabet, were also present in tabloids. Unlike the broadsheets, they published less teaching content, instead including some illustrative alphabet tables and short stories for reading practice, to familiarise the public with the new alphabet. Magazines assumed a different role compared to the newspapers though they were also the enthusiastic defenders of the reform. They published less news and fewer supportive articles about the reform and no alphabet lessons at all - except showing the new alphabet once - and focused more on visual and content quality to prevent possible loss of readers.

One of their most important acts, integration of Latin content, started to appear approximately five to ten days after the alphabet announcement and varied in each publication and between publication types throughout the transition period. While the broadsheets took this issue seriously and even sometimes tried to equalise the amount of the two different scripts, tabloids published a less amount of material in Latin script and magazines did not favour its use at all and published only a couple of articles with the new alphabet in the last months of the transition period. During the transition period, broadsheets and tabloids published one or two columns of brief news and announcements in the Latin script. In addition to printing an entire article in Latin on the front page, printing headings in Latin on inside pages and one-page width headline and quotes of Atatürk were other common practices. Integrating the content in Latin script, as headlines, headings and body text varied day to day, and was not systematic at all, as it was possible to see rises and decreases within this period. Apart from the advice of reformers encouraging newspapermen in particular to become pioneers in the implementation of the new alphabet immediately, the initial aim of integrating some of the content in Latin script was simply to help readers get used to the new alphabet. This also explains why we do not see a growing use of Latin content throughout the transition period in general. We can conclude that the restrained use of the Latin alphabet was more likely a tactic for introducing the new letters to the readers slowly and trying to make them familiar with the Latin alphabet with gentle encouragement. Adopting the new alphabet suddenly or changing the whole visual character of the newspaper may not have been so effective for fulfilling this aim. Moreover, the need for a substantial period of time for supplying the new metal type families that include the new Turkish characters both from abroad and within the country and developing a new typographic look to build a character/voice for a newspaper should be considered as a reasonable demand.

Effects of the reform on design and typographic choices in newspapers and magazines There was little change in the format and layout of the newspapers and magazines due to the reform, apart from two publications: the newspaper Aksam and the magazine Resimli Ay. While it was possible to see a more modular approach in Aksam, most of the broadsheets remained in columnar grid style, although some of them, *İkdam* and *Hakimiyet-i Milliye* briefly used the modular units within the first two months from the implementation day. Also, Resimli Ay designed its spreads as a unit and made experiments by cropping and positioning large images. Nevertheless, this was not the prevailing approach over the next two or three months, and especially the broadsheet newspapers mostly returned to their conservative look with more modest typographic choices similar to their approach before the reform. Although there was a new approach, which is introducing more images into pages during the transition and post-reform periods, this choice was most likely a coping mechanism to avoid the labour of more typesetting job in the new script and help readers, who learn to read in the new script, to enjoy and ease their eyes after difficult reading trials. Except for Aksam and Resimli Ay, the format and layout design was not affected due to the script change, so the transformation was more typographical in publications.

While the Arabic alphabet was in use, newspapers and magazines had a more homogeneous look and a grey tone due to the few Arabic type production, type style and size at that time. This was the case for all kind of typographical components, such as body text, heading and headline. However, during the transition period, typographic execution and the search for a convention were more experimental, with a diversity and richness in style and content because of the substituted Latin types that were used in the publications before the reform. Not being an expert in Latin printing practice resulted in experimenting with multiple typefaces and styles and even using them all at once in some occasions. After the alphabet change, with the help of the new typefaces and size variations, the hierarchy between the sections became visible and pages started to look more individual despite some unsuccessful executions. In particular, right after the implementation day, the active use of headlines/headings and announcements in big sizes brought a distinguished appearance to pages.

Due to the haste of the reform, newspapers and magazines did not have much time to purchase new Latin metal types that include the new Turkish characters. Thus, they had to use the Latin types that were previously used in publications in French and other languages that have Latin-based alphabets. As a result, during the transition period, they had to find a solution to being able to print the new Turkish characters, so they came up with the idea of attaching external components in order to substitute diacritical marks of these characters, such as umlaut, breve and cedilla of the letters,  $\ddot{u}$ ,  $\ddot{o}$ ,  $\dot{s}$ ,  $\ddot{g}$  and  $\dot{I}$ . These components consisted of points (above the letters, *İ*, *ö* and *ü*), commas (before and after the letter *s* to create *ş*), and in some rare occasions, the Arabic letter و (vav) and even the number 5. Considering the short period of transition (four months) and the problem of lack of resources, this kind of solutions could be considered as creative and as a sign of resilience towards the obstacles although it caused uneven and inharmonious lines and some alienated typographic looks. After the implementation day (nearly four months after the official announcement), most of the newspapers and magazines found enough time to purchase new metal types that include the new Turkish characters and mostly solved this problem and abandoned the previous made-up uses mentioned above. However, some of the newspapers and magazines, such as Servet-i Fünun, continued to use the transition period Latin types even after the reform.

The alphabet lessons published in the broadsheet newspapers are another important component to observe typographic changes due to the reform. In these lessons, sans-serif typefaces were mostly preferred with a possible notion of simplicity that allows readers to perceive easily. Also some script fonts were used to imitate the handwriting version of new letterforms and the type sizes were deliberately made bigger in reading articles to aid the reading practices of readers who still struggled to learn the new alphabet. Despite many typographic misprints and unusual substitutions of new Turkish characters, broadsheet newspapers paid more attention to the design of regular alphabet lessons, especially the typesetting and the right use of orthography, as this content is a substantial part where readers interact with the new letters initially. Apart from the design and typographic changes, many differences in the orthography of the various pieces of content written with the new alphabet in the early months of the transition period occurred due to the different dialects and experience of typesetters across all newspapers and magazines. But this issue was overcome a short time after the official implementation as the dialect of İstanbul was accepted as the norm right before the transition period.

To sum up, broadsheets paid substantial attention to the purchase of new metal types that included the new Turkish letters – which could be seen from the short announcements and advertisements of these purchases in newspapers. Tabloids showed a similar approach to that taken with the broadsheets though they were more focused on the use of typographic variations in headlines and headings by trying many different approaches, including changing sizes and styles with lower case, capitals, italic, bold, etc. There was literally no change in their layouts. Magazines were more concerned about their format and layout, integrating pictures and creating impressive pages in terms of layout as they were determined to publish their magazines in European and American standards.

However, the pursuit of creating visually Western-influenced publications was not new. It existed since the first appearances of publications in Ottoman Empire years, so the reform was not the only condition and a starting point for actualising this goal. Yet, it psychologically helped to internalise this practice. Due to the modernisation agenda and the strong ties with Europe in the 18th and 19th centuries, the publishers and printers had a close watch on the printing developments and technologies, as they had the luxury and wealth to make frequent visits to Europe and even to attend printing fairs, as the owner of 'Servet-i Fünun', Ahmet İhsan [Tokgöz] did. It is also known that there were printers, such as Ebüzziya Tevfik, whose works were rewarded in Europe. Also, the multicultural printing environment in the Empire helped to familiarise with the Latin printing convention and being up-to-date print-wise. Especially after the print boom in the Second Constitutional Era, the printing scene showed a great progress in publication design. The new Republic brought stability and adopted European ideals, which helped to accelerate the quality of printing. Although the tendency of modernisation and later Westernisation started with the Tulip Era (1718-1730) and accelerated with the Tanzimat reforms (1839) as a request of the Palace, it was not forced or imposed directly by the state, but rather was cultivated by statesmen and intellectuals as a result of seeking solutions for society's problems. Even though this process seems interrupted by the Hamidian Era (1876-1909), the idea was sparked already and remained in minds and actions during the Republican period as well.

Apart from the difficulty of typesetting in the Arabic script, the notion of publication design was not very different from the West, and the printing convention was not isolated or old-fashioned either. Moreover, starting from the 19th century, the existence of illustrated publications with human pictures and even modern woman image in publications was not unusual at all as a result of this modernist mindset. The only difference between the Turkish and Western printing scenes could be the understanding of typesetting in Latin. There is no literature or apparent proof that they observed the Western typography and were influenced by the movements in various periods. However, the use of many typestyles and sizes in one-line heading/headlines and the practical substitutions of different components for creating diacritics, for example, point out the Victorian approach. On the other hand, no use of capital letters - despite the Victorian typography- and the wide preference for sans-serif types in headlines and headings in all the period publications indicates a more modern understanding, as in New Typography, which emerged in the same years. Some of the publications, Köroğlu, Resimli Ay, Servet-i Fünun and Hakimiyet-i *Millive*, started to abandon border rules around the images on their pages. However, because of the centred headlines, headings and picture blocks that still commonly existed and the paragraphs that always started with indents, it is hard to conclude that they were aware of the New Typography movement. However, they had their own style mixed with traditional and modernist understandings, and were progressive in adopting the new printing practice, as they inherited the Empire's multi-cultural legacy and the accumulated knowledge on printing in different scripts. Also, leaving the unresolved problems of Arabic printing convention regarding the type and script inconsistency behind must have aided this progression. In the case of the reform, they consciously searched for an understanding of a new convention, which is setting and designing pages in Latin script/ letters, as the change in the period's newspapers and magazines did not seem to be a sole script change.

#### Libraries and archives in Turkey for typographic research

After doing some archival visits for this study, it was also concluded that there is a potential for typographic research in the libraries and the archives of Turkey, but these institutions and their staff must be updated about the needs of a typographic researcher. The lack of interest and awareness in typographic researches in the country also negatively affects this potential. This research aims to create awareness about this issue. Also, because of the digitalisation projects that were going on in these facilities during this study, original materials were inaccessible, which made it quite difficult to study this topic. For the digitalised newspapers and magazines both in Arabic and Latin scripts, asking to see actual copies is not permissible due to the policies of the libraries, so taking pictures personally is out of discussion. Even though the quality of facilities' images are good enough to read the periodicals' content, it is not possible to observe typographic details, especially in small sized sections.<sup>1</sup>

Further effects and implications of the reform on the design and typographic journey of Turkey

<sup>1</sup> This problem can only be solved by creating awareness for typographic research and emphasizing the importance of artifacts that need to be examined closely and evaluated physically. Until the last months of this study, to obtain a digital copy of newspaper or magazine pages from the National Library of Turkey was only possible by paying for each page (since then they have changed this policy and gave free access to researchers). In the thesis' case, nearly 20 periodicals of transition period published within 10 months were examined; this simply means hundreds of pages, and the most important thing is that not even all of them that were paid were going to be used in the study. As a typographic researcher who has to look at every single page of these periodicals in high resolution, this was a significant downside.



Figure 9.1 The front pages of Milliyet (Left) Cumhuriyet and Akşam (Right)

It is evident that the printers and owners of newspapers and magazines during the reform period showed a great interest in the new Latin convention and enthusiasm at the time by practicing and implementing the new alphabet, but this did not last for long as there were still problems with the design and the use of the diacritics in Turkish characters and the design of newspapers (*Fig.9.1*).<sup>2</sup> However, the solutions that were found for printing in the new script by the people who published these publications show a good account of how these issues were dealt with. Even though the old convention do not exist anymore – as the desktop publishing is used for the mass printing jobs –, the basics of printing convention which shape the design and the typographic features of graphic materials could give us good hints about the fundamentals of typographic problems today and the roots of our printing journey, by acknowledging the scene and the practice from the very beginning of the new convention.

Compared to the case of printing with Latin letters, a strong writing culture and a calligraphy tradition could not be established after the reform, as it was accomplished in the Arabic script before. Apart from the manuscripts, during the Empire period, streets were full of artistic calligraphic panels on various places, such as buildings, fountains and mosques as a result of a strong tradition on writing. The denial and the abandonment of this common art, also due to the script/alphabet change, and hunger for a visual culture -because of a poor painting and sculpture tradition contrary to the West- might have pushed writing and typography into the background and caused the Western-style art and illustration to become more popular and in demand. While it is possible to read Turkish graphic design history through the journey of Turkish illustration, it is not possible to trace it sufficiently through typography. The dominance of illustration and the use of typography as a subsidiary element in Turkish graphic design history are evident from that period up until today.<sup>3</sup> This may be an indication that Turks did not fully embrace this new Latin-based alphabet after a long and rich calligraphic tradition that was left behind and destined to remain only as a decorative object. The political aspect of the reform also still overshadows typographic discussions, and thus, it also feeds the negative thoughts and prejudices towards the old script, which also I think prevents genuine acceptance of the new script. As a result, no national styles and not many important typographic works created with the new alphabet have come into existence today.4

**<sup>2</sup>** There is no doubt that the shifts in the type technologies affected this journey, especially the freedom and the flow that came with digital typography.

**<sup>3</sup>** There are many dissertations and theses about the history of graphic design in Turkey, but they mostly cover the period right after the reform. Still, these are one of the main sources that reveal this journey. In addition to my own knowledge as a Turkish designer and researcher, I have benefited from these theses to reach this conclusion. This is also the result of the illustration-centred education of the first Turkish graphic designers who went to Europe in the early years of the Republic.

**<sup>4</sup>** We should definitely highlight one of the greatest calligraphers and bookbinders, Emin Barın, who tried especially to revive the old calligraphic convention by experimenting with the new Latin alphabet after 1940. But still even today, there are few type designers who consider



**Figure 9.2** The calligraphic banner in İstanbul, created for the art biennial in 2005. Photo credit: Mehmet Üstek

Nevertheless, the reform succeeded in creating negativity towards the Arabic script, the letters, and the script's relationship with the Arabic culture in the long term. The printed media played a substantial role in this. Even today, a contemporary incident regarding the negative reaction of the public to the use Arabic letters or even calligraphy is one of the best examples to prove this point. As a part of an art biennial in İstanbul in 2005, two sentences in Arabic script in calligraphic styles were created, turned into a building-sized banner and displayed on one of the well-located buildings in Galata district, where the most diverse society using many languages and scripts lived in the late Ottoman period. Within a few days, a number of people had made official complaints to the municipality of İstanbul about this Arabic-scripted banner, assuming that it represented religious insurrection belonging to a terrorist organisation that invited people to call for backwardness. The owner of the building at that time, the Turkish Postal Service (PTT), took the banner down as a result of these complaints. However, it turned out that these two sentences were two old Turkish idioms from the Ottoman Empire years - 'Gel keyfim gel', which could be translated as a way of showing the sarcasm for a person's enjoyment and pleasure (literal translation: come my joy come) and 'Bu da geçer Ya Hû', meaning 'This too will pass, my Lord' (Fig.9.2). The well-known and old versions of these idioms were written by the two famous Ottoman calligraphers, İsmail Hakkı Altunbezer and Halim Özyazıcı, just before the Republican period.<sup>5</sup> The majority of the population today do not recognise the difference between the Ottoman-Turkish and Arabic alphabets - not just the people who complained about this banner. Furthermore, the art of calligraphy, which is their national treasure and cultural inheritance, is not even appreciated. Besides revealing the role and the transformation of newspapers and magazines in the alphabet reform, this study also tries to show that there is no harm in recognising and appreciating the old (past), while embracing the new (future). Furthermore, it could open up discussions about the subsequent effects of the reform on the design and typographic journey of Turkey and help researchers to enlighten relevant issues since this tremendous change by being a starting point for further studies.

the needs and the nature of the Turkish alphabet while designing their typefaces.

**<sup>5</sup>** It is a tragicomic fact that the idiom 'This too will pass' written in the Ottoman-Turkish script was displayed in the shop window of the calligrapher İsmail Hakkı Altunbezer during the entire period of the occupation of Constantinople by British, French and Italian forces between the years 1918-1923, as a sign of resistance and was an equivalent of the 'Keep calm and carry on' phrase in England. After the end of occupation, another famous calligrapher, Necmettin Okyay, wrote 'Come my joy come' on a panel and displayed this to celebrate the liberation of Constantinople. For details on this anecdote, see the newspaper article "Cehalet esaretten beterdir" by Beşir Ayvazoğlu in Tercüman newspaper (29 September 2005), at http:// kulturbahcesi.blogspot.co.uk/2005\_09\_01\_archive.html, accessed April 24, 2017. It is even known that the idiom 'This too will pass' in the Ottoman-Turkish script was the only old calligraphic panel that Atatürk kept in his presidential palace in Ankara. Unfortunately these anecdotes are mostly unknown to the majority of the public. For the incident regarding the 2005 biennial, see the news article "Istanbul'un işgalinde bile vitrindeydi", on http://www.haber7.com/kultur/ haber/113099-istanbulun-isgalinde-bile-vitrindeydi, accessed April 24, 2017.

# Appendix 1

gh Bàzghàr	-21- <b>kh</b> Khåse
Âghâh ghûya rûzghar enghûr انکور روزکار می ا	I. Khâfî khâse bakhî vakhit zekhâ hâkhim ماکم ذکا ونت بانی کامه کانی
Terghîp       teblîgh       ghavur       gherdan         مردان       کاروز       ترغب         البعاع : (۵) حرف اعه مدال ( مائت ) حرفل اوکنده ( ك - کای فارس )         می اوقو بور . بوحرفك قالین سبل ( مائت ) حرفل اوگنده ( ع) سسی         مجها اوقو بور . بوحرفك قالین سبل ( مائت ) حرفل اوگنده ( ع) سسی         بیما اوقو بور . بوحرفك قالین سبل ( مائت ) حرفل اوگنده ( ع) سمی         بیما اومو برا . بوحرفک قالین سبل ( مائت ) حرفل اوگنده ( ع) سمی         بیمانی ایمون کندیسندن صوکرا بر ( h ) حرف علاوه ایدید, . یعی         ( هر موشاق که )       ق	2. Bekhâr khâmil khâtip khâzım hakhîkat حقیق کانب کانب کان بکار انفاع : عربی و فارسیدن آلفش بعض کلهلرده قالین سسلی حرفل بانده (ن) صداستی (ك) کی اوتو نی ایجون (kh) شکانده بازارل. کذا بر ایجه سسلی(صائت) حرفدن سوكره ( ن - k) اوتو مق ایجون ( kh ) شکلنده بازمق ایجاب ایدهر . ( şakhî ) گیمی 1. Ke ki kö kü
1. Ağır çağır bağır doğur doğru دوعرو دوغور ماغر ماغر آغر	1. Ke ki kö kü اس کر ج 2. Kemal kil kömür kücük
2. eğe ağac îğne uğru اوغرو أيكنه آغاج أكه	گوچوك كومور كيل كال
3. Bayrağı kapağı daği bağa باغه دافی قاباغی بایراغی	<sup>ع</sup> يضاع : k حرف عمومينله ( ö ü i e ) صدالی حرفلر اوکنده ( ك ) لوتونور .
ایضاع : بوموشاق ( ğ ) حقنده (g) حرفنده نفصیلات و پرلمندی. بوراده بر فاچ منال ذکر ابدورك بوموشاق ( g ) یی نکرار ابتدك . Âghâh ghủyâ dağa çıktı, rüzghara tutuldu, bağa indi. Kimseye ghavur deme. Mubâşir tebligha geldi. Bu mal günden güne raghbetten düşüyor	Khâzima söyle, khâseyi kırmasın. Khâtip kömür aldı. Vakhit nakhit-tir. Bu-nu kim söyledi ? Bu hakhikatt söyleyen küçük Khâzım-dır. Öyle ise khâfi-dir. Bu kubbede bâkhî kalan bir hoş sadâ imiş.

Pages from an initial ABC primer shows the later-abondoned uses: 'gh' and 'kh'. Image source: Personal collection

#### Appendix 1A



Spreads from an illustrated ABC primer. Hilmi Kitaphanesi, İstanbul, Devlet Matbaası, 1928. Image source: Personal collection

### Appendix 2

		1720		
	17 books published	1729	T	First book printed in Turkish by İbrahim Müteferrika
		1746		
	Only one dictionary was published			
	was published	1782		
	27 books published			
		1803		Lift of ban on religious books
				5
	330 books published	1831	•	Introduction of first Turkish newspaper 'Takvim-i Vakaiyye'
		1832	•	Establishment of first state printing house 'Matbaa-i Amire'
		1839		Tanzimat Reforms
		1840	•	Introduction of second Turkish newspaper 'Ceride-i Havadis'
		1857		First regulation on press
	1.392 books published	1859	•	First translated novel from French into Turkish
		1860	٠	Introduction of 'Tercüman-ı Ahvâl' newspaper
		1862		Introduction of 'Tasvir-i Efkâr' newspaper
		1864		Second regulation
		1867		Third regulation allowing closing down
		1869		periodicals
	966 books published	1875		
		1878	T.	Announcement of First Constitution
	Unknown	1880	۲	The Hamidian censorship
		1008		
350 newspapers & magazines		1908	T	Overthrow the Sultan Abdülhamid II Announcement of Second Constitution
published				Abolishing the ban on press
(reached 40.000 copies)	9			Print explosion
Number of newspaper	6827 books published			
& magazine dropped to 45 191		1912		Balkan Wars
Number of newspaper	-		T	Daikai wais
& magazine rose to 74	4	1914		World War I
		1917		
	6450 books published	1919		Turkish War of Independence
		1923		Foundation of the Turkish Republic
		-)-)	T	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		1928	•	The Latin alphabet reform

#### Publishing activities between early 18th century and early 20th century\*

\* The numbers of published books and periodicals stated in the table are approximate, and taken from J.Baysal's and A.Kabacalı's studies. There is an unknown period regarding the number of printed items between 1875 and 1908, due to the lack of study, also recognised by the research authorities.

20-10-928 A. 4076 T. C. BAŞBAKANLIK C. 13/10/ 92 8 tarch ve 3085 numerole arizeme Jeyildir. Gazetelerin kanunu envelden itibarla his biitin yeni harflerimirle çılmaları imkanını temin için matbuati şimoliden ikaz etmeryi munasip garmıştum. bir çok taraflardan şimdi muracadt kar-şısında hâliyorum aldığım mektup ve istidalar hemen aynı mahigette alip , hukimeter mathwater yardim edilip edilmespeciegi ve edilecekse bu yardinin nesurote olacaji sorulmaptadir basilan se yerli ehalinji okutmak, ayni Zamanola da hukumetle fikanin. propagandasini yapmak hususlarinda hizmet eden bu gazata larin hemen hepsi devletten yardim görmedikleri takdirde kahan. maiga mahkumdurlar. Hukumetin gazelerinden biri de halhi okutmak ve yeni harflere çabuk alişdirmak olduğuna göre , cüm huriyetin kurulizindan beri adetlerinin artmasi sukranla göralen ve çogunun sermayesi sahiplerinin meslek aşkindan ibaretdan bu gazetelerin bayle bir akibete ugramalari gerçekten yazik olur hand atindaryim. Eger zate devlatiniz de la handatima lutfen iştirak buryurigarsaniz, o halde simdiden bazi tedbirler -almak lazim gelir ki bunlari gerek Heyeti ve kileye ve gerek 13ahinda açılacak olan Büryük millet meclisine vaktile arzedin bis an evvel membeletin her tarafinda, butun gazetelerin bis teringe neni harflerle çikmalarini temin etmek mümkün olabilsin . Bu tedbirlerin ne gibi şeyler olabilecegine gelince, hatire gelenleri musadenizle anz edecezim : = Gogu kuçük sehirlerde, bin zahmetle furulmuz ufacik matbaalarda 030 10 \$3 SUN 2

Fon No: 30 10 0 0 - Kutu No: 83 - Dosya No: 547 - Sıra No: 16

#### Appendix 3A

T. C. BAŞBAKANLIK CUMHURIYET ARŞİVI C+ 1- Matlenat umum midurligi budeesine 200,000 lina tak sisat kaymak ve bu parazi Hikimetin tensip edeceoji gazete lere dagitmak. 2 - Carih ve nümrosu zukarda yazili olan tezkeremde arz etdiğim gibi yalanci memleketlerden yeni matbaa harflerini bir sene gumrick resminden af etmek . 3\_ gazete kattarinden, everle oldugu gili, heya gümrüh\_ resmi almanak. 4- Gene bir sene muddetle gazzete ve mecmud lari posta ile bedelsiz makl. ettirmek . bali arzettigin bu dort maddenin birden tatlikine im kan yoktur. Hangileri mümküngürülür ve kabule şayan attedilir, ve yahut zati devletlerince daha boyka tedabir düzümülürse, lazim gelen makamlar nezdinde tezebbüste bulunarak netice nin lutfen tarafina bilderilmesini derin hur. metlerimle istirham ve basis ettigim miracaatlardan iki tanesinin torsik eden istid alari leffen takdim ederim efendim hazretleri. Alina mutabetter 120

547/16

3

83

Fon No: 30 10 0 0 - Kutu No: 83 - Dosya No: 547 - Sıra No: 16

030 10

Appendix 4 - Changes in Milliyet throughout the reform period





10 August 1928

10 October 1928



1 December 1928



10 May 1929

#### Appendix 4 - Changes in *İkdam* throughout the reform period





10 August 1928



1 December 1928

10 October 1928



10 May 1929

#### Appendix 4 - Changes in Akşam throughout the reform period

7. 0.0 هيول احمر بالوسى واديج نولدى آرناوودلق عموم زاندارم فوماندانى شهدمندده کسیك صابح بلس رئيسي فاظم بانانك قاسم بك ژاندارمه تش واتستانده شمديك سكوه ليلاغزى تدقيق ايدييور المومع غروبيد كى مفاود فادي بتسهد كمزنجى بارداغى فال af nershroer امضا أبريليور رنادود لوژاندارد. فوماندانی انقد بمزك آرماوود لقده بویوك بر صمیمیند قارشید ندیغی سودیور قت بانانی رككلرده طافت قالمامتدى . حايلمك 2 ditid Malt به خراب اولاده برلرده براوطومو بیل آرا به جارید انتا آ ژبانتور عائله فاجعمى كمركدته فاعيريهونه ماللد قاری قوجہ فاوغاسی ب جنایتلہ نتیجہلندی يكرمى ايكي مليون ليرا آلئىكثى بي أوندبره جكلرمسم موقع طوتمة باشلامشدر لمرطبارةسى نه ميدانك توسيعنه بإشلانه دود، کچر پکلرج خلق تقسیم میداند کیده رك کچر پاریند قادار آبدهای تماشا اجتشدر شحار تشبثلري فرانسز . آلمامه مقارتی اود مسادلردد الاجتمز عرت درسى مفان ایشندددچیفارددینی ایجون آخاره مُشبث ایندی اوع سرخوسه آراسنده قادي بوزنديه فاوغا



10 August 1928



1 December 1928

10 October 1928



10 May 1929

#### Appendix 4 - Changes in Cumhuriyet throughout the reform period





10 August 1928

10 October 1928



1 December 1928

5 May 1929

Appendix 4 - Changes in Hakimiyet-i Milliye throughout the reform period



10 August 1928



5 January 1929

10 October 1928



11 May 1929

### Appendix 5 - The integration of Latin content in *İkdam, Hakimiyet-i Milliye* and *Milliyet* throughout the reform period



10 October 1928



20 August 1928 - First appearance



1 December 1928



Hakimiyet-i Milliye - 28 August 1928 - First appearance

Front

Back

Miliyet - 20 August 1928 - First appearance



Content in Arabic script Content in Latin script 10 October 1928



10 October 1928



Back

#### **Appendix 6**





Front

Back

## Appendix 6A - The integration of Latin in Köroğlu
## **Appendix 6B**

24 October 1928 - Köroğlu



• وراوعو • 3-5-40 و کو او ملو ہ 58 - 0 53 - 05 319 مادرابازلق ازيق - ياهو دوث ، ز و ف هرروك بردردى كولاهه ديكلتميك دويامه به ياهو رجينع ميك الشه كوا ليمي يوف آغلامالي اورمین کمدیکر اثر اولی کری . کمن کون استاسیک اول سیلمان ام محومت کلی . فاریس کندیسی کولریوزله دید توفکانش برفاونا بربالمیردی، فیرتلاق زحمق چلن کېم، آنافوری پایان کېم ا ک راوغلو)مك مبادلة نا نه جمعیت عر 邁 اله آناس سکز کوندنه ی آجد 19. کمی کون بوناز ایجنده ، روم ایل مصارنده مراد نیس استندمرایل یکریکچه میامه قدر آبازدمیکامش، ایت آمدینی آغاره فوجه بربانی دوشدی ، بالی آما نه اهل دل ۱، لان ۱ قوسون فیش کانیه باشان اویان به آبوازی، او آباد که هرکون اوکرندی میتلین برانی اشره ویج برای دوشدی ، بالا برای بنیه بای، یك بر میكه اسرانی اس او بایه حکوله بن بالی سورووب باشنایم ، بیوز كمی بخته طولاشی ، یك برم یك ایک بوز آلی اوقفای توجه برآی بالی چیف اولهی (چون بالاشانیده (معبر ملی ، طبر بر آز سوكره فرشی ، مراد رئیس مان ا أويديكمز Sile S بىيلدانىر ئىردكل. مالىغالىمەكرىمە یلمز حکر هانکی روریز که ظاهی یک قاربشیکی و وعندر عذکتر له، چق کچدی و و تادی اکثر خراب وقدی می دوارتر چر راز سکان ایش هرب ماجی جو روز می وز مه مه چندرکه لافت آخری وز ليورمش، نه برشيل 1.55 يكرد مامورسه کز مامورسه کز طالبله طالبله بکلر ، سوم ایش ماهي J. Kan J Fatures SJ Dügmie د : ناره اضوص پر بومدهش بالق مادراباز. (50) ابرابه صامش . کیسش، بش دقیقه صوکر. مادراباز بوبالینی آنا ابرابه بر کجار. صامش . الیچون (علی حیوانات) ایلک مکنیلردم شو وقلم کلک بولامارکی ، نه ظیر میون خدمانه ولولرت میکونه مقلالی ایمبیور مقلای ات وای فعلای بر : بقانی بر امیازاده پوجوفیدر، هم نده یویله دن جابندن دوشوب پاییلهی، بزیولافته نائه) دهدم، آلیشدی، آییلهی ، فاقدی، ر بر نجاره مادی . ر بر نجاره مادی . مؤرف هاریک بردن ای ایم مادر کارد ، نیوزن نچان نجاره . مورن نجامه رسان دوسک کمه کیدن (به ای تو فرش براهه برای ایران ایروز . وسایل زندان . مادولی و مرد مودشی پیری ، برای منه ماد. اسل ولورانسان اولان بو مالر. توزولز فیش کونی کوئو لازمدر ہے آلمنام ) ال ايش بياهان . Jak Dat مديار مان معيام قارش قادين مايمين . زاو الى قوده برياشلهستان واهيرمان ال-دير ، ملاr hur his. ی ی ومیسیون ملت آرقق او صاغ ى وسيويات روى وكاست بيتمندر» ابدينى خالى خراب الجش، بيتمندر» بيقر رىكون نيش معاديتنى ميتمندر هر آرتنى شه امتى جقاريكتر قلاحه ، (كوراوغل)تك ولاقنى ديكتمميك كولاهه؛ معینتدن رجا ابدرز. برمدت ایجون ابردن ، آنه اشکار مدن ، سورویم ابرمافلری اوری بوندای کوره بز ربودوم سوت کورمه ین پاورولری مسرت چکن مکتب طلبه سنی ، اره، خلفه مانیار . دور معامله می میره ایله فلارغلاغدن میارن.در . : فازیلی میمزه اصابت ایدبیور . و آنراده پالکز افتدی هم بزه ، هم مال ماحبه طیریان آنهور . . سایی، مالدادین مال ، تودیمه دیکی می می موشونه موشونه باروت نیچسه می کولز بوز بکون ایکی آشنده باروت می می ایک مدری بو ، کلز بارا ، واراننده می موقف مدری و ، کلز بارا ، واراننده (كوراوغلو)تك رمدس (دارالبدايع : ) م ÷, ورج و حبى ا ין דליכט ו abcçdefgh د اد مرج .. آنادولیده آنا جوز ی mnoöp لبور ، کیل کون ( قیرمسون) دن برنه کان برنظر انه کوره کیرمسونده ن بطری ویرمددکاری ایجون بورنه که بردرمور ، او قدرکه جیسمانه ابجاینده شهرامینی ن ، و بو ذاته بوز 1 بيله كاد: ۶ ÷ u ū " ¥ الى اولور . Vokluğu ue ocak sever ne یکی حرفل یازی کورورسه کز پیچنبه به قدر اوج کون انجنده بند ) بردرستانهه دوام انتش ا 2.4 صيجانی چوريا شي دکان . فلط 13 -\_\_ بوللني نداوجان \_موجر نه برجاني ! . 14 \_\_ gelin, erine göre salm. وتنتدن نروناچار ابکروز نازه آلاجنی این ارت، کور، صالی : 15 — Sacak aş, souk su dişi ne karı, kocamış er, işi hiç eder r abam var atarım ın gelirim yatarım, er kesat olunca, nek avlar tutarım, بكك قوتر صبحالی آش، سوتوق سو دینمی هیچاپند. رجامش أر اینمی هیچ ایمر. قار ایلی امیق -رجه ملزدر. ردام هدرت الگری al papa kazas aralık köyü elendi ve rufekasi tarafınd yeni harfleri öğreten merke ramettin ve belediye klitibi n -interest sites بحج طويلابان فادينلر : اركنظر مكمل برقير قيافن ابله خاطر حالا بشيقه ، و المسلوبية، وجالي الأبلال لومانيان منها إلك كريمين ساوح عاملة . من المسلوبية، وجالي الأبلال لومانيان منها إلك كريمين ساوح عاملة .

1

ایندمینگر از

وقت رفيلمز اون ايک يامنه

## Appendix 7 - Resimli Ay - January 1928



Appendix 7A - Resimli Ay - June 1929



## **Bibliography**

- AbiFares, Huda Smitshuijzen. *Arabic Typography: A Comprehensive Sourcebook*. London: Saqi Books, 2001.
- Acar, Ayla. "Türkiye'de Latin Alfabesine Geçiş Süreci Ve Gazeteler (Introduction of the Latin Alphabet and Newspapers in Turkey)." *İstanbul Üniversitesi İletişim Fakültesi Dergisi* 41 (2011), http://kisi.deu.edu.tr//yilmaz.ahmet/ikinci\_donem\_makale/04\_ataturk\_ donemi\_egitim\_kultur/54.pdf.
- Ahmad, Feroz. The Making of Modern Turkey. London: Routledge, 1993.
- ----.*Turkey: The Quest for Identity*. Oxford: Oneworld publications, 2003.
- Akay, Zeynep. "The Typographic Transformation of Turkey's Leading Newspaper as a Result of the Letter Reform in 1928." MA diss., University of Reading, (n.d).
- Akbaba, Bülent. "İnkilap tarihi Öğretimi için bir kaynak: Karagöz Dergisi (Karagöz magazine as a source of revolution history teaching)."*Kastamonu Eğitim Dergisi* 22, no. 2 (2014): 731-742.
- Akbulut, Uğur. "Osmanlı Basın Tarihine Bir Katkı: Gazetelerin Yayınlanma Amaçları Üzerine (1831-1876) (A contribution to Ottoman Press history: publication aims of the newspapers (1831-1876))." *Journal of Turkish Studie*s 8, vol. 8 issue 5 (2013): 31–57. doi:10.7827/turkishstudies.4914.
- Akdoğan, Nuran Savaşkan. "The Alphabet Reform and Its Implementation on the Way Towards Becoming a Modern Nation-State." *TODAİE's Review of Public Administration*, vol. 4 (September 2010). http://www.todaie.edu.tr/resimler/ekler/ef771b6f4a4e2aa\_ ek.pdf?dergi=Review%200f%20Public%20Administration.
- Akkaya, Arzu. "II. Meşrutiyet'ten Harf Devrimi'ne Güzel Sanatlar Dergilerinde Dekoratif Öğeler ve İllüstrasyonlar (Elements and Illustrations Found in the Fine Arts Periodicals Published During the Term Between the 2nd Constitutional Period and the Alphabet Reform)." PhD diss., İstanbul University, 2013.
- Akçay, Yusuf. "Osmanlı Dönemi Alfabe Tartışmaları Bağlamında Dr. İsmail Hakkı Bey ve Islah-1 Huruf Cemiyeti (Dr. İsmail Hakkı and Islah-1 Huruf Cemiyeti within the alphabet discussions during the Ottoman Period)." *Uluslararası Türk Dili ve Edebiyatı Kongresi* (n.p., 2007). http://turkoloji.cu.edu.tr/YENI%20TURK%20DILI/yusuf\_akcay\_ alfabe\_tartismalari.pdf
- Akçura, Gökhan. Cumhuriyet Döneminde Türkiye Matbaacılık Tarihi (The history of Turkish printing in the Republican period). İstanbul: YKY, 2012.
- Altınöz, Vuslat Devrim. "The Ottoman Women's Movement: Women's Press, Magazines, Journals, and Newspapers from 1875 to 1923." Miami: University of Miami, 2003.
- Anderson, Benedict O'G. Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism. United Kingdom: Verso Books, 1991.
- Angell, James B. "The Turkish Capitulations." *The American Historical Review* 6, no. 2 (January 1901): 254. doi:10.2307/1833581.

- Ataman, Bora and Cem Pekman. "A Champion of Printing Quality in the Ottoman Turkish Press of the Second Constitutional Period: Şehbal Journal." In *Historical Aspects of Printing and Publishing in Languages of the Middle East: Papers from the Symposium at the University of Leipzig*, September 2008, edited by Geoffrey Roper. Netherlands: Brill, 2013.
- Ayalon, Ami. *The Press in the Arab Middle East: A History*. United Kingdom: Oxford University Press, 1995.
- Aynsley, Jeremy and Kate Forde. *Design and the Modern Magazine* (V&A/RCA Studies in Design History: Anthologies). Edited by Jeremy Aynsley. United Kingdom: Manchester University Press, 2007.
- Aytürk, İlker. "Script Charisma in Hebrew and Turkish: A Comparative Framework for Explaining Success and Failure of Romanization." *Journal of World History* 21, no. 1 (2010): 97–130. doi:10.1353/jwh.0.0106.
- ———. "The First Episode of Language Reform in Republican Turkey: The Language Council from 1926 to 1931." *Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society* 18/3 (July 2008), pp. 275-293.
- Ayvazoğlu, Beşir. "Cehalet esaretten beterdir (Ignorance is worse than slavery)." *Tercüman* newspaper, September 29, 2005. Accessed April 24, 2017. http://kulturbahcesi.blogspot. co.uk/2005\_09\_01\_archive.html.
- Barnhurst, Kevin G. Seeing the Newspaper. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1993.
- Baron, Kinross, John Balfour. *Atatürk: The Rebirth of a Nation*. United Kingdom: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1964.
- Baten, Joerg and Jan Luiten van Zanden. "Book Production and the Onset of Modern Economic Growth." *Journal of Economic Growth* 13, no. 3 (2008): 217–35. doi:10.1007/ s10887-008-9031-9.
- Baysal, Jale. "Harf Devrimi'nden Önce Ve Sonra Yayın Hayatı (Publishing scene before and after the Letter Revolution)." In *Harf Devrimi'nin 50. Yılı Sempozyumu*. Ankara: Türk Tarih Kurumu Yayınları, 1991.
- Başkut, Cevat Fehmi. *Gazetecilik Dersleri (Journalism lessons)*. Edited by İ. Ü. Fakültesi Yayını. İstanbul: Sermet Matbaası, 1967.
- Berry, John, ed. Contemporary Newspaper Design: Shaping the News in the Digital Age Typography and Image on Modern Newsprint. United States: Mark Batty Publisher, 2004.
- Bora, Tanıl and Murat Gültekin, eds. *Modern Türkiye'de Siyasi Düşünce: Modernleşme ve* Batıcılık, Cilt 3 (Political Thought in the Modern Turkey: Modernisation and Westernisation, Vol.3). İstanbul: İletişim Yayınları, 2007.
- Brummett, Palmira Johnson. *Image and Imperialism in the Ottoman Revolutionary Press, 1908-*1911. Albany: State University of New York Press, 2000.
- Budak, Ali. "Fransız Devrimi'nin Osmanlı'ya Armağanı: Gazete, Türk Basınının doğuşu (The French Revolution's gift to the Ottomans: The newspaper, the emergence of Turkish

media)." International Periodical For the Languages, Literature and History of Turkish and Turkic 7, no. 3 (2012): 663–81.

- Buluç, Sadettin. "Osmanlılar Devrinde Alfabe Tartışmaları (The alphabet discussions during the Ottoman Era)." In *Harf Devrimi'nin 50. Yılı Sempozyumu*, by Atatürk Kültür Dil ve Tarih Yüksek Kurumu. Ankara: Türk Tarih Kurumu Yayınları, 1991.
- Buttanrı, Müzeyyen. "İkdam Gazetesinin Kültür Hayatımızdaki Yeri, Şekil Ve İçerik Özellikleri (1894-1900) (The place of İkdam newspaper in Turkish cultural heritage and the format and content specifications of the newspaper (1894-1900)." *Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, Osmangazi Üniversitesi, no. 1 (2003).
- Caner, Emre. Paris Sevdası (The love of Paris). İstanbul: Kapı Yayınları, 2017.
- Cantek, L. Funda Şenol. 'Yaban'lar ve Yerliler: Başkent Olma Sürecinde Ankara ('Strangers' and Natives: Ankara in the process of becoming a capital city). İstanbul: İletişim Yayınları, 2016.
- Ceylan, Ayhan. "Tanzimat Dönemi Osmanlı Basım Ve Yayımında Hukuki Düzen (1839-1876) (The legal order in the Ottoman printing and publishing during the Tanzimat Era (1839-1876))." Türk Hukuk Tarihi Araştırmaları, no.1 (2006): 139-55.
- Cioeta, Donald J. "Ottoman Censorship in Lebanon and Syria, 1876-1908." *International Journal of Middle East Studies* 10, no. 2 (May 1979): 167–86. Accessed May 21, 2016, doi:10.2307/162125. http://www.jstor.org/stable/162125.
- Copel, David A. *The Function of Newspapers in Society: A Global Perspective*. Edited by Shannon E. Martin and David A. Copeland. United States: Greenwood Publishing Group, 2003.
- Coşgel, Metin M. and Thomas J. Miceli. "Guns and Books: Legitimacy, Revolt and Technological Change in the Ottoman Empire." *Economics Working Papers*, 200912. (2009): p.17-18. http://digitalcommons.uconn.edu/econ\_wpapers/200912.
- Coşgel, Metin M., Thomas J. Miceli, and Jared Rubin. "The Political Economy of Mass Printing: Legitimacy and Technological Change in the Ottoman Empire." *Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics JITEo* 168, no. 3 (September 1, 2012): 339–61. doi:10.1628/093245612802920980.
- Çankaya, Erol. "Atatürk döneminde edebiyat dergilerinin genel görünümü ve Resimli Ay (The general state of literary magazines in the time of Atatürk and Resimli Ay)", In Yıllık 1981, Ankara Üniversitesi Siyasal Bilgiler Fakültesi Basın Yayın Yüksekokulu Dergisi, 149-176.
- Çetin, Attila. "El Cevaib Gazetesi Ve Yayını (The newspaper El Cevaib and its publishing)." *Tarih dergisi*, no. 34 (2011): 475–84. Accessed on May 21, 2016. http://istanbuluniversitesi.dergipark.gov.tr/download/article-file/101893.
- Çeviker, Turgut. Karikatürkiye: Karikatürlerle Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Tarihi 1923-2008 (Karikatürkiye: The history of Turkish Republic through cartoons 1923-2008), Vol.1. İstanbul: NTV Yayınları, 2010.
- Çınar, Ergun. İstanbul'un 100 süreli yayını (100 periodicals of Istanbul). İstanbul: İstanbul Büyükşehir Belediyesi Kültür A.Ş. Yayınları, 2010.

- Çolak, Yılmaz. "Language Policy and Official Ideology in Early Republican Turkey." *Middle Eastern Studies* 40, no. 6 (2004): 67–91. doi:10.1080/0026320042000282883.
- Demircan, Ömer. Dünden Bugüne Türkiye'de Yabanci Dil: Arapça, Farsça, Fransızca, İngilizce, Almanca, Latince, İtalyanca Dillerinin öğretimi Ve Türkçe'nin Bu Diller Karşısındaki Durumu (The state of foreign language in Turkey until today: Teaching Arabic, Persian, French, English, German, Latin and Italian languages and the state of Turkish in comparison). İstanbul: Remzi Kitabevi, 1988.
- Demirel, Fatmagül. "Osmanlı Devleti'nde Kitap Basımının Denetimi (The supervision of book publishing in the Ottoman State)." *Yakın dönem Türkiye araştırmaları dergisi*, no. 5 (2004): 89–104.
- Demiryürek, Mehmet. "Türkiye'de Yabancı Dil Olarak Fransızca Öğretiminin Tarihi Gelişimi Üzerine Bir Değerlendirme (1891-1928) (An evaluation on the teaching of the French language as the foreign language in Turkey (1891-1928))." *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi* 28, no. 1 (2013): 130–40.
- Derman, Uğur M. *The Art of Calligraphy in the Islamic Heritage*. İstanbul: IRCICA Publications, 1998.
- Duman, Hasan, Christopher Bailey, and Cengiz Ketene. Başlangıcından Harf Devrimine Kadar Osmanlı-Türk Süreli Yayınlar Ve Gazeteler Bibliyografyası Ve Toplu Kataloğu, 1828-1928 (A Bibliography and Union Catalogue of Ottoman-Turkish Serials and Newspapers from Beginning to the Introduction of the Modern Turkey, 1828-1928). Ankara: Enformasyon ve Dokümantasyon Hizmetleri Vakfı, 2000.
- Duman, Mustafa. "Latin Harfli Türk Alfabe Levhaları (The tables/posters of the Turkish alphabet in Latin letters)." *Tarih ve Toplum* 229 (January 2003): 19-22.
- ———. "Türk Yazı Devrimi Tarihinden: Yeni Yazıyı Öğreten İlk Kitaplar (From the history of Turkish writing revolution: the first books that teach the new writing)." *Müteferrika*, no.2 (1994): 187-92.
- ———. "Türk Yazı Devrimi Tarihinden: Yeni Yazıyı Öğreten İlk Kitaplar (II) (From the history of Turkish writing revolution: the first books that teach the new writing (II))." Müteferrika, no. 16 (1999): 129–33.
- ———. "Türk Yazı Devrimi Tarihinden: Yeni Yazıyı Öğreten İlk Kitaplar (III) (From the history of Turkish writing revolution: the first books that teach the new writing(III))." *Müteferrika*, no. 18 (2000): 193–201.
- ———. "Türk Yazı Devrimi Tarihinden: Yeni Yazıyı Öğreten İlk Kitaplar (IV) (From the history of Turkish writing revolution: the first books that teach the new writing(IV))." Müteferrika, no. 19 (2001): 207-11.
- Ekrem, Recaizade. Araba Sevdası (The Carriage Affair). İstanbul: İletişim Yayınları, 2014.
- El Refaie, Elisabeth. "Understanding visual metaphor: The example of newspaper cartoons." *Visual communication 2*, no.1 (2003): 75–95.
- Eldem, Edhem. "Ottoman Financial Integration with Europe: Foreign Loans, the Ottoman

Bank and the Ottoman Public Debt." *European Review* 13, no. 3 (July 2005): 431-45. doi:10.1017/s1062798705000554.

- ———., ed. Camera Ottomana: *Photography and Modernity in the Ottoman Empire 1840-1914*. İstanbul: Koc University Press, 2015.
- Ersoy, Osman. XVIII. ve XIX. Yüzyıllarda Türkiye'de Kâğıt (The state of paper in Turkey in the 19th and 20th centuries). Ankara: Ankara Üniversitesi Basımevi, 1963.
- Ertem, Rekin. Elifbeden Alfabeye Harf ve Yazı Meselesi (The issue of letter and writing from Elifba to alphabet). Çemberlitaş, İstanbul: Dergâh Yayınları, 1991.
- Evans, Harold and Edwin F. Taylor. *Editing and Design: A Five-Volume Manual of English, Typography, and Layout.* 5 vols. New York: Heinemann [for] the National Council for the Training of Journalists, 1972-1978, 1973.
- Faroqi, Suraiya and Kate Fleet, eds. *The Cambridge History of Turkey: The later Ottoman Empire as a World Power 1453-1603, Vol.2.* New York: Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- ———.*The Cambridge History of Turkey: The Ottoman Empire 1603-1839, Vol.3.* New York: Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- Finkel, Caroline. Osman's Dream: The Story of the Ottoman Empire 1300-1923. New York: Basic Books, 2006.
- Fortna, Benjamin C. Learning to Read in the Late Ottoman Empire and the Early Turkish Republic. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2010.
- Foss, Sonja K. "Theory of visual rhetoric." Handbook of visual communication: Theory, methods, and media (2005): p.141-152.
- Galanti, Avram. Arabi Harfleri Terakkimize Mani Değildir (The Arabic letters are not obstacle in our progress). İstanbul: Bedir Yayınevi, 1996.
- Gazel, Ahmet Ali. *1923 Mürettipler Grevi (1923 Typesetters' strike)*. İstanbul: İdeal Kültür ve Yayıncılık, 2016.
- Georgeon, François. "Aperçu sur la presse de langue Française en Turquie pendant la période Kémaliste (Overview on the French language press in Turkey during the Kemalist period)." In *La Turquie et la France à l'époque d'Atatürk*, edited by J.-L. Bacqué Grammont and P. Dumont, 199-214. Paris, 1982.
- -----..."Kemalist Dönemde Türkiye'de Fransızca Yayın Yapan Basına Toplu Bir Bakış (1919-1938) (Overview on the French language press in Turkey during the Kemalist period (1919-1938))." Atatürk Araştırma Merkezi Dergisi (1990). Accessed on August 4, 2015, http://www.atam.gov.tr/dergi/sayi-17/kemalist-donemde-turkiyede-fransizca-yayinyapan-basina-toplu-birbakis-1919-1938.
- Gerçek, Selim Nüzhet. *Türk Taş Basmacılığı (Turkish lithography)*. Ankara: Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı, 2001.
- Girgin, Anıl. Türkiye'de Yerel Basın (The local press in Turkey). İstanbul: Der Yayınları, 2009.

- Glass, Dagmar. "Arabic Newspapers and Periodicals in the Arab World (1828-1928)." In *Middle Eastern Languages and the Print Revolution: A Cross-Cultural Encounter a Catalogue and Companion to the Exhibition,* by Geoffrey Roper and Weltmuseum der Druckkunst Gutenberg-Museum. Westhofen: WVA-Verlag Skulima, 2002.
- Gönenç, Aslı Yapar. "Türkiye'de Dergiciliğin Tarihsel Gelişimi (Historical development of magazines in Turkey)." İstanbul Üniversitesi İletişim Fakültesi Hakemli Dergisi | İstanbul University Faculty Of Communication Journal 29 (2007). http://www.journals.istanbul. edu.tr/iuifd/article/view/1019010360/1019009599.
- Güleç, İsmail. "Osmanlılarda Kağıt Ve Kağıtçılık (The paper and papermaking in the Ottoman Empire)." *Müteferrika*, no 2 (1994): 85-94.
- Hanioğlu, Şükrü M. *Atatürk: An Intellectual Biography*.United States: Princeton University Press, 2011.
- Harrower, Tim and Julie M. Elman. *The newspaper designer's handbook. New York:* WCB, Brown & Benchmark Publishers, 1997.
- Heller, Steven and Seymour Chwast, *Graphic Style: From Victorian to Post-Modern*, New York: Harry N. Abrams, Inc., Publishers, 1988.
- Herzog, Christoph and Malek Sharif. *The First Ottoman Experiment in Democracy.* Würzburg: Ergon in Kommission, 2010.
- Hutt, Allen. Newspaper Design. United Kingdom: Oxford University Press, 1961.
- İlhan, Ali İhsan. "1925-1928 Yılları Arasında Cumhuriyet Ve İkdam Gazetesinde Çıkan Harf İnkilabıyla İlgili Konular (The subjects related to the letter revolution published in Cumhuriyet and İkdam newspapers between the years 1925-1928)." MA diss., Fatih University, 2010.
- İlyasoğlu, Aynur and Deniz İnsel. "Kadın Dergilerinin Evrimi (The evolution of woman magazines)." In Türkiye'de Dergiler, Ansiklopediler (1849 – 1984). İstanbul: Gelişim Yayınları, 1984.
- İnuğur, M. Nuri. *Basın ve yayın tarihi (History of printing and publishing)*. İstanbul: İİTİA Nihad Sayâr-Yayın ve Yardım Vakfı Yayınevi İşletmesi, 1978.
- İpşiroğlu, Mazhar Ş. İslamda Resim Yasağı ve Sonuçları (The image ban in Islam and its consequences). İstanbul: Yapı Kredi Yayınları, 2018.
- İskit, Server. Türkiye'de Neşriyat Hareketleri Tarihine Bir Bakış (A look on the history of publication activities in Turkey). Ankara: Milli Eğitim Basımevi, 2000.
- *İstanbul Ansiklopedisi.* s.v. "Arab Asıllı Türk Harfleri (Turkish letters with Arabic roots)." vol.2 (1959): 924-933.
- Iz, Fahir. "Ottoman and Turkish." in *Essays on Islamic Civilization: Presented to Niyazi Berkes*, ed. Donald P. Little, 118-139. Leiden: E.J.Brill, 1976.

Kabacalı, Alpay. Başlangıcından Günümüze Türkiye'de Matbaa, Basın ve Yayın (From past to

present: printing press, media and publishing in Turkey). İstanbul: Literatür Yayıncılık, 2000.

- Karahan, Firdevs. "Bilingualism in Turkey." *The 4th International Symposium on Bilingualism.* Somerville, Ma: Cascadilla Press, (2005).
- Karal, Enver Ziya. Osmanlı Tarihi (VIII. Cilt)(The Ottoman History (Volume VIII)). Ankara: Türk Tarih Kurumu Yayınları, 1962.
- Karamustafa, Sadık and Feza Kürkçüoğlu, eds. Zaman Tünelinde Beyoğlu, Kent Müzesi'ne Doğru,
  6. Daire-i Belediye'den Beyoğlu Belediyesi'ne 155 Yıl (Beyoğlu in time machine, towards the city museum: 155 years from the municipality's 6th department to the Beyoğlu Municipality).
  Exhibition Catalog ed. İstanbul: İstanbul Organizasyon, 2012.
- Kasaba, Reşat, ed. *The Cambridge History of Turkey: Turkey in the Modern World, Vol.4.* New York: Cambridge University Press, 2008.
- Kaynar, Hakan. Projesiz Modernleşme: Cumhuriyet İstanbulu'ndan Gündelik Fragmanlar (Modernisation without plans: daily fragments in the Republican Istanbul). İstanbul: İstanbul Araştırmaları Enstitüsü, 2012.
- Kress, Gunther, and Theo van Leeuwen. *Reading Images: The Grammar of Visual Design*. New York: Routledge, 1996.
- Kılıç, Sibel, "Contribution of Karagöz humour magazine (1908-1955) to socio-cultural transformations of the Turkish society which derives its sources from the Karagöz humour practices and its importance through the perspective of the Turkish cultural history." *Journal of International Social Research 4*, no. 16 (2011). Accessed on March 19, 2017, http://www.sosyalarastirmalar.com/cilt4/sayi16\_pdf/kilic\_sibel.pdf.
- Kocabaşoğlu, Uygur. "1919-1938 Dönemi Basınına Toplu Bir Bakış (A synopsis of 1919-1938 period media)." In *Yıllık 1981,* Ankara Üniversitesi Siyasal Bilgiler Fakültesi Basın Yayın Yüksekokulu Dergisi (Ankara, 1981–1982): 95–127.
- ———. "Tuna Vilayet Gazetesi (Newspaper of Tuna province)." *OTAM* (Ankara 1991). doi:10.1501/otam\_0000000317.
- ———. İki Arada Bir Derede: İmlaya Gelmez Tarih Yazıları (Between a rock and a hard place: historical writings). Ankara: İmge Kitabevi, 1997.
- Koçu, Reşad Ekrem and Mehmet Ali Akbay, *İstanbul Ansiklopedisi (Encyclopedia), s.v.* "Akşam Gazetesi (Akşam newspaper)." Volume I. İstanbul: Tan Matbaası, 1958.
- Kohn, Hans. *The Age of Nationalism.* Edited by Ruth Nanda Anshen. New York: Harper&Row Publishers, 1962.
- Lewis, Bernard. *The Emergence of Modern Turkey.* United Kingdom: Oxford University Press, 1968.
- Lewis, Geoffrey. *The Turkish Language Reform: A Catastrophic Success*. United Kingdom: Oxford University Press, USA, 2002.

- Lunde, Paul. "Arabic and the Art of Printing: A Special Section." *Saudi Aramco World* (April 1981). Accessed on November 18, 2015. https://www.saudiaramcoworld.com/ issue/198102/arabic.and.the.art.of.printing-a.special.section.htm.
- Martin, Shannon E. and David A. Copeland. *The Function of Newspapers in Society: A Global Perspective.* United States: Greenwood Publishing Group, 2003.
- Mastoridis, Klimis. Cutting and casting Greek types in the nineteenth and twentieth century. Gutenberg Jahrbuch, 2006. Accessed on February 2018. https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/238664993\_Cutting\_and\_casting\_Greek\_types\_in\_the\_nineteenth\_and\_ twentieth\_century
- Mazıcı, Nurşen. "1930'a Kadar Basının Durumu ve 1931 Matbuat Kanunu (The state of media until 1930 and 1931 Press Law)." *Ankara Üniversitesi Türk İnkilap Tarihi Enstitüsü Atatürk Yolu Dergisi* (1996): 131–54. doi:10.1501/tite\_000000210.
- Montagu, Mary Wortley. Letters from the Levant During the Embassy to Constantinople, 1716-18. New York: Arno Press, 1971.
- Münif Paşa. "Islâh-1 resm-i hatta dair bazı tasavvurat (Some thoughts on the reformation of script)." *Mecmua-i Fünun*, Volume 14, (1862).
- Nasr, Seyyed Hossein. "Oral Transmission and the Book in Islamic Education." In *The Book in the Islamic World*, 57-70. United States: State University of New York Press, 2014.
- Nemeth, Titus. "Arabic Type-Making in the Machine Age: The Influence of Technology on the Form of Arabic Type, 1908-1993." Phd diss., University of Reading, 2013. http:// ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.627723.
- ----. "The Current State of Arabic Newspaper Type and Typography." MA diss., University of Reading, 2006.
- Neumann, Christoph K. "Book and Newspaper Printing in Turkish, 18th-20th Centuries." In Middle Eastern Languages and the Print Revolution: A Cross-Cultural Encounter a Catalogue and Companion to the Exhibition, by Geoffrey Roper and Weltmuseum der Druckkunst Gutenberg-Museum.Westhofen: WVA-Verlag Skulima, 2002.
- Ocak, Başak. Tüccarzade İbrahim Hilmi Çığıraçan, Osmanlı Matbuatından Cumhuriyet Yayıncılığına Altmış Yıl Aşkın Katkılarıyla Bir Yayıncının Portresi (Tüccarzade İbrahim Hilmi Çığıraçan: The portrait of a publisher who contributed to the Ottoman and Republican period press over 60 years). İstanbul: Müteferrika, 2004.
- Orcutt, Reginald. Merchant of alphabets. London: Jarrolds Publishers, 1947.
- Ova, Nalan. "Harf İnkilabı Ve Türk Basını (1928-1929): Vakit, İkdam ve Hakimiyet-i Milliye Örnekleri (The letter revolution and The Turkish Media (1928-1929): The examples of Vakit, İkdam and Hakimiyet-i Milliye)." MA diss., Ankara Üniversitesi, 2005.
- Öcal, Oğuz. "Burhan Cahit Morkaya'nın 1925-1928 Yılları Arasında Neşrettiği Yedi Romanı (The seven novels of Burhan Cahit Morkaya who published between the years 1925-1928)." *Türklük Bilimi Araştırmaları*, no. 20 (2006): p.166.

- Özen, Hatice. Tarihsel Süreç İçinde Türk Kadın Gazete Ve Dergileri, 1868-1990 (The women newspapers and magazines in Turkey within the historical context). İstanbul: Graphis, 1994.
- Pamuk, Şevket and Jeffrey G. Williamson. "Ottoman de-Industrialization, 1800-1913: Assessing the Magnitude, Impact, and Response." *The Economic History Review* 64 (November 24, 2010): 159–84. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0289.2010.00560.x.
- Parkinson, Jim. "More Than You Ever Wanted to Know about Nameplates." In *Contemporary newspaper design*, edited by J. D. Berry, 159–69. New York: Mark Batty, 2004.
- Perk, Haluk and İsmail Günay Paksoy. *İstanbul'un 100 Gazetesi (100 newspapers of Istanbul)*. İstanbul: İstanbul Büyükşehir Belediyesi Kültür A.Ş. Yayınları, 2012.
- Quataert, Donald, ed. *Manufacturing in the Ottoman Empire and Turkey, 1500-1950.* United States: State University of New York Press, 1994.
- Quataert, Donald, William Beik, and T. C. W. Blanning. *The Ottoman Empire*, 1700-1922. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- Quinn, Anthony. A history of British magazine design. London: V&A Publishing, 2016.
- Robinson, Francis. "Technology and Religious Change: Islam and the Impact of Print." *Modern Asian Studies* 27, no. 01 (1993): 229–51. doi:10.1017/s0026749x00016127.
- Ryan, James. "The Glamor of the New Turkish Woman in 'Resimli Ay'." in *Stambouline* (July 29, 2013). Accessed February 27, 2017. http://www.stambouline.com/2013/07/theglamor-of-new-turkishwoman-in.html.
- Sabev, Orlin. "A Virgin Deserving Paradise or a Whore Deserving Poison: Manuscript Tradition and Printed Books in Ottoman Turkish Society." In *The History of the Book in the Middle East*, edited by Geoffrey Roper. United Kingdom: Ashgate Publishing, 2013.
- ———. "The First Ottoman Turkish Printing Enterprise: Success or Failure?" In Ottoman Tulips, Ottoman Coffee: Leisure and Lifestyle in the Eighteenth Century, by Dana Sajdi, 63– 90. United Kingdom: Tauris Academic Studies, 2008.
- ———. "Waiting for Godot: The Formation of Ottoman Print Culture." In Historical Aspects of Printing and Publishing in Languages of the Middle East: Papers from the Symposium at the University of Leipzig, September 2008, edited by Geoffrey Roper. United States: Brill Academic Publishers, 2013.
- Sarıkaya, Makbule. "Resimli Ay'da Kıyafet (The clothing in Resimli Ay)." *Acta Turcica* (2012): p.152.
- Saydam, Yelda. "Language Use In The Ottoman Empire And Its Problems (1299-1923)." MPhil, University of Johannesburg, 2007.
- Schick, Irvin Cemil. "Print Capitalism and Women's Sexual Agency in the Late Ottoman Empire." *Comparative Studies of South Asia, Africa and the Middle East* 31, no.1 (2011): 196–216. doi:10.1215/1089201x-2010-067.
- ———. "The Iconicity of Islamic Calligraphy in Turkey." RES: Anthropology and Aesthetics 53-54 (2008): 211-24.

- Seçkin, Bekir Sami. "Türk Devrim Tarihinde 1928 Yılının Yeri (The place of the year 1928 in the history of Turkish Revolution)." In *Ulusal Kültür*, edited by Kültür Bakanlığı. Ankara: Ankara Üniversitesi Basımevi, 1978.
- Shissler, A. Holly. "If You Ask Me" Sabiha Sertel's Advice Column, Gender Equity, and Social Engineering in the Early Turkish Republic." *Journal of Middle East Women's Studies 3*, no. 2 (2007): 1-30.
- Spearman, Diana and M. Naim Turfan. "The Turkish Language Reform." *History Today*, February 1, 1979.
- Strauss, Johann. "Linguistic diversity and everyday life in the Ottoman cities of the Eastern Mediterranean and the Balkans (late 19th-early 20th century)." *The History of the Family 16*, no. 2 (2011): 126-141.
- ———. "Kütüp Ve Resail-i Mevkute: Printing and Publishing in a Multi-Ethnic Society." In Late Ottoman Society: The Intellectual Legacy, edited by Elisabeth Özdalga. New York: RoutledgeCurzon, 2005.
- ----. "Les Livres Et l'Imprimerie a Istanbul (1800-1908)." In *Turquie: Livres d'hier, livres d'aujourd'hui*, edited by Paul Dumont, 5-24. İstanbul: Strasbourg, 1992.
- ----. "Who Read What in the Ottoman Empire (19th-20th Centuries)?" *Middle Eastern Literatures* 6, no.1 (2003): 39-76. doi:10.1080/14752620306881.
- Sultan Abdülhamid 2 and Ali Vahbi Bey. *Pensées et souvenirs de l'ex-sultan Abdul-Hamid*. Attinger Frères, 1914.
- ———. Siyasî hatıratım (My political memoirs). İstanbul: Hareket yayınları, 1974.
- Sutton, Albert A. Design and Makeup of the Newspaper. United States: Greenwood Press, 1948.
- Szyliowicz, J. S. "Functional Perspectives on Technology: The Case of the Printing Press in the Ottoman Empire." In *The History of the Book in the Middle East*, edited by Geoffrey Roper. United Kingdom: Ashgate Publishing, 2013.
- Şeker, Mustafa. Yerel Gazeteler (Local newspapers). Konya: Tablet Kitabevi, 2007.
- Şimşir, Bilâl. *Türk Yazı Devrimi (Turkish writing revolution).* Ankara: Turkish Historical Society Publications, 1992.
- Şinasi, İbrahim. Divān-ı Şinasi. İstanbul: Tasvir-i Efkar Matbaası, 1870.
- ———. Durūb-i Emsâl-i Osmâniyye. İstanbul: Tasvir-i Efkar Matbaası, 1870.
- ———. Terceme-i Manzume. İstanbul: Tasvir-i Efkar Matbaası, 1870.
- Tachau, Frank. "Language and Politics: Turkish Language Reform." *The Review of Politics* 26, no. 02 (January 1, 1964). doi:10.1017/s0034670500004733.
- Tam, K. C. H. "A descriptive framework for Chinese–English bilingual typography." *Typographische Monatsblätter*, (2012): pp.38–46.

- Tansel, Fevziye Abdullah. "Arap Harflerinin Islahı Ve Değiştirilmesi Hakkında İlk Teşebbüsler Ve Neticeleri (1862-1884) (The first initiatives and their results on the change and the reformation of Arabic letters)." *Belleten* 17, no. 66 (April 1953): 223-49.
- Taşçıoğlu, Melike and Şinasi Acar. "Bir Hattatın Dönüşümü: Alfabe Devrimi'nin Halim
  Efendi'nin Çalışmaları Üzerinden İncelenmesi (The transformation of a calligrapher:
  Analysing the Alphabet Revolution through the works of Halim Efendi)." Osmanlı
  Bilimi Araştırmaları 15, no. 2 (2014): 81–98.
- *TDV İslam Ansiklopedisi*. s.v. "Matbaa Hurufatı (Printing types)." Accessed on May 31, 2016. http://www.islamansiklopedisi.info/dia/pdf/c28/c280070.pdf.
- ———. "Servet-i Fünun." Accessed April, 2017. http://www.islamansiklopedisi.info/dia/pdf/ c36/c360390.pdf.

----. "Kağıt (Paper)." Accessed November 2015. http://www.islamansiklopedisi.info/dia/ pdf/c24/c240099.pdf.

———. "Şinasi." Accessed December 10, 2015. http://www.islamansiklopedisi.info/dia/pdf/ c39/c390104.pdf.

- Teotig, Sirvart Malhasyan, and Arlet İncidüzen. *Baskı ve Harf: Ermeni Matbaacılık Tarihi (Print and letter: The history of Armenian printing).* İstanbul: Birzamanlar Yayıncılık, 2012.
- Tokgöz, Ahmet İhsan. *Matbuat Hatıralarım (My memoirs on press)*. İstanbul: İletişim Yayıncılık, 1993.
- Toprak, Zafer. "Fikir Dergiciliğinin Yüz Yılı (100 years of opinionated magazines)." in *Türkiye'de Dergiler Ansiklopediler (1849-1983).* İstanbul: Gelişim Yayınları, 1984.
- ———. Türkiye'de Yeni Hayat: İnkilap ve Travma 1908-1928 (New Life in Turkey: Reform and Trauma 1908-1928). İstanbul:Doğan Kitap, 2017.
- Topuz, Hıfzı. Türk Basın Tarihi: II. Mahmut'tan Holdinglere (The history of Turkish Press: From the Sultan Murat II to holding companies). İstanbul: Remzi Kitabevi, 2003.
- Trix, Frances. "The Stamboul Alphabet Of Shemseddin Sami Bey: Precursor To Turkish Script Reform." *International Journal of Middle East Studies* 31, no. 02 (1999): 255-72. doi:10.1017/s0020743800054040.
- Türesay, Özgür. "L'Imprimerie Ebüzziya Et l'Art d'Imprimer Dans l'Empire Ottoman à laFin Du XIXe Siècle." *Historical Aspects of Printing and Publishing in Languages of the Middle East* (November 7, 2013): 193–229. doi:10.1163/9789004255975\_010.
- Ülkütaşır, Mehmet Şakir. *Atatürk Ve Harf Devrimi (Atatürk and the letter revolution).* 3rd ed. Ankara: Türk Dil Kurumu, 2000.
- Walker, Sue. Typography & Language in Everyday Life: Prescriptions and Practices. London, United Kingdom: Routledge, 2014.

- Walton, J.H.. "Turkey's A.B.C. Whole Population at school. Kemal's Clever Move." *The Daily Telegraph*, 28.08.1928.
- Weiker, Walter. *Modernization of Turkey from Ataturk to the Present Day.* United Kingdom: Holmes & Meier Publishers, 1981.
- Williams, Maynard Oven. "Turkey Goes To School." *The National Geographic Magazine* 55 (January 1929): 94-108.
- Wood, Margaret M. "Latinizing the Turkish Alphabet: A Study in the Introduction of a Cultural Change." *American Journal of Sociology* 35 (September 1929).
- Woods, John E., John Frederick Haldon, Donald Fyfe Easton, Seton H.F. Lloyd, Philo H.J. Houwink ten Cate and Dominique P.M. Collon. *Encyclopaedia Britannica*, s.v. "Internet." Chicago: Encyclopaedia Britannica, 2018.
- Wortham, H. E. Mustafa Kemal of Turkey. New York: William Edwin Rudge, 1930.
- Yazıcı, Nesimi. "Vakayi-i Mısriyye üzerine Birkaç Söz (A couple of words on the newspaper, Vakayi-i Mısriyye)." *Ankara Üniversitesi* (2010). Accessed on May 21, 2016. http:// dergiler.ankara.edu.tr/dergiler/19/834/10558.pdf.
- Yüceer, Saime. "Türkiye'nin Aydınlanma Sürecinde Bir Kültür Devrimi: Millet Mektepleri (A cultural revolution in the enlightment process of Turkey: Nation's Schools)." In *Papers of VIIIth international congress on the economic and social history of turkey*, by Nurcan Abaci (2006):41-53.
- Yükseker, Hitay. "Turkish Language Reform: An Early Example of Language Planning." Toronto Working Papers in Linguistics, vol.3 (1982): 89-100.
- Yılmaz, Hale. Becoming Turkish: Nationalist Reforms and Cultural Negotiations in Early Republican Turkey, 1923-1945. United States: Syracuse University Press, 2013.
- Yılmaz, Kaya. "Critical Examination of the Alphabet and Language Reforms Implemented in the Early Years of the Turkish Republic." *Journal of Social Studies Education Research* 2 (2011).